

DIPARTIMENTO DI MATEMATICA "GUIDO CASTELNUOVO" DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN MATEMATICA XXI CICLO

## Eigenvalues and homogenization of some fully nonlinear partial differential equations

Thesis submitted to obtain the degree of Doctor of Philosophy ("Dottore di Ricerca") in Mathematics

October 2009

ΒY

## Stefania Patrizi

**Thesis Advisors** Isabeau Birindelli Italo Capuzzo Dolcetta **Committee** Martino Bardi Regis Monneau Antonio Siconolfi

## Contents

Introduction				
	I.1	An overview of the literature	vi	
	I.2	Outline of the results of Chapters 1, 2 and 3	ix	
	I.3	The Peierls-Nabarro model for dislocation dynamics	XV	
	I.4	Local Hamilton-Jacobi equations	xxiii	
Ι	Net	umann generalized principal eigenvalues	1	
1	Full	y nonlinear singular operators	3	
	1.1	Lipschitz continuity of viscosity solutions	5	
	1.2	The Maximum Principle and the principal eigenvalues	11	
		1.2.1 The case $c(x) \leq 0$	11	
		1.2.2 The threshold for the Maximum Principle	14	
		1.2.3 The Maximum Principle for $c(x)$ changing sign: an example.	22	
	1.3	Some existence results	27	
<b>2</b>	Isaa	cs operators	33	
	2.1	Assumptions	34	
	2.2	The Strong Comparison Principle	37	
	2.3	The Maximum Principle and the principal eigenvalues	41	
		2.3.1 The case F proper	41	
		2.3.2 The Maximum Principle for $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$	42	
		2.3.3 An example	44	
	2.4	Lipschitz regularity	45	
	2.5	Existence results	50	
	2.6	Properties of the principal eigenvalues	53	
	2.7	The Pucci's operators	55	
3	The	infinity-Laplacian	57	
	3.1	Assumptions and definitions	58	
	3.2	Lipschitz continuity of viscosity solutions	60	
	3.3	The Maximum Principle and the principal eigenvalues	65	
		3.3.1 The case $c(x) \leq 0$	66	
		3.3.2 The threshold for the Maximum Principle	68	
		3.3.3 The Maximum Principle for $c(x)$ changing sign: an example.	75	
	3.4	Some existence results	76	

	3.5	A decay estimate for solutions of the evolution problem $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	80		
II	H	omogenization of first order Hamilton-Jacobi equations	85		
4	$Th\epsilon$	e Peierls-Nabarro model for dislocation dynamics	87		
	4.1	Main results	88		
	4.2	Results about viscosity solutions for non-local equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	89		
		4.2.1 Definition of viscosity solution	89		
		4.2.2 Comparison principle and existence results	89		
		4.2.3 Hölder regularity	91		
	4.3	The proof of convergence	94		
		$4.3.1  \text{Proof of Theorem } 4.1.2  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  \dots  $	96		
	4.4	Building of Lipschitz sub and supercorrectors	102		
		4.4.1 Comparison principle	103		
		4.4.2 Lipschitz regularity	105		
		4.4.3 Ergodicity	107		
		4.4.4 Proof of Theorem 4.1.1	110		
		4.4.5 Proof of Proposition 4.4.1	110		
	4 5	4.4.6 Proof of Proposition 4.3.3	111		
	4.0	5 Smooth approximate correctors	112		
	16	4.5.1 Proof of Proposition 4.5.4	113		
	4.0	1 ne Orowan's law	114		
		4.0.1 Froof of Froposition 4.0.2	117		
		4.6.2 Proof of Lemma 4.6.5	$120 \\ 197$		
			121		
<b>5</b>	5 Rate of convergence in homogenization of local Hamilton-Jacobi				
	equ	lations	131		
	5.1	An estimate on the rate of convergence when $\epsilon \to 0$	132		
		5.1.1 The main result	132		
		5.1.2 Preliminary results	132		
	5.0	5.1.3 Proof of the main result	135		
	5.2	Approximation of the effective Hamiltonian by Eulerian schemes $\dots$	142		
		5.2.1 Long time approximation	152		
	59	S.2.2 Approximation of the homogenized problem	153		
	5.5	Numerical rests       1         5.2.1       Deculta	154		
	54	Appendix	159		
	0.4	прренціх	190		
Α	Not	tation list	163		
Bibliography 164					

## Introduction

This thesis is a contribution to the theory of viscosity solutions of fully nonlinear equations of first and second order. It is divided in two parts. The first one, which collects the results contained in [97], [96] and [98], studies the generalized principal eigenvalues associated to nonlinear elliptic operators of second order with Neumann boundary conditions. Three different classes of operators are considered respectively in Chapters 1, 2 and 3.

The second part is dedicated to homogenization problems for first order local and non-local Hamilton-Jacobi equations. In Chapter 4 we presents the results of [92], where we study the time-dependent Peierls-Nabarro model which is a phase field model for dislocation dynamics. This model leads to a non-local parabolic PDE with a first order Lévy operator. After a proper rescaling, a macroscopic model describing the evolution of a density of dislocations is obtained. In Chapter 5 we study the rate of convergence in homogenization of local parabolic Hamilton-Jacobi equations, the results of this chapter are contained in [2].

We recall that viscosity solutions were introduced by M. G. Crandall and P. L. Lions [41] in 1981 for first order Hamilton-Jacobi equations. Successively, many authors have contributed to the theory of viscosity solutions which was extended to a large class of first and second order partial differential equations. For a good description of viscosity solutions we refer to Crandall, Ishii and Lions [40], to the CIME course [14] and to the books: Fleming and Soner [54] for applications to the stochastic control theory; Barles [17], Bardi and Capuzzo Dolcetta [13] for first order equations and applications to the deterministic control; Cabré and Caffarelli [32] for the regularity of solutions of uniformly elliptic equations.

Motivated by applications to finance but also by an increasing number of other mathematical models (physical sciences, mechanics, biological models etc.), the theory of viscosity solutions has been extended to the context of partial integrodifferential equations, i.e. partial equations involving non-local operators such as the Lévy ones. To the best of our knowledge the first paper devoted to this extension was the one by Soner [107] in the context of stochastic control of jump diffusion processes. Following Soner's work, a quite general class of integro-differential equations nonlinear with respect the non-local operators was developed by Awatif, [12]. Successively, many results were extended to equations involving also second order derivatives, see for instance [84] and [22].

In the framework of viscosity solutions, the homogenization problem for first order Hamilton-Jacobi equations has been extensively studied. First of all, Lions Papanicolaou and Varadhan [88] completely solved the problem in the case of time-independent periodic and coercive Hamiltonians. After this seminal paper, homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations for coercive Hamiltonians has been treated for a wider class of periodic situations, c.f. Ishii [72], for problems set on bounded domains, c.f. Alvarez [3], Horie and Ishii [64], for equations with different structures, c.f. Alvarez and Ishii [8], for deterministic control problems in  $L^{\infty}$ , c.f. Alvarez and Barron [6], for almost periodic Hamiltonians, c.f. Ishii [70], and for Hamiltonians with stochastic dependence, c.f. Souganidis [108].

For different structures assumptions, non-local operators and further results on homogenization we refer the reader to e.g. [49], [50], [53], [24], [18], [67], [68], [5], [4], [35] and references therein.

## PART I

### I.1 An overview of the literature

The eigenvalue problem for linear elliptic operators has a very long history and goes back to Fourier. Here we limit to recall some classical results.

Let L be a general uniformly elliptic linear operator of second order defined in a bounded domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ , of the form

$$Lu = -a_{ij}(x)\partial_{ij}u + b_i(x)\partial_i u + c(x)u, \quad \text{in }\Omega$$
(I.1.1)

that is uniformly elliptic, i.e.,

$$a|\xi|^2 \le a_{ij}(x)\xi_i\xi_j \le A|\xi|^2$$
 for any  $x \in \Omega, \, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,

with a and A positive constants. Let B be the boundary operator defined by

$$Bu = \gamma(x)u + \delta \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega,$$

where  $\vec{n}(x)$  is the exterior normal to  $\Omega$  at  $x \in \partial \Omega$ , and either  $\delta = 0$  and  $\gamma \equiv 1$  (i.e. *B* is the Dirichlet boundary operator) or  $\delta = 1$  and  $\gamma \ge 0$  (i.e. *B* is the Neumann or oblique derivative boundary operator).

It is well known that when  $\partial\Omega$  and the coefficients of L and B are sufficiently regular, there is a real number  $\lambda_1$ , called *first* or *principal eigenvalue* for L with associated the boundary operator B, such that

a) ( $\lambda_1$  is an eigenvalue) there exists a positive function  $\phi$ , called *principal eigen*function, solution of

$$\begin{cases} L\phi = \lambda_1 \phi & \text{in } \Omega\\ B\phi = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega; \end{cases}$$
(I.1.2)

b) ( $\lambda_1$  is the smallest real eigenvalue) for any eigenvalue  $\lambda \neq \lambda_1$  of L with boundary operator B then

$$\operatorname{Re}\lambda > \lambda_1.$$

The existence of such a pair  $(\lambda_1, \phi)$  follows from the Krein Rutman Theorem, see for example [9]. Other properties of the principal eigenvalue are the following:  $\lambda_1$  is simple, i.e. any solution of (I.1.2) is a multiple of  $\phi$ ; if  $\psi$  is a positive eigenfunction with eigenvalue  $\lambda$ , then  $\lambda = \lambda_1$ ;  $\lambda_1$  is an isolated eigenvalue.

When L associated to the boundary operator B is self-adjoint (with respect to  $L^2(\Omega)$ ), i.e. L has the form

$$Lu = -\partial_i (a_{ij}(x)\partial_j u) + c(x)u,$$

 $\delta = 0$  and  $\gamma \equiv 1$ , the first eigenvalue can be characterized as the minimum of the so called Rayleigh quotient:

$$\lambda_1 = \min_{u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\int_{\Omega} (a_{ij}(x)\partial_i u \partial_j u + c(x)u^2) dx}{\int_{\Omega} u^2 dx},$$
(I.1.3)

see e.g. [61]. A variational formulation for the principal eigenvalue of a general linear second-order operator with Dirichlet boundary conditions and with maximum principle was given by Donsker and Varadhan in [45] and [46].

More recently, Berestycki, Nirenberg and Varadhan [26] gave a characterization of the first eigenvalue of a linear uniformly elliptic operator of second order through the maximum principle. They consider the operator (I.1.1) defined in a bounded domain  $\Omega$  and with associated Dirichlet boundary conditions. In addition to the uniform ellipticity condition, they assume on the coefficients of L:

$$a_{ij} \in C(\Omega), \quad b_i, c \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \quad \text{for any } i, j.$$

One of the main feature of the paper is that no regularity is required on  $\partial\Omega$ . In this thesis we will not deal with the question of the regularity of the domain and will always assume  $\partial\Omega$  smooth.

Berestycki, Nirenberg and Varadhan define

$$\lambda_1 := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists v > 0 \text{ in } \Omega \text{ supersolution of } Lv = \lambda v \text{ in } \Omega\}.$$
(I.1.4)

Here a solution (resp. sub, supersolution) of Lu = f in  $\Omega$  is a function  $u \in W^{2,p}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$  for all finite p > N, satisfying Lu = f (resp.  $\leq, \geq$ ) for a.e.  $x \in \Omega$ .

In [26], the authors show that  $\lambda_1$  defined as in (I.1.4) is the principal eigenvalue of L, i.e. there exists a positive function  $\phi$  such that the pair  $(\lambda_1, \phi)$  have properties (a) and (b) with Bu = u. They also prove that the maximum principle for L holds true if and only if  $\lambda_1 > 0$ . Indeed, they show that if  $\lambda_1 > 0$ , u is a subsolution of Lu = 0 in  $\Omega$  and  $u \leq 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ , then  $u \leq 0$  in  $\Omega$  (i.e. the maximum principle holds). On the other hand, if  $\lambda \geq \lambda_1$  then  $\phi$  is a counterexample to the maximum principle.

Several other properties of the first eigenvalue, such as simplicity and stability, are established in [26].

In view of its relation with the maximum and the comparison principles, the concept of principal eigenvalue has been extended to nonlinear operators to study the associated boundary value problems.

A classical example of nonlinear eigenvalue problem is the one associated to the p-Laplacian defined for 1 by:

$$\Delta_p u = \operatorname{div}(|Du|^{p-2}Du).$$

The natural way to define the principal eigenvalue for the p-Laplacian is by generalizing definition (I.1.3) to the nonlinear case. Indeed, if  $\lambda_1$  is the minimum of the associated Rayleigh quotient

$$\frac{\int_{\Omega} |Du|^p dx}{\int_{\Omega} |u|^p dx}$$

among all the functions belonging to  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ , then any minimizing function  $\phi$  is a weak solution of the corresponding Euler-Lagrange equation

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta_p \phi = \lambda_1 |\phi|^{p-2} \phi & \text{in } \Omega\\ \phi = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(I.1.5)

Moreover any solution of (I.1.5) does not change sign in  $\Omega$  and (I.1.5) does not admit non-trivial solutions if we replace  $\lambda_1$  by  $\lambda < \lambda_1$ , see e.g. [90]. Because of these properties, the minimum  $\lambda_1$  of the Rayleigh quotient is called the principal eigenvalue of  $-\Delta_p$  and the solutions of (I.1.5) are called principal eigenfunctions.

Remark that the operator  $\Delta_p u + \lambda_1 |u|^{p-2}u$  is homogeneous of degree p-1. This implies that if  $\phi$  is solution of (I.1.5) then  $t\phi$  is solution of the same problem for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . On the other hand, it is possible to prove that if  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  are two principal eigenfunctions, then there exists  $t \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\phi = t\psi$ . This property of  $\lambda_1$ is called simplicity and was proved indipendently by Anane [10] and by Otani and Teshima [95]. The principle eigenvalue of the p-Laplacian has almost all the typical properties of the first eigenvalue of a linear operator, see [90].

The method of the minimization of the Rayleigh quotient uses heavily the variational structure of the operator and cannot be applied to operators which have not this property. An important step in the study of the eigenvalue problem for nonlinear operators in non-divergence form was made by Lions in [87]. In that paper, using probabilistic and analytic methods, he showed the existence of principal eigenvalues for the uniformly elliptic Bellman operator and obtained results for the related Dirichlet problems. Very recently, many authors, inspired by [26], have developed an eigenvalue theory for fully nonlinear operators which are non-variational. The Pucci's extremal operators  $\mathcal{M}_{a,A}(D^2u)$  have been treated by Quaas [103] and Busca, Esteban and Quaas [31]. Related results have been obtained by Birindelli and Demengel in [28] for singular or degenerate elliptic operators, like  $|Du|^{\alpha}\mathcal{M}_{a,A}(D^2u)$ ,  $\alpha > -1$ , the p-Laplacian and some of its non-variational generalizations. In [104] Quass and Sirakov have studied the eigenvalue problem for fully nonlinear elliptic operators which are convex and positively homogenous, like the Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman one. In that paper many properties of the principal eigenvalues, including the fact that they are simple and isolated, have been established. Similar results have been obtained by Ishii and Yoshimura [76] for non-convex operators. The existence of a principal eigenvalue defined as in [26] for the  $\infty$ -Laplacian has been proved by Juutinen in [80] together with many other results. A different approach to investigate the eigenvalue problem for  $\infty$ -Laplacian consists in studying the asymptotic behavior, as  $p \to \infty$ , of the p-Laplacian eigenvalue equation, see [82] and [59]. This second method uses the variational formulation of the approximate problems and leads to a different limit eigenvalue problem, see [80].

All the mentioned papers treat Dirichlet boundary conditions.

### I.2 Outline of the results of Chapters 1, 2 and 3

In the first part of this thesis we study the eigenvalue problem for some classes of fully nonlinear homogenous operators  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u)$  with Neumann boundary conditions. We are thus concerned with the fully nonlinear elliptic problem

$$\begin{cases} G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = g(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(I.2.6)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain of class  $C^2$  and B(x, u, Du) is a first order boundary operator. The problem we consider may have weak solutions which are not smooth enough to satisfy the differential equations involved in the classical sense. We adopt the notion of viscosity solution as the weak solution of (I.2.6).

Let us recall the definition of viscosity solution of (I.2.6), for  $F : \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N) \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $B : \partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$  continuous functions.

**Definition I.2.1.** A function  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  (resp.  $u \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ ) is called viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (I.2.6) if the following conditions hold

(i) For every  $x_0 \in \Omega$ , for all  $\varphi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ , such that  $u - \varphi$  has a local maximum (resp. minimum) at  $x_0$ , one has

$$G(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0)) \le (resp. \ge) g(x_0).$$

(ii) For every  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$ , for all  $\varphi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ , such that  $u - \varphi$  has a local maximum (resp. minimum) at  $x_0$ , one has

$$(G(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0)) - g(x_0)) \land B(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0)) \le 0$$

(resp.

$$(G(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0)) - g(x_0)) \vee B(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0)) \ge 0).$$

A viscosity solution is a continuous function which is both a subsolution and a supersolution.

In Chapters 1 and 3 we consider operators G of the form

$$G(x, u, Du, D^{2}u) = -F(x, Du, D^{2}u) + b(x) \cdot Du|Du|^{\alpha} + c(x)|u|^{\alpha}u, \qquad (I.2.7)$$

with  $\alpha > -1$  and b, c, g continuous functions on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . F is a fully nonlinear operator that may be singular or degenerate where the gradient vanishes. Since we cannot test when the test function has zero gradient, we have to modify the previous definition of solution of the Neumann problem associated to these operators. We adopt the notion of viscosity solution given by Birindelli and Demengel in [28] adapted to our case.

**Definition I.2.2.** Any function  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  (resp.  $u \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ ) is called viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (I.2.6) with G defined as in (I.2.7), if the following conditions hold

(i) For every  $x_0 \in \Omega$ , for all  $\varphi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ , such that  $u - \varphi$  has a local maximum (resp. minimum) at  $x_0$  and  $D\varphi(x_0) \neq 0$ , one has

$$G(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0)) \le (resp. \ge) g(x_0).$$

If  $u \equiv k = const.$  in a neighborhood of  $x_0$ , then

$$c(x_0)|k|^{\alpha}k \leq (resp. \geq) g(x_0)$$

(ii) For every  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$ , for all  $\varphi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ , such that  $u - \varphi$  has a local maximum (resp. minimum) at  $x_0$  and  $D\varphi(x_0) \neq 0$ , one has

$$(G(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0)) - g(x_0)) \land B(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0)) \le 0$$

(resp.

$$(G(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0)) - g(x_0)) \vee B(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0)) \ge 0).$$

If  $u \equiv k = const.$  in a neighborhood of  $x_0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ , then

$$(c(x_0)|k|^{\alpha}k - g(x_0)) \wedge B(x_0, k, 0) \le 0$$

(resp.

$$(c(x_0)|k|^{\alpha}k - g(x_0)) \lor B(x_0, k, 0) \ge 0).$$

A viscosity solution is a continuous function which is both a subsolution and a supersolution.

This is a new definition of viscosity solution when  $\alpha = 0$  and  $F(x, Du, D^2u)$  is the  $\infty$ -Laplacian, studied in Chapter 3, which is equivalent to the standard one.

#### Singular fully nonlinear operators

In Chapter 1 we present the results contained in [97]. We study the maximum principle, principal eigenvalues, regularity and existence for viscosity solutions of the problem (I.2.6) where G is defined as in (I.2.7) and

$$B(x, u, Du) = B(Du) = \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}}$$

is the pure Neumann boundary operator. Here and in what follows  $\overrightarrow{n}(x)$  is the exterior normal to the domain  $\Omega$  at  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . The fully nonlinear and singular operator F satisfies the following homogeneity and ellipticity conditions

(F1) For all  $t \in \mathbb{R}^*, \mu \ge 0, (x, p, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\} \times S(N)$ 

$$F(x, tp, \mu X) = |t|^{\alpha} \mu F(x, p, X).$$

(F2) There exist a, A > 0 such that for  $x \in \overline{\Omega}, p \in \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}, M, N \in S(N), N \ge 0$ 

$$a|p|^{\alpha} \operatorname{tr} N \leq F(x, p, M+N) - F(x, p, M) \leq A|p|^{\alpha} \operatorname{tr} N.$$

In addition, we will assume on F some Hölder's continuity hypothesis that will be made precise in Chapter 1. Remark that G is positively homogenous of degree  $\alpha + 1$ :

$$G(x, tu, tDu, tD^2u) = t^{\alpha+1}G(x, u, Du, D^2u) \quad \text{for any } t > 0.$$

In this class of operators one can consider for example

$$F(Du, D^2u) = |Du|^{\alpha} \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^{\bar{-}}(D^2u),$$

 $\alpha > -1$ , where  $\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+(D^2u)$  are the Pucci's operators defined for  $X \in S(N)$  by

$$\mathcal{M}^{+}_{a,A}(X) = A \sum_{e_i > 0} e_i + a \sum_{e_i < 0} e_i,$$
$$\mathcal{M}^{-}_{a,A}(X) = a \sum_{e_i > 0} e_i + A \sum_{e_i < 0} e_i,$$

where  $e_1, ..., e_N$  are the eigenvalues of X (see e.g. [32]).

Other examples for F are given by the p-Laplacian with  $\alpha = p - 2$ , and non-variational generalizations of the p-Laplacian, depending explicitly on x, like the operator

$$F(x, Du, D^{2}u) = |Du|^{q-2} \operatorname{tr}(B_{1}(x)D^{2}u) + c_{0}|Du|^{q-4} \langle D^{2}uB_{2}(x)Du, B_{2}(x)Du \rangle,$$

with  $\alpha = q - 2$ , where q > 1,  $B_1$  and  $B_2$  are  $\theta$ -Hölderian functions with  $\theta > \frac{1}{2}$ , which send  $\overline{\Omega}$  into S(N),  $aI \leq B_1 \leq AI$ ,  $-\sqrt{aI} \leq B_2 \leq \sqrt{AI}$  and  $c_0 > -1$ .

These operators were introduced by Birindelli and Demengel in [28] (see also [27]), where the Dirichlet eigenvalue problem is studied. They assume slightly less general structure conditions on F, but on the other hand, some of their results can be applied to degenerate elliptic equations.

Following the ideas of [26], we define

$$\overline{\lambda} := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists v > 0 \text{ bounded viscosity supersolution of} \\ G(x, v, Dv, D^2 v) = \lambda v^{\alpha+1} \text{ in } \Omega, \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega\}.$$

We prove that  $\overline{\lambda}$  is a generalized principal eigenvalue of G with the Neumann boundary condition. Indeed, we show the existence of a positive and Lipschitz continuous function  $\phi^+$  that is a viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} G(x,\phi^+,D\phi^+,D^2\phi^+)=\overline{\lambda}(\phi^+)^{\alpha+1} & \text{in} \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial\phi^+}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}}=0 & \text{on} \quad \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, as in the linear case, the maximum principle for G with the Neumann condition holds true if and only if  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ . This means that if  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ , whenever u is a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(I.2.8)

then  $u \leq 0$  in  $\Omega$ . On the other hand, if  $\overline{\lambda} \leq 0$  then the principal eigenfunction  $\phi^+$  is a counterexample to the maximum principle. In particular,  $\overline{\lambda}$  is the smallest real number  $\lambda$  such that there exists a positive solution of

$$\begin{cases} G(x, v, Dv, D^2 v) = \lambda |v|^{\alpha} v & \text{in } \Omega \\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(I.2.9)

Indeed, by the maximum principle if  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$  any subsolution of (I.2.9) must be non-positive.

It is not hard to prove that a sufficient condition to the maximum principle to hold is that the function c(x) in (I.2.7) satisfies:  $c \ge 0$  in  $\Omega$  and  $c \not\equiv 0$ . On the other hand, if  $c(x) \le 0$  the maximum principle fails, since the positive constants are subsolution of (I.2.8). It is natural to wonder if the condition  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$  is weaker than the non-negativity of c(x). We give a positive answer to this question, by constructing an explicit example of a bounded positive viscosity supersolution of  $G(x, v, Dv, D^2v) = \lambda v^{\alpha+1}$  in  $\Omega$ ,  $\frac{\partial v}{\partial \overline{n}} = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega$ , with  $\lambda > 0$ , for some c(x) changing sign in  $\Omega$ . The existence of such v implies, by definition,  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ .

For fully nonlinear operators it is possible to define another principal eigenvalue

$$\underline{\lambda} := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists u < 0 \text{ bounded viscosity subsolution of} \\ G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \lambda |u|^{\alpha} u \text{ in } \Omega, \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega\}.$$

If F(x, p, X) = -F(x, p, -X) then  $\overline{\lambda} = \underline{\lambda}$ , otherwise  $\overline{\lambda}$  may be different from  $\underline{\lambda}$ .

Symmetrical results can be proved for  $\underline{\lambda}$ : there exists a negative and Lipschitz continuous eigenfunction  $\phi^-$  associated to  $\underline{\lambda}$ . Moreover, the minimum principle for G with the Neumann condition is valid if and only if  $\underline{\lambda} > 0$ . We say that the minimum principle holds true if whenever u is a supersolution of (I.2.8) then  $u \ge 0$  in  $\Omega$ .

The minimum principle implies that  $\underline{\lambda}$  is the smallest real number  $\lambda$  such that there exists a negative solution of (I.2.9).

We conclude Chapter 1, by applying the results about the principal eigenvalues to solve the Neumann problem (I.2.6) for (I.2.7). We prove that if  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$  and  $g \ge 0$ ,  $g \ne 0$ , (I.2.6) admits a positive solution which is unique if g > 0. Symmetrically, if  $\underline{\lambda} > 0$  and  $g \le 0$ ,  $g \ne 0$ , then there exists a negative solution of (I.2.6) which is unique if g < 0. Finally, if both the eigenvalues are positive, the Neumann problem (I.2.6) is solvable for any right-hand side g.

#### The Isaacs operators

In Chapter 2 we present the results obtained in [96]. We consider uniformly elliptic operators,  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u)$ , which are positively homogenous of order 1 and with some additional assumptions that will be made precise in Chapter 2. This class includes the uniformly elliptic Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman operator

$$G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \{ -\operatorname{tr}(A_{\alpha}(x)D^2u) + b_{\alpha}(x) \cdot Du + c_{\alpha}(x)u \}, \qquad (I.2.10)$$

which arises in stochastic optimal control, see [13] and [54], or more in general the Isaacs operator

$$G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} \{ -\operatorname{tr}(A_{\alpha,\beta}(x)D^2u) + b_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \cdot Du + c_{\alpha,\beta}(x)u \},$$
(I.2.11)

which arises in stochastic differential games, see [54].

To G we associate the following boundary condition

$$B(x, u, Du) = f(x, u) + \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 \quad x \in \partial\Omega.$$
 (I.2.12)

Typically f will be

 $f(x, u) = \gamma(x)u,$ 

with  $\gamma(x)$  continuous and non-negative on  $\partial\Omega$ .

The main result of Chapter 2 is the strong comparison principle between sub and supersolutions: we show that if u and v are respectively a sub and a supersolution of (I.2.6) for the considered operators G and B, and  $u \leq v$ , then either  $u \equiv v$  or u < von  $\overline{\Omega}$ . This result can be applied to develop an eigenvalue theory for the uniformly elliptic homogenous operators we are studying. Again as in [26], we define

$$\lambda := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists v > 0 \text{ on } \Omega \text{ bounded viscosity supersolution of} \\ G(x, v, Dv, D^2 v) = \lambda v \text{ in } \Omega, \ B(x, v, Dv) = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega\},$$

$$\underline{\lambda} := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists u < 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega} \text{ bounded viscosity subsolution of} \\ G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \lambda u \text{ in } \Omega, \ B(x, u, Du) = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}.$$

With the aid of the strong comparison principle we are able to show that  $\overline{\lambda}$  and  $\underline{\lambda}$  are principal eigenvalues, i.e., that there exist a positive and a negative function,  $\phi^+$  and  $\phi^-$  that are respectively viscosity solutions of

$$\begin{cases} G(x,\phi^+, D\phi^+, D^2\phi^+) = \overline{\lambda}\phi^+ & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x,\phi^+, D\phi^+) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(I.2.13)

$$\begin{cases} G(x,\phi^{-},D\phi^{-},D^{2}\phi^{-}) = \underline{\lambda}\phi^{-} & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x,\phi^{-},D\phi^{-}) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(I.2.14)

Moreover, the maximum principle (resp. the minimum principle) for G with boundary condition (I.2.12) holds true if and only if  $\overline{\lambda}$  (resp.  $\underline{\lambda}$ ) is positive.

The strong comparison principle implies some of the basic properties of principal eigenvalues. The first one is simplicity: if u is a solution of (I.2.13) (resp. solution of (I.2.14)) and u is positive (resp. negative) at some point, then there exists t > 0 such that  $u \equiv t\phi^+$  (resp.  $u \equiv t\phi^-$ ). If, in addition, F is convex or concave, the same statement holds true for some  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , without conditions on the sign of u. The Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellmann operator (I.2.11) is an example of convex operator.

We also prove that the principal eigenvalues are isolated and they are the only eigenvalues to which there correspond eigenfunctions that do not change sign in  $\Omega$ .

A comparison between the principal eigenvalues for G corresponding to Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions is also possible. If we denote by  $\overline{\lambda} = \overline{\lambda}_N$ ,  $\underline{\lambda} = \underline{\lambda}_N$ and  $\overline{\lambda}_D$ ,  $\underline{\lambda}_D$  respectively the principal eigenvalues corresponding to the Neumann and the Dirichlet problems, then we have:  $\overline{\lambda}_N < \overline{\lambda}_D$  and  $\underline{\lambda}_N < \underline{\lambda}_D$ .

The strong comparison principle is not known for the singular operators that we study in Chapter 1. This is the main reason why some questions about the properties of principal eigenvalues are still open problems, both in the Neumann and Dirichlet cases. Recently, Birindelli and Demengel [29] have proved simplicity in the Dirichlet case for any smooth bounded domain  $\Omega$  of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  when  $\partial\Omega$  has one connected components and when N = 2 and  $\partial\Omega$  has at most two connected components.

We have already remarked that for nonlinear operators the two principal eigenvalues may not coincide. We exhibit an example in which this eventuality always occurs. Indeed, we show that when

$$G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = -\mathcal{M}(D^2u) + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u,$$

where  $\mathcal{M}(D^2u)$  is one of the Pucci's operators and c(x) is not constant, then we have  $\overline{\lambda} \neq \underline{\lambda}$ .

Finally, we apply our results to the study of the Neumann problem (I.2.6). It is well known that for the operators considered in Chapter 2 (I.2.6) is uniquely solvable if there exists  $\sigma > 0$  such that for any  $(x, p, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N)$  the function  $r \to G(x, r, p, X) - \sigma r$  is non-decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}$ , see e.g [40]. For the Isaacs operator (I.2.10) this condition is equivalent to  $c_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \ge c_0 > 0$  for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ and  $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ . Without requiring this assumption, we prove that if  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ and  $g \ge 0$  (resp.  $\underline{\lambda} > 0$  and  $g \le 0$ ),  $g \not\equiv 0$ , then (I.2.6) admits a positive (resp. negative) Lipschitz continuous solution which is unique if g > 0 (resp. g < 0). The boundary value problem (I.2.6) is solvable for any right-hand side if both the two eigenvalues are positive. It is easy to see that the non-decreasing monotonicity of  $r \to G(x, r, p, X) - \sigma r$  implies  $\overline{\lambda}, \underline{\lambda} > 0$ .

#### The $\infty$ -Laplacian

In Chapter 3 we extend the results obtained for the singular operators considered in Chapter 1 to the operator:

$$G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = -\Delta_{\infty}u + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u \qquad (I.2.15)$$

where

$$\Delta_{\infty} u = \langle D^2 u \frac{Du}{|Du|}, \frac{Du}{|Du|} \rangle,$$

is the 1-homogeneous version of the  $\infty$ -Laplacian. The results presented are contained in [98].

Because of its strong degeneracy, the  $\infty$ -Laplacian does not satisfy the assumption (F2) of Chapter 1, so it is not covered by [28] or [97].

The  $\infty$ -Laplacian, which arises from the optimal Lipschitz extension problem, see [11], appears also in the Monge-Kantorovich mass transfer problem, see [51], and recently, some authors have introduced a game theoretic interpretation of it, see [100].

Since the operator (I.2.15) is 1-homogenous, we define the principal eigenvalue as follows

 $\overline{\lambda} := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists v > 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega} \text{ bounded viscosity supersolution of}$ 

$$G(x, v, Dv, D^2v) = \lambda v \text{ in } \Omega, \ \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \}.$$

Remark that since  $\Delta_{\infty}(-u) = -\Delta_{\infty}u$ , if we define  $\underline{\lambda}$  in the usual way, then  $\overline{\lambda} = \underline{\lambda}$ .

We show that all the results presented in Chapter 1 such as the existence of eigenfunctions and the solvability of the associated Neumann problem are true for the operator (I.2.15).

The question of simplicity of the principal eigenvalue is still open in both the Dirichlet and the Neumann cases. The main difficulty comes from the fact that the strong comparison principle for  $\infty$ -Laplacian is not valid as shown in [83].

A further application of the eigenvalue theory is the decay estimate for solutions of the following Neumann evolution problem:

$$\begin{cases} h_t = \Delta_{\infty} h + c(x)h & \text{in } (0, +\infty) \times \Omega\\ \frac{\partial h}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } [0, +\infty) \times \partial \Omega\\ h(0, x) = h_0(x) & \text{for } x \in \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(I.2.16)

We show that if h is a solution of (I.2.16) and the principal eigenvalue of the stationary operator associated to (I.2.16) is positive, then h decays to zero exponentially and that the rate of the decay depends on it. Precisely, if  $\overline{\lambda}$  and v are respectively the principal eigenvalue and a principal eigenfunction, then

$$\sup_{\Omega\times [0,+\infty)} \frac{h(t,x)e^{\lambda t}}{v(x)} \leq \sup_{\Omega} \frac{h_0^+(x)}{v(x)},$$

where  $h_0^+ = \max\{h_0, 0\}$  denotes the positive part of  $h_0$ .

### PART II

### I.3 The Peierls-Nabarro model for dislocation dynamics

Dislocations are defect lines in crystalline solids whose motion is directly responsible for the plastic deformation of these materials. Their typical length is of order of  $10^{-6}m$  with thickness of order of  $10^{-9}m$ .

The theoretical study of dislocations, started in the 30's, had a considerable development in the 90's thanks to the increasing power of computers which made possible to simulate the 3D behavior of dislocations.

Recently, a new approach has emerged: the so called *phase field model of dislocations*, where dislocations are described by variations of continuous fields (see for instance [105], [43] and [57]). This approach has the advantage that the possible topological changes during dislocation movement are automatically taken into account and that the interactions of dislocations movement with other defects or phases can be easily incorporated in the model.

#### A brief presentation of the theory of dislocations

We are going to present some basic facts of the theory of dislocations in crystals. For a complete presentation of the theory we refer the reader to the book by Hirth, Lothe [63]. Let us start with the geometrical description of a dislocation. Consider a perfect crystal cube, acted on a shear stress as shown in Figure I.3.16-(a). The *edge dislocation* in Figure I.3.16-(b) is producing by slicing the cube from the left to right normal to z and displacing the cube to comply with the stress. The dislocation is the line representing the boundary of the slipped region.



Figure I.3.16. Geometry of an edge dislocation.

Similarly, the cut displacement shown in Figure I.3.16 produces a *screw dislocation* which is again the boundary of the area over which slip has occurred.



Figure I.3.16. Geometry of a screw dislocation.

There are essentially two invariants to characterize a dislocation. The first one is  $\overrightarrow{n}$ , the normal vector to the *slip plane*. Indeed, at least at low temperature, a dislocation moves in a well defined crystallographic plane. The second one is the *Burgers vector*  $\overrightarrow{b}$ . The classical way to define it is the following: in Figure I.3.16-(a) we can see a schematic view of an edge dislocation in the crystal which is divided into a "good" region where the distribution of atoms is close to the distribution of a perfect crystal, and a "bad" region near the dislocation line where the displacement is large. Let us choose a sense of the dislocation line by assigning a unit vector  $\overrightarrow{\xi}$  tangent to the dislocation. Let us consider a circuit, called Burgers circuit, right-handed oriented with respect to  $\overrightarrow{\xi}$ , which lies entirely in good material and enclosing the dislocation. Then we draw the same circuit in the perfect reference lattice, Figure I.3.16-(b). The vector required to close the latter circuit is called the Burgers vector  $\overrightarrow{b} = \overrightarrow{BA}$ .

For an edge dislocation  $\overrightarrow{b}$  is perpendicular to  $\overrightarrow{\xi}$ , while for a screw dislocation  $\overrightarrow{b}$  is parallel to  $\overrightarrow{\xi}$ . In the general case, the angle between the Burgers vector and the dislocation line is arbitrary and we have a mixed dislocation.



Figure I.3.16. Burgers circuit.

Next, let us define the elastic energy associated to a dislocation line. Let  $(e_1, e_2, e_3)$  be an orthonormal basis of  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . From now on, we denote the coordinates by  $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$ . Consider a linear elastic material represented by the whole space. Let  $\sigma_{ij}$ , i, j = 1, 2, 3 be the stresses in the body. In absence of internal torque

$$\sigma_{ij} = \sigma_{ji}$$
 for any  $i, j = 1, 2, 3$ .

If there are no body forces, the stresses need to satisfy the equilibrium equation of classical elasticity:

$$\operatorname{div}(\sigma) = 0 \tag{I.3.17}$$

where  $(\operatorname{div}(\sigma))_j = \sum_{i=1}^3 \partial_i \sigma_{ij}$ . When acted upon by stresses a body deforms; let  $U : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^3$  be the displacement vector. The strain is defined as

$$e = e(U)$$
 where  $e_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial U_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial U_j}{\partial x_i} \right).$ 

For small distortions  $\partial U_i/\partial x_j$ , the stresses depends linearly on deformations (Hooke's law):

$$\sigma = \Lambda : e,$$

where  $\Lambda_{ijkl}$  are the elastic constants of the body satisfying the following symmetry property

$$\Lambda_{ijkl} = \Lambda_{jikl} = \Lambda_{ijlk} = \Lambda_{jilk},$$

and the following coercivity assumption for some m > 0

$$\frac{1}{2}e:\Lambda:e\geq m|e|^2$$

for all constant symmetric matrices  $e = (e_{ij}) \in S(3)$ . Here  $(\Lambda : e)_{ij} = \sum_{k,l=1}^{3} \Lambda_{ijkl} e_{kl}$ and  $|e|^2 = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} e_{ij}^2$ . The equation of linear elasticity (I.3.17) is the Euler-Lagrange equation (minimizing with respect to U) associated to the elastic energy

$$\mathcal{E}^{el} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e : \Lambda : edx. \tag{I.3.18}$$

If the medium is elastically isotropic, i.e. the elastic properties are independent of direction, only two independent elastic constants are required: the Lamé constant  $\lambda$  and the shear modulus  $\mu$ , with  $\mu > 0$  and  $3\lambda + 2\mu > 0$ . In this case the elastic energy has the form

$$\mathcal{E}^{el} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mu |e(U)|^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} |\operatorname{tr} e(U)|^2 dx.$$
 (I.3.19)

Now, let us assume that there is a dislocation line in the material, represented by the boundary  $\Gamma$  of a smooth domain  $\Omega_0$  contained in the plane  $\{x_3 = 0\}$  (slip plane). In this case we have to consider a plastic deformation  $e^{pl}$  in addition to the elastic one  $e^{el}$ :

$$e(U) = e^{el} + e^{pl}$$

where

$$e^{pl} = e^0 
ho \delta_0(x_3), \quad ext{with } e^0 = rac{1}{2} \left( \overrightarrow{b} \otimes \overrightarrow{n} + \overrightarrow{n} \otimes \overrightarrow{b} 
ight).$$

Here  $\delta_0(x_3)$  is the Dirac mass only in the  $x_3$  component,  $\vec{n} = e_3$  and  $\rho$  is the characteristic function of  $\Omega_0$ . The classical theory of dislocations asserts that the dislocation line creates a distortion in the strain e such that

$$\operatorname{div}(\Lambda : e(U)) = \operatorname{div}(\rho \delta_0(x_3) \Lambda : e^0)$$

in the sense of distributions. The dislocation line is surrounded by a region, known as the *dislocation core*, where the atomic positions cannot be described by a small homogenous deformation of the reference crystal. To take into consideration the nonlinear atomic interaction across the slip plane, in many models a tension line energy is added to the elastic energy, see for instance [30] and [25]. The energy is thus formally given by

$$\mathcal{E} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{el} : \Lambda : e^{el} dx + \int_{\Gamma} W(\overrightarrow{n}) dS,$$

where W is an energy of tension line. In the dislocation core the linear continuum elastic theory is not longer valid, in other words, the elastic energy may be infinite close to the dislocation line. A simple way to overcome this difficulty has been proposed by Alvarez, Hoch, Le Bouar and Monneau [7] and consists in introducing a regularizing core tensor  $\chi$  and replacing  $e^{el}$  by  $e_{\chi}^{el} = \chi \star e^{el}$ , where  $\star$  is the convolution operation. We refer to [7] for more details.

#### Description of the Peierls-Nabarro model

The Peierls-Nabarro model is a phase field model incorporating atomic features into continuum framework.

We briefly review the model for a straight dislocation, see [63] for a detailed presentation. As an example, consider an edge dislocation in a crystal with simple cubic lattice. In a Cartesian system of coordinates  $x_1x_2x_3$ , consider the section of the crystal on the plane  $x_1x_2$ . Assume that the dislocation is located along the  $x_3$  axis and the Burgers vector is in the direction of the  $x_1$  axis. Thus the  $x_1x_3$ plane is the slip plane of the dislocation. The length of the Burgers vector is b and corresponds to the magnitude of the lattice. The disregistry of the upper half crystal  $\{x_2 > 0\}$  relative to the lower half  $\{x_2 < 0\}$  in the direction of the Burgers vector is  $\phi(x_1)$ , where  $\phi$  is an increasing function such that  $\phi(-\infty) = 0$  and  $\phi(+\infty) = b$ .

In the Peierls-Nabarro model, the total energy is written as

$$\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}^{el} + \mathcal{E}^{mis},$$

where  $\mathcal{E}^{el}$  is the long-range interaction elastic energy induced by the slip (I.3.18), and  $\mathcal{E}^{mis}$  is the so called *misfit energy* due to the nonlinear atomic interaction across the slip plane

$$\mathcal{E}^{mis} = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} W(\phi(x_1)) dx_1,$$

where  $W(\phi)$  is the interplanar potential. In the classical Peierls-Nabarro model, [99]-[93], isotropic elasticity is used for  $\mathcal{E}^{el}$  and  $W(\phi)$  in  $\mathcal{E}^{mis}$  is approximated by the Frenkel sinusoidal potential

$$W(\phi) = \frac{\mu b^2}{4\pi^2 d} \left( 1 - \cos\left(\frac{2\pi\phi}{b}\right) \right),$$

where d is the lattice spacing perpendicular to the slip plane. The equilibrium configuration of the dislocation is obtained by minimizing the total energy with respect to  $\phi$ . The solution employed in Nabarro [93], has the explicit form

$$\phi(x_1) = \frac{b}{\pi} \arctan\left(\frac{2(1-\nu)x_1}{d}\right) + \frac{b}{2},$$
 (I.3.20)

where  $\nu = \frac{\lambda}{2(\lambda+\mu)}$  is the Poisson ratio. In the general model, one can consider a potential W satisfying

- (i) W(u+b) = W(u) for all  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ ;
- (ii)  $W(b\mathbb{Z}) = 0 < W(a)$  for all  $a \in \mathbb{R} \setminus b\mathbb{Z}$ .

The periodicity of W reflects the periodicity in the crystal, while the minimum property is consistent with the fact that the perfect crystal is assumed to minimize the energy.

The displacement is represented by a scalar function  $U(x_1, x_2)$  which is antisymmetric in  $x_2$  and such that  $U(x_1, 0) = \frac{1}{2}\phi(x_1)$ . The elastic energy can be written as integral over the slip plane. Suppose that, replacing U by 2U, the elastic energy has formally the following form

$$\mathcal{E}^{el} = \frac{1}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\nabla U|^2 dx_1 dx_2 = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R} \times (0, +\infty)} |\nabla U|^2 dx_1 dx_2,$$

with  $U(x_1, 0) = \phi(x_1)$ . Then, the total energy is

$$\mathcal{E} = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R} \times (0, +\infty)} |\nabla U|^2 dx_1 dx_2 + \int_{\partial(\mathbb{R} \times (0, +\infty))} W(U) dS.$$

A local minimizer of the energy is a solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta U = 0, & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial U}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = -W'(U), & \text{on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$
(I.3.21)

where  $\Omega = \{(x_1, x_2) | x_2 > 0\}$  and  $\frac{\partial U}{\partial \vec{n}} = -\frac{\partial U}{\partial x_2}$  is the exterior normal derivative of U, see Cabré and Solà-Morales [33]. It is well known that if V is a smooth function on  $\mathbb{R}^N \times [0, +\infty)$  which is harmonic in  $\mathbb{R}^N \times (0, +\infty)$  and  $V(x_1, ..., x_N, 0) = v(x_1, ..., x_N)$ , then  $\frac{\partial V}{\partial x_{N+1}}(x_1, ..., x_N, 0) = -(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}v(x_1, ..., x_N)$ , where the half-Laplacian  $(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  is the fractional operator defined on the Schwartz class  $S(\mathbb{R}^N)$  by

$$(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}v = \mathcal{F}^{-1}(|\cdot|\mathcal{F}(v)),$$

see [86]. Here  $\mathcal{F}$  is the Fourier transform. For a bounded real smooth function v defined on  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , the linear operator  $-(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  is given by the Lévy-Khintchine formula (see Theorem 1 in [66]):

$$-(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}v(y) = C_N \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (v(y+z) - v(y) - \nabla v(y) \cdot z \mathbf{1}_{\{|z| \le 1\}}) \frac{dz}{|z|^{N+1}}$$
(I.3.22)

where  $C_N$  is a constant depending on the dimension N and  $\mathbf{1}_{\{|z|\leq 1\}}$  is the characteristic function of the set  $\{|z|\leq 1\}$ . Hence, for smooth solutions, system (I.3.21) can be rewritten for  $\phi(x_1) = U(x_1, 0)$  as

$$-(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}\phi = W'(\phi) \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R},$$

where  $-(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  is the non-local operator defined by (I.3.22) with N = 1. In [33] the authors show that for smooth potentials W satisfying assumptions (i) and (ii) above, there exists a function  $\phi$  solution of

$$\begin{cases} -(-\Delta)^{\frac{1}{2}}\phi = W'(\phi), & \text{on } \mathbb{R} \\ \phi' > 0, & \text{and} \quad \phi(-\infty) = 0 \quad \phi(+\infty) = b. \end{cases}$$
(I.3.23)

The function  $\phi$  is called layer solution. If in addition W satisfies

(iii) 
$$W''(b\mathbb{Z}) > 0$$
,

then the layer solution is unique up to translations. When the elastic energy has the general form (I.3.18), then the phase transition  $\phi$  is a solution of

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\phi] = W'(\phi) \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R}, \tag{I.3.24}$$

where  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is the anisotropic Lévy operator of order 1, defined on bounded  $C^2$ functions by

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}[v](x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} (v(x+z) - v(x) - zv'(y)\mathbf{1}_{\{|z| \le 1\}}) \frac{1}{|z|^{2}} g\left(\frac{z}{|z|}\right) dz$$

with g positive and even function. See [7] for the characterization of g. In the special case of isotropic elasticity, we have  $g(z) = \frac{\mu}{2\pi(1-\nu)}$  and the function (I.3.20) is a layer solution of (I.3.24).

#### Outline of the results of Chapter 4

In the face cubic structured (FCC) observed in many metals and alloys, dislocations move at low temperature on the slip plane at a velocity of order  $10ms^{-1}$ . To take into consideration the dynamics effects in motion of dislocations, in Chapter 4 we study the evolutive version in dimension N of the Peierls-Nabarro model (I.3.24) introduced in the previous section. The results presented are contained in [92]. Precisely, we consider the non-local parabolic equation

$$\partial_t u = \mathcal{I}_1[u(t,\cdot)] - W'(u) + \sigma(t,x) \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \tag{I.3.25}$$

where  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is the anisotropic Lévy operator of order 1, defined on bounded  $C^2$ -functions  $U: \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$  for r > 0 by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_1[U](x) &= \int_{|z| \le r} (U(x+z) - U(x) - \nabla U(x) \cdot z) \frac{1}{|z|^{N+1}} g\left(\frac{z}{|z|}\right) dz \\ &+ \int_{|z| > r} (U(x+z) - U(x)) \frac{1}{|z|^{N+1}} g\left(\frac{z}{|z|}\right) dz. \end{aligned}$$

Here g is a positive and even continuous function and W and  $\sigma$  are periodic functions. See Chapter 4 for the precise assumptions on  $g, \sigma$  and W. In the model  $\sigma$  has been introduced to take into account the possible external applied shear stress on the material.

We suppose that at initial time t = 0 *u* satisfies

$$u(0,x) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} u_0(\epsilon x) \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N, \tag{I.3.26}$$

where  $u_0$  is a regular bounded function and  $\epsilon$  is a small positive parameter.

Problem (I.3.25)-(I.3.26) for N = 1 models the dynamics of a collection of parallel straight edge dislocation lines with the same Burgers vector, all contained in the same slip plane and moving in a landscape with periodic obstacles. The parameter  $\epsilon$ takes into account the fact that the number of dislocations is increasing of order  $1/\epsilon$ .

We want to identify at *large scale* an evolution model for the dynamics of a density of dislocations and we do this by a periodic homogenization approach. We consider the following rescaling

$$u^{\epsilon}(t,x) = \epsilon u\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon},\frac{x}{\epsilon}\right),$$

the functions  $u^{\epsilon}$  are solutions of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^{\epsilon} = \mathcal{I}_1[u^{\epsilon}(t,\cdot)] - W'\left(\frac{u^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}\right) + \sigma\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon},\frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N\\ u^{\epsilon}(0,x) = u_0(x) & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$
(I.3.27)

A good notion of solution for system (I.3.27) is the notion of viscosity solution for non-local equations given for instance in [12]. See also [34], [22] and [65].

We prove that the limit  $u^0$  of  $u^{\epsilon}$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$  exists and is the unique solution of the homogenized problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \overline{H}(\nabla u, \mathcal{I}_1[u(t, \cdot)]) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x) & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(I.3.28)

for some continuous function  $\overline{H}$  usually called *effective Hamiltonian*. As usual in periodic homogenization, the limit equation is determined by a *cell problem*. In our case, such a problem is for any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $L \in \mathbb{R}$  the following:

$$\begin{cases} \lambda + \partial_t v = \mathcal{I}_1[v(\tau, \cdot)] + L - W'(v + \lambda t + p \cdot x) + \sigma(t, x) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N\\ v(0, x) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$
(I.3.29)

We show that there is a unique number  $\lambda = \lambda(p, L)$  for which there exists a solution of (I.3.29) which is bounded on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ . The effective Hamiltonian of (I.3.28) is thus defined as follows:  $\overline{H}(p, L) := \lambda(p, L)$ . The function  $\overline{H}(p, L)$  is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}$  and non-decreasing in L.

A specific technical difficulty in this problem is to deal with the case  $\lambda = p = 0$ . In order to overcome it, following [67] and [68], we consider cell problems in a higher dimensional space. The lack of smooth solutions for these problems, has induced us to construct regular approximated sub and supercorrectors, i.e. regular sub and supersolutions of approximate N + 1-dimensional cell problems, and this is enough to conclude. Let us also point out that, differently from the case of equations independent of  $u^{\epsilon}/\epsilon$ , correctors here are not periodic with respect to the space variable in general. Moreover, correctors are necessarily time dependent.

The homogenized equation (I.3.28) can be interpreted as the plastic flow rule in a model for macroscopic crystal plasticity, i.e. a relationship between the plastic strain velocity and the stress. In the homogenized equation (I.3.28):

- $u^0$  is the plastic strain;
- $\partial_t u^0$  is the plastic strain velocity;
- $\nabla u^0$  is the dislocation density;
- $\mathcal{I}_1[u^0]$  is the internal stress created by the density of dislocations contained in a slip plane.

In dimension N = 1, when  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is the half-Laplacian and the periodic stress  $\sigma$  is equal to 0, we get

$$\overline{H}(p,L) \sim \frac{1}{2}\gamma|p|L \tag{I.3.30}$$

for small p and L, where  $\gamma = 2(\int_{\mathbb{R}} (\phi')^2)^{-1}$  is the inverse of the so called damping factor and  $\phi$  is a layer solution, i.e. a solution of (I.3.23). This characterization of the effective Hamiltonian is known in physics as Orowan's law.

**Remark I.3.1.** Fractional reaction-diffusion equations of the form

$$\partial_t u = \mathcal{I}_1[u] + f(u) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \tag{I.3.31}$$

where  $N \ge 2$  and f is a bistable nonlinearity have been studied by Imbert and Souganidis [69]. In this paper the authors show that solutions of (I.3.31), after properly rescaling them, exhibit a moving interface. Analogous results have been obtained by González and Monneau [62] for the evolutive Peierls-Nabarro model in dimension N = 1. In the one dimensional space, the moving interface are points. The dynamics of these particles corresponds to the classical discrete dislocation dynamics, in the particular case of of parallel straight edge dislocation lines in the same slip plane with the same Burgers vector. Considering the motion of these particles they identify at large scale an evolution model for the dynamics of a density of dislocations that corresponds to (I.3.28).

Finally, let us mention that in [57] and [58] Garroni and Muller study a variational model for dislocations that is the variational formulation of the stationary Peierls-Nabarro equation.

### I.4 Local Hamilton-Jacobi equations

In Chapter 5 we present the results of [2]. We consider homogenization problems for first order local Hamilton-Jacobi equations with  $u^{\epsilon}/\epsilon$  periodic dependence, namely

$$\begin{cases} u_t^{\epsilon} + H\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{u^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}, Du^{\epsilon}\right) = 0, & (t, x) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u^{\epsilon}(0, x) = u_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^N \end{cases}$$
(I.4.32)

with the following assumptions on the Hamiltonian H:

(H1) Periodicity: for any  $(t, x, u, p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$H(t+1, x+k, u+1, p) = H(t, x, u, p) \text{ for any } k \in \mathbb{Z}^N;$$

(H2) Regularity:  $H : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$  is Lipschitz continuous and there exists a constant  $C_1 > 0$  such that, for almost every  $(t, x, u, p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$|D_{(t,x)}H(t,x,u,p)| \le C_1(1+|p|), \quad |D_uH(t,x,u,p)| \le C_1, \quad |D_pH(t,x,u,p)| \le C_1;$$

- (H3)  $H(t, x, u, p) \to +\infty$  as  $|p| \to +\infty$  uniformly for  $(t, x, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}$ ;
- (H4) There exists a constant C such that for almost every  $(t, x, u, p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N$

$$|D_pH(t, x, u, p) \cdot p - H(t, x, u, p)| \le C.$$

Problem (I.4.32) with H independent of t was introduced by Imbert and Monneau [67] as a simplified model for dislocation dynamics in material science. The complete model is introduced in [68] and leads to non-local first order equations of the type

$$u^{\epsilon}_t + \left(c\left(\frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) + M^{\epsilon}\left(\frac{u^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}\right)\right) |Du^{\epsilon}| + H\left(\frac{u^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}, Du^{\epsilon}\right) = 0$$

where  $M^{\epsilon}$  is a non-local jump operator and c is a periodic velocity. In the latter model, the level sets of the solution  $u^{\epsilon}$  describe dislocations.

Going back to (I.4.32), it was proved in [67] that, with H independent of t,

• under assumptions (H1) and (H2), there exists a unique bounded continuous viscosity solution of (I.4.32);

• under assumptions (H1)-(H3), the limit  $u^0$  of  $u^{\epsilon}$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$  exists and it is the unique bounded continuous solution of the homogenized problem

$$\begin{cases} u_t^0 + \overline{H}(Du^0) = 0, & (t, x) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u^0(0, x) = u_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(I.4.33)

where the effective Hamiltonian  $\overline{H}$  is uniquely defined by the long time behavior of the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \lambda = v_t + H(x, -\lambda t + p \cdot x + v, p + Dv), & (t, x) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N, \\ v(0, x) = 0, & x \in \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$
(I.4.34)

More precisely, we have the following theorem

**Theorem I.4.1** (Imbert-Monneau, [67]). Let H be independent of t. Assume (H1)-(H3) and  $u_0 \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Then, as  $\epsilon \to 0$ , the sequence  $u^{\epsilon}$  converges locally uniformly in  $(0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$  to the solution  $u^0$  of (I.4.33), where, for any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$  $\overline{H}(p)$  is defined as the unique number  $\lambda$  for which there exists a bounded continuous viscosity solution of (I.4.34). Moreover  $\overline{H} : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous and satisfies the coercivity property

$$\overline{H}(p) \to +\infty$$
 as  $|p| \to +\infty$ .

The proof in [67] is rather involved: it uses a *twisted* perturbed test function for a higher dimensional problem posed in  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}$ .

Under the additional assumption (H4), an easier proof of Theorem I.4.1 was given by Barles, [18], as a byproduct of a general result on the homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations with non-coercive Hamiltonians.

**Remark I.4.2.** The hypothesis (H4) which was not used in [67] guarantees the existence of a function  $H_{\infty}$  such that

$$H_{\infty}(t, x, u, p) = \lim_{s \to 0^+} sH(t, x, u, s^{-1}p).$$

Moreover  $H_{\infty}$  satisfies (H1)-(H3).

In [18], thanks to assumption (H4), the equation for  $u^{\epsilon}$  is interpreted as an equation for the motion of a graph: indeed, following [18], for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ ,  $(p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ , let us introduce the non-coercive Hamiltonian F defined by

$$F(t, x, y, p_x, p_y) = \begin{cases} |p_y| H(t, x, y, |p_y|^{-1} p_x), & \text{if } p_y \neq 0, \\ H_{\infty}(t, x, y, p_x), & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The function  $U^{\epsilon}(t, x, y) := u^{\epsilon}(t, x) - y$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} U_t^{\epsilon} + F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{U^{\epsilon} + y}{\epsilon}, D_x U^{\epsilon}, D_y U^{\epsilon}\right) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ U^{\epsilon}(0, x, y) = u_0(x) - y, & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$
(I.4.35)

In [18] Barles proves that the sequence  $U^{\epsilon}$  converges to the solution  $U^{0}$  of the following problem

$$\begin{cases} U_t^0 + \overline{F}(D_x U^0, D_y U^0) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ U^0(0, x, y) = u_0(x) - y, & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \end{cases}$$
(I.4.36)

xxiv

where for  $(p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ ,  $\overline{F}(p_x, p_y)$  is the unique number  $\lambda$  for which the cell problem

$$V_t + F(t, x, y, p_x + D_x V, p_y + D_y V) = \lambda \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}.$$
(I.4.37)

admits bounded sub and supersolutions. This result makes it possible to solve the homogenization problem for (I.4.32):

**Theorem I.4.3** (Barles, [18]). Assume (H1)-(H4). Then the sequence  $u^{\epsilon}$  converges locally uniformly in  $(0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$  to the solution  $u^0$  of (I.4.33). The function  $\overline{H}(p)$  in (I.4.33) can be characterized as follows:  $\overline{H}(p) = \overline{F}(p, -1)$ , where, for any  $(p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ ,  $\overline{F}(p_x, p_y)$  is the unique number  $\lambda$  for which the equation (I.4.37) admits bounded sub and supersolutions in  $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ .

An important step in the proof of Theorem I.4.3 consists of homogenizing the non-coercive level-set equation satisfied by  $\mathbb{1}_{\{U^{\epsilon}>0\}}$ .

#### Outline of the results of Chapter 5

In Chapter 5, we tackle two questions:

- Is it possible to estimate the rate of convergence of  $u^{\epsilon}$  to  $u^{0}$  when  $\epsilon \to 0$ ?
- Is is possible to approximate numerically the effective Hamiltonian?

The first question was answered by Capuzzo Dolcetta and Ishii, [36] for a more classical homogenization problem: the estimate  $||u^{\epsilon} - u^{0}||_{\infty} \leq C\epsilon^{\frac{1}{3}}$  was obtained for Hamilton-Jacobi equations of the type

$$u^{\epsilon} + H\left(x, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, u^{\epsilon}\right) = 0,$$

where  $(x, y, p) \to H(x, y, p)$  is a coercive Hamiltonian, uniformly Lipschitz continuous for |p| bounded and periodic with respect to y; moreover, if H(x, y, p) does not depend on x, then the convergence is linear in  $\epsilon$ .

We show that in the present case, it is possible to obtain the same rates of convergence as  $\epsilon \to 0$  by adapting the proof in [36] using the arguments contained in [18]. The main idea is to approximate  $U^{\epsilon}$  (with an error smaller than  $\epsilon$ ) by a discontinuous function  $\tilde{U}^{\epsilon}$  which takes integer values where  $U^{\epsilon}$  has noninteger values and which is a discontinuous viscosity solution of

$$\widetilde{U}_t^{\epsilon} + F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{y}{\epsilon}, D_x \widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}, D_y \widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}\right) = 0, \qquad (t, x, y) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}.$$

The latter equation has to be compared with (I.4.35). This approximation  $\widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}$  is obtained as the limit as  $\delta \to 0$  of  $\phi_{\delta}(U^{\epsilon})$  where  $(\phi_{\delta})_{\delta}$  is a sequence of increasing functions. The method of Capuzzo Dolcetta and Ishii [36] can then be applied to  $\widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}$ . The second question was studied in [1] for equation

$$u^{\epsilon} + H\left(\frac{x}{\epsilon}, u^{\epsilon}\right) = 0,$$

where  $(y, p) \rightarrow H(y, p)$  is a coercive Hamiltonian, uniformly Lipschitz continuous for |p| bounded and periodic with respect to y; in this article, a complete numerical method for solving the homogenized problem was studied, including as a main step the approximation of the effective Hamiltonian by solving discrete cell problems. Error estimates were proved. Here, we study the approximation of the cell problem (I.4.37) by Eulerian schemes in the discrete torus. We have preferred to study the approximation of the noncoercive N + 2 dimensional problem (I.4.37) rather than that of the coercive N+1 dimensional problem (I.4.34) because the solution of (I.4.34) may not be periodic. We prove the discrete analogue of the ergodicity Theorems in [18], i.e. that there exists a unique real number  $\lambda_h^{\Delta t}$  such that the discrete analogue of (I.4.37) has a solution. The arguments in the proof are the discrete counterparts of those in [18]. We also show that the discrete effective Hamiltonian converges to the effective Hamiltonian when the grid step of the discrete cell problem tends to zero.

# Part I

# Neumann generalized principal eigenvalues

## Chapter 1

## Fully nonlinear singular operators

In this chapter we study the maximum principle, principal eigenvalues, regularity and existence for viscosity solutions of the Neumann boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Du, D^2u) + b(x) \cdot Du |Du|^{\alpha} + (c(x) + \lambda) |u|^{\alpha}u = g(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.0.1)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain of class  $C^2$ ,  $\overrightarrow{n}(x)$  is the exterior normal to the domain  $\Omega$  at  $x, \alpha > -1, \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  and b, c, g are continuous functions on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . F is a fully nonlinear operator that may be singular at the points where the gradient vanishes.  $F: \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\} \times S(N) \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfies the following conditions

(F1) For all  $t \in \mathbb{R}^*, \mu \ge 0, (x, p, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\} \times S(N)$ 

$$F(x, tp, \mu X) = |t|^{\alpha} \mu F(x, p, X).$$

(F2) There exist a, A > 0 such that for  $x \in \overline{\Omega}, p \in \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}, M, N \in S(N), N \ge 0$ 

$$a|p|^{\alpha} \operatorname{tr} N \le F(x, p, M + N) - F(x, p, M) \le A|p|^{\alpha} \operatorname{tr} N$$

(F3) There exist  $C_1 > 0$  and  $\theta \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1]$  such that for all  $x, y \in \overline{\Omega}, p \in \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}, X \in S(N)$ 

$$|F(x, p, X) - F(y, p, X)| \le C_1 |x - y|^{\theta} |p|^{\alpha} ||X||$$

(F4) There exist  $C_2 > 0$  and  $\nu \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1]$  such that for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}, \ p \in \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\},$  $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N, \ |p_0| \leq \frac{|p|}{2}, \ X \in S(N)$ 

$$|F(x, p + p_0, X) - F(x, p, X)| \le C_2 |p|^{\alpha - \nu} |p_0|^{\nu} ||X||.$$

The domain  $\Omega$  is supposed to be bounded and of class  $C^2$ . In particular, it satisfies the interior sphere condition and the uniform exterior sphere condition, i.e.,

( $\Omega 1$ ) For each  $x \in \partial \Omega$  there exist R > 0 and  $y \in \Omega$  for which |x - y| = R and  $B(y, R) \subset \Omega$ .

(\Omega2) There exists r > 0 such that  $B(x + r \overrightarrow{n}(x), r) \cap \Omega = \emptyset$  for any  $x \in \partial \Omega$ .

From the property  $(\Omega 2)$  it follows that

$$\langle y - x, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle \le \frac{1}{2r} |y - x|^2 \quad \text{for } x \in \partial\Omega \text{ and } y \in \overline{\Omega}.$$
 (1.0.2)

Moreover, the  $C^2$ -regularity of  $\Omega$  implies the existence of a neighborhood of  $\partial \Omega$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  on which the distance from the boundary

$$d(x) := \inf\{|x - y|, y \in \partial\Omega\}, \quad x \in \overline{\Omega}$$

is of class  $C^2$ . We still denote by  $d \ge C^2$  extension of the distance function to the whole  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Without loss of generality we can assume that  $|Dd(x)| \le 1$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

Here we adopt the notion of viscosity solution given in Definition I.2.2. We call strong viscosity subsolutions (resp., supersolutions) the viscosity subsolutions (resp., supersolutions) that satisfy  $B(x, u, Du) \leq (\text{resp.}, \geq) 0$  in the viscosity sense for all  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . If  $\lambda \to B(x, r, p - \lambda \overrightarrow{n})$  is non-increasing in  $\lambda \geq 0$ , then classical subsolutions (resp., supersolutions) are strong viscosity subsolutions (resp., supersolutions), see [40] Proposition 7.2.

In the definition of viscosity solution the test functions can be substituted by the elements of the semijets  $\overline{J}^{2,+}u(x_0)$  when u is a subsolution and  $\overline{J}^{2,-}u(x_0)$  when u is a supersolution, see [40].

For simplicity of notation we denote

$$G(x, u, Du, D^{2}u) := F(x, Du, D^{2}u) + b(x) \cdot Du |Du|^{\alpha} + c(x)|u|^{\alpha}u.$$

Remark that the function b, c and g correspond respectively to -b, -c and -g of (I.2.7).

Following the ideas of [26], we define the principal eigenvalue as

$$\overline{\lambda} := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists v > 0 \text{ bounded viscosity supersolution of} \\ G(x, v, Dv, D^2 v) + \lambda v^{\alpha + 1} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \langle Dv, \overrightarrow{n} \rangle = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}.$$
(1.0.3)

 $\overline{\lambda}$  is well defined since the above set is not empty; indeed,  $-|c|_{\infty}$  belongs to it, being  $v(x) \equiv 1$  a corresponding supersolution. Furthermore it is an interval because if  $\lambda$  belongs to it then so does any  $\lambda' < \lambda$ .

We will prove that  $\overline{\lambda}$  is an "eigenvalue" for -G which admits a positive "eigenfunction", in the sense that there exists  $\phi > 0$  solution of

$$\begin{cases} G(x,\phi,D\phi,D^2\phi) + \overline{\lambda}\phi^{\alpha+1} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \\ \langle D\phi, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Moreover,  $\overline{\lambda}$  can be characterized as the supremum of those  $\lambda$  for which the operator  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u) + \lambda |u|^{\alpha}u$  with the Neumann boundary condition satisfies the maximum principle. As a consequence  $\overline{\lambda}$  is the least "eigenvalue" to which there correspond "eigenfunctions" positive somewhere. These results are applied to obtain existence and uniqueness for the boundary value problem (1.0.1).

For fully nonlinear operators it is possible to define another principal eigenvalue

$$\begin{split} \underline{\lambda} &:= \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists \, u < 0 \text{ bounded viscosity subsolution of} \\ G(x, u, Du, D^2 u) + \lambda |u|^{\alpha} u = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n} \rangle = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \} \end{split}$$

If F(x, p, X) = -F(x, p, -X) then  $\overline{\lambda} = \underline{\lambda}$ , otherwise  $\overline{\lambda}$  may be different from  $\underline{\lambda}$ . Symmetrical results can be obtained for  $\underline{\lambda}$ .

The classical assumption which guarantees the solvability of the Neumann problem (1.0.1) with  $\lambda = 0$  is c < 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . We show that the right hypothesis for any right-hand side is the positivity of the two principal eigenvalues.

In the next we establish a Lipschitz regularity result for viscosity solutions of (1.0.1). Section 1.2 is devoted to the study of the maximum principle for subsolutions of (1.0.1). In Section 1.2.1 we show that it holds (even for more general boundary conditions) for  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u)$  if  $c(x) \leq 0$  and  $c \neq 0$ , see Theorem 1.2.5. One of the main result of this chapter is that the maximum principle holds for  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u) + \lambda |u|^{\alpha}u$  for any  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ , as we show in Theorem 1.2.9 of Section 1.2.2. In particular it holds for  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u)$  if  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ . It is natural to wonder if the result of Theorem 1.2.9 is stronger than that of Theorem 1.2.5; indeed if  $c \equiv 0$ , one has  $\overline{\lambda} = 0$ . A positive answer is given in Section 1.2.3, where we construct an explicit example of a bounded positive viscosity supersolution of  $G(x, v, Dv, D^2v) + \lambda v^{\alpha+1} = 0$  in  $\Omega$ ,  $\langle Dv, \overline{n} \rangle = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ ,  $\lambda > 0$ , with c(x) changing sign. The existence of such v implies, by definition,  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ . Finally, in Section 1.3 we show some existence and comparison theorems.

### 1.1 Lipschitz continuity of viscosity solutions

**Theorem 1.1.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain of class  $C^2$ . Suppose that F satisfies  $(F_2)$ - $(F_4)$  and that b, c, g are bounded in  $\Omega$ . If  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Du, D^2u) + b(x) \cdot Du |Du|^{\alpha} + c(x) |u|^{\alpha}u = g(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

then

$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le C_0 |x - y| \quad \forall x, y \in \overline{\Omega},$$

where  $C_0$  depends on  $\Omega$ , N,  $\alpha$ , a, A,  $\theta$ ,  $\nu$ ,  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $|b|_{\infty}$ ,  $|c|_{\infty}$ ,  $|g|_{\infty}$ , and  $|u|_{\infty}$ .

The Theorem is an immediate consequence of the next lemma. To prove the lemma we adopt the technique used in Proposition III.1 of [75] for Dirichlet problems, that we modify taking test functions which depend on d(x).

The lemma plays a key role also in the proof of Theorem 1.2.9 in the next section.

**Lemma 1.1.2.** Assume the hypothesis of Theorem 1.1.1 and suppose that g and h are bounded functions. Let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Du, D^2u) + b(x) \cdot Du |Du|^{\alpha} + c(x) |u|^{\alpha}u = g(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  a viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Dv, D^2v) + b(x) \cdot Dv |Dv|^{\alpha} + c(x)|v|^{\alpha}v = h(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \langle Dv, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

with u and v bounded, or  $v \ge 0$  and bounded. If  $m = \max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u-v) \ge 0$ , then there exists  $C_0 > 0$  such that

$$u(x) - v(y) \le m + C_0 |x - y| \quad \forall x, y \in \Omega,$$

$$(1.1.4)$$

where  $C_0$  depends on  $\Omega$ , N,  $\alpha$ , a, A,  $\theta$ ,  $\nu$ ,  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $|b|_{\infty}$ ,  $|c|_{\infty}$ ,  $|g|_{\infty}$ ,  $|h|_{\infty}$ ,  $|v|_{\infty}$ , m and  $|u|_{\infty}$  or  $\sup_{\overline{\Omega}} u$ .

**Proof.** We set

$$\Phi(x) = MK|x| - M(K|x|)^2,$$

and

$$\varphi(x,y) = m + e^{-L(d(x)+d(y))}\Phi(x-y),$$

where L is a fixed number greater than 2/(3r) with r the radius in the condition  $(\Omega 2)$  and K and M are two positive constants to be chosen later. If  $K|x| \leq \frac{1}{4}$ , then

$$\Phi(x) \ge \frac{3}{4}MK|x|. \tag{1.1.5}$$

We define

$$\Delta_K := \left\{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N : |x - y| \le \frac{1}{4K} \right\}.$$

We fix M such that

$$\max_{\overline{\Omega}^2}(u(x) - v(y)) \le m + e^{-2Ld_0}\frac{M}{8},$$
(1.1.6)

where  $d_0 = \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} d(x)$ , and we claim that taking K large enough, one has

$$u(x) - v(y) - \varphi(x, y) \le 0$$
 for  $(x, y) \in \Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ .

In this case (1.1.4) is proven. To show the last inequality we suppose by contradiction that for some  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in \Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ 

$$u(\overline{x}) - v(\overline{y}) - \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = \max_{\Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2} (u(x) - v(y) - \varphi(x, y)) > 0.$$

Here we have dropped the dependence of  $\overline{x}$ ,  $\overline{y}$  on K for simplicity of notations.

Observe that if  $v \ge 0$ , since from (1.1.5)  $\Phi(x-y)$  is non-negative in  $\Delta_K$  and  $m \ge 0$ , one has  $u(\overline{x}) > 0$ .

Clearly  $\overline{x} \neq \overline{y}$ . Moreover the point  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$  belongs to  $\operatorname{int}(\Delta_K) \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ . Indeed, if  $|x - y| = \frac{1}{4K}$ , by (1.1.6) and (1.1.5) we have

$$u(x) - v(y) \le m + e^{-2Ld_0} \frac{M}{8} \le m + e^{-L(d(x) + d(y))} \frac{1}{2} MK |x - y| \le \varphi(x, y).$$

Since  $\overline{x} \neq \overline{y}$  we can compute the derivatives of  $\varphi$  in  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$  obtaining

$$D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK \Big\{ -L|\overline{x} - \overline{y}| (1 - K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) Dd(\overline{x}) \\ + (1 - 2K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|} \Big\},$$
$$D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK \Big\{ -L|\overline{x} - \overline{y}| (1 - K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) Dd(\overline{y}) \\ - (1 - 2K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|} \Big\}.$$

Observe that for large K

$$e^{-2Ld_0}\frac{MK}{4} \le e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}MK\left(\frac{1}{2}-L|\overline{x}-\overline{y}|\right) \le |D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})|, |D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})| \le 2MK.$$
(1.1.7)

Using (1.0.2), if  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$  we have

$$\langle D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), \overline{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle$$

$$= e^{-Ld(\overline{y})} MK \Big\{ L|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|(1 - K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) + (1 - 2K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) \langle \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}, \overline{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle \Big\}$$

$$\geq e^{-Ld(\overline{y})} MK \Big\{ \frac{3}{4} L|\overline{x} - \overline{y}| - (1 - 2K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) \frac{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}{2r} \Big\}$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{2} e^{-Ld(\overline{y})} MK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \left( \frac{3}{2} L - \frac{1}{r} \right) > 0,$$

since  $\overline{x} \neq \overline{y}$  and L > 2/(3r). Similarly, if  $\overline{y} \in \partial \Omega$ 

$$\langle -D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{y})\rangle \leq \frac{1}{2}e^{-Ld(\overline{x})}MK|\overline{x}-\overline{y}|\left(-\frac{3}{2}L+\frac{1}{r}\right)<0.$$

In view of definition of sub and supersolution, we conclude that

$$G(\overline{x}, u(\overline{x}), D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), X) \ge g(\overline{x}) \quad \text{if } (D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), X) \in \overline{J}^{2,+} u(\overline{x}),$$
$$G(\overline{y}, v(\overline{y}), -D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), Y) \le h(\overline{y}) \quad \text{if } (-D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), Y) \in \overline{J}^{2,-} v(\overline{y}).$$

Since  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in \operatorname{int}\Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ , it is a local maximum point of  $u(x) - v(y) - \varphi(x, y)$ in  $\overline{\Omega}^2$ . Then applying Theorem 3.2 in [40], for every  $\epsilon > 0$  there exist  $X, Y \in S(N)$ such that  $(D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), X) \in \overline{J}^{2,+}u(\overline{x}), (-D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), Y) \in \overline{J}^{2,-}v(\overline{y})$  and

$$\begin{pmatrix} X & 0\\ 0 & -Y \end{pmatrix} \le D^2(\varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})) + \epsilon(D^2(\varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})))^2.$$
(1.1.8)

Now we want to estimate the matrix on the right-hand side of the last inequality.

$$D^{2}\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}) = \Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})D^{2}(e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}) + D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}) \otimes D(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})) + D(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})) \otimes D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}) + e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}D^{2}(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})).$$

We set

$$A_1 := \Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}) D^2(e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}),$$
  

$$A_2 := D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}) \otimes D(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y})) + D(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y})) \otimes D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}),$$
  

$$A_3 := e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} D^2(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y})).$$

Observe that

$$A_1 \le CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \begin{pmatrix} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.1.9)

Here and henceforth C denotes various positive constants independent of K.

For  $A_2$  we have the following estimate

$$A_2 \le CK \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} + CK \begin{pmatrix} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}.$$
(1.1.10)

Indeed for  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$  we compute

$$\langle A_2(\xi,\eta), (\xi,\eta) \rangle = 2Le^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))} \{ \langle Dd(\overline{x}) \otimes D\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})(\eta-\xi), \xi \rangle + \langle Dd(\overline{y}) \otimes D\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})(\eta-\xi), \eta \rangle \} \leq CK(|\xi|+|\eta|)|\eta-\xi| \leq CK(|\xi|^2+|\eta|^2) + CK|\eta-\xi|^2.$$

Now we consider  $A_3$ . The matrix  $D^2(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}))$  has the form

$$D^{2}(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})) = \begin{pmatrix} D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) & -D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) \\ -D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) & D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) \end{pmatrix},$$

and the Hessian matrix of  $\Phi(x)$  is

$$D^{2}\Phi(x) = \frac{MK}{|x|} \left( I - \frac{x \otimes x}{|x|^{2}} \right) - 2MK^{2}I.$$
 (1.1.11)

If we choose

$$\epsilon = \frac{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}{2MKe^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}},$$

then we have the following estimates

$$\epsilon A_1^2 \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^3 I_{2N}, \quad \epsilon A_2^2 \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| I_{2N},$$
  

$$\epsilon (A_1 A_2 + A_2 A_1) \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^2 I_{2N}, \quad (1.1.12)$$
  

$$+ A_3 A_1) \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| I_{2N}, \quad \epsilon (A_2 A_3 + A_3 A_2) \leq CK I_{2N},$$

where 
$$I_{2N} := \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}$$
. Then using (??), (1.1.10), (1.1.12) and observing that

$$(D^2(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})))^2 = \begin{pmatrix} 2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 & -2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 \\ -2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 & 2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

from (1.1.8) we conclude that

 $\epsilon(A_1A_3$ 

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} X & 0\\ 0 & -Y \end{array}\right) \le O(K) \left(\begin{array}{cc} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{array}\right) + \left(\begin{array}{cc} B & -B\\ -B & B \end{array}\right),$$

where

$$B = CKI + e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} \left[ D^2 \Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}) + \frac{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}{MK} (D^2 \Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}))^2 \right].$$

The last inequality can be rewritten as follows

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} \widetilde{X} & 0\\ 0 & -\widetilde{Y} \end{array}\right) \leq \left(\begin{array}{cc} B & -B\\ -B & B \end{array}\right),$$

with  $\tilde{X} = X - O(K)I$  and  $\tilde{Y} = Y + O(K)I$ .

Now we want to get a good estimate for  $tr(\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y})$ , as in [75]. For that aim let

$$0 \le P := \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y}) \otimes (\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^2} \le I.$$

Since  $\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y} \leq 0$  and  $\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y} \leq 4B$ , we have

$$\operatorname{tr}(\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y}) \le \operatorname{tr}(P(\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y})) \le 4\operatorname{tr}(PB).$$

We have to compute tr(*PB*). From (1.1.11), observing that the matrix  $(1/|x|^2)x \otimes x$  is idempotent, i.e.,  $[(1/|x|^2)x \otimes x]^2 = (1/|x|^2)x \otimes x$ , we compute

$$(D^2\Phi(x))^2 = \frac{M^2K^2}{|x|^2}(1 - 4K|x|)\left(I - \frac{x \otimes x}{|x|^2}\right) + 4M^2K^4I.$$

Then, since  $\operatorname{tr} P = 1$  and  $4K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \leq 1$ , we have

$$tr(PB) = CK + e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} (-2MK^2 + 4MK^3 |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|)$$
$$\leq CK - e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}MK^2 < 0,$$

for large K. This gives

$$|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})| = -\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) \ge 4e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}MK^2 - 4CK \ge CK^2,$$

for large K. Since  $||B|| \leq \frac{CK}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}$ , we have

$$||B||^{\frac{1}{2}}|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X}-\widetilde{Y})|^{\frac{1}{2}} \le \left(\frac{CK}{|\overline{x}-\overline{y}|}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X}-\widetilde{Y})|^{\frac{1}{2}} \le \frac{C}{K^{\frac{1}{2}}|\overline{x}-\overline{y}|^{\frac{1}{2}}}|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X}-\widetilde{Y})|.$$

The Lemma III.I in [75] ensures the existence of a universal constant  ${\cal C}$  depending only on N such that

$$\|\widetilde{X}\|, \|\widetilde{Y}\| \le C\{|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})| + \|B\|^{\frac{1}{2}}|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})|^{\frac{1}{2}}\}.$$

Thanks to the above estimates we can conclude that

$$\|\tilde{X}\|, \|\tilde{Y}\| \le C |\operatorname{tr}(\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y})| \left(1 + \frac{1}{K^{\frac{1}{2}} |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right).$$
 (1.1.13)

Now, using the assumptions (F2), (F3) and (F4) concerning F, the definition of  $\tilde{X}$  and  $\tilde{Y}$  and the fact that u and v are respectively sub and supersolution we compute

$$\begin{split} g(\overline{x}) - c(\overline{x})|u(\overline{x})|^{\alpha}u(\overline{x}) &\leq F(\overline{x}, D_{x}\varphi, X) + b(\overline{x}) \cdot D_{x}\varphi|D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha} \\ &\leq F(\overline{x}, D_{x}\varphi, \widetilde{X}) + |D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha}O(K) + b(\overline{x}) \cdot D_{x}\varphi|D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha} \\ &\leq F(\overline{y}, -D_{y}\varphi, \widetilde{Y}) + C_{1}|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\theta}|D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha}|\widetilde{X}|| \\ &+ CK^{\nu}|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\nu}|D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha-\nu}||\widetilde{X}|| + a|D_{y}\varphi|^{\alpha}\mathrm{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) \\ &+ |D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha}O(K) + b(\overline{x}) \cdot D_{x}\varphi|D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha} \\ &\leq b(\overline{y}) \cdot D_{y}\varphi|D_{y}\varphi|^{\alpha} - c(\overline{y})|v(\overline{y})|^{\alpha}v(\overline{y}) + h(\overline{y}) \\ &+ C_{1}|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\theta}|D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha}||\widetilde{X}|| + CK^{\nu}|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\nu}|D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha-\nu}||\widetilde{X}|| \\ &+ a|D_{y}\varphi|^{\alpha}\mathrm{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) + |D_{y}\varphi|^{\alpha} \vee |D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha}O(K) \\ &+ b(\overline{x}) \cdot D_{x}\varphi|D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha}. \end{split}$$

From this inequalities, using (1.1.7), (1.1.13) and the fact that  $\theta, \nu > \frac{1}{2}$  we get

$$g(\overline{x}) - h(\overline{y}) - c(\overline{x})|u(\overline{x})|^{\alpha}u(\overline{x}) + c(\overline{y})|v(\overline{y})|^{\alpha}v(\overline{y}) \le |D_{y}\varphi|^{\alpha} \lor |D_{x}\varphi|^{\alpha} [\operatorname{atr}(X - Y) + C_{1}|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\theta} \|\widetilde{X}\| + C|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\nu} \|\widetilde{X}\| + O(K)] \le CK^{\alpha} [\operatorname{atr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) + o(|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})|)].$$

If both u and v are bounded, then the first member in the last inequalities is bounded from below by  $-|g|_{\infty} - |h|_{\infty} - |c|_{\infty}(|u|_{\infty}^{\alpha+1} + |v|_{\infty}^{\alpha+1})$ . Otherwise, if vis non-negative and bounded, then  $u(\overline{x}) \geq 0$  and that quantity is greater than  $-|g|_{\infty} - |h|_{\infty} - |c|_{\infty}(\sup u)^{\alpha+1} - |c|_{\infty}|v|_{\infty}^{\alpha+1}$ . On the other hand, the last member goes to  $-\infty$  as  $K \to +\infty$ , hence taking K large enough we obtain a contradiction and this concludes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 1.1.3.** If F satisfies (F2) and (F3), u is a subsolution of  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = g$ , v is a supersolution of  $G(x, v, Dv, D^2v) = h$  in  $\Omega$ ,  $u \leq v$  on  $\partial\Omega$  and m > 0 then the estimate (1.1.4) still holds for any  $x, y \in \Omega$ . To prove this define  $\varphi = m + MK|x| - M(K|x|)^2$  and follow the proof of Lemma 1.1.2.

Since the Lipschitz estimate depends only on the bounds of the solution, of g and on the structural constants, an immediate consequence of Theorem 1.1.1 is the following compactness criterion that will be useful in the last section.

**Corollary 1.1.4.** Assume the hypothesis of Theorem 1.1.1 on  $\Omega$ , F and b. Suppose that  $(g_n)_n$  is a sequence of continuous and uniformly bounded functions and  $(u_n)_n$  is a sequence of uniformly bounded viscosity solutions of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Du_n, D^2u_n) + b(x) \cdot Du_n |Du_n|^{\alpha} = g_n(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \langle Du_n, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Then the sequence  $(u_n)_n$  is relatively compact in  $C(\overline{\Omega})$ .
# 1.2 The Maximum Principle and the principal eigenvalues

We say that the operator  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u)$  with the Neumann boundary condition satisfies the maximum principle if whenever  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} G(x, u, Du, D^2u) = 0 & \text{in} & \Omega\\ \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on} & \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

then  $u \leq 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

We first prove that the maximum principle holds under the classical assumption  $c \leq 0$ , also for domain which are not of class  $C^2$  and with more general boundary conditions. Then we show that the operator  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u) + \lambda |u|^{\alpha}u$  with the Neumann boundary condition satisfies the maximum principle for any  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ . This is the best result that one can expect, indeed, as we will see in the last section,  $\overline{\lambda}$  admits a positive eigenfunction which provides a counterexample to the maximum principle for  $\lambda \geq \overline{\lambda}$ .

Finally, we give an example of c(x) which changes sign in  $\Omega$  and such that the associated principal eigenvalue  $\overline{\lambda}$  is positive.

#### **1.2.1** The case $c(x) \le 0$

In this subsection we assume that  $\Omega$  is of class  $C^1$  and satisfies the interior sphere condition ( $\Omega$ 1). We need the comparison principle between sub and supersolutions of the Dirichlet problem when c < 0 in  $\Omega$ . This result is proven in [28] under different assumptions on F and b; thanks to the estimate (1.1.4), see Remark 1.1.3, we can show it using the same strategy of [28], if F satisfies the conditions (F2) and (F3) and b is continuous and bounded on  $\Omega$ .

**Theorem 1.2.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be bounded. Assume that (F2) and (F3) hold, that b, c and g are continuous and bounded on  $\Omega$  and c < 0 in  $\Omega$ . If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  are respectively sub and supersolution of

$$F(x, Du, D^2u) + b(x) \cdot Du |Du|^{\alpha} + c(x)|u|^{\alpha}u = g(x) \quad in \ \Omega,$$

and  $u \leq v$  on  $\partial \Omega$  then  $u \leq v$  in  $\Omega$ .

For convenience of the reader we postpone the proof of the theorem to the next subsection.

The previous comparison result allows us to establish the strong minimum and maximum principles, for sub and supersolutions of the Neumann problem even with the following more general boundary condition

$$f(x,u) + \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 \quad x \in \partial\Omega,$$

for some  $f: \partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ . We do not assume any regularity on f.

**Proposition 1.2.2.** Let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^1$  domain satisfying ( $\Omega 1$ ). Assume that (F1)-(F3) hold, that b and c are bounded and continuous on  $\Omega$  and that  $f(x,0) \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . If  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a non-negative viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Dv, D^2v) + b(x) \cdot Dv |Dv|^{\alpha} + c(x)|v|^{\alpha}v = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ f(x, v) + \langle Dv, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.2.14)

then either  $v \equiv 0$  or v > 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** The assumption (F2) and the fact that F(x, p, 0) = 0 imply that

$$F(x,p,M) \ge |p|^{\alpha} \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^{-} M = |p|^{\alpha} (atr(M^{+}) - Atr(M^{-})) =: H(p,M),$$

where  $M = M^+ - M^-$  is the minimal decomposition of M into positive and negative symmetric matrices. It follows, since v is non-negative, that it suffices to prove the proposition when v is a supersolution of the Neumann problem for the equation

$$H(Dv, D^{2}v) + b(x) \cdot Dv |Dv|^{\alpha} - |c|_{\infty}v^{1+\alpha} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega.$$
(1.2.15)

Moreover we can assume  $|c|_{\infty} > 0$ . Following the proof of Theorem 2 in [28] it can be showed that v > 0 in  $\Omega$ . We prove that v cannot vanish on the boundary of  $\Omega$ . We suppose by contradiction that  $x_0$  is some point in  $\partial\Omega$  on which  $v(x_0) = 0$ . For the interior sphere condition ( $\Omega$ 1) there exist R > 0 and  $y \in \Omega$  such that the ball centered in y and of radius R, B(y, R), is contained in  $\Omega$  and  $x_0 \in \partial B(y, R)$ . Fixed  $0 < \rho < R$ , let us construct a subsolution of (1.2.15) in the annulus  $\rho < |x - y| = r < R$ . Let us consider the function  $\phi(x) = e^{-kr} - e^{-kR}$ , where k is a positive constant to be determined. If we compute the derivatives of  $\phi$  we get

$$D\phi(x) = -ke^{-kr}\frac{(x-y)}{r}, \ D^2\phi(x) = \left(k^2e^{-kr} + \frac{k}{r}e^{-kr}\right)\frac{(x-y)\otimes(x-y)}{r^2} - \frac{k}{r}e^{-kr}I.$$

The eigenvalues of  $D^2\phi(x)$  are  $k^2e^{-kr}$  of multiplicity 1 and  $-ke^{-kr}/r$  of multiplicity N-1. Then

$$H(D\phi, D^2\phi) + b(x) \cdot D\phi |D\phi|^{\alpha} - |c|_{\infty}\phi^{1+\alpha}$$
  

$$\geq e^{-(\alpha+1)kr} \left(ak^{\alpha+2} - \left(A\frac{N-1}{\rho} + |b|_{\infty}\right)k^{\alpha+1} - |c|_{\infty}\right).$$

Take k such that

$$ak^{\alpha+2} - \left(A\frac{N-1}{\rho} + |b|_{\infty}\right)k^{\alpha+1} - |c|_{\infty} > \epsilon,$$

for some  $\epsilon > 0$ , then  $\phi$  is a strict subsolution of the equation (1.2.15). Now choose m > 0 such that

$$m(e^{-k\rho} - e^{-kR}) = v_1 := \inf_{|x-y|=\rho} v(x) > 0,$$

and define  $w(x) = m(e^{-kr} - e^{-kR})$ . By homogeneity w is still a subsolution of (1.2.15) in the annulus  $\rho < |x - y| < R$ , moreover  $w = v_1 \le v$  if  $|x - y| = \rho$  and

 $w = 0 \le v$  if |x - y| = R. Then by the comparison principle, Theorem 1.2.1,  $w \le v$  in the entire annulus.

Now let  $\delta$  be a positive number smaller than  $R - \rho$ . In  $B(x_0, \delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$  it is again  $w \leq v$ , in fact where |x - y| > R it is  $w < 0 \leq v$ ; moreover  $w(x_0) = v(x_0) = 0$ . Then w is a test function for v at  $x_0$ . But

$$H(Dw(x_0), D^2w(x_0)) + b(x_0) \cdot Dw(x_0) |Dw(x_0)|^{\alpha} - |c|_{\infty} w^{1+\alpha}(x_0) > 0,$$

and

$$f(x_0, w(x_0)) + \langle Dw(x_0), \overrightarrow{n}(x_0) \rangle = f(x_0, 0) + \frac{\partial w}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}}(x_0) \le -kme^{-kR} < 0.$$

This contradicts the definition of v. Finally v cannot be zero in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 1.2.3.** By Proposition 1.2.2 the supersolutions in the definition (1.0.3) are positive in the whole  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proposition 1.2.4.** Let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^1$  domain satisfying ( $\Omega 1$ ). Assume that (F1)-(F3) hold, that b and c are bounded and continuous on  $\Omega$  and that  $f(x, 0) \ge 0$  for all  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a non-positive viscosity subsolution of (1.2.14) then either  $u \equiv 0$  or u < 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** The proof is similar to the proof of Proposition 1.2.2, observing that (F1) and the fact that F(x, p, 0) = 0 imply that

$$F(x, p, M) \le |p|^{\alpha} (A \operatorname{tr}(M^+) - a \operatorname{tr}(M^-)).$$

For  $x \in \partial \Omega$ , let us introduce S(x), the symmetric operator corresponding to the second fundamental form of  $\partial \Omega$  in x oriented with the exterior normal to  $\Omega$ .

**Theorem 1.2.5** (Maximum Principle for  $c \leq 0$ ). Assume the hypothesis of Proposition 1.2.4. In addition suppose that  $\Omega$  is bounded,  $c \leq 0$ ,  $c \neq 0$  and  $r \to f(x, r)$  is non-decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}$ . If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity subsolution of (1.2.14) then  $u \leq 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . The same conclusion holds also if  $c \equiv 0$  in the following two cases

- (i)  $\Omega$  is a  $C^2$  domain and there exists  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$  such that  $S(\overline{x}) \leq 0$ ,  $\langle b(\overline{x}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle > 0$ and  $f(\overline{x}, r) > 0$  for any r > 0;
- (ii) There exists  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$  such that  $f(\overline{x}, r) > 0$  for any r > 0 and u is a strong subsolution.

**Proof.** Let u be a subsolution of (1.2.14) and  $c \neq 0$ . First let us suppose  $u \equiv k = \text{const.}$  By definition

$$c(x)|k|^{\alpha}k \ge 0 \qquad \text{in } \Omega,$$

which implies  $k \leq 0$ .

Now we assume that u is not a constant. We argue by contradiction; suppose that  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u = u(x_0) > 0$ , for some  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Define  $\tilde{u}(x) := u(x) - u(x_0)$ . Since  $c \leq 0$  and f is non-decreasing,  $\tilde{u}$  is a non-positive subsolution of (1.2.14). Then,

from Proposition 1.2.4, either  $u \equiv u(x_0)$  or  $u < u(x_0)$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . In both cases we get a contradiction.

Let us turn to the case  $c \equiv 0$ . Suppose that  $\Omega$  is a  $C^2$  domain,  $S(\overline{x}) \leq 0$ ,  $\langle b(\overline{x}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle > 0$  and  $f(\overline{x}, r) > 0$  for any r > 0 and some point  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$ . We have to prove that u cannot be a positive constant. Suppose by contradiction that  $u \equiv k$ . In general, if  $\phi$  is a  $C^2$  function,  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$  and  $S(\overline{x}) \leq 0$ , then  $(D\phi(\overline{x}) - \lambda \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}), D^2\phi(\overline{x})) \in J^{2,+}\phi(\overline{x})$ , for  $\lambda \geq 0$  (see [40] Remark 2.7). Hence  $(-\lambda \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}), 0) \in J^{2,+}u(\overline{x})$ . But

$$f(\overline{x},k) - \lambda \langle \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle = f(\overline{x},k) - \lambda > 0,$$

for  $\lambda > 0$  small enough, and

$$G(\overline{x}, k, -\lambda \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}), 0) = -\lambda^{\alpha+1} \langle b(\overline{x}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle < 0.$$

This contradicts the definition of u.

Finally, if u is a strong subsolution,  $f(\overline{x}, r) > 0$  for r > 0 and some  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$ ,  $u \equiv k > 0$ , then the boundary condition is not satisfied at  $\overline{x}$  for p = 0.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 1.2.6.** Under the same assumptions of Theorem 1.2.5, but now with f satisfying  $f(x,0) \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \partial\Omega$  and with  $f(\overline{x},r) < 0$  for any r < 0 and some  $\overline{x} \in \partial\Omega$  in (i) and (ii), using Proposition 1.2.2 we can prove the minimum principle, i.e., if  $u \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity supersolution of (1.2.14) then  $u \geq 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 1.2.7.**  $C^2$  convex sets satisfy the condition  $S \leq 0$  in every point of the boundary.

**Remark 1.2.8.** If  $c \equiv 0$  and  $f \equiv 0$  a counterexample to the maximum principle is given by the positive constants.

#### 1.2.2 The threshold for the Maximum Principle

In this subsection and in the rest of the paper we always assume that  $\Omega$  is bounded and of class  $C^2$ , that F satisfies (F1)-(F4), that b and c are continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Theorem 1.2.9** (Maximum Principle for  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ ). Let  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$  and let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} G(x, u, Du, D^2u) + \lambda |u|^{\alpha}u = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.2.16)

then  $u \leq 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 1.2.10.** Similarly it is possible to prove that if  $\lambda < \underline{\lambda}$  and v is a supersolution of (1.2.16) then  $v \ge 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Corollary 1.2.11.** The quantities  $\overline{\lambda}$  and  $\underline{\lambda}$  are finite.

**Proof.** It suffices to observe that  $\overline{\lambda}$ ,  $\underline{\lambda} \leq |c|_{\infty}$ , since when the zero order coefficient is  $c(x) + |c|_{\infty}$  the maximum and the minimum principles do not hold. The theorems fail respectively for the positive and negative constants.

In the proof of Theorem 1.2.9 the Lemma 1.1.2 is one of the main ingredient. Furthermore, we need the following two results. The first one is an adaptation of Lemma 1 of [28] for supersolutions of the Neumann boundary value problem; the second one is a lemma due to Barles and Ramaswamy, [23].

**Lemma 1.2.12.** Let  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Dv, D^2v) + b(x) \cdot Dv |Dv|^{\alpha} - \beta(v(x)) = g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \langle Dv, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

for some functions  $g, \beta \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$ . Suppose that  $\overline{x} \in \overline{\Omega}$  is a strict local minimum of  $v(x) + C|x - \overline{x}|^q e^{-kd(x)}$ ,  $k > \frac{q}{2r}$ , where r is the radius in the condition ( $\Omega 2$ ) and  $q > \max\{2, \frac{\alpha+2}{\alpha+1}\}$ . Moreover suppose that v is not locally constant around  $\overline{x}$ . Then

$$-\beta(v(\overline{x})) \le g(\overline{x}).$$

**Remark 1.2.13.** Similarly, if  $\beta$ ,  $g \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a supersolution,  $\overline{x}$  is a strict local maximum of  $u(x) - C|x - \overline{x}|^q e^{-kd(x)}$ ,  $k > \frac{q}{2r}$ ,  $q > \max\{2, \frac{\alpha+2}{\alpha+1}\}$  and u is not locally constant around  $\overline{x}$ , it can be proved that

$$-\beta(u(\overline{x})) \ge g(\overline{x}).$$

Lemma 1.2.14. If  $X, Y \in S(N)$  satisfy

$$-\zeta \left(\begin{array}{cc} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{array}\right) \leq \left(\begin{array}{cc} X & 0 \\ 0 & -Y \end{array}\right) \leq \zeta \left(\begin{array}{cc} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{array}\right)$$

then we have

$$X - Y \le -\frac{1}{2\zeta} (tX + (1-t)Y)^2$$
 for all  $t \in [0,1]$ .

**Proof of Theorem 1.2.9.** Let  $\tau \in ]\lambda, \overline{\lambda}[$ , then by definition there exists v > 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$  bounded viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} G(x, v, Dv, D^2v) + \tau v^{\alpha+1} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle Dv, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(1.2.17)

We argue by contradiction that u has a positive maximum in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . As in [28], we define  $\gamma' := \sup_{\overline{\Omega}}(u/v) > 0$  and  $w = \gamma v$ , with  $\gamma \in (0, \gamma')$  to be determined. By homogeneity, w is still a supersolution of (1.2.17). Let  $\overline{y} \in \overline{\Omega}$  be such that  $u(\overline{y})/v(\overline{y}) = \gamma'$ . Since  $u(\overline{y}) - w(\overline{y}) = (\gamma' - \gamma)v(\overline{y}) > 0$ , the supremum of u - w is strictly positive, then by upper semicontinuity there exists  $\overline{x} \in \overline{\Omega}$  such that

$$u(\overline{x}) - w(\overline{x}) = \max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u - w) = m > 0$$

Clearly  $u(\overline{x}) > w(\overline{x}) > 0$ , moreover  $u(\overline{x}) \leq \gamma' v(\overline{x}) = \frac{\gamma'}{\gamma} w(\overline{x})$ , from which

$$w(\overline{x}) \ge \frac{\gamma}{\gamma'} u(\overline{x}).$$
 (1.2.18)

Fix  $q > \max\{2, \frac{\alpha+2}{\alpha+1}\}$  and k > q/(2r), where r is the radius in the condition ( $\Omega 2$ ), and define for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  the functions  $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega} \times \overline{\Omega})$  and  $\psi \in USC(\overline{\Omega} \times \overline{\Omega})$  by

$$\phi(x,y) = \frac{j}{q}|x-y|^q e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}, \quad \psi(x,y) = u(x) - w(y) - \phi(x,y).$$

Let  $(x_j, y_j) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \overline{\Omega}$  be a maximum point of  $\psi$ , then  $m = \psi(\overline{x}, \overline{x}) \leq u(x_j) - w(y_j) - \phi(x_j, y_j)$ , from which

$$\frac{j}{q}|x_j - y_j|^q \le (u(x_j) - w(y_j) - m)e^{k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))} \le C,$$
(1.2.19)

where C is independent of j. The last relation implies that, up to subsequence,  $x_j$ and  $y_j$  converge to some  $\overline{z} \in \overline{\Omega}$  as  $j \to +\infty$ . Classical arguments show that

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \frac{j}{q} |x_j - y_j|^q = 0, \quad \lim_{j \to +\infty} u(x_j) = u(\overline{z}), \quad \lim_{j \to +\infty} w(y_j) = w(\overline{z}),$$

and

$$u(\overline{z}) - w(\overline{z}) = m.$$

**Claim 1** For j large enough, there exist  $x_j$  and  $y_j$  such that  $(x_j, y_j)$  is a maximum point of  $\psi$  and  $x_j \neq y_j$ .

Indeed if  $x_j = y_j$  we have

$$\psi(x_j, x) = u(x_j) - w(x) - \frac{j}{q} |x - x_j|^q e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(x))} \le \psi(x_j, x_j) = u(x_j) - w(x_j),$$

and

$$\psi(x,x_j) = u(x) - w(x_j) - \frac{j}{q} |x - x_j|^q e^{-k(d(x) + d(x_j))} \le \psi(x_j,x_j) = u(x_j) - w(x_j).$$

Then  $x_j$  is a minimum point for

$$W(x) := w(x) + \frac{j}{q} e^{-kd(x_j)} |x - x_j|^q e^{-kd(x)},$$

and a maximum point for

$$U(x) := u(x) - \frac{j}{q} e^{-kd(x_j)} |x - x_j|^q e^{-kd(x)}$$

We first exclude that  $x_j$  is both a strict local minimum and a strict local maximum. Indeed in that case, if u and w are not locally constant around  $x_j$ , by Lemma 1.2.12

$$(c(x_j) + \tau)w(x_j)^{\alpha+1} \le (c(x_j) + \lambda)u(x_j)^{\alpha+1}$$

The same result holds if u or w are locally constant by definition of sub and supersolution. The last inequality leads to a contradiction, as we will see at the end

of the proof. Hence  $x_j$  cannot be both a strict local minimum and a strict local maximum. In the first case there exist  $\delta > 0$  and  $R > \delta$  such that

$$w(x_j) = \min_{\substack{\delta \le |x - x_j| \le R \\ x \in \overline{\Omega}}} \left( w(x) + \frac{j}{q} |x - x_j|^q e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(x))} \right)$$
$$= w(y_j) + \frac{j}{q} |y_j - x_j|^q e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))},$$

for some  $y_j \neq x_j$ , so that  $(x_j, y_j)$  is still a maximum point for  $\psi$ . In the other case, similarly, one can replace  $x_j$  by a point  $y_j \neq x_j$  such that  $(y_j, x_j)$  is a maximum for  $\psi$ . This concludes the Claim 1.

Now computing the derivatives of  $\phi$  we get

$$D_x\phi(x,y) = j|x-y|^{q-2}e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}(x-y) - k\frac{j}{q}|x-y|^q e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}Dd(x),$$

and

$$D_y\phi(x,y) = -j|x-y|^{q-2}e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}(x-y) - k\frac{j}{q}|x-y|^q e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}Dd(y).$$

Denote  $p_j := D_x \phi(x_j, y_j)$  and  $r_j := -D_y \phi(x_j, y_j)$ . Since  $x_j \neq y_j$ ,  $p_j$  and  $r_j$  are different from 0 for j large enough. Indeed

$$|p_j|, |r_j| \ge j|x_j - y_j|^{q-1}e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))} \left(1 - \frac{k}{q}|x_j - y_j|\right) \ge \frac{j}{2}|x_j - y_j|^{q-1}e^{-2kd_0},$$

where  $d_0 = \max_{\overline{\Omega}} d(x)$ . Using (1.0.2), if  $x_j \in \partial \Omega$  then

$$\langle p_j, \overrightarrow{n}(x_j) \rangle \ge j |x_j - y_j|^q e^{-kd(y_j)} \left( -\frac{1}{2r} + \frac{k}{q} \right) > 0,$$

and if  $y_j \in \partial \Omega$  then

$$\langle r_j, \overrightarrow{n}(y_j) \rangle \le j |x_j - y_j|^q e^{-kd(x_j)} \left(\frac{1}{2r} - \frac{k}{q}\right) < 0,$$

since k > q/(2r) and  $x_j \neq y_j$ . In view of definition of sub and supersolution we conclude that

$$G(x_j, u(x_j), p_j, X) + \lambda u(x_j)^{\alpha+1} \ge 0 \quad \text{if } (p_j, X) \in \overline{J}^{2,+} u(x_j),$$
  
$$G(y_j, w(y_j), r_j, Y) + \tau w(y_j)^{\alpha+1} \le 0 \quad \text{if } (r_j, Y) \in \overline{J}^{2,-} w(y_j).$$

Then the previous relations hold for  $(x_j, y_j) \in \overline{\Omega}^2$ , provided j is large.

Now, applying Theorem 3.2 of [40] for any  $\epsilon > 0$  there exist  $X_j, Y_j \in S(N)$  such that  $(p_j, X_j) \in \overline{J}^{2,+}u(x_j), (r_j, Y_j) \in \overline{J}^{2,-}w(y_j)$  and

$$-\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \|D^2\phi(x_j, y_j)\|\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{array}\right) \le \left(\begin{array}{cc} X_j & 0\\ 0 & -Y_j \end{array}\right) \le D^2\phi(x_j, y_j) + \epsilon (D^2\phi(x_j, y_j))^2.$$
(1.2.20)

Claim 2  $X_j$  and  $Y_j$  satisfy

$$-\zeta_{j}\begin{pmatrix}I&0\\0&I\end{pmatrix}\leq \begin{pmatrix}X_{j}-\widetilde{X}_{j}&0\\0&-Y_{j}+\widetilde{Y}_{j}\end{pmatrix}\leq \zeta_{j}\begin{pmatrix}I&-I\\-I&I\end{pmatrix},\qquad(1.2.21)$$

where  $\zeta_j = Cj|x_j - y_j|^{q-2}$ , for some positive constant C independent of j and some matrices  $\widetilde{X}_j$ ,  $\widetilde{Y}_j = O(j|x_j - y_j|^q)$ . To prove the claim we need to estimate  $D^2\phi(x_j, y_j)$ .

.

$$D^{2}\phi(x_{j}, y_{j}) = \frac{j}{q} |x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q} D^{2}(e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}) + D(e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}) \otimes \frac{j}{q} D(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}) + \frac{j}{q} D(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}) \otimes D(e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}) + e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))} \frac{j}{q} D^{2}(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}).$$

We denote

$$A_{1} := \frac{j}{q} |x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q} D^{2} (e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}),$$

$$A_{2} := De^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))} \otimes \frac{j}{q} D(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}) + \frac{j}{q} D(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}) \otimes D(e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}),$$

$$A_{3} := e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))} \frac{j}{q} D^{2}(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}).$$

For  $A_1$  and  $A_3$  we have

$$A_1 \le Cj |x_j - y_j|^q \begin{pmatrix} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix},$$
$$A_3 \le (q-1)j |x_j - y_j|^{q-2} \begin{pmatrix} I & -I\\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}.$$

Here and henceforth, as usual, the letter C denotes various constants independent of j. Now we consider the quantity  $\langle A_2(\xi,\eta), (\xi,\eta) \rangle$  for  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . We have

$$\begin{split} \langle A_{2}(\xi,\eta),(\xi,\eta)\rangle &= 2kj|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q-2}e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}[\langle Dd(x_{j}) \otimes (x_{j} - y_{j})(\eta - \xi),\xi\rangle \\ &+ \langle Dd(y_{j}) \otimes (x_{j} - y_{j})(\eta - \xi),\eta\rangle] \\ &\leq Cj|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q-1}|\xi - \eta|(|\xi| + |\eta|) \\ &\leq Cj|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q-1} \left(\frac{|\xi - \eta|^{2}}{|x_{j} - y_{j}|} + \frac{(|\xi| + |\eta|)^{2}}{4}|x_{j} - y_{j}|\right) \\ &\leq C\left[j|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q-2}|\xi - \eta|^{2} + j|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}(|\xi|^{2} + |\eta|^{2})\right]. \end{split}$$

The last inequality can be rewritten equivalently in this way

$$A_2 \leq Cj|x_j - y_j|^{q-2} \left( \begin{array}{cc} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{array} \right) + Cj|x_j - y_j|^q \left( \begin{array}{cc} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{array} \right).$$

Finally if we choose

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{j|x_j - y_j|^{q-2}},$$

we get the same estimates for the matrix  $\epsilon(D^2\phi(x_j,y_j))^2$ . In conclusion we have

$$D^{2}\phi(x_{j}, y_{j}) + \epsilon (D^{2}\phi(x_{j}, y_{j}))^{2} \leq Cj|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q-2} \begin{pmatrix} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}$$
$$+ Cj|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q} \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence, since  $||D^2\phi(x_j, y_j)|| \le Cj|x_j - y_j|^{q-2}$ , (1.2.20) implies (1.2.21) and the Claim 2 is proved.

Claim 3  $F(x_j, p_j, X_j - \widetilde{X}_j) - F(y_j, r_j, Y_j - \widetilde{Y}_j) \leq o_j$ , where  $o_j \to 0$  as  $j \to +\infty$ . First we need to know that the quantity  $j|x_j - y_j|^{q-1}$  is bounded uniformly in j. This is a simple consequence of Lemma 1.1.2. Indeed, since m > 0 and w is positive and bounded, the estimate (1.1.4) holds for u and w; then using it in (1.2.19) and dividing by  $|x_j - y_j| \neq 0$  we obtain

$$\frac{j}{q}|x_j - y_j|^{q-1} \le C_0 e^{k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))} \le C.$$

Consequently, there exists R > 0 such that for large j

$$C\zeta_j |x_j - y_j| \le \frac{j}{2} |x_j - y_j|^{q-1} e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))} \le |p_j|, \ |r_j| \le 2j |x_j - y_j|^{q-1} \le R.$$
(1.2.22)

Denote for simplicity  $Z_j := X_j - \widetilde{X}_j$  and  $W_j := Y_j - \widetilde{Y}_j$ . By (1.2.21) and Lemma 1.2.14 with t = 0, we have

$$Z_j - W_j \le -\frac{1}{2\zeta_j} W_j^2.$$

As in the appendix of [21] we use the previous relation, the Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality and the properties of F to get the estimate of the claim

$$\begin{split} F(x_{j},p_{j},Z_{j}) - F(y_{j},r_{j},W_{j}) &= F(x_{j},p_{j},Z_{j}) - F(x_{j},p_{j},W_{j}) + F(x_{j},p_{j},W_{j}) \\ &- F(y_{j},p_{j},W_{j}) + F(y_{j},p_{j},W_{j}) - F(y_{j},r_{j},W_{j}) \\ &\leq -\frac{a}{2\zeta_{j}}|p_{j}|^{\alpha}\mathrm{tr}W_{j}^{2} + C_{1}|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{\theta}|p_{j}|^{\alpha}||W_{j}|| \\ &+ C_{2}|p_{j}|^{\alpha-\nu}|p_{j} - r_{j}|^{\nu}||W_{j}|| \leq -\frac{a}{2\zeta_{j}}|p_{j}|^{\alpha}\mathrm{tr}W_{j}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{a}{4\zeta_{j}}|p_{j}|^{\alpha}\mathrm{tr}W_{j}^{2} + \frac{C_{1}^{2}|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{2\theta}|p_{j}|^{2\alpha}\zeta_{j}}{a|p_{j}|^{\alpha}} \\ &+ \frac{a}{4\zeta_{j}}|p_{j}|^{\alpha}\mathrm{tr}W_{j}^{2} + \frac{C_{2}^{2}|p_{j}|^{2(\alpha-\nu)}|p_{j} - r_{j}|^{2\nu}\zeta_{j}}{a|p_{j}|^{\alpha}} \\ &= C\zeta_{j}|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{2\theta}|p_{j}|^{\alpha} + C\zeta_{j}|p_{j}|^{\alpha-2\nu}|p_{j} - r_{j}|^{2\nu}. \end{split}$$

Now consider the first term of the last quantity. Using (1.2.22) we have

$$C\zeta_j |x_j - y_j|^{2\theta} |p_j|^{\alpha} \le \frac{C\zeta_j |x_j - y_j|^{2\theta} |p_j|^{\alpha + 1}}{\zeta_j |x_j - y_j|} \le CR^{\alpha + 1} |x_j - y_j|^{2\theta - 1},$$

and the last term goes to 0 as  $j \to +\infty$  since  $\theta > \frac{1}{2}$ . It remains to estimate  $C\zeta_j |p_j|^{\alpha-2\nu} |p_j - r_j|^{2\nu}$ . Observe that

$$|p_j - r_j| \le 2k \frac{j}{q} |x_j - y_j|^q = C\zeta_j |x_j - y_j|^2$$

then we have

$$C\zeta_j |p_j|^{\alpha - 2\nu} |p_j - r_j|^{2\nu} = C|p_j|^{\alpha + 1} \frac{\zeta_j}{|p_j|} \frac{|p_j - r_j|^{2\nu}}{|p_j|^{2\nu}} \le \frac{CR^{\alpha + 1}}{|x_j - y_j|} |x_j - y_j|^{2\nu}$$
$$= CR^{\alpha + 1} |x_j - y_j|^{2\nu - 1}.$$

Also the last quantity goes to 0 as  $j \to +\infty$  since  $\nu > \frac{1}{2}$  and this concludes the Claim 3.

Now using the properties of F and the fact that u and w are respectively sub and supersolution we compute

$$\begin{aligned} -(\lambda + c(x_j))u(x_j)^{\alpha + 1} &\leq F(x_j, p_j, X_j) + b(x_j) \cdot p_j |p_j|^{\alpha} \\ &\leq F(x_j, p_j, X_j - \widetilde{X_j}) + b(x_j) \cdot p_j |p_j|^{\alpha} + |p_j|^{\alpha} O\left(j|x_j - y_j|^q\right) \\ &\leq F(y_j, r_j, Y_j - \widetilde{Y_j}) + b(x_j) \cdot p_j |p_j|^{\alpha} + |p_j|^{\alpha} O\left(j|x_j - y_j|^q\right) + o_j \\ &\leq -(\tau + c(y_j))w(y_j)^{\alpha + 1} + b(x_j) \cdot p_j |p_j|^{\alpha} - b(y_j) \cdot r_j |r_j|^{\alpha} \\ &+ (|p_j|^{\alpha} \vee |r_j|^{\alpha}) O\left(j|x_j - y_j|^q\right) + o_j. \end{aligned}$$

Sending  $j \to +\infty$  we obtain

$$-(\lambda + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1} \le -(\tau + c(\overline{z}))w(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1}.$$
(1.2.23)

Indeed  $o_j \to 0$  as  $j \to +\infty$  and

$$(|p_j|^{\alpha} \vee |r_j|^{\alpha})O(j|x_j - y_j|^q) \leq C(j|x_j - y_j|^{q-1})^{\alpha+1}|x_j - y_j| \leq CR^{\alpha+1}|x_j - y_j| \to 0$$
  
as  $j \to +\infty$ . Moreover, up to subsequence  $p_j, r_j \to p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . If  $p_0 \neq 0$  then

$$b(x_j) \cdot p_j |p_j|^{\alpha}, \ b(y_j) \cdot r_j |r_j|^{\alpha} \to b(\overline{z}) \cdot p_0 |p_0|^{\alpha}$$

and so the difference goes to 0, otherwise

$$|b(x_j) \cdot p_j||p_j|^{\alpha} \le |b(x_j)||p_j|^{\alpha+1} \to 0 \text{ as } j \to +\infty.$$

The same result holds for  $b(y_j) \cdot r_j |r_j|^{\alpha}$ .

If  $\tau + c(\overline{z}) > 0$ , from (1.2.18) and (1.2.23) we have

$$-(\lambda+c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1} \le -(\tau+c(\overline{z}))\left(\frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}\right)^{\alpha+1}u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1},$$

and taking  $\gamma$  sufficiently close to  $\gamma'$  in order that  $\frac{\tau\left(\frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}\right)^{\alpha+1}-\lambda}{1-\left(\frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}\right)^{\alpha+1}} > |c|_{\infty}$ , we get a contradiction. Finally if  $\tau + c(\overline{z}) \leq 0$  we obtain

$$-(\lambda + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1} \le -(\tau + c(\overline{z}))w(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1} \le -(\tau + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1},$$

once more a contradiction since  $\lambda < \tau$ .

**Proof of Lemma 1.2.12.** Without loss of generality we can assume that  $\overline{x} = 0$ . Since the minimum is strict there exists a small  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$v(0) < v(x) + C|x|^q e^{-kd(x)}$$
 for any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}, 0 < |x| \le \delta$ .

Since v is not locally constant and q > 1, for any  $n > \delta^{-1}$  there exists  $(t_n, z_n) \in B(0, \frac{1}{n})^2 \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$  such that

$$v(t_n) > v(z_n) + C|z_n - t_n|^q e^{-kd(z_n)}$$

Consequently, for  $n > \delta^{-1}$  the minimum of the function  $v(x) + C|x - t_n|^q e^{-kd(x)}$  in  $\overline{B}(0,\delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$  is not achieved on  $t_n$ . Indeed

$$\min_{|x| \le \delta, x \in \overline{\Omega}} (v(x) + C|x - t_n|^q e^{-kd(x)}) \le v(z_n) + C|z_n - t_n|^q e^{-kd(z_n)} < v(t_n).$$

Let  $y_n \neq t_n$  be some point in  $\overline{B}(0, \delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$  on which the minimum is achieved. Passing to the limit as n goes to infinity,  $t_n$  goes to 0 and, up to subsequence,  $y_n$  converges to some  $y \in \overline{B}(0, \delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$ . By the lower semicontinuity of v and the fact that 0 is a local minimum of  $v(x) + C|x|^q e^{-kd(x)}$  we have

$$v(0) \le v(y) + C|y|^q e^{-kd(y)} \le \liminf_{n \to +\infty} (v(y_n) + C|y_n|^q e^{-kd(y_n)}),$$

and using that  $v(0) + C|t_n|^q e^{-kd(0)} \ge v(y_n) + C|y_n - t_n|^q e^{-kd(y_n)}$ , one has

$$v(0) \ge \limsup_{n \to +\infty} (v(y_n) + C|y_n|^q e^{-kd(y_n)}).$$

Then

$$v(0) = v(y) + C|y|^{q} e^{-kd(y)} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} (v(y_n) + C|y_n|^{q} e^{-kd(y_n)}).$$

Since 0 is a strict local minimum of  $v(x) + C|x|^q e^{-kd(x)}$ , the last equalities imply that y = 0 and  $v(y_n)$  goes to v(0) as  $n \to +\infty$ . Then for large  $n, y_n$  is an interior point of  $B(0, \delta)$  so that the function

$$\varphi(x) = v(y_n) + C|y_n - t_n|^q e^{-kd(y_n)} - C|x - t_n|^q e^{-kd(x)}$$

is a test function for v at  $y_n$ . Moreover, the gradient of  $\varphi$ 

$$D\varphi(x) = -Cq|x - t_n|^{q-2}e^{-kd(x)}(x - t_n) + kC|x - t_n|^q e^{-kd(x)}Dd(x)$$

is different from 0 at  $x = y_n$  for small  $\delta$ , indeed

$$|D\varphi(y_n)| \ge C|y_n - t_n|^{q-1}e^{-kd(y_n)}(q-k|y_n - t_n|) \ge C|y_n - t_n|^{q-1}e^{-kd(y_n)}(q-2k\delta) > 0.$$

Using (1.0.2), if  $y_n \in \partial \Omega$  we have

$$\langle D\varphi(y_n), \overrightarrow{n}(y_n) \rangle \leq C |y_n - t_n|^q \left(\frac{q}{2r} - k\right) < 0,$$

since k > q/(2r). Then we conclude that

$$F(y_n, D\varphi(y_n), D^2\varphi(y_n)) + b(y_n) \cdot D\varphi(y_n) |D\varphi(y_n)|^{\alpha} - \beta(v(y_n)) \le g(y_n).$$

This inequality together with the condition (F2) implies that

$$-|D\varphi(y_n)|^{\alpha} A \operatorname{tr}(D^2 \varphi(y_n))^- + b(y_n) \cdot D\varphi(y_n) |D\varphi(y_n)|^{\alpha} - \beta(v(y_n)) \le g(y_n).$$
(1.2.24)

Observe that  $D^2\varphi(y_n) = |y_n - t_n|^{q-2}M$ , where M is a matrix such that  $trM^+$  and  $trM^-$  are bounded by a constant independent of  $\delta$  and n. Hence, from (1.2.24) we get

$$C_0|y_n - t_n|^{\alpha(q-1)+q-2} - \beta(v(y_n)) \le g(y_n),$$

for some constant  $C_0$ , where the exponent  $\alpha(q-1) + q - 2 = q(\alpha + 1) - (\alpha + 2) > 0$ . Passing to the limit, since  $\beta$  and g are upper semicontinuous we get

$$-\beta(v(0)) \le g(0),$$

which is the desired conclusion.

We conclude sketching the proof of Theorem 1.2.1. **Proof of Theorem 1.2.1.** Suppose by contradiction that  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u-v) = m > 0$ . Since  $u \leq v$  on the boundary, the supremum is achieved inside  $\Omega$ . Let us define for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and some  $q > \max\{2, \frac{\alpha+2}{\alpha+1}\}$ 

$$\psi(x,y) = u(x) - v(y) - \frac{j}{q}|x-y|^q.$$

Suppose that  $(x_j, y_j)$  is a maximum point for  $\psi$  in  $\overline{\Omega}^2$ . Then  $|x_j - y_j| \to 0$  as  $j \to +\infty$ and up to subsequence  $x_j, y_j \to \overline{x}, u(x_j) \to u(\overline{x}), v(y_j) \to v(\overline{x})$  and  $j|x_j - y_j|^q \to 0$ as  $j \to +\infty$ . Moreover,  $\overline{x}$  is such that  $u(\overline{x}) - v(\overline{x}) = m$  and we can choose  $x_j \neq y_j$ . Recalling by Remark 1.1.3 that the estimate (1.1.4) holds in  $\Omega$ , we can proceed as in the proof of Theorem 1.2.9 to get

$$-c(\overline{x})|u(\overline{x})|^{\alpha}u(\overline{x}) \leq -c(\overline{x})|v(\overline{x})|^{\alpha}v(\overline{x}).$$

This is a contradiction since  $c(\overline{x}) < 0$ .

### **1.2.3** The Maximum Principle for c(x) changing sign: an example.

In the previous subsections we have proved that  $G(x, u, Du, D^2u)$  with the Neumann boundary condition satisfies the maximum principle if  $c(x) \leq 0$  or without condition on the sign of c(x) provided  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ . In this subsection we want to prove that these two cases do not coincide, i.e., that there exists some c(x) which changes sign in  $\Omega$  such that the associated principal eigenvalue  $\overline{\lambda}$  is positive. To prove this, by definition of  $\overline{\lambda}$ , it suffices to find a function c(x) changing sign for which there exists a bounded positive supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Dv, D^2v) + b(x) \cdot Dv |Dv|^{\alpha} + c(x)|v|^{\alpha}v = -m & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle Dv, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.2.25)

where m > 0.

In the rest of this subsection we will construct an explicit example of such function. For simplicity, let us suppose that  $b \equiv 0$  and  $\Omega$  is the ball of center 0 and radius R. We will look for c such that:

$$\begin{cases} c(x) < 0 & \text{if } R - \epsilon < |x| \le R\\ c(x) \le -\beta_1 & \text{if } \rho < |x| \le R - \epsilon\\ c(x) \le \beta_2 & \text{if } |x| \le \rho, \end{cases}$$
(1.2.26)

where  $0 < \rho < R - \epsilon$  and  $\epsilon$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_2$  are positive constants which satisfy a suitable inequality. Remark that in the ball of radius  $\rho$ , c(x) may assume positive values.

In order to construct a supersolution, we define the function

$$v(x) := \begin{cases} D & \text{if } R - \epsilon < |x| \le R \\ E|x|^2 - E(R + \rho - \epsilon)|x| + D + E\rho(R - \epsilon) & \text{if } \rho < |x| \le R - \epsilon \\ D + 1 - e^{k(|x| - \rho)} & \text{if } |x| \le \rho, \end{cases}$$
(1.2.27)

where D, E, k are positive constants to be chosen later.

**Lemma 1.2.15.** The function v defined in (1.2.27) has the following properties

- (i) v is continuous on  $\overline{B}(0,R)$  and of class  $C^2$  in the sets  $B(0,\rho) \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $B(0,R-\epsilon) \setminus \overline{B}(0,\rho)$ ,  $\overline{B}(0,R) \setminus \overline{B}(0,R-\epsilon)$ ;
- (ii) v is positive provided  $D > \frac{E}{4}(R \rho \epsilon)^2$ ;

(iii) 
$$J^{2,-}v(x) = \emptyset$$
 if  $x = 0$ ,  $|x| = R - \epsilon$  and if  $|x| = \rho$  provided  $E(R - \rho - \epsilon) > k$ .

**Proof.** The proof of (i) is a very simple calculation.

For (ii) we observe that v is positive if  $R - \epsilon \leq |x| \leq R$  and  $|x| \leq \rho$  since D, k > 0. In the region  $\{\rho \leq |x| \leq R - \epsilon\} v$  is positive on the boundary where takes the value D, while in the interior  $Dv(x) = 2Ex - E(R + \rho - \epsilon)\frac{x}{|x|} = 0$  if  $|x| = \frac{R + \rho - \epsilon}{2}$ . In such points  $v(x) = -\frac{E}{4}(R - \rho - \epsilon)^2 + D$ , then they are global minimums where v takes positive value if  $D > \frac{E}{4}(R - \rho - \epsilon)^2$ .

Now we turn to (iii). Let  $\hat{x} \in \Omega$  be such that  $|\hat{x}| = \rho$  and let  $(p, X) \in J^{2,-}v(\hat{x})$ , then by definition of semi-jet

$$v(x) \ge v(\widehat{x}) + \langle p, x - \widehat{x} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle X(x - \widehat{x}), x - \widehat{x} \rangle + o(|x - \widehat{x}|^2), \qquad (1.2.28)$$

as  $x \to \hat{x}$ . If we take  $x = \hat{x} + t \overrightarrow{n}(\hat{x})$ , for t > 0, where  $\overrightarrow{n}(\hat{x}) = \frac{\hat{x}}{|\hat{x}|}$  is the exterior normal to the sphere of radius  $\rho$  at  $\hat{x}$ , then  $|x| > \rho$  and dividing (1.2.28) by t we have

$$\frac{v(\widehat{x} + t\,\overrightarrow{n}\,(\widehat{x})) - v(\widehat{x})}{t} \ge p_n + O(t),$$

where  $p_n = p \cdot \overrightarrow{n}(\widehat{x})$ . Letting  $t \to 0^+$  we get

$$p_n \leq \langle 2E\widehat{x} - E(R + \rho - \epsilon)\frac{\widehat{x}}{|\widehat{x}|}, \frac{\widehat{x}}{|\widehat{x}|} \rangle = -E(R - \rho - \epsilon).$$

On the other hand, if we take  $x = \hat{x} - t \overrightarrow{n}(\hat{x}), t > 0$ , in (1.2.28) and divide by -t, letting  $t \to 0^+$  we get

$$p_n \ge \langle -ke^{k(|\widehat{x}|-\rho)}\frac{\widehat{x}}{|\widehat{x}|}, \frac{\widehat{x}}{|\widehat{x}|} \rangle = -k.$$

In conclusion

$$E(R - \rho - \epsilon) \le -p_n \le k$$

Assuming the hypothesis in (iii) the previous condition cannot never be satisfied, then  $J^{2,-}v(\hat{x}) = \emptyset$ .

In the same way it can be proved that if  $\hat{x} \in \Omega$  is such that  $|\hat{x}| = R - \rho$  and  $(p, X) \in J^{2,-}v(\hat{x})$  then

$$E(R - \rho - \epsilon) \le p_n \le 0,$$

and clearly also this condition cannot be satisfied, consequently  $J^{2,-}v(\hat{x}) = \emptyset$ . Finally it is easy to see that  $J^{2,-}v(0) = \emptyset$ .

**Proposition 1.2.16.** There exist  $\epsilon$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_2 > 0$  such that for any c(x) satisfying (1.2.26) the function v defined in (1.2.27) is a positive continuous viscosity solution of (1.2.25).

**Proof.** Clearly v satisfies the boundary condition. Since the semi-jet  $J^{2,-}v(x)$  is empty if  $|x| = \rho$ ,  $|x| = R - \epsilon$  and x = 0, in such points we have nothing to test. In  $B(0,\rho) \setminus \{0\}, B(0,R-\epsilon) \setminus \overline{B}(0,\rho), B(0,R) \setminus \overline{B}(0,R-\epsilon) v$  is of class  $C^2$ , then it suffices to prove that v is a classical supersolution of (1.2.25) in these open sets. Case I:  $R - \epsilon < |x| < R$ .

Since c < 0 and continuous on  $\{R - \epsilon \le |x| \le R\}$ , we have

$$c(x)v^{\alpha+1} = c(x)D^{\alpha+1} \le -m_1 < 0.$$
(1.2.29)

Hence, by definition v is supersolution.

Case II:  $\rho < |x| < R - \epsilon$ . In this set

 $Dv(x) = E[2|x| - (R + \rho - \epsilon)]\frac{x}{|x|}, \quad D^2v(x) = 2EI - E(R + \rho - \epsilon)\frac{1}{|x|}\left(I - \frac{x \otimes x}{|x|^2}\right).$ 

Since  $-(R - \rho - \epsilon) \le 2|x| - (R + \rho - \epsilon) \le R - \rho - \epsilon$ , using (F2) we compute

$$F(x, Dv, D^2v) \le E^{\alpha+1}(R-\rho-\epsilon)^{\alpha} \left[\frac{2AN(R-\epsilon) - a(R+\rho-\epsilon)N + a(R+\rho-\epsilon)}{R-\epsilon}\right]$$
$$= E^{\alpha+1}\frac{(R-\rho-\epsilon)^{\alpha}}{R-\epsilon} \{N[(A-a)(R-\epsilon) + A(R-\epsilon) - a\rho] + a(R+\rho-\epsilon)\}.$$

Observe that all the factors in the last member are positive. Using the last computation, the fact that in the minimum points v takes the value  $D - \frac{E}{4}(R - \rho - \epsilon)^2$ (see the proof of Lemma 1.2.15) and that  $c \leq -\beta_1$ , we have

$$F(x, Dv, D^{2}v) + c(x)v^{\alpha+1} \le E^{\alpha+1} \frac{(R-\rho-\epsilon)^{\alpha}}{R-\epsilon} \{N[(A-a)(R-\epsilon) + A(R-\epsilon) - a\rho] + a(R+\rho-\epsilon)\} - \beta_{1} \left[D - \frac{E}{4}(R-\rho-\epsilon)^{2}\right]^{\alpha+1} =: -m_{2}.$$
(1.2.30)

The above quantity is negative if

$$D > \frac{E}{4}(R - \rho - \epsilon)^2 + EC,$$
 (1.2.31)

where

$$C := \frac{(R - \rho - \epsilon)^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha + 1}}}{\beta_1^{\frac{1}{\alpha + 1}} (R - \epsilon)^{\frac{1}{\alpha + 1}}} \{ N[(A - a)(R - \epsilon) + A(R - \epsilon) - a\rho] + a(R + \rho - \epsilon) \}^{\frac{1}{\alpha + 1}} > 0.$$

Case III:  $0 < |x| < \rho$ . Here we have

Here we have

$$Dv(x) = -ke^{k(|x|-\rho)}\frac{x}{|x|}, \quad D^2v(x) = -k^2e^{k(|x|-\rho)}\frac{x\otimes x}{|x|^2} - ke^{k(|x|-\rho)}\frac{1}{|x|}\left(I - \frac{x\otimes x}{|x|^2}\right).$$

Then

$$F(x, Dv, D^{2}v) + c(x)v^{\alpha+1} \leq -k^{\alpha+1}e^{(\alpha+1)k(|x|-\rho)}a\left(k + \frac{N-1}{|x|}\right) + \beta_{2}(D+1) - e^{k(|x|-\rho)}e^{\alpha+1} \leq -k^{\alpha+1}e^{-(\alpha+1)k\rho}a\left(k + \frac{N-1}{\rho}\right) + \beta_{2}(D+1-e^{-k\rho})^{\alpha+1} =: -m3.$$
(1.2.32)

The last quantity is negative if

$$\beta_2 < \frac{k^{\alpha+1} e^{-(\alpha+1)k\rho} a\left(k + \frac{N-1}{\rho}\right)}{(D+1 - e^{-k\rho})^{\alpha+1}}.$$
(1.2.33)

Since E must satisfy the condition in (iii) of Lemma 1.2.15, we choose

$$E := \frac{k}{R - \rho - \epsilon'},\tag{1.2.34}$$

for  $\epsilon < \epsilon' < R - \rho$ . Furthermore we take

$$D := \frac{E}{4} (R - \rho - \epsilon)^2 + EC + \epsilon = \frac{k(R - \rho - \epsilon)^2}{4(R - \rho - \epsilon')} + \frac{kC}{R - \rho - \epsilon'} + \epsilon.$$
(1.2.35)

With this choice of D, (1.2.31) is satisfied and v is positive by (ii) of Lemma 1.2.15. Observe that

$$D \to k \left\{ \frac{R-\rho}{4} + \left[ \frac{2NAR - (N-1)a(R+\rho)}{\beta_1 R(R-\rho)} \right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}} \right\}$$

as  $\epsilon, \epsilon' \to 0^+$ .

Finally we can write the relation between  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$ :

$$\beta_{2} < \frac{k^{\alpha+1}e^{-(\alpha+1)k\rho}a\left(k+\frac{N-1}{\rho}\right)}{\left(k\left\{\frac{R-\rho}{4} + \left[\frac{2NAR-(N-1)a(R+\rho)}{\beta_{1}R(R-\rho)}\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}\right\} + 1 - e^{-k\rho}\right)^{\alpha+1}}.$$
(1.2.36)

Suppose that (1.2.36) holds for some k > 0, then we can choose  $\epsilon' > \epsilon > 0$  so small that

$$\beta_2 < \frac{k^{\alpha+1}e^{-(\alpha+1)k\rho}a\left(k+\frac{N-1}{\rho}\right)}{(D+1-e^{-k\rho})^{\alpha+1}}$$

where D is defined by (1.2.35). Define E as in (1.2.34), then v is a positive supersolution of (1.2.25) with m the minimum between the quantity  $m_1, m_2$  and  $m_3$  defined respectively in (1.2.29), (1.2.30) and (1.2.32). Observe that the size of  $\epsilon$  is given by (1.2.36).

**Remark 1.2.17.** If we call  $UB(\beta_2)$  the upper bound of  $\beta_2$  in (1.2.36), we can see that if we choose  $k = \frac{1}{\rho}$  then  $UB(\beta_2)$  goes to  $+\infty$  as  $\rho \to 0^+$ , that is, if the set where c is positive becomes smaller then the values of c in this set can be very large. On the contrary, for any value of k, if  $\rho \to R^-$  then  $UB(\beta_2)$  goes to 0. Finally, for any k, if  $\beta_1 \to 0^+$  then again  $UB(\beta_2)$  goes to 0. So there is a sort of balance between  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$ . This behavior can be explained by the following example: consider the equation  $\Delta v + c(x)v = 0$  which is a subcase of our equation and suppose that v > 0in  $\overline{\Omega}$  is a classical solution of  $\Delta v + c(x)v \leq 0$  in  $\Omega$ ,  $\frac{\partial v}{\partial \overline{n}} \geq 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ . Then dividing by v and integrating by part we get

$$\int_{\Omega} c(x)dx \le -\int_{\Omega} \frac{|Dv|^2}{v^2} dx - \int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{1}{v} \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} dS \le 0, \qquad (1.2.37)$$

the first inequality being strict if  $\Delta v + c(x)v \neq 0$ . If the supersolution is  $C^2$  piecewise with  $J^{2,-}v = \emptyset$  in the non-regular points, as the one constructed before, then we can repeat this computation in any set where v is  $C^2$  getting again

$$\int_{\Omega} c(x) dx < 0.$$

**Remark 1.2.18.** The construction above can be repeated for any  $C^2$  domain. The assumptions on c and the supersolution v can be rewritten respectively as follows

$$\begin{cases} c(x) < 0 & \text{if } d(x) < \epsilon \\ c(x) \le -\beta_1 & \text{if } \epsilon \le d(x) < \delta \\ c(x) \le \beta_2 & \text{if } d(x) \ge \delta, \end{cases}$$
$$v(x) := \begin{cases} D & \text{if } d(x) \ge \delta, \\ E(\delta + \epsilon - d(x))^2 + E(\delta + \epsilon)(d(x) - \epsilon - \delta) + D + E\epsilon\delta & \text{if } \epsilon \le d(x) < \delta \\ D + 1 - e^{k(\delta - d(x))} & \text{if } d(x) \ge \delta, \end{cases}$$

where  $0 < \epsilon < \delta$  and d(x) is precisely the distance function, not one of its  $C^2$  extensions. We recall some properties of the distance function:

• There exists  $\mu > 0$  such that d is of class  $C^2$  in  $\Omega_{\mu} := \{x \in \overline{\Omega} | d(x) < \mu\}$  and the eigenvalues of the hessian matrix of d at x are 0 and  $\frac{k_i}{1+d(x)k_i}, i = 1, ..., N-1$ , where  $k_i$  are the principal curvatures of  $\partial\Omega$  corresponding to the directions orthogonal to  $\overrightarrow{n}$  at the point y = x - d(x)Dd(x);

- d is semi-concave in  $\Omega$ , i.e., there exists  $s_0 > 0$  such that  $d(x) \frac{s_0}{2}|x|^2$  is concave;
- If  $J^{2,-}d(x) \neq \emptyset$ , d is differentiable at x and |Dd(x)| = 1.

We choose  $\delta$  so small that in  $\Omega_{\delta+\delta'}$  d is of class  $C^2$  for some small  $\delta' > 0$ . Then, as in previous example, where  $\delta$  was  $R - \rho$ , it can be proved that v is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , positive if  $D > \frac{E}{4}(\delta-\epsilon)^2$  and of class  $C^2$  on  $\Omega_{\epsilon}$ ,  $\Omega_{\delta} \setminus \overline{\Omega}_{\epsilon}$ . Furthermore,  $J^{2,-}v(x) = \emptyset$ if  $d(x) = \epsilon$  and if  $d(x) = \delta$  provided  $E(\delta - \epsilon) > k$ .

Let K be such that  $|k_i(x)| \leq K$  for all i and all  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . Then, if  $\epsilon < d(x) < \delta$  we have the following estimate

$$F(x, Dv, D^2v) + c(x)v^{\alpha+1} \le E^{\alpha+1}(\delta - \epsilon)^{\alpha} \left\{ 2A + [A\delta + (A - 2a)\epsilon](N - 1)K + [(2A - a)\delta - a\epsilon]\frac{(N - 1)K}{1 - \delta K} \right\} - \beta_1 \left[ D - \frac{E}{4}(\delta - \epsilon)^2 \right]^{\alpha+1}$$

Now suppose  $d(x) > \delta$ , then  $v(x) = D + 1 - e^{k(\delta - d(x))}$ . Let  $\overline{x} \in \Omega$  be such that  $d(\overline{x}) > \delta$  and let  $\psi$  be a  $C^2$  function such that  $(v - \psi)(x) \ge (v - \psi)(\overline{x}) = 0$  for all x in a small neighborhood of  $\overline{x}$ . Then the function  $\phi$  defined as

$$\phi(x) := -\frac{1}{k}\log(D + 1 - \psi(x)) + \delta$$

is a  $C^2$  function in a neighborhood of  $\overline{x}$ , such that  $(d - \phi)(x) \ge (d - \phi)(\overline{x}) = 0$ . This implies that  $J^{2,-}d(\overline{x}) \neq \emptyset$ . According to some of the properties of d recalled before, on such point d is differentiable,  $D\phi(\overline{x}) = Dd(\overline{x})$  and  $D^2\phi(\overline{x}) \le s_0 I$ . Then it easy to check that for  $k > \frac{s_0 AN}{a}$ 

$$F(\overline{x}, D\psi(\overline{x}), D^2\psi(\overline{x})) + c(\overline{x})v^{\alpha+1} \le k^{\alpha+1}e^{-(\alpha+1)k(R-\delta)}(s_0AN - ka) + \beta_2(D+1 - e^{-k(R-\delta)})^{\alpha+1},$$

where  $R := \max_{\overline{\Omega}} d(x)$ .

We can repeat the argument used before to conclude that v is a positive supersolution of (1.2.25) if  $\epsilon$  is small enough and  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  satisfy the following inequality for some  $k > \frac{s_0 AN}{a}$ 

$$\beta_2 < \frac{k^{\alpha+1}e^{-(\alpha+1)k(R-\delta)}(ka-s_0AN)}{\left\{k\left[\frac{\delta}{4} + \left[\frac{2A + (N-1)\delta K[A + (2A-a)(1-\delta K)^{-1}]}{\beta_1\delta}\right]^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}\right] + 1 - e^{-k(R-\delta)}\right\}^{\alpha+1}}.$$

Of course the relation between  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  can be bettered if we have more informations about the domain  $\Omega$ .

### **1.3** Some existence results

This section is devoted to the problem of the existence of a solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Du, D^2u) + b(x) \cdot Du |Du|^{\alpha} + (c(x) + \lambda) |u|^{\alpha}u = g(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(1.3.38)

The first existence result for (1.3.38) is obtained when  $\lambda = 0$  and c < 0, via Perron's method. Using it, we will prove the existence of a positive solution of (1.3.38) when g is non-positive and  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ , without condition on the sign of c. Then we will show the existence of a positive principal eigenfunction corresponding to  $\overline{\lambda}$ , that is a solution of (1.3.38) when  $g \equiv 0$  and  $\lambda = \overline{\lambda}$ . For the last two results we will follow the proof given in [28] for the analogous theorems with the Dirichlet boundary condition.

Symmetrical results can be obtained for the eigenvalue  $\underline{\lambda}$ .

Finally, we will prove that the Neumann problem (1.3.38) is solvable for any right-hand side if  $\lambda < \min\{\overline{\lambda}, \underline{\lambda}\}$ .

Comparison results guarantee for (1.3.38) the uniqueness of the solution when c < 0, of the positive solution when  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$  and g < 0 and of the negative solution when  $\lambda < \underline{\lambda}$  and g > 0.

**Theorem 1.3.1.** Suppose that c < 0 and g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  are respectively viscosity sub and supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Du, D^2u) + b(x) \cdot Du |Du|^{\alpha} + c(x) |u|^{\alpha}u = g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.3.39)

with u and v bounded or  $v \ge 0$  and bounded, then  $u \le v$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Moreover (1.3.39) has a unique viscosity solution.

**Proof.** We suppose by contradiction that  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u-v) = m > 0$ . Repeating the proof of Theorem 1.2.9 taking v as w, we arrive to the following inequality

$$-c(\overline{z})|u(\overline{z})|^{\alpha}u(\overline{z}) \leq -c(\overline{z})|v(\overline{z})|^{\alpha}v(\overline{z}),$$

where  $\overline{z} \in \overline{\Omega}$  is such that  $u(\overline{z}) - v(\overline{z}) = m > 0$ . This is a contradiction since  $c(\overline{z}) < 0$ .

The existence of a solution follows from Perron's method of Ishii [73] and the comparison result just proved, provided there is a bounded subsolution and a bounded supersolution of (1.3.39). Since c is negative and continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , there exists  $c_0 > 0$  such that  $c(x) \leq -c_0$  for every  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Then

$$u_1 := -\left(\frac{|g|_{\infty}}{c_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}, \quad u_2 := \left(\frac{|g|_{\infty}}{c_0}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha+1}}$$

are respectively a bounded sub and supersolution of (1.3.39).

Put

 $u(x) := \sup\{\varphi(x) | u_1 \le \varphi \le u_2 \text{ and } \varphi \text{ is a subsolution of } (1.3.39) \},$ 

then u is a solution of (1.3.39). We first show that the upper semicontinuous envelope of u defined as

$$u^*(x) := \lim_{\rho \downarrow 0} \, \sup\{u(y) : y \in \overline{\Omega} \text{ and } |y - x| \le \rho\}$$

is a subsolution of (1.3.39). Indeed if  $(p, X) \in J^{2,+}u(x_0)$  and  $p \neq 0$  then by the standard arguments of the Perron's method it can be proved that  $G(x_0, u(x_0), p, X) \geq g(x_0)$  if  $x_0 \in \Omega$  and  $(-G(x_0, u(x_0), p, X) + g(x_0)) \land \langle p, \overrightarrow{n}(x_0) \rangle \leq 0$  if  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ .

Now suppose  $u^* \equiv k$  in a neighborhood of  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ . If  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$  clearly  $u^*$  is subsolution in  $x_0$ . Assume that  $x_0$  is an interior point of  $\Omega$ . We may choose a sequence of subsolutions  $(\varphi_n)_n$  and a sequence of points  $(x_n)_n$  in  $\Omega$  such that  $x_n \to x_0$ and  $\varphi_n(x_n) \to k$ . Suppose that  $|x_n - x_0| < a_n$  with  $a_n$  decreasing to 0 as  $n \to +\infty$ . If, up to subsequence,  $\varphi_n$  is constant in  $B(x_0, a_n)$  for any n, then passing to the limit in the relation  $c(x_n)|\varphi_n(x_n)|^{\alpha}\varphi_n(x_n) \ge g(x_n)$  we get  $c(x_0)|k|^{\alpha}k \ge g(x_0)$  as desired. Otherwise, suppose that for any  $n \varphi_n$  is not constant in  $B(x_0, a_n)$ . Repeating the argument of Lemma 1.2.12 we find a sequence  $\{(t_n, y_n)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \Omega^2$  and a small  $\delta > 0$ such that  $|t_n - x_0| < a_n, |y_n - x_0| \le \delta, t_n \ne y_n, \varphi_n(x) - |x - t_n|^q \le \varphi_n(y_n) - |y_n - t_n|^q$ for any  $x \in B(x_0, \delta)$ , with  $q > \max\{2, \frac{\alpha+2}{\alpha+1}\}$  and  $u^* \equiv k$  in  $\overline{B}(x_0, \delta)$ . Up to subsequence  $y_n \to y \in \overline{B}(x_0, \delta)$  as  $n \to +\infty$ . We have

$$k = \lim_{n \to +\infty} (\varphi_n(x_n) - |x_n - t_n|^q) \le \liminf_{n \to +\infty} (\varphi_n(y_n) - |y_n - t_n|^q)$$
  
$$\le \limsup_{n \to +\infty} (\varphi_n(y_n) - |y_n - t_n|^q) \le k - |y - x_0|^q.$$

The last inequalities imply that  $y = x_0$  and  $\varphi_n(y_n) \to k$ . Then for large  $n, y_n$  is an interior point of  $B(x_0, \delta)$  and  $\phi_n(x) := \varphi_n(y_n) - |y_n - t_n|^q + |x - t_n|^q$  is a test function for  $\varphi_n$  at  $y_n$ . Passing to the limit as  $n \to +\infty$  in the relation  $G(y_n, \varphi_n(y_n), D\phi_n(y_n), D^2\phi_n(y_n)) \ge g(y_n)$ , we get again  $c(x_0)|k|^{\alpha}k \ge g(x_0)$ . In conclusion  $u^*$  is a subsolution of (1.3.39). Since  $u_1 \le u^* \le u_2$ , it follows from the definition of u that  $u = u^*$ .

Finally the lower semicontinuous envelope of u defined as

$$u_*(x) := \lim_{\rho \downarrow 0} \inf \{ u(y) : y \in \overline{\Omega} \text{ and } |y - x| \le \rho \}$$

is a supersolution. Indeed, if it is not, the Perron's method provides a viscosity subsolution of (1.3.39) greater than u, contradicting the definition of u. If  $u_* \equiv k$  in a neighborhood of  $x_0 \in \Omega$  and  $c(x_0)|k|^{\alpha}k > g(x_0)$  then for small  $\delta$  and  $\rho$ , the subsolution is

$$u_{\delta,\rho}(x) := \begin{cases} \max\{u(x), k + \frac{\delta\rho^2}{8} - \delta|x - x_0|^2\} & \text{if } |x - x_0| < \rho, \\ u(x) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Hence  $u_*$  is a supersolution of (1.3.39) and then, by comparison,  $u^* = u \leq u_*$ , showing that u is continuous and is a solution.

The uniqueness of the solution is an immediate consequence of the comparison principle just proved.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**Theorem 1.3.2.** Suppose  $g \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $h \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $h \leq 0$ ,  $h \leq g$  and g(x) > 0 if h(x) = 0. Let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity subsolution of (1.3.38) and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a bounded positive viscosity supersolution of (1.3.38) with g replaced by h. Then  $u \leq v$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 1.3.3.** The existence of a such v implies  $\lambda \leq \overline{\lambda}$ .

**Proof.** It suffices to prove the theorem for h < g. Indeed, for l > 1 the function defined by  $v_l := lv$  is a supersolution of (1.3.38) with right-hand side  $l^{\alpha+1}h(x)$ . By

the assumptions on h and g,  $l^{\alpha+1}h < g$ . If  $u \leq lv$  for any l > 1, passing to the limit as  $l \to 1^+$ , one obtains  $u \leq v$  as desired.

Hence we can assume h < g. By upper semicontinuity  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}}(h-g) = -M < 0$ . Suppose by contradiction that u > v somewhere in  $\Omega$ . Then there exists  $\overline{y} \in \overline{\Omega}$  such that

$$\gamma' := \frac{u(\overline{y})}{v(\overline{y})} = \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} \frac{u(x)}{v(x)} > 1.$$

Define  $w = \gamma v$  for some  $1 \leq \gamma < \gamma'$ . Since  $h \leq 0$  and  $\gamma \geq 1$ ,  $\gamma^{\alpha+1}h \leq h$  and then w is still a supersolution of (1.3.38) with right-hand side h. The supremum of u - w is strictly positive then, by upper semicontinuity, there exists  $\overline{x} \in \overline{\Omega}$  such that  $u(\overline{x}) - w(\overline{x}) = \max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u - w) > 0$ . We have  $u(\overline{x}) > w(\overline{x})$  and  $w(\overline{x}) \geq \frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}u(\overline{x})$ . Repeating the proof of Theorem 1.2.9, we get

$$g(\overline{z}) - (\lambda + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1} \le h(\overline{z}) - (\lambda + c(\overline{z}))w(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1},$$

where  $\overline{z}$  is some point in  $\overline{\Omega}$  where the maximum of u - w is attained. If  $\lambda + c(\overline{z}) \leq 0$ , then

$$-(\lambda+c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1} \le h(\overline{z}) - g(\overline{z}) - (\lambda+c(\overline{z}))w(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1} < -(\lambda+c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1},$$

which is a contradiction. If  $\lambda + c(\overline{z}) > 0$ , then

$$-(\lambda + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1} \le h(\overline{z}) - g(\overline{z}) - (\lambda + c(\overline{z}))\left(\frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}\right)^{\alpha+1} u(\overline{z})^{\alpha+1}.$$

If we choose  $\gamma$  sufficiently close to  $\gamma'$  in order that

$$|\lambda + c|_{\infty} \left[ \left( \frac{\gamma}{\gamma'} \right)^{\alpha + 1} - 1 \right] (\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u)^{\alpha + 1} \ge -\frac{M}{2},$$

we get once more a contradiction.

**Theorem 1.3.4.** Suppose that  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ ,  $g \leq 0$ ,  $g \neq 0$  and g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , then there exists a positive viscosity solution of (1.3.38). If g < 0, the positive solution is unique.

**Proof.** If  $\lambda < -|c|_{\infty}$  then the existence of the solution is guaranteed by Theorem 1.3.1. Let us suppose  $\lambda \geq -|c|_{\infty}$  and define by induction the sequence  $(u_n)_n$  by  $u_1 = 0$  and  $u_{n+1}$  as the solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Du_{n+1}, D^2u_{n+1}) + b(x) \cdot Du_{n+1} |Du_{n+1}|^{\alpha} \\ + (c(x) - |c|_{\infty} - 1) |u_{n+1}|^{\alpha}u_{n+1} = g - (\lambda + |c|_{\infty} + 1) |u_n|^{\alpha}u_n & \text{in } \Omega \\ \langle Du_{n+1}, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

which exists by Theorem 1.3.1. By the comparison principle, since  $g \leq 0$  and  $g \neq 0$ the sequence is positive and increasing. We use the argument of Theorem 7 of [28] to prove that  $(u_n)_n$  is also bounded. Suppose that it is not, then dividing by  $|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}^{\alpha+1}$ and defining  $v_n := \frac{u_n}{|u_n|_{\infty}}$  one gets that  $v_{n+1}$  is a solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Dv_{n+1}, D^2v_{n+1}) + b(x) \cdot Dv_{n+1} | Dv_{n+1} |^{\alpha} \\ + (c(x) - |c|_{\infty} - 1)v_{n+1}^{\alpha+1} = \frac{g}{|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}^{\alpha+1}} - (\lambda + |c|_{\infty} + 1)\frac{u_{n}^{\alpha+1}}{|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}^{\alpha+1}} & \text{in} \quad \Omega \\ \langle Dv_{n+1}, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on} \quad \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

$$\Box$$

By Corollary 1.1.4,  $(v_n)_n$  converges to a positive function v with  $|v|_{\infty} = 1$  which satisfies

$$\begin{cases} F(x, Dv, D^2v) + b(x) \cdot Dv |Dv|^{\alpha} + (c(x) + \lambda)v^{\alpha+1} \\ = (\lambda + |c|_{\infty} + 1)(1 - k)v^{\alpha+1} \ge 0 & \text{in } \Omega \\ \langle Dv, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

where  $k := \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{|u_n|_{\infty}^{\alpha+1}}{|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}^{\alpha+1}} \leq 1$ . This contradicts the maximum principle, Theorem 1.2.9.

Then  $(u_n)_n$  is bounded and letting n go to infinity, by the compactness result, the sequence converges to a function u which is a solution. Moreover, the solution is positive in  $\overline{\Omega}$  by the strong minimum principle, Proposition 1.2.2.

If g < 0, the uniqueness of the positive solution follows from Theorem 1.3.2.

**Theorem 1.3.5** (Existence of principal eigenfunctions). There exists  $\phi > 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, D\phi, D^2\phi) + b(x) \cdot D\phi |D\phi|^{\alpha} + (c(x) + \overline{\lambda})\phi^{\alpha+1} = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ \langle D\phi, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Moreover  $\phi$  is Lipschitz continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\lambda_n$  be an increasing sequence which converges to  $\overline{\lambda}$ . Let  $u_n$  be the positive solution of (1.3.38) with  $\lambda = \lambda_n$  and  $g \equiv -1$ . By Theorem 1.3.4 the sequence  $(u_n)_n$  is well defined. Following the argument of the proof of Theorem 8 of [28], we can prove that it is unbounded, otherwise one would contradict the definition of  $\overline{\lambda}$ . Then, up to subsequence  $|u_n|_{\infty} \to +\infty$  as  $n \to +\infty$  and defining  $v_n := \frac{u_n}{|u_n|_{\infty}}$  one gets that  $v_n$  satisfies (1.3.38) with  $\lambda = \lambda_n$  and  $g \equiv -\frac{1}{|u_n|_{\infty}^{\alpha+1}}$ . By Corollary 1.1.4, we can extract a subsequence converging to a positive function  $\phi$  with  $|\phi|_{\infty} = 1$  which is the desired solution. By Theorem 1.1.1 the solution is also Lipschitz continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 1.3.6.** With the same arguments used in the proofs of Theorems 1.3.2, 1.3.4 and 1.3.5 one can prove: the comparison result between  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  bounded and negative viscosity subsolution of (1.3.38) and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  supersolution of (1.3.38) with g replaced by h, provided  $g \ge 0$ ,  $h \le g$  and h(x) < 0 if g(x) = 0; the existence of a negative viscosity solution of (1.3.38), for  $\lambda < \underline{\lambda}$  and  $g \ge 0$ ,  $g \not\equiv 0$ ; the existence of a negative Lipschitz first eigenfunction corresponding to  $\underline{\lambda}$ , i.e., a solution of (1.3.38) with  $\lambda = \underline{\lambda}$  and  $g \equiv 0$ .

**Theorem 1.3.7.** Suppose that  $\lambda < \min\{\overline{\lambda}, \underline{\lambda}\}$  and g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , then there exists a viscosity solution of (1.3.38).

**Proof.** If  $g \equiv 0$ , by the maximum and minimum principles the only solution is  $u \equiv 0$ . Let us suppose  $g \not\equiv 0$ . Since  $\lambda < \min\{\overline{\lambda}, \underline{\lambda}\}$  by Theorem 1.3.4 and Remark 1.3.6 there exist  $v_0$  positive viscosity solution of (1.3.38) with right-hand side  $-|g|_{\infty}$  and  $u_0$  negative viscosity solution of (1.3.38) with right-hand side  $|g|_{\infty}$ .

Let us suppose  $\lambda + |c|_{\infty} \geq 0$ . Let  $(u_n)_n$  be the sequence defined in the proof of Theorem 1.3.4 with  $u_1 = u_0$ , then by comparison Theorem 1.3.1 we have  $u_0 = u_1 \leq u_2 \leq \ldots \leq v_0$ . Hence, by the compactness Corollary 1.1.4 the sequence converges to a continuous function which is the desired solution.  $\Box$ 

# Chapter 2

# **Isaacs** operators

In this chapter we want to develop an eigenvalue theory for a class of fully nonlinear operators with Neumann boundary conditions in a bounded  $C^2$  domain  $\Omega$ . Precisely, we consider a uniformly elliptic operator which is positively homogenous of order 1

$$F[u](x) = F(x, u, Du, D^{2}u), \qquad (2.0.1)$$

for any  $u \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ , with some additional assumptions that will be made precise in the next section. This class includes the non-convex Isaacs operator I.2.10.

To (2.0.1) we associate the following boundary condition

$$B(x, u, Du) = f(x, u) + \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 \quad x \in \partial\Omega,$$
(2.0.2)

where  $\overrightarrow{n}(x)$  is the exterior normal to the domain  $\Omega$  at x.

Following the ideas of [26], we define the principal eigenvalues as

$$\begin{split} \overline{\lambda} &:= \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists \, v > 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega} \text{ bounded viscosity supersolution of} \\ F(x, v, Dv, D^2 v) &= \lambda v \text{ in } \Omega, \, B(x, v, Dv) = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega\}, \end{split}$$

$$\underline{\lambda} := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists u < 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega} \text{ bounded viscosity subsolution of} \\ F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \lambda u \text{ in } \Omega, B(x, u, Du) = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}.$$

We will prove that  $\overline{\lambda}$  and  $\underline{\lambda}$  are "eigenvalues" for F which admit respectively a positive and a negative "eigenfunction". Moreover, we show that  $\overline{\lambda}$  (resp.,  $\underline{\lambda}$ ) can be characterized as the supremum of those  $\lambda$  for which the operator  $F - \lambda I$  with boundary condition (2.0.2) satisfies the maximum (resp., minimum) principle. As a consequence,  $\overline{\lambda}$  (resp.,  $\underline{\lambda}$ ) is the least "eigenvalue" to which there correspond "eigenfunctions" positive (resp., negative) somewhere.

Other properties of the principal eigenvalues are established: we show that they are simple, isolated and the only "eigenvalues" to which there correspond "eigenfunctions" which do not change sign in  $\Omega$ . Finally, we obtain Lipschitz regularity, uniqueness and existence results for viscosity solutions of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = g(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.0.3)

In particular, we prove that (2.0.3) is solvable for any continuous right-hand side if the two principal eigenvalues are positive.

In the next section we give assumptions. In Section 2.2 we prove the strong comparison principle between sub and supersolutions of (2.0.3). This allows us to prove the maximum principle for subsolutions of the Neumann boundary value problem. We first show it under the classical assumption that F be proper, see Theorem 2.3.1; then we prove in Theorem 2.3.5 that the operator  $F - \lambda I$  with boundary condition (2.0.2) satisfies the maximum principle for any  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ . Using the example given in [97] we show that the result of Theorem 2.3.5 is stronger than that of Theorem 2.3.1, i.e., that there exist non-proper operators which have positive principal eigenvalue  $\overline{\lambda}$ , and then for which the maximum principle holds.

In Section 2.4 we establish a Lipschitz regularity result for viscosity solutions of (2.0.3). In Section 2.5 we show some existence and comparison theorems. In Section 2.6 we establish some of the basic properties of the principal eigenvalues. Finally, in Section 2.7 we show, through an example, that  $\overline{\lambda}$  and  $\underline{\lambda}$  may be different.

# 2.1 Assumptions

We recall that  $\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^-$ :  $S(N) \to \mathbb{R}$  are the Pucci's extremal operators defined by

$$\mathcal{M}^{+}_{a,A}(X) = A \sum_{e_i > 0} e_i + a \sum_{e_i < 0} e_i,$$
$$\mathcal{M}^{-}_{a,A}(X) = a \sum_{e_i > 0} e_i + A \sum_{e_i < 0} e_i,$$

where  $e_1, ..., e_N$  are the eigenvalues of X (see e.g. [32]).

The operator F is supposed to be continuous on  $\overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N)$ , moreover we shall make the following assumptions:

(F1) For all  $(x, r, p, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N)$  and  $t \ge 0$ 

$$F(x, tr, tp, tX) = tF(x, r, p, X).$$

(F2) There exist b, c > 0 such that for  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ,  $r, s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $p, q \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $X, Y \in S(N)$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{M}^{-}_{a,A}(Y-X) - b|p-q| - c|r-s| &\leq F(x,r,p,X) - F(x,s,q,Y) \\ &\leq \mathcal{M}^{+}_{a,A}(Y-X) + b|p-q| + c|r-s|. \end{aligned}$$

(F3) For each T > 0 there exists a continuous function  $\omega_T$  with  $\omega_T(0) = 0$ , such that if  $X, Y \in S(N)$  and  $\zeta > 0$  satisfy

$$-3\zeta \left(\begin{array}{cc} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{array}\right) \leq \left(\begin{array}{cc} X & 0\\ 0 & -Y \end{array}\right) \leq 3\zeta \left(\begin{array}{cc} I & -I\\ -I & I \end{array}\right)$$

and I is the identity matrix in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , then for all  $x, y \in \overline{\Omega}$ ,  $r \in [-T, T]$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$F(y, r, p, Y) - F(x, r, p, X) \le \omega_T(\zeta |x - y|^2 + |x - y|(|p| + 1))$$

(F4) There exists  $C_1 > 0$  such that for all  $x, y \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $X \in S(N)$ 

$$|F(x,0,0,X) - F(y,0,0,X)| \le C_1 |x - y|^{\frac{1}{2}} ||X||.$$

Remark that (F1) implies that  $F(x, 0, 0, 0) \equiv 0$ .

The Isaacs operator (I.2.10) is continuous and satisfies (F1) and (F2) if  $aI \leq A_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \leq AI$  for any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ,  $(\alpha,\beta) \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$  and the functions  $A_{\alpha,\beta}$ ,  $b_{\alpha,\beta}$ ,  $c_{\alpha,\beta}$  are continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$  uniformly in  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , where  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  are arbitrary index sets. If the matrices  $A_{\alpha,\beta}$  are equi-Hölderian of exponent  $\frac{1}{2}$ , i.e., for some constant C > 0

$$||A_{\alpha,\beta}(x) - A_{\alpha,\beta}(y)|| \le C|x - y|^{\frac{1}{2}} \quad \text{for all } x, y \in \overline{\Omega} \text{ and } (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B},$$

then F satisfies (F4). Finally, (F3) is satisfied by F if, in addition to the uniform elliptic condition  $A_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \ge aI$  and the equi-continuity of  $c_{\alpha,\beta}$ , the functions  $A_{\alpha,\beta}$ and  $b_{\alpha,\beta}$  are equi-Lipschitz continuous, i.e., there exists L > 0 such that for all  $x, y \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ 

$$||A_{\alpha,\beta}(x) - A_{\alpha,\beta}(y)|| \le L|x-y|, \quad |b_{\alpha,\beta}(x) - b_{\alpha,\beta}(y)| \le L|x-y|.$$

We assume throughout the paper that  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  of class  $C^2$ . In particular it satisfies the interior sphere condition and the uniform exterior sphere condition, i.e.,

- ( $\Omega 1$ ) For each  $x \in \partial \Omega$  there exist R > 0 and  $y \in \Omega$  for which |x y| = R and  $B(y, R) \subset \Omega$ .
- (\Omega2) There exists r > 0 such that  $B(x + r \overrightarrow{n}(x), r) \cap \Omega = \emptyset$  for any  $x \in \partial \Omega$ .

From property  $(\Omega 2)$  it follows that

$$\langle \overrightarrow{n}(x), y - x \rangle \le \frac{1}{2r} |y - x|^2 \text{ for } x \in \partial \Omega \text{ and } y \in \overline{\Omega}.$$
 (2.1.4)

Moreover, the  $C^2$ -regularity of  $\Omega$  implies the existence of a neighborhood of  $\partial \Omega$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  on which the distance from the boundary

$$d(x) := \inf\{|x - y|, y \in \partial\Omega\}, \quad x \in \overline{\Omega}$$

is of class  $C^2$ . We still denote by  $d \ge C^2$  extension of the distance function to the whole  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Without loss of generality we can assume that  $|Dd(x)| \le 1$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

On the function f in (2.0.2) we shall suppose

- (f1)  $f: \partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous.
- (f2) For all  $(x, r) \in \partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R}$  and  $t \geq 0$

$$f(x,tr) = tf(x,r).$$

For the existence results we will assume in addition

(f3) For all  $x \in \partial \Omega \ r \to f(x, r)$  is non-decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Clearly,  $f(x, u) = \gamma(x)u$  with  $\gamma(x) \ge 0$  and continuous on  $\partial\Omega$ , satisfies all the three hypothesis.

In this chapter, for (2.0.3) we adopt the classical notion of viscosity solution Definition I.2.1 given in the Introduction. In the definition the test functions can be substituted by the elements of the semi-jets  $\overline{J}^{2,+}u(x_0)$  when u is a subsolution and  $\overline{J}^{2,-}u(x_0)$  when u is a supersolution, see [40].

One of the motivation for the relaxed boundary conditions required in Definition I.2.1 is the stability under uniform convergence. Actually, if the operator F satisfies (F2) and the domain  $\Omega$  the exterior sphere condition, viscosity subsolutions (resp., supersolutions) satisfy in the viscosity sense  $B(x, u(x), Du(x)) \leq (\text{resp.} \geq) 0$  for any  $x \in \partial\Omega$ , as shown in the following proposition due to Hitoshi Ishii, [74], whose proof is given for the reader's convenience.

**Proposition 2.1.1.** Suppose that  $\Omega$  satisfies the exterior sphere condition. If there exists b > 0 such that for  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ,  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $p, q \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $X, Y \in S(N)$ 

$$F(x,r,p,X) - F(x,r,q,Y) \ge \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^{-}(Y-X) - b|p-q|,$$

and u is a viscosity subsolution of (2.0.3) then u satisfies in the viscosity sense

$$B(x_0, u(x_0), Du(x_0)) \le 0$$

for any  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ . If

$$F(x,r,p,X) - F(x,r,q,Y) \le \mathcal{M}^+_{a,A}(Y-X) + b|p-q|,$$

and u is a viscosity supersolution of (2.0.3) then u satisfies in the viscosity sense

$$B(x_0, u(x_0), Du(x_0)) \ge 0,$$

for any  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ .

**Proof.** We show the proposition for subsolutions. Set

$$g(t) = -Kt^2 + \epsilon t \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R},$$

where  $K \gg 1$  and  $0 < \epsilon \ll 1$ . Observe that  $g(0) = 0, g'(0) = \epsilon, g''(0) = -2K$ , and

$$0 < t < \frac{\epsilon}{K} \quad \Longrightarrow \quad g(t) > 0.$$

Let  $\varphi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$ . Assume that  $u - \varphi$  attains a maximum at  $x_0$ . We need to prove that  $f(x_0, u(x_0)) + \langle \overrightarrow{n}(x_0), D\varphi(x_0) \rangle \leq 0$ .

Let  $y_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and R > 0 satisfy

$$B(y_0, R) \cap \Omega = \{x_0\}.$$

We may assume by translation that  $y_0 = 0$ . We set

$$\psi(x) = g(|x| - R) \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

Note that  $\psi(x_0) = g(0) = 0$ ,

$$D\psi(x_0) = g'(0)\frac{x_0}{|x_0|} = \epsilon e_0, \text{ where } e_0 = \frac{x_0}{|x_0|},$$
$$\overrightarrow{n}(x_0) \cdot D\psi(x_0) = -e_0 \cdot \epsilon e_0 = -\epsilon,$$
$$D^2\psi(x_0) = g''(0)e_0 \otimes e_0 + \frac{g'(0)}{|x_0|}(I - e_0 \otimes e_0)$$
$$= -2Ke_0 \otimes e_0 + \frac{\epsilon}{R}(I - e_0 \otimes e_0),$$
$$\mathcal{M}^-_{a,A}(-D^2\psi(x_0)) = -\frac{\epsilon(N-1)A}{R} + 2Ka,$$
$$R < |x| < R + \frac{\epsilon}{K} \implies \psi(x) > 0.$$

Moreover we observe that  $u - \varphi - \psi$  attains a local maximum at  $x_0$ . Remark that

$$F(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0) + D\psi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0) + D^2\psi(x_0))$$
  

$$\geq F(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0)) - b|D\psi(x_0)| + \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^-(-D^2\psi(x_0))$$
  

$$\geq F(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0)) - b\epsilon - \frac{\epsilon(N-1)A}{R} + 2Ka.$$

We fix  $K \gg 1$  so that for any  $0 < \epsilon < 1$ 

$$F(x_0, u(x_0), D\varphi(x_0), D^2\varphi(x_0)) - b\epsilon - \frac{\epsilon(N-1)A}{R} + 2Ka > g(x_0).$$

Then, by definition of subsolution we get that

$$0 \ge f(x_0, u(x_0)) + \vec{n}(x_0) \cdot (D\varphi(x_0) + D\psi(x_0)) = f(x_0, u(x_0)) + \vec{n}(x_0) \cdot D\varphi(x_0) - \epsilon,$$

from which we obtain

$$f(x_0, u(x_0)) + \overrightarrow{n}(x_0) \cdot D\varphi(x_0) \le 0,$$

as desired.

# 2.2 The Strong Comparison Principle

The strong comparison principle is the key ingredient in the development of our theory.

**Theorem 2.2.1.** Assume that (F2), (F3), (f1) hold and that g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  be respectively a sub and a supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

If  $u \leq v$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$  then either u < v on  $\overline{\Omega}$  or  $u \equiv v$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

Let us recall that for the sub and the supersolutions of the Dirichlet problem the following theorem holds, see [76].

**Theorem 2.2.2.** Assume that (F2), (F3) hold and that g is continuous on  $\Omega$ . Let  $u \in USC(\Omega)$  and  $v \in LSC(\Omega)$  be respectively a sub and a supersolution of

$$F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = g(x).$$

If  $u \leq v$  in  $\Omega$  then either u < v in  $\Omega$  or  $u \equiv v$  in  $\Omega$ .

**Proof of Theorem 2.2.1.** Assume  $u \neq v$ , then by Theorem 2.2.2 u < v in  $\Omega$ . Suppose by contradiction that there exists a point  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$  on which  $u(x_0) = v(x_0)$ .

The interior sphere condition ( $\Omega$ 1) implies that there exist R > 0 and  $y_0 \in \Omega$ such that the ball centered in  $y_0$  and of radius R,  $B_1$ , is contained in  $\Omega$  and  $x_0 \in \partial B_1$ . Let for  $k > 2/R^2$  and  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ 

$$w(x) := e^{-kR^2} - e^{-k|x-y_0|^2}$$

This function has the following properties

$$w(x) < 0 \quad \text{in } B_1,$$
  

$$w(x) = 0 \quad \text{on } \partial B_1,$$
  

$$w(x) > 0 \quad \text{outside } \overline{B}_1$$

Let  $B_2$  be the ball of center  $y_0$  and radius  $\frac{R}{2}$  and  $-m := \max_{\overline{B}_2}(u-v) < 0$ . Choose  $\sigma > 0$  so small that

$$\tau \inf_{\overline{B}_2} w \ge -\frac{m}{2}.\tag{2.2.5}$$

Let us define for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  the functions

$$\phi(x,y) := \frac{j}{2}|x-y|^2 + \frac{\sigma}{2}(w(x) + w(y)) - f(x_0, u(x_0))\langle \vec{n}(x_0), x-y \rangle$$

and

$$\psi(x,y) := u(x) - v(y) - \phi(x,y)$$

Let  $(x_j, y_j) \in \overline{\Omega}^2$  be a maximum point of  $\psi$  in  $\overline{\Omega}^2$ . We have

$$0 = u(x_0) - v(x_0) - \sigma w(x_0) \le u(x_j) - v(y_j) - \frac{j}{2} |x_j - y_j|^2 - \frac{\sigma}{2} (w(x_j) + w(y_j)) + f(x_0, u(x_0)) \langle \overrightarrow{n}(x_0), x_j - y_j \rangle,$$
(2.2.6)

from which we can see that  $|x_j - y_j| \to 0$  as  $j \to +\infty$ . Up to subsequence,  $x_j$  and  $y_j$  converge to some  $\overline{z} \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Standard arguments show that

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \frac{j}{2} |x_j - y_j|^2 = 0, \quad \lim_{j \to +\infty} u(x_j) \to u(\overline{z}) \text{ and } \lim_{j \to +\infty} v(y_j) \to v(\overline{z}).$$

Passing to the limit in (2.2.6) we get

$$\sigma w(\overline{z}) \le u(\overline{z}) - v(\overline{z}) \le 0, \tag{2.2.7}$$

which implies that the limit point  $\overline{z}$  belongs to  $\overline{B}_1$ . Furthermore, since  $u(\overline{z}) - v(\overline{z}) - \sigma w(\overline{z}) \geq 0$ , it cannot belong to  $\overline{B}_2$ , indeed by (2.2.5) we have  $u(x) - v(x) - \sigma w(x) \leq -\frac{m}{2} < 0$ , for any  $x \in \overline{B}_2$ . In conclusion

$$\frac{R}{2} < |\overline{z} - y_0| \le R$$

Computing the derivatives of  $\phi$  we get

$$D_x \phi(x, y) = j(x - y) + \sigma k e^{-k|x - y_0|^2} (x - y_0) - f(x_0, u(x_0)) \overrightarrow{n}(x_0),$$
  
$$D_y \phi(x, y) = -j(x - y) + \sigma k e^{-k|y - y_0|^2} (y - y_0) + f(x_0, u(x_0)) \overrightarrow{n}(x_0).$$

If  $x_j \in \partial \Omega$  then  $\overline{z} = x_0$  and using (2.1.4) we have

$$B(x_j, u(x_j), D_x \phi(x_j, y_j)) \ge f(x_j, u(x_j)) - f(x_0, u(x_0)) \langle \overrightarrow{n}(x_0), \overrightarrow{n}(x_j) \rangle - \frac{j}{2r} |x_j - y_j|^2 + \sigma k e^{-k|x_j - y_0|^2} \langle x_j - y_0, \overrightarrow{n}(x_j) \rangle > 0$$

for large j, since the last term goes to  $\sigma k e^{-kR^2} R$  as  $j \to +\infty$ , being  $\overrightarrow{n}(x_0) = \frac{x_0 - y_0}{R}$ . Similarly if  $y_j \in \partial \Omega$  then  $\overline{z} = x_0$  and  $u(x_0) = v(x_0)$  so that

$$\begin{split} B(y_j, v(y_j), -D_y \phi(x_j, y_j)) &\leq f(y_j, v(y_j)) - f(x_0, u(x_0)) \langle \overrightarrow{n}(x_0), \overrightarrow{n}(y_j) \rangle \\ &+ \frac{j}{2r} |x_j - y_j|^2 - \sigma k e^{-k|y_j - y_0|^2} \langle y_j - y_0, \overrightarrow{n}(y_j) \rangle < 0 \end{split}$$

for large j. Then  $x_j$  and  $y_j$  are internal points and

$$F(x_j, u(x_j), D_x \phi(x_j, y_j), X) \le g(x_j) \quad \text{if } (D_x \phi(x_j, y_j), X) \in \overline{J}^{2,+} u(x_j),$$
  
$$F(y_j, v(y_j), -D_y \phi(x_j, y_j), Y) \ge g(y_j) \quad \text{if } (-D_y \phi(x_j, y_j), Y) \in \overline{J}^{2,-} v(y_j).$$

Then the previous relations hold for  $(x_j, y_j) \in \overline{\Omega}^2$ , provided j is large.

Since  $(x_j, y_j)$  is a local maximum point of  $\psi(x, y) = (u(x) - \frac{\sigma}{2}w(x)) - (v(y) + \frac{\sigma}{2}w(y)) - \frac{j}{2}|x-y|^2 + f(x_0, u(x_0))\langle \overrightarrow{n}(x_0), x-y \rangle$  in  $\overline{\Omega}^2$ , applying Theorem 3.2 of [40] there exist  $X_j, Y_j \in S(N)$  such that  $(D_x\phi(x_j, y_j), X_j) \in \overline{J}^{2,+}u(x_j), (-D_y\phi(x_j, y_j), Y_j) \in \overline{J}^{2,-}v(y_j)$  and

$$-3j \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} \leq \begin{pmatrix} X_j - \frac{\sigma}{2}D^2w(x_j) & 0 \\ 0 & -(Y_j + \frac{\sigma}{2}D^2w(y_j)) \end{pmatrix} \leq 3j \begin{pmatrix} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}.$$

The hessian matrix of w(x) is

$$D^{2}w(x) = 2ke^{-k|x-y_{0}|^{2}}I - 4k^{2}e^{-k|x-y_{0}|^{2}}(x-y_{0}) \otimes (x-y_{0})$$

Its eigenvalues are  $2ke^{-k|x-y_0|^2}$  with multiplicity N-1 and  $2ke^{-k|x-y_0|^2}(1-2k|x-y_0|^2)$  with multiplicity 1. In the annulus  $B_1 \setminus \overline{B}_2$  we have  $2ke^{-k|x-y_0|^2}(1-2k|x-y_0|^2) \leq 2ke^{-k|x-y_0|^2}\left(1-k\frac{R^2}{2}\right) < 0$  since  $k > \frac{2}{R^2}$ .

Using the fact that u and v are respectively sub and supersolution and the properties of the operator F we have

$$\begin{split} g(y_j) &\leq F(y_j, v(y_j), -D_y \phi, Y_j) \\ &\leq F(y_j, v(y_j), -D_y \phi, Y_j + \frac{\sigma}{2} D^2 w(y_j)) + \frac{\sigma}{2} \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+ (D^2 w(y_j)) \\ &\leq F(x_j, v(y_j), -D_y \phi, X_j - \frac{\sigma}{2} D^2 w(x_j)) + \omega_T(o_j) + \frac{\sigma}{2} \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+ (D^2 w(y_j)) \\ &\leq F(x_j, u(x_j), D_x \phi, X_j) + \omega_T(o_j) + \frac{\sigma}{2} \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+ (D^2 w(x_j)) + \frac{\sigma}{2} \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+ (D^2 w(y_j)) \\ &+ b \frac{\sigma}{2} |Dw(x_j)| + b \frac{\sigma}{2} |Dw(y_j)| + c |u(x_j) - v(y_j)| \\ &\leq g(x_j) + \omega_T(o_j) + \frac{\sigma}{2} \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+ (D^2 w(x_j)) + \frac{\sigma}{2} \mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+ (D^2 w(y_j)) + b \frac{\sigma}{2} |Dw(x_j)| \\ &+ b \frac{\sigma}{2} |Dw(y_j)| + c |u(x_j) - v(y_j)|, \end{split}$$

where 
$$o_j = j|x_j - y_j|^2 + |x_j - y_j|(|D_y\phi| + 1) \to 0$$
 as  $j \to +\infty$ . Then  
 $g(y_j) \le g(x_j) + A(N-1)\sigma k e^{-k|x_j - y_0|^2} + a\sigma k e^{-k|x_j - y_0|^2}(1 - 2k|x_j - y_0|^2)$   
 $+ A(N-1)\sigma k e^{-k|y_j - y_0|^2} + a\sigma k e^{-k|y_j - y_0|^2}(1 - 2k|y_j - y_0|^2)$   
 $+ k\sigma e^{-k|x_j - y_0|^2}b|x_j - y_0| + k\sigma e^{-k|y_j - y_0|^2}b|y_j - y_0| + c|u(x_j) - v(y_j)| + \omega_T(o_j)$ 

Passing to the limit as  $j \to +\infty$  we get

$$2\sigma e^{-k|\overline{z}-y_0|^2} \{-2ak^2|\overline{z}-y_0|^2 + [A(N-1)+a+b|\overline{z}-y_0|]k\} + c|u(\overline{z})-v(\overline{z})| \ge 0.$$

Using (2.2.7) and the fact that  $\frac{R}{2} < |\overline{z} - y_0| \le R$ , we have

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq 2\sigma e^{-k|\overline{z}-y_0|^2} \{-2ak^2|\overline{z}-y_0|^2 + [A(N-1)+a+b|\overline{z}-y_0|]k\} + c|u(\overline{z})-v(\overline{z})| \\ &\leq 2\sigma e^{-k|\overline{z}-y_0|^2} \left\{-ak^2\frac{R^2}{2} + [A(N-1)+a+bR]k\right\} + \sigma c(e^{-k|\overline{z}-y_0|^2}-e^{-kR^2}) \\ &\leq \sigma e^{-k|\overline{z}-y_0|^2} \{-ak^2R^2 + 2[A(N-1)+a+bR]k+c\}. \end{split}$$

If we fix  $k > 2/R^2$  so large that

$$-ak^{2}R^{2} + 2[A(N-1) + a + bR]k + c < 0,$$

we obtain a contradiction, then u < v on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 2.2.3.** In Theorem 2.2.1 the domain  $\Omega$  may be unbounded. In that case, in the proof of the theorem it suffices to maximize  $\psi(x, y)$  on the compact set  $(\overline{B}(y_0, 2R) \cap \overline{\Omega})^2$ , instead of the whole  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

A consequence of Theorem 2.2.1 are the following strong maximum and minimum principles.

**Corollary 2.2.4.** Assume the hypothesis of Theorem 2.2.1. If  $f(x,0) \leq 0$  for any  $x \in \partial\Omega$  and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a non-negative viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, v, Dv, D^2v) = 0 & in & \Omega\\ B(x, v, Dv) = 0 & on & \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.2.8)

then either  $v \equiv 0$  or v > 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . If  $f(x, 0) \ge 0$  for any  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a non-positive viscosity subsolution of (2.2.8) then either  $u \equiv 0$  or u < 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** If  $f(x,0) \leq 0$  for any  $x \in \partial \Omega$  then  $u \equiv 0$  is a subsolution of (2.2.8). The thesis follows applying Theorem 2.2.1.

# 2.3 The Maximum Principle and the principal eigenvalues

We say that F with boundary condition (2.0.2) satisfies the maximum principle, if whenever  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

then  $u \leq 0$  on  $\Omega$ . We first prove that the maximum principle holds if F is proper, i.e., if  $r \to F(x, r, p, M)$  is non-decreasing. Observe that we do not require the stronger condition  $F(x, r, p, X) - \sigma r$  non-decreasing in r for some  $\sigma > 0$ , in which case the comparison principle holds (see [40] Theorem 7.5) and implies the maximum principle if  $u \equiv 0$  is a supersolution.

Successively, we show that the operator  $F - \lambda I$  with boundary condition (2.0.2) satisfies the maximum principle for any  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ . To prove that the two results do not coincide, we construct a class of operators which are not proper but that have positive principal eigenvalue  $\overline{\lambda}$ , hence for which the maximum principle holds.

#### 2.3.1 The case F proper

**Theorem 2.3.1.** Assume that (F2), (F3), (f1) and (f3) hold, that  $r \to F(x, r, p, M)$  is non-decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}$  for all  $(x, p, M) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N)$ ,  $F(x, 0, 0, 0) \ge 0$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $f(x, 0) \ge 0$  for all  $x \in \partial\Omega$  and

$$\max_{x \in \partial \Omega} f(x, r) \vee \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} F(x, r, 0, 0) > 0 \text{ for any } r > 0.$$
(2.3.9)

If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.3.10)

then  $u \leq 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** Let u be a subsolution of (2.3.10). First let us suppose  $u \equiv k = \text{const.}$  By definition of subsolution and Proposition 2.1.1

$$F(x,k,0,0) \leq 0$$
, for any  $x \in \Omega$ 

and

$$B(x,k,0) = f(x,k) \le 0$$
 for any  $x \in \partial \Omega$ .

Then the hypothesis (2.3.9) implies  $k \leq 0$ .

Now we assume that u is not a constant. We argue by contradiction; suppose that  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u = u(x_0) > 0$ , for some  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Define  $\tilde{u}(x) := u(x) - u(x_0)$ . Since  $r \to F(x, r, p, M)$  and  $r \to f(x, r)$  are non-decreasing,  $\tilde{u}$  is a non-positive subsolution of (2.3.10). The properties  $F(x, 0, 0, 0) \ge 0$  and  $f(x, 0) \ge 0$  imply that  $v \equiv 0$  is a supersolution of (2.3.10). Then it follows from Theorem 2.2.1 that either  $u \equiv u(x_0)$ or  $u < u(x_0)$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . In both cases we get a contradiction.

**Remark 2.3.2.** Under the assumptions of Theorem 2.3.1, but now with  $F(x, 0, 0, 0) \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $f(x, 0) \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \partial\Omega$  and  $\min_{x \in \partial\Omega} f(x, r) \vee \min_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} F(x, r, 0, 0) < 0$  for any r < 0, we can prove the minimum principle, i.e., if  $u \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity supersolution of (2.3.10) then  $u \geq 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 2.3.3.** If F does not depend on r and  $f \equiv 0$  a counterexample to the validity of the maximum principle is given by the positive constants.

## **2.3.2** The Maximum Principle for $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$

We set

 $\overline{E} := \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists v > 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega} \text{ bounded viscosity supersolution of} \\ F(x, v, Dv, D^2 v) = \lambda v \text{ in } \Omega, B(x, v, Dv) = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \},$ 

 $\underline{E} := \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists u < 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega} \text{ bounded viscosity subsolution of} \\ F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \lambda u \text{ in } \Omega, \ B(x, u, Du) = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega \}.$ 

The set  $\overline{E}$  is not empty, indeed the function  $v(x) = e^{-|f(\cdot,1)|_{\infty} d(x)}$  satisfies

$$F(x, v, Dv, D^{2}v) - \lambda v \ge e^{-|f(\cdot, 1)|_{\infty}d(x)} \{ -\mathcal{M}^{+}_{a, A}(|f(\cdot, 1)|_{\infty}^{2}Dd(x) \otimes Dd(x) - |f(\cdot, 1)|_{\infty}D^{2}d(x)) - b|f(\cdot, 1)|_{\infty} - c - \lambda \} \ge 0,$$

in  $\Omega$ , for  $\lambda$  small enough, and

$$B(x, v, Dv) = f(x, 1) + |f(x, 1)|_{\infty} \ge 0,$$

on  $\partial\Omega$ . As a consequence  $\overline{\lambda} = \sup \overline{E}$  is well defined. Similarly we can prove that  $\underline{E}$  is not empty. We shall show that  $\overline{\lambda}$  and  $\underline{\lambda}$  are finite.

We want to remark that since in the sequel we will assume (f2), which implies f(x, 0) = 0 for any  $x \in \partial\Omega$ , by Corollary 2.2.4 any non-negative supersolution (resp., non-positive subsolution) of  $F(x, v, Dv, D^2v) = 0$  in  $\Omega$ , B(x, v, Dv) = 0 on  $\partial\Omega$  which is non-zero will be positive (resp., negative) in all  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Theorem 2.3.4.** Assume that (F1)-(F3), (f1) and (f2) hold. Let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  be respectively sub and supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

If v is bounded, v > 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$  and  $u(x_0) > 0$  for some  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ , then there exists t > 0such that  $v \equiv tu$ . The same conclusion holds if u is bounded, u < 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$  and  $v(x_0) < 0$ . **Proof.** Suppose that v > 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$  and  $u(x_0) > 0$ . We prove the theorem trough a typical argument which is used in [26] for the linear case and Dirichlet boundary condition. Set  $w_t = u - tv$ . If t is large enough  $w_t < 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . We define

$$\tau = \inf\{t \,|\, w_t < 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega}\}$$

Clearly  $w_{\tau} \leq 0$ . If  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}} w_{\tau} = m < 0$ , then for any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ 

$$w_{\tau-\epsilon}(x) = u(x) - (\tau - \epsilon)v(x) \le m + \epsilon |v|_{\infty} < 0,$$

for  $\epsilon$  small enough. This contradicts the definition of  $\tau$ . Then  $w_{\tau}$  vanishes somewhere on  $\overline{\Omega}$  and  $\tau > 0$  since  $u(x_0) > 0$ . In conclusion  $u \leq \tau v$  and  $u(x) = \tau v(x)$  for some  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Since  $\tau v$  is again a supersolution, by Theorem 2.2.1 we have  $u \equiv \tau v$ .

If the inequalities satisfied by u and v are reversed, that is u < 0 and  $v(x_0) < 0$ , we consider the function  $w_t = tu - v$  and use the same argument.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 2.3.5** (Maximum Principle for  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ ). Assume that (F1)-(F3), (f1) and (f2) hold and  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ . Let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \lambda u & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.3.11)

then  $u \leq 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\tau \in ]\lambda, \overline{\lambda}[$ , then by definition there exists v > 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$  bounded viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, v, Dv, D^2v) = \tau v & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x, v, Dv) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Then v satisfies

$$\begin{cases} F(x, v, Dv, D^2v) - \lambda v \ge (\tau - \lambda)v > 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x, v, Dv) \ge 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.3.12)

in the viscosity sense. Suppose by contradiction that  $u(x_0) > 0$  for some  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Applying Theorem 2.3.4 to the operator  $F - \lambda I$ , there exists t > 0 such that  $u \equiv tv$ . Then u is positive on  $\overline{\Omega}$  and by homogeneity satisfies (2.3.12) in the viscosity sense. Since in addition u is a viscosity subsolution of (2.3.11), using Lemma 7.3 of [76] we get

$$(\tau - \lambda)u \le 0$$
 in  $\Omega$ ,

which is a contradiction.

**Remark 2.3.6.** Similarly, we can prove the minimum principle for  $\lambda < \underline{\lambda}$ , i.e., if  $u \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity supersolution of (2.3.11) and  $\lambda < \underline{\lambda}$  then  $u \ge 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Corollary 2.3.7.** Under the assumptions of Theorem 2.3.5, the quantities  $\overline{\lambda}$  and  $\underline{\lambda}$  are finite.

**Proof.** By Theorem 2.3.5 it suffices to find  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  and a function w which is a positive subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x,w,Dw,D^2w) = \lambda w & \text{in} \quad \Omega\\ B(x,w,Dw) = 0 & \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$

For

$$\lambda \ge -\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^{-}\left(|f(\cdot,1)|_{\infty}^{2}Dd(x) \otimes Dd(x) + |f(\cdot,1)|_{\infty}D^{2}d(x)\right) + b|f(\cdot,1)|_{\infty} + c,$$
  
absolution is  $w(x) = e^{|f(\cdot,1)|_{\infty}d(x)}.$ 

a subsolution is  $w(x) = e^{|f(\cdot,1)|_{\infty} d(x)}$ .

#### 2.3.3An example

We want to show there exist some operators which are not proper but whose first eigenvalue  $\overline{\lambda}$  is positive.

For simplicity, let us suppose that F is independent of the gradient variable and that  $\Omega$  is the ball of center 0 and radius R. We assume in addition that for all  $(x, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times S(N)$  and any r > 0

$$F(x, r, X) \ge -\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+(X) + c_0(x)r,$$
 (2.3.13)

for some functions  $c_0(x)$ . The Isaacs operator (I.2.10) satisfies (2.3.13) if

$$c_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \ge c_0(x)$$
 for all  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $(\alpha,\beta) \in \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{B}$ .

In this case the operator is proper if  $c_0(x) \ge 0$ . Since we are interested in non-proper F, we are looking for functions  $c_0(x)$  in (2.3.13) that may be negative somewhere. We suppose that

$$\begin{cases} c_0(x) > 0 & \text{if } R - \epsilon < |x| \le R\\ c_0(x) \ge \beta_1 & \text{if } \rho < |x| \le R - \epsilon\\ c_0(x) \ge -\beta_2 & \text{if } |x| \le \rho, \end{cases}$$

where  $0 < \rho < R$ ,  $\epsilon > 0$  is small enough and  $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_2 > 0$ . Remark that in the ball of radius  $\rho$ ,  $c_0(x)$  may assume negative values. To prove that  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$  it suffices to find v > 0 bounded supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+(D^2v) + c_0(x)v = \lambda v & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x,v,Dv) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

for some  $\lambda > 0$ . Assume  $f(x, r) \ge 0$  for any  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and  $r \ge 0$ , then, as shown in [97], such supersolution v exists if  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  satisfy the following inequality for some k > 07

$$\beta_2 < \frac{ke^{-k\rho}a\left(k + \frac{N-1}{\rho}\right)}{k\frac{R-\rho}{4} + k\frac{2NAR - (N-1)a(R+\rho)}{\beta_1 R(R-\rho)} + 1 - e^{-k\rho}}.$$

As observed in [97], from the last relation we can see that choosing  $k = \frac{1}{\rho}$  the term on the right-hand side goes to  $+\infty$  as  $\rho \to 0^+$ , that is, if the set where  $c_0(x)$  is negative becomes smaller then the values of  $c_0(x)$  in this set can be very negative. On the contrary, for any value of k, if  $\rho \to R^-$  then  $\beta_2$  goes to 0. Finally, for any k, if  $\beta_1 \to 0^+$  then again  $\beta_2$  goes to 0. So there is a sort of balance between  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$ . In [97] we present an example to explain this behavior. For operators which satisfy (2.3.13), the property  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$  can be proved in any  $C^2$  domain, under similar assumptions on  $c_0(x)$ , see [97].

# 2.4 Lipschitz regularity

In this section we shall prove that viscosity solutions are Lipschitz continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . We want to mention the works of Barles and Da Lio [20] and Milakis and Silvestre [91] about Hölder estimates of viscosity solutions of fully nonlinear elliptic equations associated to Neumann type boundary conditions.

**Theorem 2.4.1.** Assume that (F1), (F2), (F4), (f1) and (f2) hold. Let g be a bounded function and  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x,u,Du,D^2u)=g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x,u,Du)=0 & on \quad \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

then there exists  $C_0 > 0$  such that

$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le C_0 |x - y| \quad \forall x, y \in \overline{\Omega},$$
(2.4.14)

where  $C_0$  depends on N, a, A, b, c,  $C_1$ ,  $\Omega$  and  $|f(\cdot, u(\cdot))|_{\infty}$ .

**Proof.** We follow the proof of Proposition III.1 of [75], that we modify taking test functions which depend on the distance function and that are suitable for the Neumann boundary conditions.

We set

$$\Phi(x) = MK|x| - M(K|x|)^2,$$

and

$$\varphi(x,y) = e^{-L(d(x)+d(y))}\Phi(x-y),$$

where L is a fixed number greater than  $\frac{2}{3r}$  with r the radius in the condition ( $\Omega 2$ ) and K and M are two positive constants to be chosen later. If  $K|x| \leq \frac{1}{4}$ , then

$$\Phi(x) \ge \frac{3}{4}MK|x|. \tag{2.4.15}$$

We define

$$\Delta_K := \left\{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N : |x - y| \le \frac{1}{4K} \right\}.$$

We fix M such that

$$\max_{\overline{\Omega}^2} |u(x) - u(y)| \le e^{-2Ld_0} \frac{M}{8}, \qquad (2.4.16)$$

where  $d_0 = \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} d(x)$ , and we claim that taking  $\delta$  small enough and K large enough, one has

$$\delta(u(x) - u(y)) - \varphi(x, y) \le 0 \quad \text{for } (x, y) \in \Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2.$$
(2.4.17)

In this case (2.4.14) is proven. To show (2.4.17) we suppose by contradiction that for some  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in \Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ 

$$\delta u(\overline{x}) - \delta u(\overline{y}) - \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = \max_{\Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2} (\delta u(x) - \delta u(y) - \varphi(x, y)) > 0.$$
(2.4.18)

Observe that  $\delta u$  is again a solution since both F and B are positively homogeneous. Here we have dropped the dependence of  $\overline{x}$ ,  $\overline{y}$  on K and  $\delta$  for simplicity of notations.

Clearly  $\overline{x} \neq \overline{y}$ . Moreover the point  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$  belongs to  $\operatorname{int}(\Delta_K) \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ . Indeed, if  $|x - y| = \frac{1}{4K}$ , by (2.4.16) and (2.4.15) for  $\delta \leq 1$  we have

$$\delta u(x) - \delta u(y) \le |u(x) - u(y)| \le e^{-2Ld_0} \frac{M}{8} \le e^{-L(d(x) + d(y))} \frac{1}{2} MK |x - y| \le \varphi(x, y).$$

Since  $\overline{x} \neq \overline{y}$  we can compute the derivatives of  $\varphi$  in  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$  obtaining

$$D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = -Le^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| (1 - K |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) Dd(\overline{x}) + e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK (1 - 2K |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}, D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = -Le^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| (1 - K |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) Dd(\overline{y}) - e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK (1 - 2K |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}.$$

Observe that for  $K \geq \frac{L}{4}$ 

$$|D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})|, |D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})| \le 2MK.$$
(2.4.19)

Using (2.1.4), if  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$  we have

$$B(\overline{x}, \delta u(\overline{x}), D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})) = f(\overline{x}, \delta u(\overline{x})) + Le^{-Ld(\overline{y})} MK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| (1 - K |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|)$$
$$+ e^{-Ld(\overline{y})} MK (1 - 2K |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) \langle \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}), \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|} \rangle$$
$$\geq \frac{1}{2} e^{-Ld(\overline{y})} MK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \left(\frac{3}{2}L - \frac{1}{r}\right) - \delta |f(\cdot, u(\cdot))|_{\infty} > 0,$$
$$(2.4.20)$$

since  $\overline{x} \neq \overline{y}, L > \frac{2}{3r}$ , for  $\delta$  small enough. Similarly, if  $\overline{y} \in \partial \Omega$  then

$$B(\overline{y}, \delta u(\overline{y}), -D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})) \leq \frac{1}{2} e^{-Ld(\overline{x})} MK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \left(-\frac{3}{2}L + \frac{1}{r}\right) + \delta |f(\cdot, u(\cdot))|_{\infty} < 0.$$

Then  $\overline{x}, \overline{y} \in \Omega$  and

$$F(\overline{x}, \delta u(\overline{x}), D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), X) \leq \delta g(\overline{x}), \quad \text{if } (D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), X) \in \overline{J}^{2,+} \delta u(\overline{x}),$$
  
$$F(\overline{y}, \delta u(\overline{y}), -D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), Y) \geq \delta g(\overline{y}) \quad \text{if } (-D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), Y) \in \overline{J}^{2,-} \delta u(\overline{y}).$$

Since  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in \operatorname{int}\Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ , it is a local maximum point of  $\delta u(x) - \delta u(y) - \varphi(x, y)$ in  $\overline{\Omega}^2$ . Then applying Theorem 3.2 in [40], for every  $\epsilon > 0$  there exist  $X, Y \in S(N)$ such that  $(D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), X) \in \overline{J}^{2,+} \delta u(\overline{x}), (-D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), Y) \in \overline{J}^{2,-} \delta u(\overline{y})$  and

$$\begin{pmatrix} X & 0\\ 0 & -Y \end{pmatrix} \le D^2(\varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})) + \epsilon(D^2(\varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})))^2.$$
(2.4.21)
Now we want to estimate the matrix on the right-hand side of the last inequality.

$$D^{2}\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}) = \Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})D^{2}(e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}) + D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}) \otimes D(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})) + D(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})) \otimes D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}) + e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}D^{2}(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})).$$

We set

$$A_1 := \Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}) D^2(e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}),$$
  

$$A_2 := D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}) \otimes D(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y})) + D(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y})) \otimes D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}),$$
  

$$A_3 := e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} D^2(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y})).$$

Observe that

$$A_1 \le CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \begin{pmatrix} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.4.22)

Here and henceforth C denotes various positive constants independent of K and  $\delta$ .

For  $A_2$  we have the following estimate

$$A_2 \le CK \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} + CK \begin{pmatrix} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.4.23)

Indeed for  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$  we compute

$$\langle A_2(\xi,\eta), (\xi,\eta) \rangle = 2Le^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))} \{ \langle Dd(\overline{x}) \otimes D\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})(\eta-\xi), \xi \rangle + \langle Dd(\overline{y}) \otimes D\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})(\eta-\xi), \eta \rangle \} \leq CK(|\xi|+|\eta|)|\eta-\xi| \leq CK(|\xi|^2+|\eta|^2) + CK|\eta-\xi|^2.$$

Now we consider  $A_3$ . The matrix  $D^2(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}))$  has the form

$$D^{2}(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})) = \begin{pmatrix} D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) & -D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) \\ -D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) & D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) \end{pmatrix},$$

and the Hessian matrix of  $\Phi(x)$  is

$$D^{2}\Phi(x) = \frac{MK}{|x|} \left( I - \frac{x \otimes x}{|x|^{2}} \right) - 2MK^{2}I.$$
 (2.4.24)

If we choose

$$\epsilon = \frac{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}{2MKe^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}},$$
(2.4.25)

then we have the following estimates

$$\epsilon A_1^2 \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^3 I_{2N}, \quad \epsilon A_2^2 \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| I_{2N},$$
  

$$\epsilon (A_1 A_2 + A_2 A_1) \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^2 I_{2N}, \quad (2.4.26)$$
  

$$\epsilon (A_1 A_3 + A_3 A_1) \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| I_{2N}, \quad \epsilon (A_2 A_3 + A_3 A_2) \leq CK I_{2N},$$

where  $I_{2N} := \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}$ . Then using (2.4.22), (2.4.23), (2.4.26) and observing that

$$(D^2(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})))^2 = \begin{pmatrix} 2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 & -2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 \\ -2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 & 2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

from (2.4.21) we can conclude that

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} X & 0\\ 0 & -Y \end{array}\right) \le O(K) \left(\begin{array}{cc} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{array}\right) + \left(\begin{array}{cc} B & -B\\ -B & B \end{array}\right),$$

where

$$B = CKI + e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} \left[ D^2 \Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}) + \frac{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}{MK} (D^2 \Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}))^2 \right].$$
(2.4.27)

The last inequality can be rewritten as follows

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} \widetilde{X} & 0\\ 0 & -\widetilde{Y} \end{array}\right) \leq \left(\begin{array}{cc} B & -B\\ -B & B \end{array}\right),$$

with  $\tilde{X} = X - O(K)I$  and  $\tilde{Y} = Y + O(K)I$ .

Now we want to get a good estimate for  $tr(\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y})$ , as in [75]. For that aim let

$$0 \le P := \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y}) \otimes (\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^2} \le I.$$

Since  $\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y} \leq 0$  and  $\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y} \leq 4B$ , we have

$$\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) \le \operatorname{tr}(P(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})) \le 4\operatorname{tr}(PB).$$

We have to compute tr(*PB*). From (2.4.24), observing that the matrix  $(1/|x|^2)x \otimes x$  is idempotent, i.e.,  $[(1/|x|^2)x \otimes x]^2 = (1/|x|^2)x \otimes x$ , we compute

$$(D^2\Phi(x))^2 = \frac{M^2K^2}{|x|^2}(1 - 4K|x|)\left(I - \frac{x \otimes x}{|x|^2}\right) + 4M^2K^4I.$$

Then, since  $\operatorname{tr} P = 1$  and  $4K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \leq 1$ , we have

$$\operatorname{tr}(PB) = CK + e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} (-2MK^2 + 4MK^3 |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|)$$
$$\leq CK - e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK^2 < 0,$$

for large K. This gives

$$|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})| = -\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) \ge 4e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}MK^2 - 4CK \ge CK^2,$$

for large K. Since  $||B|| \leq \frac{CK}{|\overline{x}-\overline{y}|}$ , we have

$$||B||^{\frac{1}{2}}|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X}-\widetilde{Y})|^{\frac{1}{2}} \le \left(\frac{CK}{|\overline{x}-\overline{y}|}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X}-\widetilde{Y})|^{\frac{1}{2}} \le \frac{C}{K^{\frac{1}{2}}|\overline{x}-\overline{y}|^{\frac{1}{2}}}|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X}-\widetilde{Y})|.$$

The Lemma III.I in [75] ensures the existence of a universal constant C depending only on N such that

$$\|\widetilde{X}\|, \|\widetilde{Y}\| \le C\{|\mathrm{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})| + \|B\|^{\frac{1}{2}}|\mathrm{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})|^{\frac{1}{2}}\}.$$

Thanks to the above estimates we can conclude that

$$\|\widetilde{X}\|, \|\widetilde{Y}\| \le C |\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})| \left(1 + \frac{1}{K^{\frac{1}{2}} |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\frac{1}{2}}}\right).$$

$$(2.4.28)$$

Now, using assumptions (F2) and (F4) concerning F, the definition of  $\widetilde{X}$  and  $\widetilde{Y}$  and the fact that  $\delta u$  is sub and supersolution we compute

$$\begin{split} \delta g(\overline{y}) &\leq F(\overline{y}, \delta u(\overline{y}), -D_y \varphi, Y) \leq F(\overline{y}, \delta u(\overline{y}), -D_y \varphi, \overline{Y}) + O(K) \\ &\leq F(\overline{y}, \delta u(\overline{x}), D_x \varphi, \widetilde{X}) + c \delta |u(\overline{x}) - u(\overline{y})| + b |D_x \varphi + D_y \varphi| \\ &+ a \mathrm{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) + O(K) \\ &\leq F(\overline{x}, \delta u(\overline{x}), D_x \varphi, \widetilde{X}) + 2 c \delta |u(\overline{x})| + 2 b |D_x \varphi| + C_1 |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\widetilde{X}\| \\ &+ c \delta |u(\overline{x}) - u(\overline{y})| + b |D_x \varphi + D_y \varphi| + a \mathrm{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) + O(K) \\ &\leq \delta g(\overline{x}) + 2 c \delta |u(\overline{x})| + 2 b |D_x \varphi| + C_1 |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\widetilde{X}\| + c \delta |u(\overline{x}) - u(\overline{y})| \\ &+ b |D_x \varphi + D_y \varphi| + a \mathrm{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) + O(K). \end{split}$$

From this inequalities, using (2.4.19) and (2.4.28), we get

$$\begin{split} \delta g(\overline{y}) &- \delta g(\overline{x}) - 2c\delta |u(\overline{x})| - c\delta |u(\overline{x}) - u(\overline{y})| \\ &\leq O(K) + C |\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})| (|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^{\frac{1}{2}} + K^{-\frac{1}{2}}) + \operatorname{atr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) \\ &= \operatorname{atr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y}) + o(|\operatorname{tr}(\widetilde{X} - \widetilde{Y})|), \end{split}$$

$$(2.4.29)$$

as  $K \to +\infty$ . Since g and u are bounded, the first member in (2.4.29) is bounded from below by the quantity  $-2|g|_{\infty} - 4c|u|_{\infty}$  which is independent of  $\delta$ . But the last term in (2.4.29) goes to  $-\infty$  as  $K \to +\infty$ , hence taking K so large that

$$a \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y}) + o(|\operatorname{tr}(\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y})|) < -2|g|_{\infty} - 4c|u|_{\infty},$$

and then  $\delta$  so small that the last member in (2.4.20) is positive, we obtain a contradiction and this concludes the proof.

**Remark 2.4.2.** The regularity theorem can be shown also for solutions of the Neumann problem for the operator

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} \{ -\operatorname{tr}(A_{\alpha,\beta}(x)D^2u) + b_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \cdot Du + c_{\alpha,\beta}(x)u - g_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \},\$$

if the functions  $g_{\alpha,\beta}$  are bounded uniformly in  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ .

Since the Lipschitz estimate depends only on the bounds of the solution of g and on the structural constants, an immediate consequence of the previous theorem is the following compactness criterion that will be useful in the next sections.

**Corollary 2.4.3.** Assume the same hypothesis of Theorem 2.4.1. Suppose that  $(g_n)_n$  is a sequence of continuous and uniformly bounded functions and  $(u_n)_n$  is a sequence of uniformly bounded viscosity solutions of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u_n, Du_n, D^2 u_n) = g_n(x) & in & \Omega\\ B(x, u_n, Du_n) = 0 & on & \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Then the sequence  $(u_n)_n$  is relatively compact in  $C(\overline{\Omega})$ .

## 2.5 Existence results

This section is devoted to the problem of the existence of a solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \lambda u + g(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.5.30)

Using the well known result which guarantees that (2.5.30) with  $\lambda = 0$  is uniquely solvable if F satisfies

(F5) There exists  $\sigma > 0$  such that for any  $(x, p, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N)$  the function  $r \to F(x, r, p, X) - \sigma r$  is non-decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}$ ,

see [40] Theorem 7.5, we will prove the existence of a positive solution of (2.5.30) when g is non-negative and  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ , without requiring (F5). The solution is unique if g > 0. Then we will show the existence of a positive principal eigenfunction corresponding to  $\overline{\lambda}$ , that is a solution of (2.5.30) when  $g \equiv 0$  and  $\lambda = \overline{\lambda}$ . For the last two results we will follow the proof given in [28] for the analogous theorems with the Dirichlet boundary condition.

Symmetrical results can be obtained for the eigenvalue  $\underline{\lambda}$ .

Finally, we will prove that the Neumann problem (2.5.30) is solvable for any right-hand side if  $\lambda < \min\{\overline{\lambda}, \underline{\lambda}\}$ .

The following is a well known result, see [40] Theorem 7.5.

**Theorem 2.5.1.** Suppose that (F2), (F3), (F5), (f1) and (f3) hold and that g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  are respectively sub and supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.5.31)

then  $u \leq v$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Moreover (2.5.31) has a unique viscosity solution.

**Theorem 2.5.2.** Assume that (F1)-(F3), (f1) and (f2) hold. Suppose  $h \ge 0$ ,  $g \le h$  and g(x) < 0 if h(x) = 0. Let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \lambda u + g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

and let  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a bounded positive viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, v, Dv, D^2v) = \lambda v + h(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x, v, Dv) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.5.32)

Then  $u \leq v$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 2.5.3.** The existence of such a v implies  $\lambda \leq \overline{\lambda}$ .

**Remark 2.5.4.** Similarly, we can prove the comparison result between u and v if u is negative and bounded,  $g \le 0$ ,  $g \le h$  and h(x) > 0 if g(x) = 0.

**Proof.** Suppose by contradiction that  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u-v) = u(\overline{x}) - v(\overline{x}) > 0$  for some  $\overline{x} \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Set  $w_t = u - tv$ . If t is large enough  $w_t < 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . We define

$$\tau = \inf\{t \mid w_t < 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega}\}.$$

As in the proof of Theorem 2.3.4,  $w_{\tau} \leq 0$  and vanishes in some point, i.e.,  $u \leq \tau v$ and  $u(x) = \tau v(x)$  for some  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Moreover, since  $u(\overline{x}) > v(\overline{x})$  we know that  $\tau > 1$ , which implies that  $h \leq \tau h$ , being h non-negative. Then  $\tau v$  is still a supersolution of (2.5.32) and  $u \equiv \tau v$  by Theorem 2.2.1. Hence, applying Lemma 7.3 of [76] we get

$$\tau h \leq g,$$

which contradicts the assumptions on g and h.

**Theorem 2.5.5.** Suppose that (F1)-(F4), (f1)-(f3) hold, that  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}, g \ge 0, g \ne 0$ and g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , then there exists a positive viscosity solution of (2.5.30). The positive solution is unique if g > 0.

**Proof.** The condition (F2) implies that  $r \to F(x, r, p, X) + cr$  is non-decreasing. Hence the operator  $F + (2c + |\lambda|)I$  satisfies (F5) with  $\sigma = c + |\lambda|$ , so that by Theorem 2.5.1 the sequence  $(u_n)_n$  defined by  $u_1 = 0$  and  $u_{n+1}$  as the solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u_{n+1}, Du_{n+1}, D^2u_{n+1}) + (2c + |\lambda|)u_{n+1} = g + (2c + |\lambda| + \lambda)u_n & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x, u_{n+1}, Du_{n+1}) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

is well defined. By the comparison Theorems 2.5.1 and 2.2.1, since  $g \ge 0$  and  $g \ne 0$  the sequence is positive and increasing.

We use the argument of Theorem 7 of [28] to prove that  $(u_n)_n$  is also bounded. Suppose that it is not, then dividing by  $|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}$  and defining  $v_n := \frac{u_n}{|u_n|_{\infty}}$  one gets that  $v_{n+1}$  is a solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, v_{n+1}, Dv_{n+1}, D^2 v_{n+1}) + (2c + |\lambda|)v_{n+1} \\ = \frac{g}{|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}} + (2c + |\lambda| + \lambda)\frac{u_n}{|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}} & \text{in } \Omega \\ B(x, v_{n+1}, Dv_{n+1}) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

By Corollary 2.4.3,  $(v_n)_n$  converges along a subsequence to a positive function v which satisfies

$$\begin{cases} F(x, v, Dv, D^2v) - \lambda v = (2c + |\lambda| + \lambda)(k - 1)v \le 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x, v, Dv) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

where  $k := \limsup_{n \to +\infty} \frac{|u_n|_{\infty}}{|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}} \leq 1$ . This contradicts the maximum principle, Theorem 2.3.5. Then  $(u_n)_n$  is bounded and letting n go to infinity, by the compactness result, the sequence converges uniformly to a function u which is a solution. Moreover the solution is positive on  $\overline{\Omega}$  by Corollary 2.2.4.

The uniqueness of the positive solution follows from Theorem 2.5.2.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 2.5.6** (Existence of principal eigenfunctions). Suppose that (F1)-(F4), (f1)-(f3) hold. Then there exists  $\phi > 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$  viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x,\phi,D\phi,D^2\phi) = \overline{\lambda}\phi & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x,\phi,D\phi) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.5.33)

Moreover  $\phi$  is Lipschitz continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\lambda_n$  be an increasing sequence which converges to  $\overline{\lambda}$ . Let  $u_n$  be a positive solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u_n, Du_n, D^2u_n) = \lambda_n u_n + 1 & \text{in } \Omega \\ B(x, u_n, Du_n) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

By Theorem 2.5.5 the sequence  $(u_n)_n$  is well defined. Following the argument of the proof of Theorem 8 of [28] we can prove that it is unbounded, otherwise one would contradict the definition of  $\overline{\lambda}$ . Then, up to subsequence,  $|u_n|_{\infty} \to +\infty$  as  $n \to +\infty$  and defining  $v_n := \frac{u_n}{|u_n|_{\infty}}$  one gets that  $v_n$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} F(x, v_n, Dv_n, D^2v_n) = \lambda_n v_n + \frac{1}{|u_n|_{\infty}} & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x, v_n, Dv_n) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Then, by Corollary 2.4.3, we can extract a subsequence converging to a function  $\phi$  with  $|\phi|_{\infty} = 1$  which is positive on  $\overline{\Omega}$  by Corollary 2.2.4 and is the desired solution. By Theorem 2.4.1 the solution is also Lipschitz continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 2.5.7.** With the same arguments used in the proofs of Theorems 2.5.5 and 2.5.6 one can prove: the existence of a negative viscosity solution of (2.5.30), for  $\lambda < \underline{\lambda}$  and  $g \leq 0$ ,  $g \neq 0$ , which is unique if g < 0 by Remark 2.5.4; the existence of a negative Lipschitz principal eigenfunction corresponding to  $\underline{\lambda}$ , i.e., a solution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x,\phi,D\phi,D^2\phi) = \underline{\lambda}\phi & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x,\phi,D\phi) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.5.34)

**Theorem 2.5.8.** Suppose that (F1)-(F4), (f1)-(f3) hold. Suppose that  $\lambda < \min\{\overline{\lambda}, \underline{\lambda}\}$ and g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , then there exists a viscosity solution of (2.5.30).

**Proof.** If  $g \equiv 0$ , by the maximum and minimum principles the only solution is  $u \equiv 0$ . Let us suppose  $g \neq 0$ . Since  $\lambda < \min\{\overline{\lambda}, \underline{\lambda}\}$  by Theorem 2.5.5 and Remark 2.5.7 there exist  $v_0 \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  positive viscosity solution of (2.5.30) with right-hand side  $|g|_{\infty}$  and  $u_0 \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  negative viscosity solution of (2.5.30) with right-hand side  $-|g|_{\infty}$ .

Let  $(u_n)_n$  be the sequence defined in the proof of Theorem 2.5.5 with  $u_1 = u_0$ . By comparison Theorem 2.5.1 we have  $u_0 = u_1 \le u_2 \le \dots \le v_0$ . Hence, by the compactness Corollary 2.4.3 the sequence converges to a continuous function which is the desired solution.  $\Box$  Remark 2.5.9. The existence results can be shown also for the operator

$$\sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} \{ -\operatorname{tr}(A_{\alpha,\beta}(x)D^2u) + b_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \cdot Du + c_{\alpha,\beta}(x)u - g_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \},\$$

if the functions  $g_{\alpha,\beta}$  are continuous uniformly in  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . In particular, in that case, if  $\overline{\lambda}$  and  $\underline{\lambda}$  are positive there exists a viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} \sup_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} \{ -\operatorname{tr}(A_{\alpha,\beta}(x)D^2u) + b_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \cdot Du + c_{\alpha,\beta}(x)u - g_{\alpha,\beta}(x) \} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega \\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & \text{ on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

## 2.6 Properties of the principal eigenvalues

In this section we establish some of the basic properties of the principal eigenvalues. We denote by  $\phi^+$  a positive eigenfunction corresponding to  $\overline{\lambda}$  and by  $\phi^-$  a negative eigenfunction corresponding to  $\underline{\lambda}$ . Throughout this section we assume (F1)-(F4) and (f1)-(f3).

The next result states that the principal eigenfunctions are simple, in the sense that they are equal up to a multiplicative constant.

**Proposition 2.6.1.** If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \overline{\lambda}u & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.6.35)

and  $u(x_0) > 0$  for some  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$  then there exists t > 0 such that  $u \equiv t\phi^+$ . If  $u \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity supersolution of (2.6.35) with  $\overline{\lambda}$  replaced by  $\underline{\lambda}$  and  $u(x_0) < 0$ , then there exists t > 0 such that  $u \equiv t\phi^-$ .

Assume in addition

$$-F(x, -r, -p, -X) \le F(x, r, p, X) \text{ for any } (x, r, p, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N)$$
(2.6.36)

and

$$-f(x,-r) \le f(x,r) \text{ for any } (x,r) \in \partial\Omega \times \mathbb{R}.$$
 (2.6.37)

If  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $u \neq 0$ , is a viscosity subsolution of (2.6.35) then there exists  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $u \equiv t\phi^+$ . If  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $u \neq 0$  is a viscosity solution of (2.6.35) with  $\overline{\lambda}$  replaced by  $\underline{\lambda}$ , there exists  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $u \equiv t\phi^-$ .

**Proof.** If u is a subsolution (resp., supersolution) of (2.6.35) (resp., of (2.6.35) with  $\underline{\lambda}$  instead of  $\overline{\lambda}$ ) and  $u(x_0) > 0$  (resp.,  $u(x_0) < 0$ ), then by Theorem 2.3.4 we have  $u \equiv t\phi^+$  (resp.,  $u \equiv t\phi^-$ ) for some t > 0.

Now assume (2.6.36)-(2.6.37) and let  $u \neq 0$  be a subsolution of (2.6.35). If u is positive somewhere we are in the previous case. If u is negative on  $\overline{\Omega}$  then the function w := -u is a positive continuous supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} F(x,w,Dw,D^2w) - \overline{\lambda}w \ge -F(x,-w,-Dw,-D^2w) + \overline{\lambda}(-w) \ge 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ B(x,w,Dw) \ge -B(x,-w,-Dw) \ge 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Hence, again from Theorem 2.3.4 it follows that  $u \equiv t\phi^+$ , for some t < 0.

Finally, let  $u \neq 0$  be a solution of (2.6.35) with  $\underline{\lambda}$  instead of  $\overline{\lambda}$ . Remark that conditions (2.6.36)-(2.6.37) imply  $\underline{\lambda} \leq \overline{\lambda}$ . If  $\underline{\lambda} < \overline{\lambda}$ , then by the maximum principle, Theorem 2.3.5, u < 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$  and we are in the first case. If  $\underline{\lambda} = \overline{\lambda}$ , by the simplicity of  $\overline{\lambda}$  just proved,  $u \equiv t\phi^-$  for some t < 0.

**Remark 2.6.2.** If F and f satisfy

 $-F(x, -r, -p, -X) \ge F(x, r, p, X)$  for any  $(x, r, p, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N)$ 

and

$$-f(x, -r) \ge f(x, r)$$
 for any  $(x, r) \in \partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R}$ ,

then, applying Proposition 2.6.1 to the operator G(x, r, p, X) = -F(x, -r, -p, -X)with  $B(x, r, p) = \tilde{f}(x, r) + \langle p, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle$ , where  $\tilde{f}(x, r) = -f(x, -r)$ , we get again simplicity of principal eigenvalues.

**Remark 2.6.3.** Convex and 1-homogeneous operators satisfy the assumption (2.6.36).

**Proposition 2.6.4.**  $\overline{\lambda}$  (resp.,  $\underline{\lambda}$ ) is the only eigenvalue corresponding to a positive (resp., negative) eigenfunction.

**Proof.** Let u be a positive eigenfunction corresponding to  $\mu$ . By the definition of  $\overline{\lambda}$ , we have  $\mu \leq \overline{\lambda}$ . If  $\mu < \overline{\lambda}$ , we must have  $u \leq 0$  by Theorem 2.3.5, which is a contradiction. Thus  $\mu = \lambda$ .

The following proposition states that the principal eigenvalues are isolated.

**Proposition 2.6.5.** There exists  $\epsilon > 0$  such that the problem

$$\begin{cases} F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = \lambda u & in \quad \Omega\\ B(x, u, Du) = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.6.38)

has no solutions  $u \neq 0$ , for  $\lambda \in (-\infty, \max\{\underline{\lambda}, \overline{\lambda}\} + \epsilon) \setminus \{\overline{\lambda}, \underline{\lambda}\}.$ 

**Proof.** We may suppose without loss of generality that  $\overline{\lambda} \leq \underline{\lambda}$ . If  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda} \leq \underline{\lambda}$  then it follows from the maximum and minimum principles that  $u \equiv 0$  is the only solution of (2.6.38).

If  $\lambda < \underline{\lambda}$  and  $u \neq 0$  is a solution of (2.6.38), by the minimum principle we have u > 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Then Proposition 2.6.4 implies  $\lambda = \overline{\lambda}$ .

Finally suppose that there exists a sequence  $\lambda_n \downarrow \underline{\lambda}$  such that the problem (2.6.38) with  $\lambda = \lambda_n$  has a solution  $\phi_n \neq 0$ . We can assume that  $|\phi_n|_{\infty} = 1$  for any n. Then by the compactness criterion, Corollary 2.4.3, the sequence  $(\phi_n)_n$  converges uniformly on  $\overline{\Omega}$  to a function  $\phi \neq 0$  which is a solution of (2.6.38) with  $\lambda = \underline{\lambda}$ . By Proposition 2.6.4 the functions  $\phi_n$  change sign in  $\Omega$  while by Proposition 2.6.1 and Theorem 2.2.1 either  $\phi > 0$  or  $\phi < 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . This contradicts the uniform convergence of  $(\phi_n)_n$  to  $\phi$ .

We want to conclude this section with the following comparison, suggested by Hitoshi Ishii [74], between  $\overline{\lambda} = \overline{\lambda}_N$  and  $\overline{\lambda}_D$  respectively the principal eigenvalues corresponding to the Neumann and the Dirichlet problems.

**Proposition 2.6.6.**  $\overline{\lambda}_N < \overline{\lambda}_D$ .

**Proof.** Let v and w be respectively the eigenfunctions corresponding to  $\overline{\lambda}_N$  and  $\overline{\lambda}_D$ . That is

$$F(x, v, Dv, D^2v) = \overline{\lambda}_N v \text{ in } \Omega, \quad B(x, v, Dv) = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega, \quad v > 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega},$$

$$F(x, w, Dw, D^2w) = \lambda_D w \text{ in } \Omega, \quad w = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega, \quad w > 0 \text{ in } \Omega.$$

Since f(x, 0) = 0, we see that w satisfies

$$F(x, w, Dw, D^2w) = \overline{\lambda}_D w \text{ in } \Omega, \quad B(x, w, Dw) \le 0 \text{ on } \partial \Omega$$

Let us suppose  $\overline{\lambda}_N \geq \overline{\lambda}_D$ . Then

$$F(x, w, Dw, D^2w) \le \overline{\lambda}_N w \text{ in } \Omega, \quad B(x, w, Dw) \le 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega.$$

Replacing w by its constant multiple tw with t > 0, we may assume that  $w \le v$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$  and  $w(x_0) = v(x_0)$  for some  $x_0 \in \Omega$ . Note that w(x) = 0 < v(x) for all  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . By Theorem 2.2.2 we must have  $w \equiv v$  or w < v on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . This is a contradiction.

## 2.7 The Pucci's operators

In this section we want to show that the two principal eigenvalues of the following operator

$$F(x, u, Du, D^2u) = -\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+(D^2u) + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u$$

with the pure Neumann boundary condition may be different. Suppose  $b \in C^{0,1}(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $c \in C^{0,\beta}(\overline{\Omega})$  for some  $\beta > 0$  and  $\Omega$  of class  $C^{2,\beta}$ .

If  $c(x) \equiv c_0$  is constant then it is easy to see that  $\overline{\lambda} = \underline{\lambda} = c_0$  and by Proposition 2.6.1 the only eigenfunctions are the constants. Nevertheless, if c(x) is not constant the two principal eigenvalues never coincide, unless  $\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+$  is the Laplacian. To prove this we need the following lemma, whose proof is given for the sake of completness.

**Lemma 2.7.1.** Suppose that  $\Omega$  is a  $C^{2,\beta}$  domain,  $b \in C^{0,\beta}(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $c \in C^{0,\beta}(\overline{\Omega})$ , for some  $0 < \beta \leq 1$ . Then the viscosity solutions of

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta u + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ \langle Du, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.7.39)

are in  $C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ .

**Proof.** Consider the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\Delta v + b(x) \cdot Dv + v = f(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle Dv, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.7.40)

where f(x) = (1 - c(x))u(x). By Theorem 2.4.1, u is Lipschitz continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ and then the function f is Hölder continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Moreover, it is clear that u is a solution of (2.7.40). The classical theory says that (2.7.40) has a solution  $v \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ . By uniqueness of viscosity solutions of (2.7.40), we find that u = v.  $\Box$  **Proposition 2.7.2.** Assume the hypothesis of Lemma 2.7.1 and let  $b \in C^{0,1}(\overline{\Omega})$ . If  $A \neq a$  and  $\overline{\lambda} = \underline{\lambda}$  then c(x) is constant.

**Proof.** Let  $\phi$  be a positive eigenfunction of  $\overline{\lambda}$ , i.e.

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^+(D^2\phi) + b(x) \cdot D\phi + (c(x) - \overline{\lambda})\phi = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle D\phi, \, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.7.41)

and let  $-\psi$  be a negative eigenfunction corresponding to  $\underline{\lambda}$ . Since  $\mathcal{M}^+_{a,A}(-D^2\psi) = -\mathcal{M}^-_{a,A}(D^2\psi)$ ,  $\psi$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} -\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^{-}(D^{2}\psi) + b(x) \cdot D\psi + (c(x) - \underline{\lambda})\psi = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle D\psi, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.7.42)

If  $\overline{\lambda} = \underline{\lambda}$  then by Proposition 2.6.1  $\psi = t\phi$  for some t > 0. We can assume  $\psi = \phi$ . By summing the first equations in (2.7.41) and (2.7.42), we can see that  $\phi$  is a positive viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} -(A+a)\Delta\phi + 2b(x)\cdot D\phi + 2(c(x)-\overline{\lambda})\phi = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ \langle D\phi, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Then by Lemma 2.7.1,  $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$ . Subtracting the first equations in (2.7.41) and (2.7.42), we can see that  $\phi$  is a classical solution of

$$(A-a)\sum_{i=1}^{N} |e_i(x)| = 0$$
 in  $\Omega$ ,

where  $e_1(x), ..., e_N(x)$  are the eigenvalues of  $D^2\phi(x)$ . Since  $A \neq a$ , the last equation implies that  $e_i(x) = 0$  in  $\Omega$  for any i = 1...N. In particular, taking into consideration the boundary condition,  $\phi$  is a classical solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \phi = 0 & \text{in } \Omega \\ \langle D\phi, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$

and then has to be constant. This implies

$$c(x) - \overline{\lambda} = 0$$
 in  $\Omega$ ,

i.e.,  $c \equiv \overline{\lambda}$  is constant.

## Chapter 3

# The infinity-Laplacian

In this chapter we study the maximum principle, the principal eigenvalue, regularity, existence and uniqueness for viscosity solutions of the Neumann boundary value problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + (c(x) + \lambda)u = g(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overline{x}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.0.1)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded smooth domain,  $\overrightarrow{n}(x)$  is the exterior normal to the domain  $\Omega$  at x, b, c and g are continuous functions on  $\overline{\Omega}, \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  and

$$\Delta_{\infty} u = \langle D^2 u \frac{Du}{|Du|}, \frac{Du}{|Du|} \rangle, \qquad (3.0.2)$$

for  $u \in C^2(\Omega)$ , is the 1-homogeneous version of the  $\infty$ -Laplacian.

We define and investigate the properties of the principal eigenvalue of the operator

$$-(\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x)),$$

with the Neumann boundary condition and as an application, we get existence and uniqueness results for (3.0.1) and a decay estimate for the solution of the associated evolution problem.

Following the ideas of [26], we define the principal eigenvalue as

 $\overline{\lambda} := \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists v > 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega} \text{ bounded viscosity supersolution of }$ 

$$\Delta_{\infty}v + b(x) \cdot Dv + (c(x) + \lambda)v = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}.$$
(3.0.3)

The quantity  $\overline{\lambda}$  is well defined since the above set is not empty; indeed,  $-|c|_{\infty}$  belongs to it, being  $v(x) \equiv 1$  a corresponding supersolution. Furthermore it is an interval because if  $\lambda$  belongs to it then so does any  $\lambda' < \lambda$ .

We will prove that  $\overline{\lambda}$  is an "eigenvalue" for  $-(\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x))$  which admits a positive "eigenfunction". As in the linear case it can be characterized as the supremum of those  $\lambda$  for which  $\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x) + \lambda$  with the Neumann boundary condition satisfies the maximum principle. As a consequence,  $\overline{\lambda}$  is the least "eigenvalue", i.e., the least number  $\lambda$  for which there exists a non-zero solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + (c(x) + \lambda)u = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

These results are applied to obtain existence and uniqueness for the boundary value problem (3.0.1).

Remark that since  $\Delta_{\infty}(-u) = -\Delta_{\infty}u$ ,  $\overline{\lambda}$  can be defined also in the following way

$$\overline{\lambda} = \sup\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists \, u < 0 \text{ on } \overline{\Omega} \text{ bounded viscosity subsolution of }$$

$$\Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + (c(x) + \lambda)u = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega\}.$$
(3.0.4)

For a fully nonlinear operator,  $\overline{\lambda}$  defined as in (3.0.3) may be different from the quantity defined as in (3.0.4), see Chapter 2.

In the next section we give assumptions. In Section 3.2 we establish a Lipschitz regularity result for viscosity solutions of (3.0.1). Section 3.3 is devoted to the maximum principle for subsolutions of (3.0.1). In Section 3.3.1 we show that it holds (even for more general boundary conditions) for  $\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x)$  if  $c(x) \leq 0$ and  $c \neq 0$ , see Theorem 3.3.4. One of the main result of this chapter is that the maximum principle holds for  $\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x) + \lambda$  for any  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ , as we show in Theorem 3.3.8 of Section 3.3.2. In particular it holds for  $\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x)$ if  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ . Following the example given in [97] we show that the result of Theorem 3.3.8 is stronger than that of Theorem 3.3.4, i.e., that there exist some functions c(x) changing sign in  $\Omega$  for which the principal eigenvalue of  $\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x)$  is positive and then for which the maximum principle holds.

In Section 3.4 we show some existence and comparison theorems. In particular, we prove that the Neumann problem (3.0.1) is solvable for any right-hand side if  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ .

Finally, in Section 3.5 we prove a decay estimate for solutions of the Neumann evolution problem.

## **3.1** Assumptions and definitions

Let  $\sigma : \mathbb{R}^N \to S(N)$  be the function defined by

$$\sigma(p) := \frac{p \otimes p}{|p|^2}.$$

The  $\infty$ -Laplacian can be written as

$$\Delta_{\infty} u = \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(Du)D^2u),$$

for any  $u \in C^2(\Omega)$ .

It easy to check that  $\sigma$  has the following properties:

•  $\sigma(p)$  is homogeneous of order 0, i.e., for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$\sigma(\alpha p) = \sigma(p);$$

• For all  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$0 \le \sigma(p) \le I,$$

where I is the identity matrix in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ;

•  $\sigma(p)$  is idempotent, i.e.,

$$(\sigma(p))^2 = \sigma(p);$$

• For any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}$  and  $p_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $|p_0| \leq \frac{|p|}{2}$ 

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[(\sigma(p+p_0) - \sigma(p))^2\right] \le 8 \frac{|p_0|^2}{|p|^2}.$$
(3.1.5)

The domain  $\Omega$  is supposed to be bounded and of class  $C^2$ . In particular, it satisfies the interior sphere condition and the uniform exterior sphere condition, i.e.

- ( $\Omega$ 1) For each  $x \in \partial \Omega$  there exist R > 0 and  $y \in \Omega$  for which |x y| = R and  $B(y, R) \subset \Omega$ .
- (\Omega2) There exists r > 0 such that  $B(x + r \overrightarrow{n}(x), r) \cap \Omega = \emptyset$  for any  $x \in \partial \Omega$ .

From the property  $(\Omega 2)$  it follows that

$$\langle y - x, \overrightarrow{n}(x) \rangle \le \frac{1}{2r} |y - x|^2 \quad \text{for } x \in \partial\Omega \text{ and } y \in \overline{\Omega}.$$
 (3.1.6)

Moreover, the  $C^2$ -regularity of  $\Omega$  implies the existence of a neighborhood of  $\partial \Omega$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  on which the distance from the boundary

$$d(x) := \inf\{|x - y|, y \in \partial\Omega\}, \quad x \in \overline{\Omega}$$

is of class  $C^2$ . We still denote by  $d \ge C^2$  extension of the distance function to the whole  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Without loss of generality we can assume that  $|Dd(x)| \le 1$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

For (3.0.1) we adopt the notion of viscosity solution Definition I.2.2 given in the Introduction.

It is possible to define sub and supersolutions of the  $\infty$ -Laplace equation also using the semicontinous extensions of the function  $(p, X) \to \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(p)X)$  as done in [80] and [81]. In Definition I.2.2 it is remarkable that nothing is required in the case  $D\varphi(x_0) = 0$  if u is not constant.

We call strong viscosity subsolutions (resp., supersolutions) the viscosity subsolutions (resp., supersolutions) that satisfy  $B(x, u, Du) \leq (\text{resp.}, \geq) 0$  in the viscosity sense for all  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . If  $\lambda \to B(x, r, p - \lambda \overrightarrow{n})$  is non-increasing in  $\lambda \geq 0$ , then classical subsolutions (resp., supersolutions) are strong viscosity subsolutions (resp., supersolutions), see [40] Proposition 7.2.

In the definitions the test functions can be substituted by the elements of the semijets  $\overline{J}^{2,+}u(x_0)$  when u is a subsolution and  $\overline{J}^{2,-}u(x_0)$  when u is a supersolution, see [40].

## 3.2 Lipschitz continuity of viscosity solutions

It is known that the  $\infty$ -harmonic functions, i.e., the solution of  $\Delta_{\infty} u = 0$  are locally Lipschitz continuous, see e.g. [11]. We now show the Lipschitz regularity in the whole  $\overline{\Omega}$  of the solutions of the Neumann problem associated to the  $\infty$ -Laplacian plus lower order terms.

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Assume that  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain of class  $C^2$  and that b, c, g are bounded in  $\Omega$ . If  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u = g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{x}} = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

then

$$|u(x) - u(y)| \le C_0 |x - y| \quad \forall x, y \in \overline{\Omega},$$

where  $C_0$  depends on  $\Omega$ , N,  $|b|_{\infty}$ ,  $|c|_{\infty}$ ,  $|g|_{\infty}$ , and  $|u|_{\infty}$ .

The Theorem is an immediate consequence of the next lemma, the proof of which, though following the line of Proposition III.1 of [75], introduces new test functions that, in particular, depend on the distance function d(x).

The lemma will be used also in the proof of Theorem 3.3.8 in the next section.

**Lemma 3.2.2.** Assume the hypothesis of Theorem 3.2.1 and suppose that g and h are bounded functions. Let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u = g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overline{n}} = 0 & on \quad \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$

and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  a viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} v + b(x) \cdot Dv + c(x)v = h(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & on \quad \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$

with u and v bounded, or  $v \ge 0$  and bounded. If  $m = \max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u-v) \ge 0$ , then there exists  $C_0 > 0$  such that

$$u(x) - v(y) \le m + C_0 |x - y| \quad \forall x, y \in \overline{\Omega},$$
(3.2.7)

where  $C_0$  depends on  $\Omega$ , N,  $|b|_{\infty}$ ,  $|c|_{\infty}$ ,  $|g|_{\infty}$ ,  $|h|_{\infty}$ ,  $|v|_{\infty}$ , m and  $|u|_{\infty}$  or  $\sup_{\overline{\Omega}} u$ .

**Proof.** We set

$$\Phi(x) = MK|x| - M(K|x|)^2,$$

and

$$\varphi(x,y) = m + e^{-L(d(x)+d(y))}\Phi(x-y),$$

where L is a fixed number greater than 2/(3r) with r the radius in the condition  $(\Omega 2)$  and where K and M are two positive constants to be chosen later. If  $K|x| \leq \frac{1}{4}$ , then

$$\Phi(x) \ge \frac{3}{4}MK|x|.$$
 (3.2.8)

We define

$$\Delta_K := \left\{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}^N | |x - y| \le \frac{1}{4K} \right\}.$$

We fix M such that

$$\max_{\overline{\Omega}^2}(u(x) - v(y)) \le m + e^{-2Ld_0}\frac{M}{8},$$
(3.2.9)

where  $d_0 = \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} d(x)$ . To prove (3.2.7) it is enough to show that taking K large enough, one has

$$u(x) - v(y) - \varphi(x, y) \le 0$$
 for  $(x, y) \in \Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ .

Suppose by contradiction that for each K there is some point  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in \Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$  such that

$$u(\overline{x}) - v(\overline{y}) - \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) = \max_{\Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2} (u(x) - v(y) - \varphi(x, y)) > 0.$$

Here we have dropped the dependence of  $\overline{x}$ ,  $\overline{y}$  on K for simplicity of notations.

Observe that if  $v \ge 0$ , since from (3.2.8)  $\Phi(x-y)$  is non-negative in  $\Delta_K$  and  $m \ge 0$ , one has  $u(\overline{x}) > 0$ .

Clearly  $\overline{x} \neq \overline{y}$ . Moreover the point  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$  belongs to  $\operatorname{int}(\Delta_K) \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ . Indeed, if  $|x - y| = \frac{1}{4K}$ , by (3.2.9) and (3.2.8) we have

$$u(x) - v(y) \le m + e^{-2Ld_0} \frac{M}{8} \le m + e^{-L(d(x) + d(y))} \frac{1}{2} MK |x - y| \le \varphi(x, y).$$

Since  $\overline{x} \neq \overline{y}$  we can compute the derivatives of  $\varphi$  at  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$  obtaining

$$\begin{aligned} D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) &= e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK \Big\{ -L|\overline{x} - \overline{y}| (1 - K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) Dd(\overline{x}) \\ &+ (1 - 2K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|} \Big\}, \\ D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) &= e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK \Big\{ -L|\overline{x} - \overline{y}| (1 - K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) Dd(\overline{y}) \\ &- (1 - 2K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|) \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|} \Big\}. \end{aligned}$$

Observe that for large K

$$0 < e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} MK\left(\frac{1}{2} - L|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|\right) \le |D_x\varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})|, |D_y\varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})| \le 2MK.$$
(3.2.10)

Using (3.1.6), if  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$  we have

$$\begin{split} \langle D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle \\ &= e^{-Ld(\overline{y})} MK \Big\{ L | \overline{x} - \overline{y} | (1 - K | \overline{x} - \overline{y} |) + (1 - 2K | \overline{x} - \overline{y} |) \langle \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}, \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle \Big\} \\ &\geq e^{-Ld(\overline{y})} MK \Big\{ \frac{3}{4} L | \overline{x} - \overline{y} | - (1 - 2K | \overline{x} - \overline{y} |) \frac{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}{2r} \Big\} \\ &\geq \frac{1}{2} e^{-Ld(\overline{y})} MK | \overline{x} - \overline{y} | \left( \frac{3}{2} L - \frac{1}{r} \right) > 0, \end{split}$$

since  $\overline{x} \neq \overline{y}$  and L > 2/(3r). Similarly, if  $\overline{y} \in \partial \Omega$ 

$$\langle -D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{y}) \rangle \leq \frac{1}{2} e^{-Ld(\overline{x})} MK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \left( -\frac{3}{2}L + \frac{1}{r} \right) < 0.$$

In view of definition of sub and supersolution, we conclude that

$$\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}))X) + b(\overline{x}) \cdot D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}) + c(\overline{x})u(\overline{x}) \ge g(\overline{x}) \text{ if } (D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}),X) \in \overline{J}^{2,+}u(\overline{x}),$$
$$\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}))Y) - b(\overline{y}) \cdot D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}) + c(\overline{y})v(\overline{y}) \le h(\overline{y}) \text{ if } (-D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}),Y) \in \overline{J}^{2,-}v(\overline{y}).$$
Then the previous inequalities holds for any maximum point  $(\overline{x},\overline{y}) \in \Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ 

Then the previous inequalities holds for any maximum point  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in \Delta_K \cap \Omega^2$ , provided K is large enough.

Since  $(\overline{x}, \overline{y}) \in \operatorname{int}\Delta_K \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$ , it is a local maximum of  $u(x) - v(y) - \varphi(x, y)$  in  $\overline{\Omega}^2$ . Applying Theorem 3.2 in [40], for every  $\epsilon > 0$  there exist  $X, Y \in S(N)$  such that  $(D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), X) \in \overline{J}^{2,+}u(\overline{x}), (-D_y \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y}), Y) \in \overline{J}^{2,-}v(\overline{y})$  and

$$\begin{pmatrix} X & 0\\ 0 & -Y \end{pmatrix} \le D^2(\varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})) + \epsilon(D^2(\varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})))^2.$$
(3.2.11)

Now we want to estimate the matrix on the right-hand side of the last inequality.

$$D^{2}\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}) = \Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})D^{2}(e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}) + D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}) \otimes D(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})) + D(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})) \otimes D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}) + e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}D^{2}(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})).$$

We set

$$A_1 := \Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}) D^2(e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}),$$
  

$$A_2 := D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}) \otimes D(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y})) + D(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y})) \otimes D(e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}),$$
  

$$A_3 := e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} D^2(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y})).$$

Observe that

$$A_1 \le CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \begin{pmatrix} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.2.12)

Here and henceforth C denotes various positive constants independent of K.

For  $A_2$  we have the following estimate

$$A_2 \le CK \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} + CK \begin{pmatrix} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.2.13)

Indeed for  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$  we compute

$$\langle A_2(\xi,\eta), (\xi,\eta) \rangle = 2Le^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))} \{ \langle Dd(\overline{x}) \otimes D\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})(\eta-\xi), \xi \rangle + \langle Dd(\overline{y}) \otimes D\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})(\eta-\xi), \eta \rangle \} \leq CK(|\xi|+|\eta|)|\eta-\xi| \leq CK(|\xi|^2+|\eta|^2) + CK|\eta-\xi|^2.$$

Now we consider  $A_3$ . The matrix  $D^2(\Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}))$  has the form

$$D^{2}(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})) = \begin{pmatrix} D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) & -D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) \\ -D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) & D^{2}\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}) \end{pmatrix},$$

and the Hessian matrix of  $\Phi(x)$  is

$$D^{2}\Phi(x) = \frac{MK}{|x|} \left( I - \frac{x \otimes x}{|x|^{2}} \right) - 2MK^{2}I.$$
 (3.2.14)

If we choose

$$\epsilon = \frac{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}{2MKe^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}},\tag{3.2.15}$$

then we have the following estimates

$$\epsilon A_1^2 \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^3 I_{2N}, \quad \epsilon A_2^2 \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| I_{2N},$$

$$\epsilon (A_1 A_2 + A_2 A_1) \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^2 I_{2N}, \quad (3.2.16)$$

$$\epsilon (A_1 A_3 + A_3 A_1) \leq CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| I_{2N}, \quad \epsilon (A_2 A_3 + A_3 A_2) \leq CK I_{2N},$$
where  $I_{2N} := \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}$ . Then using (??), (3.2.13), (3.2.16) and observing that

$$(D^2(\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y})))^2 = \begin{pmatrix} 2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 & -2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 \\ -2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 & 2(D^2\Phi(\overline{x}-\overline{y}))^2 \end{pmatrix},$$

from (??) we conclude that

$$\begin{pmatrix} X & 0 \\ 0 & -Y \end{pmatrix} \le O(K) \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} B & -B \\ -B & B \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$B = CKI + e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} \left[ D^2 \Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}) + \frac{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}{MK} (D^2 \Phi(\overline{x} - \overline{y}))^2 \right].$$

The last inequality can be rewritten as follows

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} \widetilde{X} & 0\\ 0 & -\widetilde{Y} \end{array}\right) \leq \left(\begin{array}{cc} B & -B\\ -B & B \end{array}\right),$$

with  $\tilde{X} = X - O(K)I$  and  $\tilde{Y} = Y + O(K)I$ . Multiplying on the left the previous inequality by the non-negative symmetric matrix

$$\left( egin{array}{cc} \sigma(D_x arphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})) & 0 \ 0 & \sigma(D_y arphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})) \end{array} 
ight),$$

and taking traces we get

$$\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}))\widetilde{X}) - \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}))\widetilde{Y}) \le \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}))B) + \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}))B).$$
(3.2.17)

We want to get a good estimate for the matrix on the right-hand side above. For that aim let

$$0 \le P := \frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y}) \otimes (\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^2} \le I,$$

and let us compute tr(*PB*). From (3.2.14), since the matrix  $(1/|x|^2)x \otimes x$  is idempotent, we get

$$(D^2\Phi(x))^2 = \frac{M^2K^2}{|x|^2}(1 - 4K|x|)\left(I - \frac{x \otimes x}{|x|^2}\right) + 4M^2K^4I.$$

Then, using that tr P = 1 and  $4K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \leq 1$ , we have

$$\operatorname{tr}(PB) = CK + e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))} (-2MK^2 + 4MK^3 |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|)$$
$$\leq CK - e^{-L(d(\overline{x}) + d(\overline{y}))}MK^2 \leq -CK^2,$$

for large K. The vector  $D_x \varphi(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$  can be written in the following way

$$D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}) = e^{-L(d(\overline{x})+d(\overline{y}))}MK(v_1+v_2),$$

where

$$v_1 = -L|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|(1 - K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|)Dd(\overline{x}), \quad v_2 = (1 - 2K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|)\frac{(\overline{x} - \overline{y})}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|},$$

and so

$$\sigma(D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})) = \frac{v_1 \otimes v_1}{|v_1 + v_2|^2} + \frac{v_1 \otimes v_2 + v_2 \otimes v_1}{|v_1 + v_2|^2} + \frac{v_2 \otimes v_2}{|v_1 + v_2|^2}.$$

Since  $K|\overline{x} - \overline{y}| \leq \frac{1}{4}$ , for large K we have

$$\frac{1}{4} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{4} \le |v_2| - |v_1| \le |v_1 + v_2| \le |v_1| + |v_2| \le 2,$$

and

$$\|B\| \le \frac{CK}{|\overline{x} - \overline{y}|}.$$

Then

$$\left| \operatorname{tr} \left( \frac{v_1 \otimes v_1}{|v_1 + v_2|^2} B \right) \right| \le C |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|^2 ||B|| \le CK |\overline{x} - \overline{y}|,$$
  
$$\left| \operatorname{tr} \left( \frac{v_1 \otimes v_2 + v_2 \otimes v_1}{|v_1 + v_2|^2} B \right) \right| \le C |\overline{x} - \overline{y}| ||B|| \le CK$$

and

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\frac{v_2 \otimes v_2}{|v_1 + v_2|^2}B\right) = \frac{1}{|v_1 + v_2|^2}\operatorname{tr}(PB) \le -CK^2.$$

In conclusion

$$\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})B)) \le O(K) - CK^2$$

The same estimate holds for  $tr(\sigma(D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y}))B)$ . Hence, from (3.2.17) we conclude that

$$\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_x\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})\widetilde{X}) - \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_y\varphi(\overline{x},\overline{y})\widetilde{Y}) \le O(K) - CK^2.$$

Now, using the previous estimate, the definition of  $\tilde{X}$  and  $\tilde{Y}$  and the fact that u and v are respectively sub and supersolution we compute

$$g(\overline{x}) - c(\overline{x})u(\overline{x}) \leq \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_x\varphi)X) + b(\overline{x}) \cdot D_x\varphi$$
  
$$\leq \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_x\varphi)\widetilde{X}) + O(K) + b(\overline{x}) \cdot D_x\varphi$$
  
$$\leq \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(D_y\varphi)Y) + O(K) - CK^2 + b(\overline{x}) \cdot D_x\varphi$$
  
$$\leq b(\overline{y}) \cdot D_y\varphi - c(\overline{y})v(\overline{y}) + h(\overline{y}) + O(K) - CK^2 + b(\overline{x}) \cdot D_x\varphi.$$

From this inequalities, using (3.2.10) we get

$$g(\overline{x}) - h(\overline{y}) - c(\overline{x})u(\overline{x}) + c(\overline{y})v(\overline{y}) \le O(K) - CK^2.$$

If both u and v are bounded, then the member on the left-hand side of the last inequality is bounded from below by  $-|g|_{\infty} - |h|_{\infty} - |c|_{\infty}(|u|_{\infty} + |v|_{\infty})$ . Otherwise, if v is non-negative and bounded, then  $u(\overline{x}) \geq 0$  and that quantity is greater than  $-|g|_{\infty} - |h|_{\infty} - |c|_{\infty}(\sup u + |v|_{\infty})$ . On the other hand, the member on the right-hand side goes to  $-\infty$  as  $K \to +\infty$ , hence taking K large enough we obtain a contradiction and this concludes the proof.

**Remark 3.2.3.** If u is a subsolution of  $\Delta_{\infty}u + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u = g$ , v is a supersolution of  $\Delta_{\infty}v + b(x) \cdot Dv + c(x)v = h$  in  $\Omega$ ,  $u \leq v$  on  $\partial\Omega$  and m > 0 then the estimate (3.2.7) still holds for any  $x, y \in \Omega$ . To prove this define  $\varphi = m + MK|x| - M(K|x|)^2$  and follow the proof of Lemma 3.2.2.

Since the Lipschitz estimate depends only on the bounds of the solution of g and on the structural constants, an immediate consequence of Theorem 3.2.1 is the following compactness criterion that will be useful in the next sections.

**Corollary 3.2.4.** Assume the hypothesis of Theorem 3.2.1 on  $\Omega$ , F and b. Suppose that  $(g_n)_n$  is a sequence of continuous and uniformly bounded functions and  $(u_n)_n$  is a sequence of uniformly bounded viscosity solutions of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u_n + b(x) \cdot Du_n = g_n(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u_n}{\partial x} = 0 & on \quad \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Then the sequence  $(u_n)_n$  is relatively compact in  $C(\overline{\Omega})$ .

## 3.3 The Maximum Principle and the principal eigenvalues

We say that the operator  $\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x)$  with the Neumann boundary condition satisfies the maximum principle if whenever  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u = 0 & \text{in} \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overline{x}} = 0 & \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$

then  $u \leq 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

We first prove that the maximum principle holds under the classical assumption  $c \leq 0$ , also for domain which are not of class  $C^2$  and with more general boundary conditions. Then we show that the operator  $\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x) + \lambda$  with the Neumann boundary condition satisfies the maximum principle for any  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ . This is the best result that one can expect, indeed, as we will see,  $\overline{\lambda}$  admits a positive eigenfunction which provides a counterexample to the maximum principle for  $\lambda \geq \overline{\lambda}$ .

Finally, we give an example of class of functions c(x) which change sign in  $\Omega$  and such that the associated principal eigenvalue  $\overline{\lambda}$  is positive.

## **3.3.1** The case $c(x) \le 0$

In this subsection we assume that  $\Omega$  is of class  $C^1$  and satisfies the interior sphere condition ( $\Omega$ 1). We need the comparison principle between sub and supersolutions of the Dirichlet problem when c < 0 in  $\Omega$ . This result is known for the operator  $\Delta_{\infty}u + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u$  when b is Lipschitz continuous or b satisfies  $\langle b(x) - b(y), x - y \rangle \leq 0$ , see e.g. [40]. Actually, we can remove these conditions.

**Theorem 3.3.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be bounded. Assume that b, c and g are continuous and bounded in  $\Omega$  and c < 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  are respectively sub and supersolution of

$$\Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u = g(x) \quad in \ \Omega,$$

and  $u \leq v$  on  $\partial \Omega$  then  $u \leq v$  in  $\Omega$ .

For convenience of the reader the proof of the theorem will be sketched at the end of the next subsection.

The previous comparison result allows us to establish the strong minimum and maximum principles, for sub and supersolutions of the Neumann problem even with the following more general boundary condition

$$f(x,u) + \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 \quad x \in \partial \Omega,$$

for some  $f: \partial \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ .

**Proposition 3.3.2.** Let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^1$  domain satisfying ( $\Omega 1$ ). Suppose that b and c are bounded and continuous in  $\Omega$  and that  $f(x, 0) \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . If  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a non-negative viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty}v + b(x) \cdot Dv + c(x)v = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ f(x,v) + \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overline{x}} = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.18)

then either  $v \equiv 0$  or v > 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** Since v is non-negative, it is supersolution in  $\Omega$  of the equation

$$\Delta_{\infty}v + b(x) \cdot Dv - |c|_{\infty}v = 0. \tag{3.3.19}$$

Without loss of generality we can assume  $|c|_{\infty} > 0$ . Suppose by contradiction that  $v \neq 0$  vanishes somewhere in  $\Omega$ . Then we can find  $x_1, x_0 \in \Omega$  and R > 0 such that  $B(x_1, \frac{3}{2}R) \subset \Omega, v > 0$  in  $B(x_1, R), |x_1 - x_0| = R$  and  $v(x_0) = 0$ . Let us construct a subsolution of (3.3.19) in the annulus  $\frac{R}{2} < |x - x_1| = r < \frac{3}{2}R$ . Let us consider the function  $\phi(x) = e^{-kr} - e^{-kR}$ , where k is a positive constant to u

Let us consider the function  $\phi(x) = e^{-kr} - e^{-kR}$ , where k is a positive constant to be determined. It easy to see that for radial functions  $g(x) = \varphi(r)$ ,  $\Delta_{\infty}g(x) = \varphi''(r)$ . Then

$$\Delta_{\infty}\phi + b(x) \cdot D\phi - |c|_{\infty}\phi = k^{2}e^{-kr} - ke^{-kr}b(x) \cdot \frac{(x-y)}{r} - |c|_{\infty}(e^{-kr} - e^{-kR})$$
$$\geq e^{-kr}\left(k^{2} - |b|_{\infty}k - |c|_{\infty}\right).$$

Take k such that

$$k^2 - |b|_{\infty}k - |c|_{\infty} > 0,$$

then  $\phi$  is a strict subsolution of the equation (3.3.19). Now choose m > 0 such that

$$m(e^{-k\frac{R}{2}} - e^{-kR}) = v_1 := \inf_{|x-x_1| = \frac{R}{2}} v(x) > 0,$$

and define  $w(x) = m(e^{-kr} - e^{-kR})$ . By homogeneity w is still a subsolution of (3.3.19) in the annulus  $\frac{R}{2} < |x - x_1| < \frac{3}{2}R$ , moreover  $w = v_1 \le v$  if  $|x - x_1| = \frac{R}{2}$  and  $w < 0 \le v$  if  $|x - x_1| = \frac{3}{2}R$ . Then by the comparison principle, Theorem 3.3.1,  $w \le v$  in the entire annulus.

Since  $v(x_0) = w(x_0) = 0$ , w is a test function for v at  $x_0$  with  $Dw(x_0) \neq 0$ . But

$$\Delta_{\infty} w(x_0) + b(x_0) \cdot Dw(x_0) - |c|_{\infty} v(x_0) > 0,$$

and this contradicts the definition of v. Then v > 0 in  $\Omega$ .

Now suppose by contradiction that  $x_0$  is some point in  $\partial\Omega$  on which  $v(x_0) = 0$ . The interior sphere condition  $(\Omega 1)$  implies that there exist R > 0 and  $y \in \Omega$ such that the ball centered in y and of radius R, B(y, R), is contained in  $\Omega$  and  $x_0 \in \partial B(y, R)$ . Fixed  $0 < \rho < R$ , as before the function  $w(x) = m(e^{-kr} - e^{-kR})$  is a strict subsolution of (3.3.19) in the annulus  $\rho < |x - y| = r < R$ , where m is such that  $m(e^{-k\rho} - e^{-kR}) = v_1 := \inf_{|x-y|=\rho} v(x) > 0$ . Since  $w \le v$  on the boundary of the annulus then again by the comparison principle, Theorem 3.3.1,  $w \le v$  in the entire annulus.

Now let  $\delta$  be a positive number smaller than  $R - \rho$ . In  $B(x_0, \delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$  still  $w \leq v$ , since for |x - y| > R,  $w < 0 \leq v$ ; moreover  $w(x_0) = v(x_0) = 0$ . Then w is a test function for v at  $x_0$ . But

$$\Delta_{\infty} w(x_0) + b(x_0) \cdot Dw(x_0) - |c|_{\infty} v(x_0) > 0,$$

and

$$f(x_0, v(x_0)) + \frac{\partial w}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}}(x_0) = f(x_0, 0) - kme^{-kR} < 0.$$

This contradicts the definition of v. Finally v cannot be zero on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

Similarly we can prove

**Proposition 3.3.3.** Let  $\Omega$  be a  $C^1$  domain satisfying ( $\Omega 1$ ). Assume that b and c are bounded and continuous in  $\Omega$  and that  $f(x, 0) \ge 0$  for all  $x \in \partial \Omega$ . If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a non-positive viscosity subsolution of (3.3.18) then either  $u \equiv 0$  or u < 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

For  $x \in \partial \Omega$ , let us introduce S(x), the symmetric operator corresponding to the second fundamental form of  $\partial \Omega$  in x oriented with the exterior normal to  $\Omega$ .

**Theorem 3.3.4** (Maximum Principle for  $c \leq 0$ ). Assume the hypothesis of Proposition 3.3.3. In addition suppose that  $\Omega$  is bounded,  $c \leq 0$ ,  $c \neq 0$  and  $r \to f(x, r)$  is non-decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}$ . If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity subsolution of (3.3.18) then u < 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . The same conclusion holds also if  $c \equiv 0$  in the following two cases

(i)  $\Omega$  is a  $C^2$  domain and for any r > 0 there exists  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$  such that  $f(\overline{x}, r) > 0$ ,  $S(\overline{x}) \leq 0$  and  $\langle b(\overline{x}), \overline{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle > 0$ ; (ii)  $\max_{x \in \partial \Omega} f(x,r) > 0$  for any r > 0 and u is a strong subsolution.

**Proof.** Let u be a subsolution of (3.3.18) and  $c \neq 0$ . First let us suppose  $u \equiv k = \text{const.}$  By definition

$$c(x)k \ge 0$$
 in  $\Omega$ ,

which implies  $k \leq 0$ .

Now we assume that u is not a constant. We argue by contradiction; suppose that  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}} u = u(x_0) > 0$ , for some  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Define  $\tilde{u}(x) := u(x) - u(x_0)$ . Since  $c \leq 0$  and f is non-decreasing,  $\tilde{u}$  is a non-positive subsolution of (3.3.18). Then, from Proposition 3.3.3, either  $u \equiv u(x_0)$  or  $u < u(x_0)$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . In both cases we get a contradiction.

Let us turn to the case  $c \equiv 0$ . We have to prove that u cannot be a positive constant. Suppose by contradiction that  $u \equiv k$ . Suppose that  $\Omega$  is a  $C^2$  domain and let  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$  be such that  $S(\overline{x}) \leq 0$ ,  $\langle b(\overline{x}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle > 0$  and  $f(\overline{x}, k) > 0$ . In general, if  $\phi$  is a  $C^2$  function,  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$  and  $S(\overline{x}) \leq 0$ , then  $(D\phi(\overline{x}) - \lambda \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}), D^2\phi(\overline{x})) \in J^{2,+}\phi(\overline{x})$ , for  $\lambda \geq 0$  (see [40] Remark 2.7). Hence  $(-\lambda \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}), 0) \in J^{2,+}u(\overline{x})$ . But

$$f(\overline{x},k) - \lambda \langle \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle = f(\overline{x},k) - \lambda > 0,$$

for  $\lambda > 0$  small enough, and

$$-\lambda \langle b(\overline{x}), \overrightarrow{n}(\overline{x}) \rangle < 0.$$

This contradicts the definition of u.

Finally if u is a strong subsolution,  $u \equiv k > 0$  and  $f(\overline{x}, k) > 0$  for some  $\overline{x} \in \partial \Omega$ , then the boundary condition is not satisfied at  $\overline{x}$  for p = 0.

**Remark 3.3.5.** Under the same assumptions of Theorem 3.3.4, but now with f satisfying  $f(x,0) \leq 0$  for all  $x \in \partial \Omega$  and with  $f(\overline{x},r) < 0$  for r < 0 in (i) and  $\min_{x \in \partial \Omega} f(x,r) < 0$  for r < 0 in (ii), using Proposition 3.3.2 we can prove the minimum principle, i.e., if  $u \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity supersolution of (3.3.18) then  $u \geq 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 3.3.6.**  $C^2$  convex sets satisfy the condition  $S \leq 0$  in every point of the boundary.

**Remark 3.3.7.** If  $c \equiv 0$  and  $f \equiv 0$  a counterexample to the maximum principle is given by the positive constants.

#### 3.3.2 The threshold for the Maximum Principle

In this subsection and in the rest of the paper we always assume that  $\Omega$  is bounded and of class  $C^2$  and that b and c are continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Theorem 3.3.8** (Maximum Principle for  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ ). Let  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$  and let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + (c(x) + \lambda)u = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.20)

then  $u \leq 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Corollary 3.3.9.** The quantity  $\overline{\lambda}$  is finite.

**Proof.** It suffices to observe that  $\overline{\lambda} \leq |c|_{\infty}$ , since when the zero order coefficient is  $c(x) + |c|_{\infty}$  the maximum principle does not hold. A counterexample is given by the positive constants.

In the proof of Theorem 3.3.8 we need the following result which is an adaptation of Lemma 1 of [28] for supersolutions of the Neumann boundary value problem.

**Lemma 3.3.10.** Let  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} v + b(x) \cdot Dv - \beta(v(x)) = g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

for some functions  $g, \beta \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$ . Suppose that  $\overline{x} \in \overline{\Omega}$  is a strict local minimum of  $v(x) + C|x - \overline{x}|^q e^{-kd(x)}$ ,  $k > \frac{q}{2r}$ , where r is the radius in the condition ( $\Omega 2$ ) and q > 2. Moreover suppose that v is not locally constant around  $\overline{x}$ . Then

$$-\beta(v(\overline{x})) \le g(\overline{x}).$$

**Remark 3.3.11.** Similarly, if  $\beta$ ,  $g \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  is a supersolution,  $\overline{x}$  is a strict local maximum of  $u(x) - C|x - \overline{x}|^q e^{-kd(x)}$ ,  $k > \frac{q}{2r}$ , q > 2 and u is not locally constant around  $\overline{x}$ , it can be proved that

$$-\beta(u(\overline{x})) \ge g(\overline{x}).$$

**Proof of Theorem 3.3.8.** Let  $\tau \in ]\lambda, \overline{\lambda}[$ , then by definition there exists v > 0 on  $\overline{\Omega}$  bounded viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} v + b(x) \cdot Dv + (c(x) + \tau)v = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{r}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(3.3.21)

We argue by contradiction and suppose that u has a positive maximum in  $\Omega$ . As in [28], we define  $\gamma' := \sup_{\overline{\Omega}}(u/v) > 0$  and  $w = \gamma v$ , with  $\gamma \in (0, \gamma')$  to be determined. By homogeneity, w is still a supersolution of (3.3.21). Let  $\overline{y} \in \overline{\Omega}$  be such that  $u(\overline{y})/v(\overline{y}) = \gamma'$ . Since  $u(\overline{y}) - w(\overline{y}) = (\gamma' - \gamma)v(\overline{y}) > 0$ , the supremum of u - w is strictly positive, then by upper semicontinuity there exists  $\overline{x} \in \overline{\Omega}$  such that

$$u(\overline{x}) - w(\overline{x}) = \max_{\overline{\Omega}} (u - w) = m > 0.$$

Clearly  $u(\overline{x}) > w(\overline{x}) > 0$ , moreover  $u(\overline{x}) \leq \gamma' v(\overline{x}) = \frac{\gamma'}{\gamma} w(\overline{x})$ , from which

$$w(\overline{x}) \ge \frac{\gamma}{\gamma'} u(\overline{x}).$$
 (3.3.22)

Fix q > 2 and k > q/(2r), where r is the radius in the condition ( $\Omega 2$ ), and define for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  the functions  $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega} \times \overline{\Omega})$  and  $\psi \in USC(\overline{\Omega} \times \overline{\Omega})$  by

$$\phi(x,y) = \frac{j}{q} |x-y|^q e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}, \quad \psi(x,y) = u(x) - w(y) - \phi(x,y).$$

Let  $(x_j, y_j) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \overline{\Omega}$  be a maximum point of  $\psi$ , then  $m = \psi(\overline{x}, \overline{x}) \leq u(x_j) - w(y_j) - \phi(x_j, y_j)$ , from which

$$\frac{j}{q}|x_j - y_j|^q \le (u(x_j) - w(y_j) - m)e^{k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))} \le C,$$
(3.3.23)

where C is independent of j. The last relation implies that, up to subsequence,  $x_j$ and  $y_j$  converge to some  $\overline{z} \in \overline{\Omega}$  as  $j \to +\infty$ . Classical arguments show that

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \frac{j}{q} |x_j - y_j|^q = 0, \quad \lim_{j \to +\infty} u(x_j) = u(\overline{z}), \quad \lim_{j \to +\infty} w(y_j) = w(\overline{z}).$$

and

$$u(\overline{z}) - w(\overline{z}) = m.$$

**Claim 1** For j large enough, there exist  $x_j$  and  $y_j$  such that  $(x_j, y_j)$  is a maximum point of  $\psi$  and  $x_j \neq y_j$ .

Indeed if  $x_j = y_j$  we have

$$\psi(x_j, x) = u(x_j) - w(x) - \frac{j}{q} |x - x_j|^q e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(x))} \le \psi(x_j, x_j) = u(x_j) - w(x_j),$$

and

$$\psi(x,x_j) = u(x) - w(x_j) - \frac{j}{q} |x - x_j|^q e^{-k(d(x) + d(x_j))} \le \psi(x_j,x_j) = u(x_j) - w(x_j).$$

Then  $x_j$  is a minimum point for

$$W(x) := w(x) + \frac{j}{q} e^{-kd(x_j)} |x - x_j|^q e^{-kd(x)},$$

and a maximum point for

$$U(x) := u(x) - \frac{j}{q} e^{-kd(x_j)} |x - x_j|^q e^{-kd(x)}$$

We first exclude that  $x_j$  is both a strict local minimum and a strict local maximum. Indeed in that case, if u and w are not locally constant around  $x_j$ , by Lemma 3.3.10

$$(c(x_j) + \tau)w(x_j) \le (c(x_j) + \lambda)u(x_j).$$

The same result holds if u or w are locally constant by definition of sub and supersolution. The last inequality leads to a contradiction, as we will see at the end of the proof. Hence  $x_j$  cannot be both a strict local minimum and a strict local maximum. In the first case there exist  $\delta > 0$  and  $R > \delta$  such that

$$w(x_j) = \min_{\substack{\delta \le |x-x_j| \le R \\ x \in \overline{\Omega}}} \left( w(x) + \frac{j}{q} |x - x_j|^q e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(x))} \right)$$
$$= w(y_j) + \frac{j}{q} |y_j - x_j|^q e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))},$$

for some  $y_j \neq x_j$ , so that  $(x_j, y_j)$  is still a maximum point for  $\psi$ . In the other case, similarly, one can replace  $x_j$  by a point  $y_j \neq x_j$  such that  $(y_j, x_j)$  is a maximum for  $\psi$ . This concludes the Claim 1.

Now computing the derivatives of  $\phi$  we get

$$D_x\phi(x,y) = j|x-y|^{q-2}e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}(x-y) - k\frac{j}{q}|x-y|^q e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}Dd(x),$$

and

$$D_y\phi(x,y) = -j|x-y|^{q-2}e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}(x-y) - k\frac{j}{q}|x-y|^q e^{-k(d(x)+d(y))}Dd(y).$$

Denote  $p_j := D_x \phi(x_j, y_j)$  and  $r_j := -D_y \phi(x_j, y_j)$ . Since  $x_j \neq y_j$ ,  $p_j$  and  $r_j$  are different from 0 for j large enough. Indeed

$$0 < \frac{j}{2} |x_j - y_j|^{q-1} e^{-2kd_0} \le |p_j|, |r_j| \le 2j |x_j - y_j|^{q-1},$$
(3.3.24)

for large j, where  $d_0 = \max_{\overline{\Omega}} d(x)$ . Using (3.1.6), if  $x_j \in \partial \Omega$  then

$$\langle p_j, \overrightarrow{n}(x_j) \rangle \ge j |x_j - y_j|^q e^{-kd(y_j)} \left( -\frac{1}{2r} + \frac{k}{q} \right) > 0,$$

and if  $y_j \in \partial \Omega$  then

$$\langle r_j, \overrightarrow{n}(y_j) \rangle \leq j |x_j - y_j|^q e^{-kd(x_j)} \left(\frac{1}{2r} - \frac{k}{q}\right) < 0,$$

since k > q/(2r) and  $x_j \neq y_j$ . In view of definition of sub and supersolution we conclude that

$$\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(p_j)X) + b(x_j) \cdot p_j + (c(x_j) + \lambda)u(x_j) \ge 0 \quad \text{if } (p_j, X) \in \overline{J}^{2,+}u(x_j),$$
  
$$\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(r_j)Y) + b(y_j) \cdot r_j + (c(y_j) + \tau)w(y_j) \le 0 \quad \text{if } (r_j, Y) \in \overline{J}^{2,-}w(y_j).$$

Applying Theorem 3.2 of [40] for any  $\epsilon > 0$  there exist  $X_j, Y_j \in S(N)$  such that  $(p_j, X_j) \in \overline{J}^{2,+}u(x_j), (r_j, Y_j) \in \overline{J}^{2,-}w(y_j)$  and

$$-\left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \|D^2\phi(x_j, y_j)\|\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{array}\right) \le \left(\begin{array}{cc} X_j & 0\\ 0 & -Y_j \end{array}\right) \le D^2\phi(x_j, y_j) + \epsilon (D^2\phi(x_j, y_j))^2.$$
(3.3.25)

Claim 2  $X_j$  and  $Y_j$  satisfy

$$\begin{pmatrix} X_j - \widetilde{X}_j & 0\\ 0 & -Y_j + \widetilde{Y}_j \end{pmatrix} \leq \zeta_j \begin{pmatrix} I & -I\\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.3.26)$$

where  $\zeta_j = Cj|x_j - y_j|^{q-2}$ , for some positive constant C independent of j and some matrices  $\widetilde{X}_j, \widetilde{Y}_j = O(j|x_j - y_j|^q)$ .

To prove the claim we need to estimate  $D^2\phi(x_j, y_j)$ .

$$D^{2}\phi(x_{j}, y_{j}) = \frac{j}{q} |x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q} D^{2}(e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}) + D(e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}) \otimes \frac{j}{q} D(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}) + \frac{j}{q} D(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}) \otimes D(e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}) + e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))} \frac{j}{q} D^{2}(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}).$$

We denote

$$A_{1} := \frac{j}{q} |x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q} D^{2} (e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}),$$

$$A_{2} := De^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))} \otimes \frac{j}{q} D(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}) + \frac{j}{q} D(|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}) \otimes D(e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))}),$$

$$A_{3} := e^{-k(d(x_{j}) + d(y_{j}))} \frac{j}{q} D^{2} (|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}).$$

For  $A_1$  and  $A_3$  we have

$$A_1 \le Cj |x_j - y_j|^q \begin{pmatrix} I & 0\\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix},$$
$$A_3 \le (q-1)j |x_j - y_j|^{q-2} \begin{pmatrix} I & -I\\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}.$$

Here and henceforth, as usual, the letter C denotes various constants independent of j. Now we consider the quantity  $\langle A_2(\xi,\eta), (\xi,\eta) \rangle$  for  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . We have

$$\begin{split} \langle A_{2}(\xi,\eta),(\xi,\eta)\rangle &= 2kj|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q-2}e^{-k(d(x_{j})+d(y_{j}))}[\langle Dd(x_{j})\otimes(x_{j} - y_{j})(\eta - \xi),\xi\rangle \\ &+ \langle Dd(y_{j})\otimes(x_{j} - y_{j})(\eta - \xi),\eta\rangle] \\ &\leq Cj|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q-1}|\xi - \eta|(|\xi| + |\eta|) \\ &\leq Cj|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q-1}\left(\frac{|\xi - \eta|^{2}}{|x_{j} - y_{j}|} + \frac{(|\xi| + |\eta|)^{2}}{4}|x_{j} - y_{j}|\right) \\ &\leq C\left[j|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q-2}|\xi - \eta|^{2} + j|x_{j} - y_{j}|^{q}(|\xi|^{2} + |\eta|^{2})\right]. \end{split}$$

The last inequality can be rewritten equivalently in this way

$$A_2 \leq Cj|x_j - y_j|^{q-2} \begin{pmatrix} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix} + Cj|x_j - y_j|^q \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix}.$$

Finally if we choose

$$\epsilon = \frac{1}{j|x_j - y_j|^{q-2}}$$

we get the same estimates for the matrix  $\epsilon(D^2\phi(x_j,y_j))^2$ . In conclusion we have

$$D^2 \phi(x_j, y_j) + \epsilon (D^2 \phi(x_j, y_j))^2 \leq Cj |x_j - y_j|^{q-2} \begin{pmatrix} I & -I \\ -I & I \end{pmatrix}$$
$$+ Cj |x_j - y_j|^q \begin{pmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & I \end{pmatrix},$$

and (3.3.25) implies (3.3.26). The Claim 2 is proved.

Now, multiplying the inequality (3.3.26) on the left for the non-negative symmetric matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sigma(p_j)\sigma(p_j) & \sigma(p_j)\sigma(r_j) \\ \sigma(r_j)\sigma(p_j) & \sigma(r_j)\sigma(r_j) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma(p_j) & \sigma(p_j)\sigma(r_j) \\ \sigma(r_j)\sigma(p_j) & \sigma(r_j) \end{pmatrix},$$

taking traces and using (3.1.5) and (3.3.24), we get

$$\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(p_j)(X_j - \widetilde{X}_j)) - \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(r_j)(Y_j - \widetilde{Y}_j)) \leq \zeta_j \operatorname{tr}[(\sigma(p_j) - \sigma(r_j))^2] \leq \frac{8\zeta_j}{|p_j|^2} |p_j - r_j|^2$$
  
 
$$\leq C \frac{j|x_j - y_j|^{q-2}j^2|x_j - y_j|^{2q}}{j^2|x_j - y_j|^{2(q-1)}}$$
  
 
$$= Cj|x_j - y_j|^q.$$

Now using that u and w are respectively sub and supersolution we compute

$$\begin{aligned} -(\lambda + c(x_j))u(x_j) &\leq \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(p_j)X_j) + b(x_j) \cdot p_j \\ &\leq \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(p_j)(X_j - \widetilde{X_j})) + b(x_j) \cdot p_j + O\left(j|x_j - y_j|^q\right) \\ &\leq \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(r_j)(Y_j - \widetilde{Y_j})) + b(x_j) \cdot p_j + O\left(j|x_j - y_j|^q\right) \\ &\leq -(\tau + c(y_j))w(y_j) + b(x_j) \cdot p_j - b(y_j) \cdot r_j + O\left(j|x_j - y_j|^q\right). \end{aligned}$$

The quantity  $b(x_j) \cdot p_j - b(y_j) \cdot r_j$  goes to 0 as  $j \to +\infty$ . Indeed, since m > 0 and w is positive and bounded, the estimate (3.2.7) of Lemma 3.2.2 holds for u and w; using it in (3.3.23) and dividing by  $|x_j - y_j| \neq 0$  we obtain

$$\frac{j}{q}|x_j - y_j|^{q-1} \le C_0 e^{k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))} \le C.$$

Then by (3.3.24) we conclude that the sequences  $\{p_j\}$  and  $\{r_j\}$  are bounded, so that, since in addition  $|p_j - r_j| \leq Cj |x_j - y_j|^q \to 0$  as  $j \to +\infty$ , up to subsequence  $p_j, r_j \to p_0$  as  $j \to +\infty$ .

Hence, sending  $j \to +\infty$  we obtain

$$-(\lambda + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z}) \le -(\tau + c(\overline{z}))w(\overline{z}).$$

If  $\tau + c(\overline{z}) > 0$ , using (3.3.22) we get

$$-(\lambda + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z}) \le -(\tau + c(\overline{z}))\frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}u(\overline{z}),$$

and taking  $\gamma$  sufficiently close to  $\gamma'$  in order that  $\frac{\tau \frac{\gamma}{\gamma'} - \lambda}{1 - \frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}} > |c|_{\infty}$ , we obtain a contradiction. Finally if  $\tau + c(\overline{z}) \leq 0$  we have

$$-(\lambda + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z}) \le -(\tau + c(\overline{z}))w(\overline{z}) \le -(\tau + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z}),$$

once more a contradiction since  $\lambda < \tau$ .

**Proof of Lemma 3.3.10.** Without loss of generality we can assume that  $\overline{x} = 0$ . Since the minimum is strict there exists a small  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$v(0) < v(x) + C|x|^q e^{-kd(x)}$$
 for any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}, \ 0 < |x| \le \delta$ .

Since v is not locally constant and q > 1 for any  $n > \delta^{-1}$  there exists  $(t_n, z_n) \in B(0, \frac{1}{n})^2 \cap \overline{\Omega}^2$  such that

$$v(t_n) > v(z_n) + C|z_n - t_n|^q e^{-kd(z_n)}.$$

Consequently, for  $n > \delta^{-1}$  the minimum of the function  $v(x) + C|x - t_n|^q e^{-kd(x)}$  in  $\overline{B}(0,\delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$  is not achieved on  $t_n$ . Indeed

$$\min_{|x| \le \delta, x \in \overline{\Omega}} (v(x) + C|x - t_n|^q e^{-kd(x)}) \le v(z_n) + C|z_n - t_n|^q e^{-kd(z_n)} < v(t_n)$$

Let  $y_n \neq t_n$  be some point in  $\overline{B}(0, \delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$  on which the minimum is achieved. Passing to the limit as n goes to infinity,  $t_n$  goes to 0 and, up to subsequence,  $y_n$  converges to some  $y \in \overline{B}(0, \delta) \cap \overline{\Omega}$ . By the lower semicontinuity of v and the fact that 0 is a local minimum of  $v(x) + C|x|^q e^{-kd(x)}$  we have

$$v(0) \le v(y) + C|y|^q e^{-kd(y)} \le \liminf_{n \to +\infty} (v(y_n) + C|y_n|^q e^{-kd(y_n)}),$$

and using that  $v(0) + C|t_n|^q e^{-kd(0)} \ge v(y_n) + C|y_n - t_n|^q e^{-kd(y_n)}$ , one has

$$v(0) \ge \limsup_{n \to +\infty} (v(y_n) + C|y_n|^q e^{-kd(y_n)}).$$

Then

$$v(0) = v(y) + C|y|^{q} e^{-kd(y)} = \lim_{n \to +\infty} (v(y_n) + C|y_n|^{q} e^{-kd(y_n)})$$

Since 0 is a strict local minimum of  $v(x) + C|x|^q e^{-kd(x)}$ , the last equalities imply that y = 0 and  $v(y_n)$  goes to v(0) as  $n \to +\infty$ . Then for large  $n, y_n$  is an interior point of  $B(0, \delta)$  so that the function

$$\varphi(x) = v(y_n) + C|y_n - t_n|^q e^{-kd(y_n)} - C|x - t_n|^q e^{-kd(x)}$$

is a test function for v at  $y_n$ . Moreover, the gradient of  $\varphi$ 

$$D\varphi(x) = -Cq|x - t_n|^{q-2}e^{-kd(x)}(x - t_n) + kC|x - t_n|^q e^{-kd(x)}Dd(x)$$

is different from 0 at  $x = y_n$  for small  $\delta$ , indeed

$$|D\varphi(y_n)| \ge C|y_n - t_n|^{q-1}e^{-kd(y_n)}(q-k|y_n - t_n|) \ge C|y_n - t_n|^{q-1}e^{-kd(y_n)}(q-2k\delta) > 0.$$

Using (3.1.6), if  $y_n \in \partial \Omega$  we have

$$\langle D\varphi(y_n), \overrightarrow{n}(y_n) \rangle \le C |y_n - t_n|^q \left(\frac{q}{2r} - k\right) < 0,$$

since k > q/(2r). Then we conclude that

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(\sigma(D\varphi(y_n))D^2\varphi(y_n)\right) + b(y_n) \cdot D\varphi(y_n) - \beta(v(y_n)) \le g(y_n)$$

Observe that  $D^2 \varphi(y_n) = |y_n - t_n|^{q-2} M$ , where M is a bounded matrix. Hence, from the last inequality we get

$$C_0|y_n - t_n|^{q-2} - \beta(v(y_n)) \le g(y_n),$$

for some constant  $C_0$ . Passing to the limit, since  $\beta$  and g are upper semicontinuous we obtain

$$-\beta(v(0)) \le g(0),$$

which is the desired conclusion.

We conclude sketching the proof of Theorem 3.3.1.

**Proof of Theorem 3.3.1.** Suppose by contradiction that  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u-v) = m > 0$ . Since  $u \leq v$  on the boundary, the supremum is achieved inside  $\Omega$ . Let us define for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  and some q > 2

$$\psi(x,y) = u(x) - v(y) - \frac{j}{q}|x-y|^q$$

Suppose that  $(x_j, y_j)$  is a maximum point for  $\psi$  in  $\overline{\Omega}^2$ . Then  $|x_j - y_j| \to 0$  as  $j \to +\infty$ and up to subsequence  $x_j, y_j \to \overline{x}, u(x_j) \to u(\overline{x}), v(y_j) \to v(\overline{x})$  and  $j|x_j - y_j|^q \to 0$ as  $j \to +\infty$ . Moreover,  $\overline{x}$  is such that  $u(\overline{x}) - v(\overline{x}) = m$  and we can choose  $x_j \neq y_j$ . Recalling by Remark 3.2.3 that the estimate (3.2.7) holds in  $\Omega$ , we can proceed as in the proof of Theorem 3.3.8 to get

$$-c(\overline{x})u(\overline{x}) \le -c(\overline{x})v(\overline{x})$$

This is a contradiction since  $c(\overline{x}) < 0$ .

## **3.3.3** The Maximum Principle for c(x) changing sign: an example.

In the previous subsections we have proved that  $\Delta_{\infty} + b(x) \cdot D + c(x)$  with the Neumann boundary condition satisfies the maximum principle if  $c(x) \leq 0$  or without condition on the sign of c(x) provided  $\overline{\lambda} > 0$ . In this subsection we want to show that these two cases do not coincide, i.e., that there exists some c(x) which changes sign in  $\Omega$  such that the associated principal eigenvalue  $\overline{\lambda}$  is positive. To prove this, by definition of  $\overline{\lambda}$ , it suffices to find a function c(x) changing sign for which there exists a bounded positive supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} v + b(x) \cdot Dv + (c(x) + \lambda)v = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.27)

for some  $\lambda > 0$ . For simplicity, let us suppose that  $b \equiv 0$  and  $\Omega$  is the ball of center 0 and radius R. We will look for c such that:

$$\begin{cases} c(x) < 0 & \text{if } R - \epsilon < |x| \le R\\ c(x) \le -\beta_1 & \text{if } \rho < |x| \le R - \epsilon\\ c(x) \le \beta_2 & \text{if } |x| \le \rho, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.28)

where  $0 < \rho < R - \epsilon$  and  $\epsilon$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_2$  are positive constants. Remark that in the ball of radius  $\rho$ , c(x) may assume positive values. Following [97], it is possible to construct a supersolution of (3.3.27) if  $\epsilon$  is small enough and

$$\beta_2 < \frac{k^2 e^{-k\rho}}{\frac{k}{4}(R-\rho) + \frac{2k}{\beta_1(R-\rho)} + 1 - e^{-k\rho}},$$

for some k > 0. From the last relation we can see that choosing  $k = \frac{1}{\rho}$  the term on the right-hand side goes to  $+\infty$  as  $\rho \to 0^+$ , that is, if the set where  $c_0(x)$  is positive becomes smaller then the values of  $c_0(x)$  in this set can be very large. On the contrary, for any value of k, if  $\rho \to R^-$  then  $\beta_2$  goes to 0. Finally for any k if  $\beta_1 \to 0^+$ , then again  $\beta_2$  goes to 0.

## **3.4** Some existence results

This section is devoted to the problem of the existence of a solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + (c(x) + \lambda)u = g(x) & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.29)

The first existence result for (3.4.29) is obtained when  $\lambda = 0$  and c < 0, via Perron's method. Then, we will prove the existence of a positive solution of (3.4.29) when g is non-positive and  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$  (without condition on the sign of c). These two results will allow us to prove that the Neumann problem (3.4.29) is solvable for any right-hand side if  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ . Finally, we will prove the existence of a positive principal eigenfunction corresponding to  $\overline{\lambda}$ , that is a solution of (3.4.29) when  $g \equiv 0$  and  $\lambda = \overline{\lambda}$ .

Comparison results guarantee for (3.4.29) the uniqueness of the solution when c < 0 and when  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$  and g < 0 or g > 0.

**Theorem 3.4.1.** Suppose that c < 0 and g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . If  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  are respectively viscosity sub and supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u + b(x) \cdot Du + c(x)u = g(x) & in \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.4.30)

with u and v bounded or  $v \ge 0$  and bounded, then  $u \le v$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Moreover (3.4.30) has a unique viscosity solution.

**Proof.** We suppose by contradiction that  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u-v) = m > 0$ . Repeating the proof of Theorem 3.3.8 taking v as w, we arrive to the following inequality

$$-c(\overline{z})u(\overline{z}) \le -c(\overline{z})v(\overline{z}),$$

where  $\overline{z} \in \overline{\Omega}$  is such that  $u(\overline{z}) - v(\overline{z}) = m > 0$ . This is a contradiction since  $c(\overline{z}) < 0$ .

The existence of a solution follows from Perron's method of Ishii, see e.g. [40], and the comparison result just proved, provided there is a bounded subsolution and a bounded supersolution of (3.4.30). Since c is negative and continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , there exists  $c_0 > 0$  such that  $c(x) \leq -c_0$  for every  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Then

$$u_1 := -\frac{|g|_{\infty}}{c_0}, \quad u_2 := \frac{|g|_{\infty}}{c_0}$$

are respectively a bounded sub and supersolution of (3.4.30).

Define

 $u(x) := \sup\{\varphi(x) | u_1 \le \varphi \le u_2 \text{ and } \varphi \text{ is a subsolution of } (3.4.30) \},\$ 

we claim that u is a solution of (3.4.30). We first show that the upper semicontinuous envelope of u defined as

$$u^*(x) := \lim_{\rho \downarrow 0} \sup \{ u(y) : y \in \overline{\Omega} \text{ and } |y - x| \le \rho \}$$

is a subsolution of (3.4.30). Indeed if  $(p, X) \in J^{2,+}u(x_0)$  and  $p \neq 0$  then by the standard arguments of the Perron's method it can be proved that  $\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(p)X) + b(x_0) \cdot p + c(x_0)u(x_0) \geq g(x_0)$  if  $x_0 \in \Omega$  and  $(-\operatorname{tr}(\sigma(p)X) - b(x_0) \cdot p - c(x_0)u(x_0) + g(x_0)) \wedge \langle p, \overrightarrow{n}(x_0) \rangle \leq 0$  if  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ .

Now suppose  $u^* \equiv k$  in a neighborhood of  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ . If  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$  clearly  $u^*$  is subsolution at  $x_0$ . Assume that  $x_0$  is an interior point of  $\Omega$ . We may choose a sequence of subsolutions  $(\varphi_n)_n$  and a sequence of points  $(x_n)_n$  in  $\Omega$  such that  $x_n \to x_0$ and  $\varphi_n(x_n) \to k$ . Suppose that  $|x_n - x_0| < a_n$  with  $a_n$  decreasing to 0 as  $n \to +\infty$ . If, up to subsequence,  $\varphi_n$  is constant in  $B(x_0, a_n)$  for any n, then passing to the limit in the relation  $c(x_n)\varphi_n(x_n) \ge g(x_n)$  we get  $c(x_0)k \ge g(x_0)$  as desired. Otherwise, suppose that for any  $n \varphi_n$  is not constant in  $B(x_0, a_n)$ . Repeating the argument of Lemma 3.3.10 we find a sequence  $\{(t_n, y_n)\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \Omega^2$  and a small  $\delta > 0$  such that  $|t_n - x_0| < a_n$ ,  $|y_n - x_0| \le \delta$ ,  $t_n \ne y_n$ ,  $\varphi_n(x) - |x - t_n|^q \le \varphi_n(y_n) - |y_n - t_n|^q$ for any  $x \in B(x_0, \delta)$ , with q > 2 and  $u^* \equiv k$  in  $\overline{B}(x_0, \delta)$ . Up to subsequence  $y_n \to y \in \overline{B}(x_0, \delta)$  as  $n \to +\infty$ . We have

$$k = \lim_{n \to +\infty} (\varphi_n(x_n) - |x_n - t_n|^q) \le \liminf_{n \to +\infty} (\varphi_n(y_n) - |y_n - t_n|^q)$$
$$\le \limsup_{n \to +\infty} (\varphi_n(y_n) - |y_n - t_n|^q) \le k - |y - x_0|^q.$$

The last inequalities imply that  $y = x_0$  and  $\varphi_n(y_n) \to k$ . Then, for large  $n, y_n$  is an interior point of  $B(x_0, \delta)$  and  $\phi_n(x) := \varphi_n(y_n) - |y_n - t_n|^q + |x - t_n|^q$  is a test function for  $\varphi_n$  at  $y_n$ . Passing to the limit as  $n \to +\infty$  in the relation  $\Delta_{\infty}\phi_n(y_n) + b(y_n) \cdot D\phi_n(y_n) + c(y_n)\varphi_n(y_n)) \ge g(y_n)$ , we get again  $c(x_0)k \ge g(x_0)$ . In conclusion  $u^*$  is a subsolution of (3.4.30). Since  $u^* \le u_2$ , it follows from the definition of u that  $u = u^*$ .

Finally the lower semicontinuous envelope of u defined as

$$u_*(x) := \lim_{\rho \downarrow 0} \inf \{ u(y) : y \in \overline{\Omega} \text{ and } |y - x| \le \rho \}$$

is a supersolution. Indeed, if it is not, the Perron's method provides a viscosity subsolution of (3.4.30) greater than u, contradicting the definition of u. If  $u_* \equiv k$  in a neighborhood of  $x_0 \in \Omega$  and  $c(x_0)k > g(x_0)$  then for small  $\delta$  and  $\rho$ , the subsolution is

$$u_{\delta,\rho}(x) := \begin{cases} \max\{u(x), k + \frac{\delta\rho^2}{8} - \delta |x - x_0|^2\} & \text{if } |x - x_0| < \rho, \\ u(x) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Hence  $u_*$  is a supersolution of (3.4.30) and then, by comparison,  $u^* = u \leq u_*$ , showing that u is continuous and is a solution.

The uniqueness of the solution is an immediate consequence of the comparison principle just proved.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**Theorem 3.4.2.** Suppose  $g \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $h \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$ ,  $h \leq 0$ ,  $h \leq g$  and g(x) > 0 if h(x) = 0. Let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a viscosity subsolution of (3.4.29) and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  be a bounded positive viscosity supersolution of (3.4.29) with g replaced by h. Then  $u \leq v$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Remark 3.4.3.** The existence of a such v implies  $\lambda \leq \overline{\lambda}$ .

**Proof.** It suffices to prove the theorem for h < g. Indeed, for l > 1 the function lv is a supersolution of (3.4.29) with right-hand side lh(x) and by the assumptions on h and g, lh < g. If  $u \le lv$  for any l > 1, passing to the limit as  $l \to 1^+$ , one obtains  $u \le v$  as desired.

Hence we can assume h < g. By upper semicontinuity  $\max_{\overline{\Omega}}(h-g) = -M < 0$ . Suppose by contradiction that u > v somewhere in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Then there exists  $\overline{y} \in \overline{\Omega}$  such that

$$\gamma' := \frac{u(\overline{y})}{v(\overline{y})} = \max_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} \frac{u(x)}{v(x)} > 1.$$

Define  $w = \gamma v$  for some  $1 \leq \gamma < \gamma'$ . Since  $h \leq 0$  and  $\gamma \geq 1$ ,  $\gamma h \leq h$  and then w is still a supersolution of (3.4.29) with right-hand side h. The supremum of u - w is strictly positive then, by upper semicontinuity, there exists  $\overline{x} \in \overline{\Omega}$  such that  $u(\overline{x}) - w(\overline{x}) = \max_{\overline{\Omega}}(u - w) > 0$ . We have  $u(\overline{x}) > w(\overline{x})$  and  $w(\overline{x}) \geq \frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}u(\overline{x})$ . Repeating the proof of Theorem 3.3.8, we get

$$g(\overline{z}) - (\lambda + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z}) \le h(\overline{z}) - (\lambda + c(\overline{z}))w(\overline{z}),$$

where  $\overline{z}$  is some point in  $\overline{\Omega}$  where the maximum of u - w is attained. If  $\lambda + c(\overline{z}) \leq 0$ , then

$$-(\lambda+c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z}) \le h(\overline{z}) - g(\overline{z}) - (\lambda+c(\overline{z}))w(\overline{z}) < -(\lambda+c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z}),$$

which is a contradiction. If  $\lambda + c(\overline{z}) > 0$ , then

$$-(\lambda + c(\overline{z}))u(\overline{z}) \le h(\overline{z}) - g(\overline{z}) - (\lambda + c(\overline{z}))\frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}u(\overline{z}).$$

If we choose  $\gamma$  sufficiently close to  $\gamma'$  in order that

$$|\lambda + c|_{\infty} \left(\frac{\gamma}{\gamma'} - 1\right) \max_{\overline{\Omega}} u \ge -\frac{M}{2},$$

we get once more a contradiction.

**Theorem 3.4.4.** Suppose that  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ ,  $g \leq 0$ ,  $g \neq 0$  and g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , then there exists a positive viscosity solution of (3.4.29). If g < 0, the solution is unique.

**Proof.** We follow the proof of Theorem 7 of [28].

If  $\lambda < -|c|_{\infty}$  then the existence of the solution is guaranteed by Theorem 3.4.1. Let us suppose  $\lambda \geq -|c|_{\infty}$  and define by induction the sequence  $(u_n)_n$  by  $u_1 = 0$ and  $u_{n+1}$  as the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} u_{n+1} + b(x) \cdot Du_{n+1} + (c(x) - |c|_{\infty} - 1)u_{n+1} = g - (\lambda + |c|_{\infty} + 1)u_n & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial u_{n+1}}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

which exists by Theorem 3.4.1. By the comparison principle, since  $g \leq 0$  and  $g \neq 0$  the sequence is positive and increasing.

We claim that  $(u_n)_n$  is also bounded. Suppose that it is not, then dividing by  $|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}$  and defining  $v_n := \frac{u_n}{|u_n|_{\infty}}$  one gets that  $v_{n+1}$  is a solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} v_{n+1} + b(x) \cdot Dv_{n+1} + (c(x) - |c|_{\infty} - 1)v_{n+1} \\ = \frac{g}{|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}} - (\lambda + |c|_{\infty} + 1)\frac{u_n}{|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}} & \text{in } \Omega \\ \frac{\partial v_{n+1}}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

By Corollary 3.2.4,  $(v_n)_n$  converges to a positive function v with  $|v|_{\infty} = 1$ , which satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} v + b(x) \cdot Dv + (c(x) + \lambda)v \\ = (\lambda + |c|_{\infty} + 1)(1 - k)v \ge 0 & \text{in } \Omega \\ \frac{\partial v_{n+1}}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

where  $k := \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{|u_n|_{\infty}}{|u_{n+1}|_{\infty}} \leq 1$ . This contradicts the maximum principle, Theorem 3.3.8.

Then  $(u_n)_n$  is bounded and letting n go to infinity, by the compactness result, the sequence converges to a function u which is a solution. Moreover, the solution is positive on  $\overline{\Omega}$  by the strong minimum principle, Proposition 3.3.2.

If g < 0, the uniqueness of the solution follows from Theorem 3.4.2.

**Remark 3.4.5.** Clearly, since the operator  $\Delta_{\infty}$  is odd, by Theorem 3.4.4, there exists a negative solution of (3.4.29) for  $\lambda < \underline{\lambda}$  and  $g \ge 0$ ,  $g \not\equiv 0$ , which is unique if g > 0.

**Theorem 3.4.6.** Suppose that  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$  and g is continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ , then there exists a viscosity solution of (3.4.29).

**Proof.** If  $g \equiv 0$ , by the maximum principle the only solution is  $u \equiv 0$ . Let us suppose  $g \not\equiv 0$ . Since  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$  by Theorem 3.4.4 there exist  $v_0$  positive viscosity solution of (3.4.29) with right-hand side  $-|g|_{\infty}$  and  $u_0$  negative viscosity solution of (3.4.29) with right-hand side  $|g|_{\infty}$ .

Let us suppose  $\lambda + |c|_{\infty} \geq 0$ . Let  $(u_n)_n$  be the sequence defined in the proof of Theorem 3.4.4 with  $u_1 = u_0$ , then by comparison Theorem 3.4.1 we have  $u_0 = u_1 \leq u_2 \leq \ldots \leq v_0$ . Hence, by the compactness Corollary 3.2.4 the sequence converges to a continuous function which is the desired solution.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 3.4.7** (Existence of principal eigenfunctions). There exists  $\phi > 0$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$  viscosity solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty}\phi + b(x) \cdot D\phi + (c(x) + \overline{\lambda})\phi = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial \overline{n}} = 0 & on \quad \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Moreover  $\phi$  is Lipschitz continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\lambda_n$  be an increasing sequence which converges to  $\overline{\lambda}$ . Let  $u_n$  be the positive solution of (3.4.29) with  $\lambda = \lambda_n$  and  $g \equiv -1$ . By Theorem 3.4.4 the

sequence  $(u_n)_n$  is well defined. Following the argument of the proof of Theorem 8 of [28], it can proved that it is unbounded, otherwise one would contradict the definition of  $\overline{\lambda}$ . Then, up to subsequence  $|u_n|_{\infty} \to +\infty$  as  $n \to +\infty$  and defining  $v_n := \frac{u_n}{|u_n|_{\infty}}$  one gets that  $v_n$  satisfies (3.4.29) with  $\lambda = \lambda_n$  and  $g \equiv -\frac{1}{|u_n|_{\infty}}$ . Then by Corollary 3.2.4, we can extract a subsequence converging to a positive function  $\phi$  with  $|\phi|_{\infty} = 1$  which is the desired solution. By Theorem 3.2.1 the solution is also Lipschitz continuous on  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

## 3.5 A decay estimate for solutions of the evolution problem

In this section we want to study the asymptotic behavior as  $t \to +\infty$  of the solution h(t, x) of the evolution problem

$$\begin{cases} h_t = \Delta_{\infty} h + c(x)h & \text{in } (0, +\infty) \times \Omega\\ \frac{\partial h}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } [0, +\infty) \times \partial \Omega\\ h(0, x) = h_0(x) & \text{for } x \in \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.5.31)

where  $h_0$  is a continuous function on  $\overline{\Omega}$ . As in [80] and in [81] we use the semicontinuous extensions of the function  $(p, X) \to \operatorname{tr}(\sigma(p)X)$  to define the viscosity solutions of (3.5.31). For  $X \in S(N)$ , let us denote its smaller and larger eigenvalue respectively by m(X) and M(X), that is

$$m(X) := \min_{|\xi|=1} \langle X\xi, \xi \rangle,$$
$$M(X) := \max_{|\xi|=1} \langle X\xi, \xi \rangle.$$

**Definition 3.5.1.** Any function  $u \in USC([0, +\infty) \times \overline{\Omega})$  (resp.,  $u \in LSC([0, +\infty) \times \overline{\Omega})$ ) is called viscosity subsolution (resp., supersolution) of (3.5.31) if for any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ ,  $u(0, x) \leq h_0(x)$  (resp.,  $u(0, x) \geq h_0(x)$ ) and if the following conditions hold

(i) For every  $(t_0, x_0) \in (0, +\infty) \times \Omega$ , for all  $\varphi \in C^2([0, +\infty) \times \overline{\Omega})$ , such that  $u - \varphi$  has a local maximum (resp., minimum) at  $(t_0, x_0)$ , one has

$$\begin{cases} \varphi_t(t_0, x_0) \le \Delta_{\infty} \varphi(t_0, x_0) + c(x_0) u(t_0, x_0) \ (resp., \ge) & \text{if } D\varphi(t_0, x_0) \ne 0, \\ \varphi_t(t_0, x_0) \le M(D^2 \varphi(t_0, x_0)) + c(x_0) u(t_0, x_0) & \text{if } D\varphi(t_0, x_0) = 0 \\ (resp., \varphi_t(t_0, x_0) \ge m(D^2 \varphi(t_0, x_0)) + c(x_0) u(t_0, x_0)). \end{cases}$$

(ii) For every  $(t_0, x_0) \in (0, +\infty) \times \partial\Omega$ , for all  $\varphi \in C^2([0, +\infty) \times \overline{\Omega})$ , such that  $u - \varphi$  has a local maximum (resp., minimum) at  $(t_0, x_0)$  and  $D\varphi(t_0, x_0) \neq 0$ , one has

$$\left(\varphi_t(t_0, x_0) - \Delta_{\infty}\varphi(t_0, x_0) - c(x_0)u(t_0, x_0)\right) \land \left\langle D\varphi(t_0, x_0), \overrightarrow{n}(x_0) \right\rangle \le 0.$$

(resp.,

$$\left(\varphi_t(t_0, x_0) - \Delta_{\infty}\varphi(t_0, x_0) - c(x_0)u(t_0, x_0)\right) \lor \langle D\varphi(t_0, x_0), \overrightarrow{n}(x_0) \rangle \ge 0.$$

Remark that if  $(t_0, x_0) \in (0, +\infty) \times \partial \Omega$  and  $D\varphi(t_0, x_0) = 0$ , then the boundary condition is satisfied.

We will show that if the principal eigenvalue of the stationary operator associated to (3.5.31) is positive, then h decays to zero exponentially and that the rate of the decay depends on it. Let  $\overline{\lambda}$  and v be respectively the principal eigenvalue and a principal eigenfunction, i.e., v is a positive solution of

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_{\infty} v + (c(x) + \overline{\lambda})v = 0 & \text{in } \Omega\\ \frac{\partial v}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

**Proposition 3.5.1.** Let  $h \in C(\overline{\Omega} \times [0, +\infty))$  be a solution of (3.5.31) then

$$\sup_{\Omega \times [0,+\infty)} \frac{h(t,x)e^{\lambda t}}{v(x)} \le \sup_{\Omega} \frac{h_0^+(x)}{v(x)},$$
(3.5.32)

where  $h_0^+ = \max\{h_0, 0\}$  denotes the positive part of  $h_0$ .

**Proof.** It suffices to prove that, fixed  $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}$ 

$$\sup_{[0,T)\times\Omega}\frac{h(t,x)e^{\lambda t}}{v(x)} \le \sup_{\Omega}\frac{h_0^+(x)}{v(x)},$$

for any T > 0. This implies that

$$\sup_{[0,T)\times\Omega}\frac{h(t,x)e^{\lambda t}}{v(x)} \le \sup_{\Omega}\frac{h_0^+(x)}{v(x)},$$

for any T > 0 and consequently (3.5.32). Let us denote  $H(t, x) = h(t, x)e^{\lambda t}$ , it is easy to see that H(t, x) satisfies

$$\begin{cases} H_t = \Delta_{\infty} H + (c(x) + \lambda) H & \text{in } [0, +\infty) \times \Omega \\ \frac{\partial H}{\partial \overrightarrow{n}} = 0 & \text{on } [0, +\infty) \times \partial \Omega \\ H(0, x) = h_0(x) & \text{for } x \in \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(3.5.33)

Suppose by contradiction that there exists T > 0 such that

$$\gamma' := \sup_{[0,T) \times \Omega} \frac{h(t,x)e^{\lambda t}}{v(x)} > \sup_{\Omega} \frac{h_0^+(x)}{v(x)} =: \overline{h} \ge 0.$$
(3.5.34)

Let us denote  $w = \gamma v$ , where

$$\overline{h} < \gamma < \gamma'$$

and  $\gamma$  is sufficiently close to  $\gamma'$  in order that

$$\frac{\overline{\lambda}\frac{\gamma}{\gamma'} - \lambda}{1 - \frac{\gamma}{\gamma'}} > |c|_{\infty}.$$
(3.5.35)

Since  $\gamma < \gamma'$ , the function H - w has a positive maximum on  $[0, T] \times \overline{\Omega}$ .

Fix q > 2,  $k > \frac{q}{2r}$  and  $\epsilon > 0$  small, for  $j \in \mathbb{N}$  we define the function

$$\phi(t, x, s, y) = \left(\frac{j}{q}|x - y|^q + \frac{j}{2}|t - s|^2\right)e^{-k(d(x) + d(y))} + \frac{\epsilon}{T - t},$$

and we consider the supremum of

$$H(t,x) - w(y) - \phi(t,x,s,y)$$

over  $([0,T) \times \overline{\Omega})^2$ . Let  $(t_j, x_j, s_j, y_j)$  be a point in  $(\overline{\Omega} \times [0,T))^2$  where the maximum is attained. From

$$H(t_j, x_j) - w(y_j) - \phi(t_j, x_j, t_j, y_j) \le H(t_j, x_j) - w(y_j) - \phi(t_j, x_j, s_j, y_j)$$

we deduce that

$$t_j = s_j.$$

Let  $(\hat{t}, \hat{x}) \in [0, T[\times \overline{\Omega}]$  be such that  $H(\hat{t}, \hat{x}) - w(\hat{x}) = l > 0$ , then for  $\epsilon$  small enough we have

$$\frac{l}{2} \le H(\hat{t}, \hat{x}) - w(\hat{x}) - \frac{\epsilon}{T - \hat{t}} \le H(t_j, x_j) - w(y_j) - \frac{\epsilon}{T - t_j} - \frac{j}{q} |x_j - y_j|^q e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))}.$$

Since  $\frac{\epsilon}{T-t} \to +\infty$  as  $t \uparrow T$ , the previous inequality implies that, up to subsequence  $(t_j, x_j, y_j) \to (\bar{t}, \bar{x}, \bar{x})$  as  $j \to +\infty$  with  $\bar{t} < T$  and that

$$H(\overline{t},\overline{x}) - w(\overline{x}) > 0. \tag{3.5.36}$$

Moreover

$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \frac{j}{q} |x_j - y_j|^q = 0.$$

and from (3.5.34) we deduce that

$$w(\overline{x}) \ge \frac{\gamma}{\gamma'} H(\overline{t}, \overline{x}).$$
 (3.5.37)

Finally, since  $\gamma > \overline{h}$ , it is  $\overline{t} > 0$ . Hence for j large enough,  $0 < t_j < T$ .

As in Theorem 3.3.8 the following holds true.

**Claim** For *j* large enough, we can choose  $x_j \neq y_j$ .

Indeed, suppose that  $x_j = y_j$ , then  $(t_j, x_j)$  is a maximum point for

$$U(t,x) := H(t,x) - \frac{\epsilon}{T-t} - e^{-kd(x_j)} \left(\frac{j}{q}|x-x_j|^q + \frac{j}{2}|t-t_j|^2\right) e^{-kd(x)},$$

and a minimum point for

$$W(t,x) := w(x) + e^{-kd(x_j)} \left(\frac{j}{q}|x - x_j|^q + \frac{j}{2}|t - t_j|^2\right) e^{-kd(x)}.$$

We prove that  $(t_j, x_j)$  is not both a strict local maximum and a strict local minimum. Indeed, in that case, if  $H(t, x) - \frac{\epsilon}{T-t}$  is not locally constant around
$(t_j, x_j)$ , following the proof of Lemma 3.3.10, we can construct sequences  $(t_n, x_n)_n$ ,  $(s_n, y_n)_n$  converging to  $(t_j, x_j)$  as  $n \to +\infty$ , such that  $(t_n, x_n) \neq (s_n, y_n)$  and

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t,x) &:= C\left(\frac{|x-x_n|^q}{q} + \frac{|t-t_n|^2}{2}\right) e^{-kd(x)} + \frac{\epsilon}{T-t} + H(s_n, y_n) \\ &- \frac{\epsilon}{T-s_n} - C\left(\frac{|y_n - x_n|^q}{q} + \frac{|s_n - t_n|^2}{2}\right) e^{-kd(y_n)} \end{split}$$

is a test function for H(t, x) at  $(s_n, y_n)$ , where  $C = je^{-kd(x_j)}$ . If  $y_n \in \partial \Omega$ , then

$$\langle D\varphi(s_n, y_n), \overrightarrow{n}(y_n) \rangle \ge C\left[\left(\frac{k}{q} - \frac{1}{2r}\right)|x_n - y_n|^q + \frac{k}{2}|s_n - t_n|^2\right] > 0.$$

Then  $D\varphi(s_n, y_n) \neq 0$  and by definition of subsolution

$$\frac{\epsilon}{(T-s_n)^2} + Ce^{-kd(y_n)}(s_n - t_n) \le \Delta_{\infty}(\varphi(s_n, y_n)) + (c(y_n) + \lambda)H(s_n, y_n).$$

If  $y_n$  is an interior point and  $D\varphi(s_n, y_n) \neq 0$ , then again the previous inequality holds true, otherwise if  $D\varphi(s_n, y_n) = 0$ , we have

$$\frac{\epsilon}{(T-s_n)^2} + Ce^{-kd(y_n)}(s_n - t_n) \le M(D^2\varphi(s_n, y_n)) + (c(y_n) + \lambda)H(s_n, y_n).$$

Passing to the limit as  $n \to +\infty$ , from both the previous relations we get

$$\frac{\epsilon}{(T-t_j)^2} \le (c(x_j) + \lambda)H(t_j, x_j).$$

By definition of subsolution, we get the same inequality if  $H(t, x) - \frac{\epsilon}{T-t}$  is locally constant around  $(t_j, x_j)$ .

Proceeding in the same way, if either w is locally constant around  $x_j$  or not, since  $(t_j, x_j)$  is a strict local minimum of W(t, x), we get

$$(c(x_j) + \lambda)w(x_j) \le 0.$$

Then, passing to the limit as  $j \to +\infty$ , we finally obtain

$$(c(\overline{x}) + \overline{\lambda})w(\overline{x}) < \frac{\epsilon}{(T - \overline{t})^2} \le (c(\overline{x}) + \lambda)H(\overline{t}, \overline{x}), \tag{3.5.38}$$

which contradicts (3.5.35), (3.5.36) and (3.5.37).

Hence  $(t_j, x_j)$  cannot be both a strict local maximum and a strict local minimum. In the first case, there exists  $(s_j, y_j) \neq (t_j, x_j)$  such that

$$H(s_j, y_j) - w(x_j) - \frac{\epsilon}{T - s_j} - \left(\frac{j}{q}|x_j - y_j|^q + \frac{j}{2}|t_j - s_j|^2\right) e^{-k(d(x_j) + d(y_j))}$$
  
=  $H(t_j, x_j) - w(x_j) - \frac{\epsilon}{T - t_j} = \sup_{([0,T) \times \Omega)^2} (H(t, x) - w(y) - \phi(t, x, s, y)).$ 

As before we get that  $s_j = t_j$ , then  $x_j \neq y_j$  and this concludes the claim.

From the claim we deduce that  $D_x\phi(t_j, x_j, t_j, y_j)$  and  $D_y\phi(t_j, x_j, t_j, y_j)$  are different from 0. Moreover there exist  $X_j, Y_j \in S(N)$  satisfying (3.3.26) such that  $\left(\frac{\epsilon}{(T-t_j)^2}, D_x\phi(t_j, x_j, t_j, y_j), X_j\right) \in \mathcal{P}^{2,+}H(t_j, x_j)$  and  $\left(-D_y\phi(t_j, x_j, t_j, y_j), Y_j\right) \in J^{2,-}w(y_j)$ . Now we can proceed as in the proof of Theorem 3.3.8 to obtain (3.5.38) and hence to reach a contradiction.

83

## Part II

## Homogenization of first order Hamilton-Jacobi equations

### Chapter 4

# The Peierls-Nabarro model for dislocation dynamics

In this chapter we are concerned with a non-local Hamilton-Jacobi equation describing dislocation dynamics. We investigate the limit as  $\epsilon \to 0$  of the solution  $u^{\epsilon}$  of:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^{\epsilon} = \mathcal{I}_1[u^{\epsilon}(t,\cdot)] - W'\left(\frac{u^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}\right) + \sigma\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon},\frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N\\ u^{\epsilon}(0,x) = u_0(x) & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(4.0.1)

where  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is an anisotropic Lévy operator of order 1, defined on bounded  $C^2$ -functions for r > 0 by

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_1[U](x) &= \int_{|z| \le r} (U(x+z) - U(x) - \nabla U(x) \cdot z) \frac{1}{|z|^{N+1}} g\left(\frac{z}{|z|}\right) dz \\ &+ \int_{|z| > r} (U(x+z) - U(x)) \frac{1}{|z|^{N+1}} g\left(\frac{z}{|z|}\right) dz, \end{split}$$

where the function g satisfies

- (H1)  $g \in C(\mathbf{S}^{N-1}), g > 0;$
- (H2)  $\exists r_0 > 0$  such that

$$c_0 := \inf_{e \in [0,1)^N} \int_{\{|z| > r_0\} \cap \{|z+e| > r_0\}} \min\left\{ \frac{1}{|z|^{N+1}} g\left(\frac{z}{|z|}\right), \frac{1}{|z+e|^{N+1}} g\left(\frac{z+e}{|z+e|}\right) \right\} dz > 0$$

On the functions W,  $\sigma$  and  $u_0$  we assume:

- (H3)  $W \in C^{1,1}(\mathbb{R})$  and W(v+1) = W(v) for any  $v \in \mathbb{R}$ ;
- (H4)  $\sigma \in C^{0,1}(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $\sigma(t+1,x) = \sigma(t,x)$ ,  $\sigma(t,x+k) = \sigma(t,x)$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^N$  and  $(t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ ;
- (H5)  $u_0 \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N).$

We prove that the limit  $u^0$  of  $u^\epsilon$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$  exists and is the unique solution of the homogenized problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \overline{H}(\nabla_x u, \mathcal{I}_1[u(t, \cdot)]) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x) & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(4.0.2)

for some continuous function  $\overline{H}$  usually called *effective Hamiltonian*.

#### Notation.

It is convenient to introduce the singular measure defined on  $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}$  by

$$\mu(dz) = \frac{1}{|z|^{N+1}}g\left(\frac{z}{|z|}\right)dz = \mu_0(z)dz,$$

and to denote

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1,r}[U,x] &= \int_{|z| \leq r} (U(x+z) - U(x) - \nabla U(x) \cdot z) \mu(dz), \\ \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r}[U,x] &= \int_{|z| > r} (U(x+z) - U(x)) \mu(dz), \\ \mathcal{I}_{1}[U,x] &= \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1,r}[U,x] + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r}[U,x]. \end{split}$$

Sometimes when r = 1 we will omit r and we will write simply  $\mathcal{I}_1^1$  and  $\mathcal{I}_1^2$ .

See the Appendix for further notations used in this chapter.

#### 4.1 Main results

As usual in periodic homogenization, the limit equation is determined by a *cell* problem. In our case, such a problem is for any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $L \in \mathbb{R}$  the following:

$$\begin{cases} \lambda + \partial_{\tau} v = \mathcal{I}_1[v(\tau, \cdot)] + L - W'(v + \lambda \tau + p \cdot y) + \sigma(\tau, y) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N\\ v(0, y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(4.1.3)

where  $\lambda = \lambda(p, L)$  is the unique number for which there exists a solution of (4.1.3) which is bounded on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ . In order to solve (4.1.3), we show for any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $L \in \mathbb{R}$  the existence of a unique solution of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau} w = \mathcal{I}_1[w(\tau, \cdot)] + L - W'(w + p \cdot y) + \sigma(\tau, y) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N\\ w(0, y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(4.1.4)

and we look for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  for which  $w - \lambda \tau$  is bounded. Precisely we have:

**Theorem 4.1.1** (Ergodicity). Assume (H1)-(H5). For  $L \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , there exists a unique viscosity solution  $w \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  of (4.1.4) and there exists a unique  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  such that w satisfies:  $\frac{w(\tau,y)}{\tau}$  converges towards  $\lambda$  as  $\tau \to +\infty$ , locally uniformly in y. The real number  $\lambda$  is denoted by  $\overline{H}(p, L)$ . The function  $\overline{H}(p, L)$  is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}$  and non-decreasing in L.

With the aid of the bounded solution of (4.1.3), usually called *corrector*, we prove the convergence of the sequence  $u^{\epsilon}$  to the solution of (4.0.2).

**Theorem 4.1.2** (Convergence). Assume (H1)-(H5). The solution  $u^{\epsilon}$  of (4.0.1) converges towards the solution  $u^0$  of (4.0.2) locally uniformly in (t, x), where  $\overline{H}$  is defined in Theorem 4.1.1.

#### 4.2 Results about viscosity solutions for non-local equations

The classical notion of viscosity solution can be adapted for Hamilton-Jacobi equations involving non-local operators, see for instance [12]. In this section we state comparison principles, existence and regularity results for viscosity solutions of (4.0.1) and (4.0.2), that will be used later in the proofs.

#### 4.2.1 Definition of viscosity solution

We first recall the definition of viscosity solution for a general first order non-local equation with associated an initial condition:

$$\begin{cases} u_t = F(t, x, u, Du, \mathcal{I}_1[u]) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x) & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(4.2.5)

where F(t, x, u, p, L) is continuous and non-decreasing in L.

**Definition 4.2.1** (r-viscosity solution). A function  $u \in USC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  (resp.,  $u \in LSC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ ) is a r-viscosity subsolution (resp., supersolution) of (4.2.5) if  $u(0,x) \leq (u_0)^*(x)$  (resp.,  $u(0,x) \geq (u_0)_*(x)$ ) and for any  $(t_0,x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ , any  $\tau \in (0,t_0)$  and any test function  $\phi \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  such that  $u - \phi$  attains a local maximum (resp., minimum) at the point  $(t_0,x_0)$  on  $Q_{(\tau,\tau)}(t_0,x_0)$ , then we have

$$\partial_t \phi(t_0, x_0) - F(t_0, x_0, u(t_0, x_0), \nabla_x \phi(t_0, x_0), \mathcal{I}_1^{1, r}[\phi(t_0, \cdot), x_0] + \mathcal{I}_1^{2, r}[u(t_0, \cdot), x_0]) \le 0$$
  
(resp., > 0).

A function  $u \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  is a r-viscosity solution of (4.2.5) if it is a r-viscosity sub and supersolution of (4.2.5).

It is classical that the maximum in the above definition can be supposed to be global and this will be used later. We have also the following property, see e.g. [12]:

**Proposition 4.2.1** (Equivalence of the definitions). Assume F(t, x, u, p, L) continuous and non-decreasing in L. Let r > 0 and r' > 0. A function  $u \in USC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  (resp.,  $u \in LSC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ ) is a r-viscosity subsolution (resp., supersolution) of (4.2.5) if and only if it is a r'-viscosity subsolution (resp., supersolution) of (4.2.5).

Because of this proposition, if we do not need to emphasize r, we will omit it when calling viscosity sub and supersolutions.

#### 4.2.2 Comparison principle and existence results

In this subsection, we successively give comparison principles and existence results for (4.0.1) and (4.0.2). The following comparison theorem is shown in [81] for more general parabolic integro-PDEs.

**Proposition 4.2.2** (Comparison Principle for (4.0.1)). Consider  $u \in USC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  subsolution and  $v \in LSC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  supersolution of (4.0.1), then  $u \leq v$  on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ .

Following [81] it can also be proved the comparison principle for (4.0.1) in bounded domains. Since we deal with a non-local equation, we need to compare the sub and the supersolution everywhere outside the domain.

**Proposition 4.2.3** (Comparison Principle on bounded domains for (4.0.1)). Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain of  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$  and let  $u \in USC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $v \in LSC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ be respectively a sub and a supersolution of

$$\partial_{\tau} u^{\epsilon} = \mathcal{I}_1[u^{\epsilon}(t,\cdot)] - W'\left(\frac{u^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}\right) + \sigma\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon},\frac{x}{\epsilon}\right)$$

in  $\Omega$ . If  $u \leq v$  outside  $\Omega$ , then  $u \leq v$  in  $\Omega$ .

**Proposition 4.2.4** (Existence for (4.0.1)). For  $\epsilon > 0$  there exists  $u^{\epsilon} \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  (unique) viscosity solution of (4.0.1). Moreover, there exists a constant C > 0 independent of  $\epsilon$  such that

$$|u^{\epsilon}(t,x) - u_0(x)| \le Ct.$$
(4.2.6)

**Proof.** Adapting the argument of [65], we can construct a solution by Perron's method if we construct sub and supersolutions of (4.0.1). Since  $u_0 \in W^{2,\infty}$ , the two functions  $u^+(t,x) := u_0(x)^+_C t$  are respectively a super and a subsolution of (4.0.1) for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , if

$$C \ge D_N \|u_0\|_{2,\infty} + \|W'\|_{\infty} + \|\sigma\|_{\infty},$$

with  $D_N$  depending on the dimension N. By comparison we also get the estimate (4.2.6).

We next recall the comparison and the existence results for (4.0.2).

**Proposition 4.2.5** ([68], Proposition 3). Let  $\overline{H} : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be continuous with  $\overline{H}(p, \cdot)$  non-decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}$  for any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . If  $u \in USC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  and  $v \in LSC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  are respectively a sub and a supersolution of (4.0.2), then  $u \leq v$ on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ . Moreover there exists a (unique) viscosity solution of (4.0.2).

In the next sections, we will embed the problem in the higher dimensional space  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  by adding a new variable  $x_{N+1}$  in the equations. We will need the following proposition showing that sub and supersolutions of the higher dimensional problem are also sub and supersolutions of the lower dimensional one. This in particular implies that the comparison principle between sub and supersolutions remains true increasing the dimension.

**Proposition 4.2.6.** Assume  $F(t, x, x_{N+1}, U, p, L)$  continuous and non-decreasing in L. Suppose that  $U \in LSC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})$  (resp.,  $U \in USC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})$  is a viscosity supersolution (resp., subsolution) of

$$U_t = F(t, x, x_{N+1}, U, D_x U, \mathcal{I}_1[U(t, \cdot, x_{N+1})]) \quad in \quad \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$$

then, for any  $x_{N+1} \in \mathbb{R}$  U is a viscosity supersolution (resp., subsolution) of

$$U_t = F(t, x, x_{N+1}, U, D_x U, \mathcal{I}_1[U(t, \cdot, x_{N+1})]) \quad in \quad \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$$

**Proof.** We show the result for supersolutions. Fix  $x_{N+1}^0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let us consider a point  $(t_0, x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$  and a smooth function  $\varphi : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$U(t, x, x_{N+1}^0) - \varphi(t, x) \ge U(t_0, x_0, x_{N+1}^0) - \varphi(t_0, x_0) = 0 \quad \text{for } (t, x) \in Q_{\tau, r}(t_0, x_0).$$

We have to show that

$$\partial_t \varphi(t_0, x_0) \ge F(t_0, x_0, x_{N+1}^0, U(t_0, x_0, x_{N+1}^0), D_x \varphi(t_0, x_0), \mathcal{I}_1^1[\varphi(t_0, \cdot), x_0] \\ + \mathcal{I}_1^2[U(t_0, \cdot, x_{N+1}^0), x_0]).$$

Without loss of generality, we can assume that the minimum is strict. For  $\epsilon > 0$  let  $\varphi_{\epsilon} : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined by

$$\varphi_{\epsilon}(t, x, x_{N+1}) = \varphi(t, x) - \frac{1}{\epsilon} |x_{N+1} - x_{N+1}^{0}|^{2}.$$

Let  $(t_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}, x_{N+1}^{\epsilon})$  be a minimum point of  $U - \varphi_{\epsilon}$  in  $Q_{\tau,r}(t_0, x_0, x_{N+1}^0)$ . Standard arguments show that  $(t_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}, x_{N+1}^{\epsilon}) \rightarrow (t_0, x_0, x_{N+1}^0)$  as  $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$  and that  $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} U(t_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}, x_{N+1}^{\epsilon}) = U(t_0, x_0, x_{N+1}^0)$ . In particular,  $(t_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}, x_{N+1}^{\epsilon})$  is internal to  $Q_{\tau,r}(t_0, x_0, x_{N+1}^0)$  for  $\epsilon$  small enough, then we get

$$\partial_t \varphi(t_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}) \ge F(t_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}, U(t_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}, x_{N+1}^{\epsilon}), D_x \varphi(t_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}), \mathcal{I}_1^1[\varphi(t_{\epsilon}, \cdot), x_{\epsilon}] + \mathcal{I}_1^2[U(t_{\epsilon}, \cdot, x_{N+1}^{\epsilon}), x_{\epsilon}]).$$

$$(4.2.7)$$

By the Dominate Convergence Theorem  $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathcal{I}_1^1[\varphi(t_{\epsilon}, \cdot), x_{\epsilon}] = \mathcal{I}_1^1[\varphi(t_0, \cdot), x_0]$ ; by the Fatou's Lemma and the convergence of  $U(t_{\epsilon}, x_{\epsilon}, x_{N+1}^{\epsilon})$  to  $U(t_0, x_0, x_{N+1}^0)$ , we deduce that

$$\mathcal{I}_1^2[U(t_0,\cdot,x_{N+1}^0),x_0] \le \liminf_{\epsilon \to 0} \mathcal{I}_1^2[U(t_\epsilon,\cdot,x_{N+1}^\epsilon),x_\epsilon].$$

Then, passing to the limit in (4.2.7) and using the continuity and monotonicity of F, we get the desired inequality.

#### 4.2.3 Hölder regularity

In this subsection we state and prove a regularity result for sub and supersolutions of semilinear non-local equations.

**Proposition 4.2.7** (Hölder regularity). Assume (H1) and let  $g_1, g_2 : \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be bounded functions. Suppose that  $u \in C(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  and bounded on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$  is a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \mathcal{I}_1[u(t,\cdot)] + g_1(t,x,u) & in \quad \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N\\ u(0,x) = 0 & on \quad \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$

and a viscosity supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \mathcal{I}_1[u(t,\cdot)] + g_2(t,x,u) & in \quad \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N\\ u(0,x) = 0 & on \quad \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$

Then, for any  $0 < \alpha < 1$ ,  $u \in C_x^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  with  $\langle u \rangle_x^{\alpha} \leq C$ , where C depends on  $\|u\|_{\infty}, \|g_1\|_{\infty}$  and  $\|g_2\|_{\infty}$ .

Proof.

Suppose by contradiction that u does not belong to  $C_x^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ . Let  $u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}$  and  $u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}$  be respectively the double-parameters sup and inf convolution of u in  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ , i.e.

$$u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,x) = \sup_{(s,y)\in\mathbb{R}^+\times\mathbb{R}^N} \left( u(s,y) - \frac{1}{2\epsilon} |x-y|^2 - \frac{1}{2\epsilon'} (t-s)^2 \right),$$
$$u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,x) = \inf_{(s,y)\in\mathbb{R}^+\times\mathbb{R}^N} \left( u(s,y) + \frac{1}{2\epsilon} |x-y|^2 + \frac{1}{2\epsilon'} (t-s)^2 \right).$$

Then  $u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}$  is semiconvex and is a subsolution of

$$\partial_t u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'} = \mathcal{I}_1[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,\cdot)] + g_1^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,x) \quad \text{in} \quad (t_{\epsilon'},+\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$$

and  $u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}$  is semiconcave and is a supersolution of

$$\partial_t u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'} = \mathcal{I}_1[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,\cdot)] + g_2^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,x) \quad \text{in} \quad (t_{\epsilon'},+\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where  $t_{\epsilon'} \to 0$  as  $\epsilon' \to 0$  and  $g_1^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}$  and  $g_2^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}$  are bounded functions such that  $g_i^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,x) \to g_i(t,x,u(t,x))$  as  $\epsilon,\epsilon' \to 0$ ,  $\|g_i^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}\|_{\infty} = \|g_i\|_{\infty}$ , i = 1, 2, see e.g. [12]. Let us consider smooth functions  $\psi_1(t)$  and  $\psi_2(x)$  with bounded first and second derivatives such that  $\psi_1(t) \to +\infty$  as  $t \to +\infty$ ,  $\psi_2(x) \to +\infty$  as  $|x| \to +\infty$  and there exists  $K_0 > 0$ such that  $|\psi_2(x)| \leq K_0(1 + \sqrt{x})$ . Then, for any K > 0 and  $\epsilon'$  and  $\beta$  small enough, the supremum of the function  $u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,x_1) - u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,x_2) - \phi(t,x_1,x_2)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ , where  $\phi(t,x_1,x_2) = K|x_1 - x_2|^{\alpha} + \beta\psi_1(t) + \beta\psi_2(x_1)$ , is positive and is attained at some point  $(\bar{t},\bar{x}_1,\bar{x}_2) \in (t_{\epsilon'},+\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{2N}$ , with  $\bar{x}_1 \neq \bar{x}_2$ . Remark that

$$\left|\overline{x}_{1} - \overline{x}_{2}\right| \leq \left(\frac{2\sup_{(t,x)\in\mathbb{R}^{+}\times\mathbb{R}^{N}}\left|u(t,x)\right|}{K}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}$$

In order to apply the Jensen's Lemma, see e.g. Lemma A.3 of [40], we have to transform  $(\bar{t}, \bar{x}_1, \bar{x}_2)$  into a strict maximum point. To do so, we consider a smooth bounded function  $h : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}$ , with bounded derivatives, such that h(0) = 0 and h(s) > 0 for s > 0 and we set  $\theta(t, x_1, x_2) = h((t - \bar{t})^2) + h(|x_1 - \bar{x}_1|^2) + h(|x_2 - \bar{x}_2|^2)$ . Next we consider a smooth function  $\chi : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\chi(x) = 1$  if  $|x| \leq 1/4$  and  $\chi(x) = 0$  for  $|x| \geq 1/2$ . Clearly  $(\bar{t}, \bar{x}_1, \bar{x}_2)$  is a strict maximum point of  $u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t, x_1) - u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t, x_2) - \phi(t, x_1, x_2) - \theta(t, x_1, x_2)$  and by Jensen's Lemma, for every small and positive  $\delta$  there exist  $t^{\delta} \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $q_1^{\delta}, q_2^{\delta} \in \mathbb{R}^N$  with  $|t^{\delta}|, |q_1^{\delta}|, |q_2^{\delta}| \leq \delta$  such that the function

$$u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,x_1) - u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t,x_2) - K|x_1 - x_2|^{\alpha} - \varphi_1(t,x_1) - \varphi_2(x_2), \qquad (4.2.8)$$

where

$$\varphi_1(t, x_1) = \beta \psi_1(t) + \beta \psi_2(x_1) + h((t - \overline{t})^2) + h(|x_1 - \overline{x}_1|^2) + t^{\delta}t + \chi(x_1 - \overline{x}_1)q_1^{\delta} \cdot x_1,$$
$$\varphi_2(x_2) = h(|x_2 - \overline{x}_2|^2) + \chi(x_2 - \overline{x}_2)q_2^{\delta} \cdot x_2,$$

has a maximum at  $(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}, x_2^{\delta})$  with  $|t_{\delta} - \overline{t}|$ ,  $|x_1^{\delta} - \overline{x}_1|$ ,  $|x_2^{\delta} - \overline{x}_2| \leq \delta$  and  $u^{\epsilon, \epsilon'}(t, x_1) - u_{\epsilon, \epsilon'}(t, x_2)$  twice differentiable at  $(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}, x_2^{\delta})$ . In particular  $u^{\epsilon, \epsilon'}$  is twice differentiable

w.r.t.  $x_1$  at  $(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta})$  and  $u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}$  is twice differentiable with respect to  $x_2$  at  $(t^{\delta}, x_2^{\delta})$ . Moreover, the fact that  $(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}, x_2^{\delta})$  is a maximum point implies that

$$\nabla_{x_1} u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}) = \nabla_{x_2} u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_2^{\delta}) + \nabla_{x_1} \varphi_1(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}) + \nabla_{x_2} \varphi_2(x_2^{\delta}),$$

and for any  $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_{1}^{\delta} + z) - u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_{1}^{\delta}) - \nabla_{x_{1}}u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_{1}^{\delta}) \cdot z\mathbf{1}_{B}(z)$$

$$\leq u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_{2}^{\delta} + z) - u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_{2}^{\delta}) - \nabla_{x_{2}}u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_{2}^{\delta}) \cdot z\mathbf{1}_{B}(z)$$

$$+ \varphi_{1}(t^{\delta}, x_{1}^{\delta} + z) - \varphi_{1}(t^{\delta}, x_{1}^{\delta}) - \nabla_{x_{1}}\varphi_{1}(t^{\delta}, x_{1}^{\delta}) \cdot z\mathbf{1}_{B}(z)$$

$$+ \varphi_{2}(x_{2}^{\delta} + z) - \varphi_{2}(x_{2}^{\delta}) - \nabla_{x_{2}}\varphi_{2}(x_{2}^{\delta}) \cdot z\mathbf{1}_{B}(z),$$

$$(4.2.9)$$

where we denote by B the unit ball of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and by  $\mathbf{1}_B(z)$  the indicator function of B. The last inequality, in particular implies that

$$\mathcal{I}_1^2[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_1^{\delta}] \leq \mathcal{I}_1^2[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_2^{\delta}] + \mathcal{I}_1^2[\varphi_1(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_1^{\delta}] + \mathcal{I}_1^2[\varphi_2,x_2^{\delta}].$$

By doubling the variables and passing to the limit, we can obtain the following viscosity inequalities

$$\begin{aligned} a &\leq \mathcal{I}_1[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_1^{\delta}] + g_1^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},x_1^{\delta}), \\ b &\geq \mathcal{I}_1[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_2^{\delta}] + g_2^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},x_2^{\delta}), \end{aligned}$$

with  $a - b = \partial_t \varphi_1(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta})$ . Then, using (4.2.9), we get

$$\begin{aligned} a &\leq \mathcal{I}_{1}[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{1}^{\delta}] + g_{1}^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},x_{1}^{\delta}) \\ &\leq \mathcal{I}_{1}[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{2}^{\delta}] + g_{2}^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},x_{2}^{\delta}) + \|g_{1}\|_{\infty} + \|g_{2}\|_{\infty} \\ &+ \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2}[\varphi_{1}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{1}^{\delta}] + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2}[\varphi_{2},x_{2}^{\delta}] + (\mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{1}^{\delta}] - \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{2}^{\delta}]) \quad (4.2.10) \\ &\leq b + \|g_{1}\|_{\infty} + \|g_{2}\|_{\infty} + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2}[\varphi_{1}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{1}^{\delta}] + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2}[\varphi_{2},x_{2}^{\delta}] \\ &+ (\mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{1}^{\delta}] - \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{2}^{\delta}]). \end{aligned}$$

Now, let us estimate the term  $\mathcal{I}_1^1[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_1^{\delta}] - \mathcal{I}_1^1[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_2^{\delta}]$ . For  $\delta$  small enough, we can assume  $x_1^{\delta} \neq x_2^{\delta}$ . Since  $(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}, x_2^{\delta})$  is a maximum point for the function (4.2.8) we have

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} X & 0\\ 0 & Y \end{array}\right) \le \left(\begin{array}{cc} B & -B\\ -B & B \end{array}\right)$$

where

$$\begin{split} X &= D_{x_1x_1}^2 u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}) - D_{x_1x_1}^2 \varphi_1(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}), \quad Y = -D_{x_2x_2}^2 u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_2^{\delta}) - D_{x_2x_2}^2 \varphi(x_2^{\delta}), \\ B &= \alpha K |x_1^{\delta} - x_2^{\delta}|^{\alpha - 2} (I + (\alpha - 2)P) \quad \text{and} \quad P = \frac{(x_1^{\delta} - x_2^{\delta}) \otimes (x_1^{\delta} - x_2^{\delta})}{|x_1^{\delta} - x_2^{\delta}|^2}, \end{split}$$

where  $\otimes$  is the tensor product of matrices. This implies that  $X + Y \leq 0$  and  $X + Y \leq 4B$ . We need a more precise estimate as in [75]. Since  $0 \leq P \leq I$ , using the properties of symmetric matrices one has

$$X + Y \le (X + Y)P \le 4PB,$$

that is

$$D_{x_1x_1}^2 u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}) - D_{x_2x_2}^2 u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_2^{\delta}) \le 4PB + D_{x_1x_1}^2 \varphi_1(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}) + D_{x_2x_2}^2 \varphi(x_2^{\delta}).$$
(4.2.11)

Now, we are ready to estimate  $\mathcal{I}_1^1[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_1^{\delta}] - \mathcal{I}_1^1[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_2^{\delta}]$ . We first remark that from (4.2.9) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{1}^{\delta}] - \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{2}^{\delta}] &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{|z| \le 1} \left\{ z^{t} \left[ D_{x_{1}x_{1}}^{2} u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},x_{1}^{\delta}) - D_{x_{2}x_{2}}^{2} u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},x_{2}^{\delta}) \right] z + o_{\epsilon,\epsilon',\delta}(|z|^{2}) \right\} \mu(dz) \le C \end{aligned}$$

where C is independent of the parameters. Moreover, by semiconvexity we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{|z| \le 1} \left\{ z^t \left[ D_{x_1 x_1}^2 u^{\epsilon, \epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}) - D_{x_2 x_2}^2 u_{\epsilon, \epsilon'}(t^{\delta}, x_2^{\delta}) \right] z \right\} \mu(dz) \ge -\frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{|z| \le 1} |z|^2 \mu(dz).$$

The two previous inequalities imply that the quantity  $\int_{|z|\leq 1} o_{\epsilon,\epsilon',\delta}(|z|^2)\mu(dz)$  is bounded from above by  $C + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{|z|\leq 1} |z|^2 \mu(dz)$ . Using this estimate, (4.2.11) and that P is idempotent, i.e.,  $P^2 = P$ , we get

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[u^{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{1}^{\delta}] - \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[u_{\epsilon,\epsilon'}(t^{\delta},\cdot),x_{2}^{\delta}] &\leq 2\int_{|z|\leq 1} z^{t}BPz\mu(dz) + \tilde{C} + \frac{1}{\epsilon}\int_{|z|\leq 1} |z|^{2}\mu(dz) \\ &= -2\alpha K|x_{1}^{\delta} - x_{2}^{\delta}|^{\alpha-2}(1-\alpha)\int_{|z|\leq 1} z^{t}Pz\mu(dz) + \tilde{C} + \frac{1}{\epsilon}\int_{|z|\leq 1} |z|^{2}\mu(dz). \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.2.12)$$

Remark that by (H1)

$$\int_{|z| \le 1} z^t P z \mu(dz) = C_N > 0.$$

Finally, from (4.2.10) and (4.2.12), we obtain

$$2\alpha K |x_1^{\delta} - x_2^{\delta}|^{\alpha - 2} (1 - \alpha) C_N \leq \widetilde{C} + \frac{C_N}{\epsilon} - \partial_t \varphi_1(t^{\delta}, x_1^{\delta}) + ||g_1||_{\infty} + ||g_2||_{\infty} + \mathcal{I}_1^2 [\varphi_1(t^{\delta}, \cdot), x_1^{\delta}] + \mathcal{I}_1^2 [\varphi_2, x_2^{\delta}] \leq \widetilde{C} + \frac{\widetilde{C}_N}{\epsilon} + \beta ||\psi_1'||_{\infty} + ||h'||_{\infty} + C\delta + ||g_1||_{\infty} + ||g_2||_{\infty} + C\beta K_0 + C ||h||_{\infty},$$

which is a contradiction for K large enough and fixed  $\epsilon$ . Hence  $u \in C_x^{\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$ .

#### 4.3 The proof of convergence

This section is dedicated to the proof of Theorem 4.1.2. Before presenting it, we first imbed the problem in a higher dimensional one. Precisely, we consider  $U^{\epsilon}$  solution of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t U^{\epsilon} = \mathcal{I}_1[U^{\epsilon}(t, \cdot, x_{N+1})] - W'\left(\frac{U^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}\right) + \sigma\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}\right) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ U^{\epsilon}(0, x, x_{N+1}) = u_0(x) + x_{N+1} & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$
(4.3.13)

By Proposition 4.2.6 and Proposition 4.2.2, the comparison principle holds true for (4.3.13). Then, as in the proof of Proposition 4.2.4, by Perron's method we have:

**Proposition 4.3.1** (Existence for (4.3.13)). For  $\epsilon > 0$  there exists  $U^{\epsilon} \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})$  (unique) viscosity solution of (4.3.13). Moreover, there exists a constant C > 0 independent of  $\epsilon$  such that

$$|U^{\epsilon}(t, x, x_{N+1}) - u_0(x) - x_{N+1}| \le Ct.$$
(4.3.14)

Let us exhibit the link between the problem in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and the problem in  $\mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ .

**Lemma 4.3.2** (Link between the problems on  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and on  $\mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ ). If  $u^{\epsilon}$  and  $U^{\epsilon}$  denote respectively the solution of (4.0.1) and (4.3.13), then we have

$$\left| U^{\epsilon}(t, x, x_{N+1}) - u^{\epsilon}(t, x) - \epsilon \left\lfloor \frac{x_{N+1}}{\epsilon} \right\rfloor \right| \leq \epsilon,$$
$$U^{\epsilon}\left(t, x, x_{N+1} + \epsilon \left\lfloor \frac{a}{\epsilon} \right\rfloor\right) = U^{\epsilon}(t, x, x_{N+1}) + \epsilon \left\lfloor \frac{a}{\epsilon} \right\rfloor \quad \text{for any } a \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(4.3.15)

This lemma is a consequence of comparison principle for (4.3.13) and of invariance by  $\epsilon$ -translations w.r.t.  $x_{N+1}$ .

We need to make more precise the dependence of the real number  $\lambda$  given by Theorem 4.1.1 on its variables. The following properties will be shown in the next section.

**Proposition 4.3.3** (Properties of the effective Hamiltonian). Let  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $L \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let  $\overline{H}(p, L)$  be the constant defined by Theorem 4.1.1, then  $\overline{H} : \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function with the following properties:

- (i)  $\overline{H}(p,L) \to +\infty$  as  $L \to +\infty$  for any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ;
- (ii)  $\overline{H}(p,\cdot)$  is non-decreasing on  $\mathbb{R}$  for any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ;
- (iii) If  $\sigma(\tau, y) = \sigma(\tau, -y)$  then

$$\overline{H}(p,L) = \overline{H}(-p,L);$$

(iv) If W'(-s) = -W'(s) and  $\sigma(\tau, -y) = -\sigma(\tau, y)$  then

$$\overline{H}(p, -L) = -\overline{H}(p, L).$$

In the proof of convergence, we will use smooth approximate sub and supercorrectors on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ . More precisely, we consider for  $P = (p, 1) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  and  $L \in \mathbb{R}$ :

$$\begin{cases} \lambda + \partial_{\tau} V = L + \mathcal{I}_1[U(\tau, \cdot, y_{N+1})] - W'(V + P \cdot Y + \lambda \tau) + \sigma(\tau, y) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ V(0, Y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.3.16)$$

Here and in what follows, we denote  $Y = (y, y_{N+1})$ . We will use also the notation  $X = (x, x_{N+1})$ .

Then, we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 4.3.4** (Smooth approximate correctors). Let  $\lambda$  be the constant defined by Theorem 4.1.1. For any fixed  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , P = (p, 1),  $L \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\eta > 0$  small enough, there exist real numbers  $\lambda_{\eta}^+(p, L)$ ,  $\lambda_{\eta}^-(p, L)$ , a constant C > 0 (independent of  $\eta$ , pand L) and bounded super and subcorrectors  $V_{\eta}^+, V_{\eta}^-$  i.e. respectively a super and a subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{\eta}^{+} + \partial_{\tau} V_{\eta}^{+} = L + \mathcal{I}_{1} [V_{\eta}^{+} (\tau, \cdot, y_{N+1})] \\ -W'(V_{\eta}^{-} + P \cdot Y + \lambda_{\eta}^{+} \tau) + \sigma(\tau, y)_{+}^{-} o_{\eta}(1) & in \ \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ V_{\eta}^{+} (0, Y) = 0 & on \ \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \end{cases}$$

$$(4.3.17)$$

where  $0 \leq o_{\eta}(1) \rightarrow 0$  as  $\eta \rightarrow 0^+$ , such that

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \lambda_{\eta}^+(p, L) = \lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \lambda_{\eta}^-(p, L) = \lambda(p, L),$$
(4.3.18)

 $\lambda_{\eta}^{+}$  satisfy (i) and (ii) of Proposition 4.3.3 and for any  $(\tau, Y) \in \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ 

$$|V_{\eta}^{+}(\tau,Y)| \le C. \tag{4.3.19}$$

Moreover  $V_{\eta}^{+}$  are of class  $C^2$  w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$ , and for any  $0 < \alpha < 1$ 

$$-1 \le \partial_{y_{N+1}} V_{\eta}^{+} \le \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta}, \qquad (4.3.20)$$

$$<\partial_{y_{N+1}}V_{\eta}^{+}>_{y}^{\alpha}, \|\partial_{y_{N+1}y_{N+1}}^{2}V_{\eta}^{+}\|_{\infty} \le C_{\eta}.$$
 (4.3.21)

#### 4.3.1 Proof of Theorem 4.1.2

By (4.3.14), we know that the family of functions  $\{U^{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon>0}$  is locally bounded, then  $U^+ := \limsup_{\epsilon \to 0}^* U^{\epsilon}$  is everywhere finite. Classically we prove that  $U^+$  is a subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t U = \overline{H}(\nabla_x U, \mathcal{I}_1[U(t, \cdot, x_{N+1})]) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ U(0, x, x_{N+1}) = u_0(x) + x_{N+1} & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$
(4.3.22)

Similarly, we can prove that  $U^- = \liminf_{* \epsilon \to 0} U^{\epsilon}$  is a supersolution of (4.3.22). Moreover  $U^+(0, x, x_{N+1}) = U^-(0, x, x_{N+1}) = u_0(x) + x_{N+1}$ . The comparison principle for (4.3.22), which is an immediate consequence of Propositions 4.2.5 and 4.2.6, then implies that  $U^+ \leq U^-$ . Since the reverse inequality  $U^- \leq U^+$  always holds true, we conclude that the two functions coincide with  $U^0$ , the unique viscosity solution of (4.3.22).

The link between problems (4.0.2) and (4.3.22) is given by the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.3.5.** Let  $u^0$  and  $U^0$  be respectively the solutions of (4.0.2) and (4.3.22). Then, we have

$$U^{0}(t, x, x_{N+1}) = u^{0}(t, x) + x_{N+1},$$
$$U^{0}(t, x, x_{N+1} + a) = U^{0}(t, x, x_{N+1}) + a.$$

Lemma 4.3.5 is a consequence of comparison principle for (4.3.22) and the invariance by translations w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$ .

By Lemmata 4.3.2 and 4.3.5, the convergence of  $U^{\epsilon}$  to  $U^{0}$  proves in particular that  $u^{\epsilon}$  converges towards  $u^{0}$  viscosity solution of (4.0.2).

We argue by contradiction. We consider a test function  $\phi$  such that  $U^+ - \phi$  attains a strict global zero maximum at  $(t_0, X_0)$  with  $t_0 > 0$  and  $X_0 = (x_0, x_{N+1}^0)$ , and we suppose that there exists  $\theta > 0$  such that

$$\partial_t \phi(t_0, X_0) = H(\nabla_x \phi(t_0, X_0), L_0) + \theta,$$

where

$$L_{0} = \int_{|x| \le 1} (\phi(t_{0}, x_{0} + x, x_{N+1}^{0}) - \phi(t_{0}, X_{0}) - \nabla_{x} \phi(t_{0}, X_{0}) \cdot x) \mu(dx) + \int_{|x| > 1} (U^{+}(t_{0}, x_{0} + x, x_{N+1}^{0}) - U^{+}(t_{0}, X_{0})) \mu(dx).$$

$$(4.3.23)$$

By Proposition 4.3.3, we know that there exists  $L_1 > 0$  such that

$$\overline{H}(\nabla_x \phi(t_0, X_0), L_0) + \theta = \overline{H}(\nabla_x \phi(t_0, X_0), L_0 + L_1).$$

By Proposition 4.3.4, we can consider a sequence  $L_{\eta} \to L_1$  as  $\eta \to 0^+$ , such that  $\lambda_{\eta}^+(\nabla_x \phi(t_0, X_0), L_0 + L_{\eta}) = \lambda(\nabla_x \phi(t_0, X_0), L_0 + L_1)$ . We choose  $\eta$  so small that  $L_{\eta} - o_{\eta}(1) \ge L_1/2 > 0$ , where  $o_{\eta}(1)$  is defined in Proposition 4.3.4. Let  $V_{\eta}^+$  be the approximate supercorrector given by Proposition 4.3.4 with

$$p = \nabla_x \phi(t_0, X_0), \quad L = L_0 + L_\eta$$

and

$$\lambda_n^+ = \lambda_n^+(p, L_0 + L_\eta) = \partial_t \phi(t_0, X_0).$$

For simplicity of notations, in the following we denote  $V = V_{\eta}^+$ . We consider the function  $F(t, X) = \phi(t, X) - p \cdot x - \lambda t$ , and as in [67] and [68] we introduce the " $x_{N+1}$ -twisted perturbed test function"  $\phi^{\epsilon}$  defined by:

$$\phi^{\epsilon}(t,X) := \begin{cases} \phi(t,X) + \epsilon V\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{F(t,X)}{\epsilon}\right) + \epsilon k_{\epsilon} & \text{in } \left(\frac{t_0}{2}, 2t_0\right) \times B_{\frac{1}{2}}(X_0) \\ U^{\epsilon}(t,X) & \text{outside,} \end{cases}$$
(4.3.24)

where  $k_{\epsilon} \in \mathbb{Z}$  will be chosen later. We are going to prove that  $\phi^{\epsilon}$  is a supersolution of (4.3.13) in  $Q_{r,r}(t_0, X_0)$  for some  $r < \frac{1}{2}$  properly chosen and such that  $Q_{r,r}(t_0, X_0) \subset (\frac{t_0}{2}, 2t_0) \times B_{\frac{1}{2}}(X_0)$ . First, remark that since  $U^+ - \phi$  attains a strict maximum at  $(t_0, X_0)$  and V is bounded, we can ensure that there exists  $\epsilon_0 = \epsilon_0(r) > 0$  such that for  $\epsilon \leq \epsilon_0$ 

$$U^{\epsilon}(t,X) \le \phi(t,X) + \epsilon V\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{F(t,X)}{\epsilon}\right) - \gamma_r, \quad \text{in } \left(\frac{t_0}{3}, 3t_0\right) \times B_1(x_0) \setminus Q_{r,r}(t_0,x_0)$$

$$(4.3.25)$$

for some  $\gamma_r = o_r(1) > 0$ . Hence choosing  $k_{\epsilon} = \left\lceil \frac{-\gamma_r}{\epsilon} \right\rceil$  we get  $U^{\epsilon} \leq \phi^{\epsilon}$  outside  $Q_{r,r}(t_0, X_0)$ .

Let us next study the equation. From (4.3.15), we deduce that  $U^+(t, x, x_{N+1} + a) = U^+(t, x, x_{N+1}) + a$  for any  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ , from which we derive that  $\partial_{x_{N+1}}F(t_0, X_0) = \partial_{x_{N+1}}\phi(t_0, X_0) = 1$ . Then, there exists  $r_0 > 0$  such that the map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} Id \times F : & Q_{r_0,r_0}(t_0,X_0) & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{U}_{r_0} \\ & (t,x,x_{N+1}) & \longmapsto & (t,x,F(t,x,x_{N+1})) \end{array}$$

is a  $C^1$ -diffeomorphism from  $Q_{r_0,r_0}(t_0, X_0)$  onto its range  $\mathcal{U}_{r_0}$ . Let  $G: \mathcal{U}_{r_0} \to \mathbb{R}$  be the map such that

$$Id \times G: \begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{U}_{r_0} & \longrightarrow & Q_{r_0,r_0}(t_0, X_0) \\ (t, x, \xi_{N+1}) & \longmapsto & (t, x, G(t, x, \xi_{N+1})) \end{array}$$

is the inverse of  $Id \times F$ . Let us introduce the variables  $\tau = t/\epsilon$ ,  $Y = (y, y_{N+1})$  with  $y = x/\epsilon$  and  $y_{N+1} = F(t, X)/\epsilon$ . Let us consider a test function  $\psi$  such that  $\phi^{\epsilon} - \psi$  attains a global zero minimum at  $(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) \in Q_{r_0, r_0}(t_0, X_0)$  and define

$$\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\tau,Y) = \frac{1}{\epsilon} [\psi(\epsilon\tau,\epsilon y, G(\epsilon\tau,\epsilon y,\epsilon y_{N+1})) - \phi(\epsilon\tau,\epsilon y, G(\epsilon\tau,\epsilon y,\epsilon y_{N+1}))] - k_{\epsilon}.$$

Then

$$\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) = V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\tau, Y) \leq V(\tau, Y) \quad \text{for all } (\epsilon\tau, \epsilon Y) \in Q_{r_0, r_0}(t_0, X_0),$$
(4.3.26)

where  $\overline{\tau} = \overline{t}/\epsilon$ ,  $\overline{y} = \overline{x}/\epsilon$ ,  $\overline{y}_{N+1} = F(\overline{t}, \overline{X})/\epsilon$ ,  $\overline{Y} = (\overline{y}, \overline{y}_{N+1})$ . From Proposition 4.3.4, we know that V is Lipschitz continuous w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$  with Lipschitz constant  $L_{\eta}$  depending on  $\eta$ . This implies that

$$|\partial_{y_{N+1}}\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y})| \le L_{\eta}.$$
(4.3.27)

Simple computations yield with  $P = (p, 1) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ :

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{\eta}^{+} + \partial_{\tau}\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y}) = \partial_{t}\psi(\overline{t},\overline{X}) + \left(1 - \partial_{y_{N+1}}\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y})\right)\left(\partial_{t}\phi(t_{0},X_{0}) - \partial_{t}\phi(\overline{t},\overline{X})\right),\\ p + \nabla_{y}\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y}) = \nabla_{x}\psi(\overline{t},\overline{X}) + \left(1 - \partial_{y_{N+1}}\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y})\right)\left(\nabla_{x}\phi(t_{0},X_{0}) - \nabla_{x}\phi(\overline{t},\overline{X})\right),\\ \lambda_{\eta}^{+}\overline{\tau} + P \cdot \overline{Y} + V(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y}) = \frac{\phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t},\overline{X})}{\epsilon} - k_{\epsilon}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.3.28)$$

Using (4.3.28) and (4.3.27), Equation (4.3.17) yields for any  $\rho > 0$ 

$$\partial_{t}\psi(\overline{t},\overline{X}) + o_{r}(1) \geq L_{0} + L_{\eta} + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1,\rho}[\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,\rho}[V(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] \\ - W'\left(\frac{\phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t},\overline{X})}{\epsilon}\right) + \sigma\left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon},\frac{\overline{x}}{\epsilon}\right) - o_{\eta}(1).$$

$$(4.3.29)$$

We now use the following lemma whose proof is postponed:

**Lemma 4.3.6.** For  $\epsilon \leq \epsilon_0(r) < r \leq r_0$ , we have

$$\partial_t \psi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) \ge \mathcal{I}_1^{1,1} \left[ \psi(\overline{t}, \cdot, \overline{x}_{N+1}), \overline{x} \right] + \mathcal{I}_1^{2,1} \left[ \phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t}, \cdot, \overline{x}_{N+1}), \overline{x} \right] \\ - W' \left( \frac{\phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t}, \overline{X})}{\epsilon} \right) + \sigma \left( \frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{x}}{\epsilon} \right) - o_{\eta}(1) + o_r(1) + L_{\eta}$$

Let  $r \leq r_0$  be so small that  $o_r(1) \geq -L_1/4$ . Then, recalling that  $L_\eta - o_\eta(1) \geq L_1/2$ , for  $\epsilon \leq \epsilon_0(r)$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t \psi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) &\geq \mathcal{I}_1^{1,1} \left[ \psi(\overline{t}, \cdot, \overline{x}_{N+1}), \overline{x} \right] + \mathcal{I}_1^{2,1} \left[ \phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t}, \cdot, \overline{x}_{N+1}), \overline{x} \right] - W' \left( \frac{\phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t}, \overline{X})}{\epsilon} \right) \\ &+ \sigma \left( \frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{x}}{\epsilon} \right) + \frac{L_1}{4}, \end{aligned}$$

and therefore  $\phi^{\epsilon}$  is a supersolution of (4.3.13) in  $Q_{r,r}(t_0, X_0)$ . Since  $U^{\epsilon} \leq \phi^{\epsilon}$  outside  $Q_{r,r}(t_0, X_0)$ , by the comparison principle, Proposition 4.2.3, we conclude that  $U^{\epsilon}(t, X) \leq \phi(t, X) + \epsilon V\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{F(t, X)}{\epsilon}\right) + \epsilon k_{\epsilon}$  in  $Q_{r,r}(t_0, X_0)$  and we obtain the desired contradiction by passing to the upper limit as  $\epsilon \to 0$  at  $(t_0, X_0)$  using the fact that  $U^+(t_0, X_0) = \phi(t_0, X_0)$ :  $0 \leq -\gamma_r$ .

#### Proof of Lemma 4.3.6. We call

$$L_0^1 = \int_{|x| \le 1} (\phi(t_0, x_0 + x, x_{N+1}^0) - \phi(t_0, X_0) - \nabla \phi(t_0, X_0) \cdot x) \mu(dx),$$
$$L_0^2 = \int_{|x| > 1} (U^+(t_0, x_0 + x, x_{N+1}^0) - U^+(t_0, X_0)) \mu(dx).$$

Then

$$L_0 = L_0^1 + L_0^2. (4.3.30)$$

Keep in mind that  $\overline{y}_N = \frac{F(\overline{t},\overline{X})}{\epsilon}$ . Since  $\psi(t,X) = \phi(t,X) + \epsilon \Gamma^{\epsilon} \left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{F(t,X)}{\epsilon}\right) + \epsilon k_{\epsilon}$ , we have

$$\mathcal{I}_1^{1,1}\left[\psi^{\epsilon}(\bar{t},\cdot,\bar{x}_{N+1}),\bar{x}\right] = I_1 + I_2, \qquad (4.3.31)$$

where

$$\begin{split} I_1 &= \int_{|x| \le 1} \epsilon \left( \Gamma^{\epsilon} \left( \frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{x} + x}{\epsilon}, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + x, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} \right) - \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) - \nabla_y \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \cdot \frac{x}{\epsilon} \right) \\ &- \partial_{y_{N+1}} \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \nabla_x F(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) \cdot \frac{x}{\epsilon} \right) \mu(dx), \\ I_2 &= \int_{|x| \le 1} \left( \phi(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + x, \overline{x}_{N+1}) - \phi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) - \nabla \phi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) \cdot x \right) \mu(dx). \end{split}$$

To show the result, we proceed in several steps. In what follows, we denote by C various positive constants independent of  $\epsilon$ .

**Step 1:** We can choose  $\epsilon_0$  so small that for any  $\epsilon \leq \epsilon_0$  and any  $\rho > 0$  small enough

$$I_1 \leq \mathcal{I}_1^{1,\rho}[\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + \mathcal{I}_1^{2,\rho}[V(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + o_r(1) + C_{\epsilon}\rho.$$

Take  $\rho > 0$ ,  $\delta > \rho$  small and R > 0 large and such that  $\epsilon R < 1$ . Since g is even, we can write

$$I_1 = I_1^0 + I_1^1 + I_1^2 + I_1^3,$$

where

$$\begin{split} I_{1}^{0} &= \int_{|x| \leq \epsilon\rho} \epsilon \left( \Gamma^{\epsilon} \left( \frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{x} + x}{\epsilon}, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + x, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} \right) - \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) - \nabla_{y} \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \cdot \frac{x}{\epsilon} \right) \\ &- \partial_{y_{N+1}} \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \nabla_{x} F(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) \cdot \frac{x}{\epsilon} \right) \mu(dx), \\ I_{1}^{1} &= \int_{\epsilon\rho \leq |x| \leq \epsilon\delta} \epsilon \left( \Gamma^{\epsilon} \left( \frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{x} + x}{\epsilon}, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + x, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} \right) - \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \right) \mu(dx), \\ I_{1}^{2} &= \int_{\epsilon\delta \leq |x| \leq \epsilonR} \epsilon \left( \Gamma^{\epsilon} \left( \frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{x} + x}{\epsilon}, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + x, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} \right) - \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \right) \mu(dx), \\ I_{1}^{3} &= \int_{\epsilon R \leq |x| \leq 1} \epsilon \left( \Gamma^{\epsilon} \left( \frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{x} + x}{\epsilon}, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + x, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} \right) - \Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \right) \mu(dx), \end{split}$$

and

$$\mathcal{I}_1^{2,\rho}[V(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] = J_1 + J_2 + J_3,$$

where

$$J_{1} = \int_{\rho < |z| \le \delta} (V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \overline{y}_{N+1}) - V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y})) \mu(dz),$$
  
$$J_{1} = \int_{\delta < |z| \le R} (V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \overline{y}_{N+1}) - V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y})) \mu(dz),$$
  
$$J_{3} = \int_{|z| > R} (V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \overline{y}_{N+1}) - V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y})) \mu(dz).$$

STEP 1.1: Estimate of  $I_1^0$  and  $\mathcal{I}_1^{1,\rho}[\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}]$ . Since  $\Gamma^{\epsilon}$  is of class  $C^2$ , we have

$$|I_1^0|, |\mathcal{I}_1^{1,\rho}[\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}]| \le C_{\epsilon}\rho, \qquad (4.3.32)$$

where  $C_{\epsilon}$  depends on the second derivatives of  $\Gamma^{\epsilon}$ . STEP 1.2 *Estimate of*  $I_1^1 - J_1$ . Using (4.3.26) and the fact that g is even, we can estimate  $I_1^1 - J_1$  as follows

$$\begin{split} I_{1}^{1} - J_{1} &\leq \int_{\rho < |z| \leq \delta} \left[ V\left(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + \epsilon z, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} \right) - V\left(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x})}{\epsilon} \right) \right] \mu(dz) \\ &= \int_{\rho < |z| \leq \delta} \left\{ \left[ V\left(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + \epsilon z, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} \right) - V\left(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x})}{\epsilon} \right) \right. \\ &\left. - \partial_{y_{N+1}} V\left(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{X})}{\epsilon} \right) \nabla_{x} F(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) \cdot z \right] \\ &\left. + \left[ \partial_{y_{N+1}} V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \overline{y}_{N+1}) - \partial_{y_{N+1}} V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \right] \nabla_{x} F(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) \cdot z \right\} \mu(dz). \end{split}$$

Next, using (4.3.20) and (4.3.21), we get

$$I_1^1 - J_1 \le C \int_{|z| \le \delta} (|z|^2 + |z|^{1+\alpha}) \mu(dz) \le C\delta^{\alpha}.$$
(4.3.33)

STEP 1.3 Estimate of  $I_1^2 - J_2$ . If  $L_\eta$  is the Lipschitz constant of V w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$ , then

$$\begin{split} I_1^2 - J_2 &\leq \int_{\delta < |z| \leq R} \left( V\left(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + \epsilon z, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} \right) - V\left(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{X})}{\epsilon} \right) \right) \mu(dz) \\ &\leq L_\eta \int_{\delta < |z| \leq R} \left| \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + \epsilon z, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} - \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{X})}{\epsilon} \right| \mu(dz) \\ &\leq L_\eta \int_{\delta < |z| \leq R} \sup_{|z| \leq R} |\nabla_x F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + \epsilon z, \overline{x}_{N+1})||z|\mu(dz). \end{split}$$

Then

$$I_1^2 - J_2 \le C \sup_{|z| \le R} |\nabla_x F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + \epsilon z, \overline{x}_{N+1})| \log(R/\delta)$$
(4.3.34)

STEP 1.4: Estimate of  $I_1^3$  and  $J_3$ . Since V is uniformly bounded on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ , we have

$$I_1^3 \leq \int_{R < |z| \leq \frac{1}{\epsilon}} \left( V\left(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + z, \frac{F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + \epsilon z, \overline{x}_{N+1})}{\epsilon} \right) - V(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \right) \mu(dz)$$

$$\leq \int_{|z| > R} 2 \|v\|_{\infty} \mu(dz) \leq \frac{C}{R}.$$
(4.3.35)

Similarly

$$J_3 \le \frac{C}{R}.\tag{4.3.36}$$

Now, from (4.3.32), (4.3.33), (4.3.34), (4.3.35) and (4.3.36), we infer that

$$I_{1} \leq \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1,\rho}[\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,\rho}[V(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + 2C_{\epsilon}\rho + C\delta^{\alpha} + C\sup_{|z|\leq R} |\nabla_{x}F(\overline{t},\overline{x}+\epsilon z,\overline{x}_{N+1})|\log\left(\frac{R}{\delta}\right) + \frac{C}{R}.$$

We choose R = R(r) such  $R \to +\infty$  as  $r \to 0^+$ ,  $\epsilon_0 = \epsilon_0(r)$  such that  $R\epsilon_0(r) \le r$ and  $\delta = \delta(r) > 0$  such that  $\delta \to 0$  as  $r \to 0^+$  and  $r \log(R/\delta) \to 0$  as  $r \to 0^+$ . With this choice, for any  $\epsilon \le \epsilon_0$  and any  $\rho < \delta$ 

$$C\delta^{\alpha} + C \sup_{|z| \le R} |\nabla_x F(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + \epsilon z, \overline{x}_{N+1})| \log\left(\frac{R}{\delta}\right) + \frac{C}{R} = o_r(1) \quad \text{as } r \to 0^+,$$

and Step 1 is proved.

Step 2: 
$$I_2 \leq L_0^1 + o_r(1)$$
.

For  $0 < \nu < 1$  we can split  $I_2$  and  $L_0^1$  as follows

$$I_{2} = \int_{|x| \leq \nu} (\phi(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + x, \overline{x}_{N+1}) - \phi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) - \nabla \phi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) \cdot x) \mu(dx)$$
$$+ \int_{\nu \leq |x| \leq 1} (\phi(\overline{t}, \overline{x} + x, \overline{x}_{N+1}) - \phi(\overline{t}, \overline{X})) \mu(dx) = I_{2}^{1} + I_{2}^{2},$$

$$L_0^1 = \int_{|x| \le \nu} (\phi(t_0, x_0 + x, x_{N+1}^0) - \phi(t_0, X_0) - \nabla \phi(t_0, X_0) \cdot x) \mu(dx)$$
  
+ 
$$\int_{\nu \le |x| \le 1} (\phi(t_0, x_0 + x, x_{N+1}^0) - \phi(t_0, X_0)) \mu(dx) = T_1 + T_2.$$

Since  $\phi$  is of class  $C^2$  we have

$$I_2^1, T_1 \le C\nu.$$

Using the Lipschitz continuity of  $\phi$  we get

$$I_2^2 - T_2 = \int_{\nu < |x| \le 1} Cr\mu(dx) \le C\frac{r}{\nu}.$$

Hence, Step 2 follows choosing  $\nu = \nu(r)$  such that  $\nu \to 0$  and  $r/\nu \to 0$  as  $r \to 0^+$ . Step 3:  $\mathcal{I}_1^{2,1}[\phi^{\epsilon}(\bar{t},\cdot,\bar{x}_{N+1}),\bar{x}] \leq L_0^2 + o_r(1)$ .

Remark that

$$U^{\epsilon}(\overline{t},\overline{x}+x,\overline{x}_{N+1})-\phi(\overline{t},\overline{X})-\epsilon V(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y}) \leq U^{+}(t_{0},x_{0}+x,x_{N+1}^{0})-\phi(t_{0},X_{0})+o_{\epsilon}(1)+o_{r}(1).$$

Then, recalling that  $\phi(t_0, X_0) = U^+(t_0, X_0)$ , for  $\epsilon \leq \epsilon_0$  we get

$$\mathcal{I}_1^{2,1}\left[\phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t},\cdot,\overline{x}_{N+1}),\overline{x}\right] - L_0^2 \le o_r(1)$$

and Step 3 is proved.

Finally (4.3.30), (4.3.31), Steps 1, 2 and 3 give

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1,1}\left[\psi(\overline{t},\cdot,\overline{x}_{N+1}),\overline{x}\right] + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,1}\left[\phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t},\cdot,\overline{x}_{N+1}),\overline{x}\right] &\leq \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1,\rho}[\Gamma^{\epsilon}(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,\rho}[V(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] \\ &+ L_{0} + o_{r}(1) + C_{\epsilon}\rho. \end{aligned}$$

from which, using inequality (4.3.29) and letting  $\rho \to 0^+$ , we get for  $\epsilon \leq \epsilon_0$ 

$$\partial_t \psi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) \ge \mathcal{I}_1^{1,1} \left[ \psi(\overline{t}, \cdot, \overline{x}_{N+1}), \overline{x} \right] + \mathcal{I}_1^{2,1} \left[ \phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t}, \cdot, \overline{x}_{N+1}), \overline{x} \right] - W' \left( \frac{\phi^{\epsilon}(\overline{t}, \overline{X})}{\epsilon} \right) + \sigma \left( \frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{x}}{\epsilon} \right) \\ - o_{\eta}(1) + o_r(1) + L_{\eta}$$

and this concludes the proof of the lemma.

#### 4.4 Building of Lipschitz sub and supercorrectors

In this section we construct sub and supersolutions of (4.3.16) that are Lipschitz w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$ . As a byproduct, we will prove Theorem 4.1.1 and Proposition 4.3.3.

**Proposition 4.4.1** (Lipschitz continuous sub and supercorrectors). Let  $\lambda$  be the quantity defined by Theorem 4.1.1. Then, for any fixed  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , P = (p, 1),  $L \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\eta > 0$  small enough, there exist real numbers  $\lambda_{\eta}^+(p, L)$ ,  $\lambda_{\eta}^-(p, L)$ , a constant C > 0 (independent of  $\eta$ , p and L) and bounded super and subcorrectors  $W_{\eta}^+, W_{\eta}^-$  i.e. respectively a super and a subsolution of (4.3.16) such that

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \lambda_{\eta}^+(p,L) = \lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \lambda_{\eta}^-(p,L) = \lambda(p,L),$$

 $\lambda_{\eta}^{+}$  satisfy (i) and (ii) of Proposition 4.3.3 and for any  $(\tau, Y) \in \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ 

$$|W_{\eta}^{+}(\tau, Y)| \le C.$$
 (4.4.37)

Moreover  $W_{\eta}^{+}$  are Lipschitz continuous w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$  and  $\alpha$ -Hölder continuous w.r.t. y for any  $0 < \alpha < 1$ , with

$$-1 \le \partial_{y_{N+1}} W_{\eta}^{+} \le \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta}, \qquad (4.4.38)$$

$$< W_{\eta}^{+} >_{y}^{\alpha} \le C_{\eta}.$$
 (4.4.39)

In order to prove the proposition, for  $\eta \ge 0$ ,  $L \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and P = (p, 1), we introduce the problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau} U = L + \mathcal{I}_{1}[U(\tau, \cdot, y_{N+1})] - W'(U + P \cdot Y) + \sigma(\tau, y) \\ + \eta[a_{0} + \inf_{Y'} U(\tau, Y') - U(\tau, Y)]|\partial_{y_{N+1}} U + 1| & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ U(0, Y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.4.40)$$

#### 4.4.1 Comparison principle

**Proposition 4.4.2** (Comparison principle for (4.4.40)). Let  $U_1 \in USC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})$ and  $U_2 \in LSC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})$  be respectively a viscosity subsolution and supersolution of (4.4.40), then  $U_1 \leq U_2$  on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ .

**Proof.** Let us define the functions  $V_1(\tau, Y) := e^{-k\tau}U_1(\tau, Y)$  and  $V_2(\tau, Y) := e^{-k\tau}U_2(\tau, Y)$ , where  $k := ||W''||_{\infty} + 1$ . It is easy to see that  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  are respectively sub and supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau} V = Le^{-k\tau} + \mathcal{I}_{1}[V(\tau, \cdot, y_{N+1})] + g(\tau, Y, V) \\ +\eta[a_{0} + e^{k\tau}(\inf_{Y'} V(\tau, Y') - V(\tau, Y))]|\partial_{y_{N+1}} V + e^{-k\tau}| & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ V(0, Y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ \end{cases}$$

$$(4.4.41)$$

where  $g(\tau, Y, V) = -e^{-k\tau}W'(e^{k\tau}V + P \cdot Y) - kV + e^{-k\tau}\sigma(\tau, y)$ . Remark that, by the choice of k,

$$g(\tau, Y, V_1) - g(\tau, Z, V_2) \le -(V_1 - V_2) + e^{-k\tau} (\|W''\|_{\infty} |P| + \|\sigma'\|_{\infty}) |Y - Z|.$$
(4.4.42)

To prove the comparison between  $U_1$  and  $U_2$ , it suffices to show that  $V_1(\tau, Y) \leq V_2(\tau, Y)$  for all  $(\tau, Y) \in (0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  and for any T > 0.

Suppose by contradiction that  $M = \sup_{(\tau,Y)\in(0,T)\times\mathbb{R}^{N+1}}(V_1(\tau,Y) - V_2(\tau,Y)) > 0$ for some T > 0. Define for small  $\nu_1, \nu_2, \beta, \delta > 0$  the function  $\phi \in C^2((\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})^2)$ by

$$\phi(\tau, Y, s, Z) = \frac{1}{2\nu_1} |\tau - s|^2 + \frac{1}{2\nu_2} |Y - Z|^2 + \beta \psi(Y) + \frac{\delta}{T - \tau},$$

where  $\psi$  is defined as the function  $\psi_2$  in the proof of Proposition 4.2.7. The supremum of  $V_1(\tau, Y) - V_2(s, Z) - \phi(\tau, Y, s, Z)$  is attained at some point  $(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}, \overline{s}, \overline{Z}) \in ((0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})^2$ . Standard arguments show that

$$(\overline{\tau}, Y, \overline{s}, Z) \to (\widehat{\tau}, \widehat{\tau}, Y, Z) \text{ as } \nu_1 \to 0,$$

 $V_1(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y}) \to V_1(\widehat{\tau},\widehat{Y}), V_2(\overline{s},\overline{Z}) \to V_2(\widehat{\tau},\widehat{Z}) \quad \text{as } \nu_1 \to 0,$ 

where  $(\hat{\tau}, \hat{Y}, \hat{Z})$  is a maximum point of  $V_1(\tau, Y) - V_2(\tau, Z) - \frac{1}{2\nu_2} |Y - Z|^2 - \beta \psi(Y) - \frac{\eta}{T - \tau}$ . Moreover, it is easy to see that

$$\limsup_{\nu_1 \to 0} \inf_{Y'} V_1(\bar{\tau}, Y') \le \inf_{Y'} V_1(\hat{\tau}, Y'), \\ \liminf_{\nu_1 \to 0} \inf_{Y'} V_2(\bar{s}, Y') \ge \inf_{Y'} V_2(\hat{\tau}, Y').$$

Since  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  are respectively sub and supersolution of (4.4.41), for any r > 0 we have

$$\frac{\delta}{(T-\overline{\tau})^2} + \frac{\overline{\tau}-\overline{s}}{\nu_1} \\
\leq Le^{-k\overline{\tau}} + \frac{C_N r}{\nu_2} + \beta \mathcal{I}_1^{1,r} [\psi(\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + \mathcal{I}_1^{2,r} [V_1(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + g(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y},V_1(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y})) \\
+ \eta [a_0 + e^{k\overline{\tau}} (\inf_{Y'} V_1(\overline{\tau},Y') - V_1(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y}))] \left| \frac{\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1}}{\nu_2} + \beta \partial_{y_{N+1}} \psi(\overline{Y}) + e^{-k\overline{\tau}} \right| \\$$
(4.4.43)

and

$$\frac{\overline{\tau} - \overline{s}}{\nu_1} \ge Le^{-k\overline{s}} - \frac{C_N r}{\nu_2} + \mathcal{I}_1^{2,r} [V_2(\overline{s}, \cdot, \overline{z}_{N+1}), \overline{z}] + g(\overline{s}, \overline{Z}, V_2(\overline{s}, \overline{Z})) \\
+ \eta [a_0 + e^{k\overline{s}} (\inf_{Y'} V_2(\overline{s}, Y') - V_2(\overline{s}, \overline{Z}))] \left| \frac{\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1}}{\nu_2} + e^{-k\overline{s}} \right|,$$
(4.4.44)

where  $C_N$  is a constant depending on the dimension N. Since  $(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}, \overline{s}, \overline{Z})$  is a maximum point, we have

$$V_1(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y} + x, \overline{y}_{N+1}) - V_1(\overline{\tau}, \overline{Y}) \leq V_2(\overline{s}, \overline{z} + x, \overline{z}_{N+1}) - V_2(\overline{s}, \overline{Z}) + \beta [\psi(\overline{y} + x, \overline{y}_{N+1}) - \psi(\overline{Y})],$$
  
for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , which implies that for any  $r > 0$ 

$$\mathcal{I}_1^{2,r}[V_1(\overline{\tau},\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] \leq \mathcal{I}_1^{2,r}[V_2(\overline{s},\cdot,\overline{z}_{N+1}),\overline{z}] + \beta \mathcal{I}_1^{2,r}[\psi(\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}].$$

Then, subtracting (4.4.43) with (4.4.44) and letting 
$$r \to 0^+$$
, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\delta}{(T-\overline{\tau})^2} &\leq L(e^{-k\overline{\tau}} - e^{-k\overline{s}}) + \beta \mathcal{I}_1[\psi(\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + g(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y},V_1(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y})) - g(\overline{s},\overline{Z},V_2(\overline{s},\overline{Z})) \\ &+ \eta[a_0 + e^{k\overline{\tau}}(\inf_{Y'} V_1(\overline{\tau},Y') - V_1(\overline{\tau},\overline{Y}))] \left| \frac{\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1}}{\nu_2} + \beta \partial_{y_{N+1}}\psi(\overline{Y}) + e^{-k\overline{\tau}} \right| \\ &- \eta[a_0 + e^{k\overline{s}}(\inf_{Y'} V_2(\overline{s},Y') - V_2(\overline{s},\overline{Z}))] \left| \frac{\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1}}{\nu_2} + e^{-k\overline{s}} \right|.\end{aligned}$$

Next, letting  $\nu_1 \rightarrow 0$  and using (4.4.42), we obtain

$$\frac{\delta}{(T-\hat{\tau})^2} \leq \beta \mathcal{I}_1[\psi(\cdot,\hat{y}_{N+1}),\hat{y}] - (V_1(\hat{\tau},\hat{Y}) - V_2(\hat{\tau},\hat{Z})) + e^{-k\hat{\tau}}(\|W''\|_{\infty}|P| + \|\sigma'\|_{\infty})|\hat{Y} - \hat{Z}| + C\beta \\
+ \eta e^{k\hat{\tau}}[\inf_{Y'} V_1(\hat{\tau},Y') - \inf_{Y'} V_2(\hat{\tau},Y') - (V_1(\hat{\tau},\hat{Y}) - V_2(\hat{\tau},\hat{Z}))] \left| \frac{\hat{y}_{N+1} - \hat{z}_{N+1}}{\nu_2} + e^{-k\hat{\tau}} \right|. \tag{4.4.45}$$

It is easy to prove that

$$\limsup_{(\beta,\delta)\to(0,0)} (V_1(\hat{\tau},\hat{Y}) - V_2(\hat{\tau},\hat{Z})) \ge M$$
(4.4.46)

and

$$\frac{|\widehat{Y} - \widehat{Z}|^2}{\nu_2} \le C,$$

where C is independent of  $\beta$  and  $\delta$ . Up to subsequence,  $\hat{\tau} \to \tau_0 \in [0,T]$  as  $(\beta, \delta) \to (0,0)$  and by (4.4.46), we have

$$\lim_{\substack{(\beta,\delta)\to(0,0)\\Y'}} \sup_{Y'} \inf_{Y'} V_1(\hat{\tau},Y') - \inf_{Y'} V_2(\hat{\tau},Y') - (V_1(\hat{\tau},Y) - V_2(\hat{\tau},Z))$$
  
$$\leq \inf_{Y'} V(\tau_0,Y') - \inf_{Y'} V_2(\tau_0,Y') - \sup_{Y'} (V_1(\tau_0,Y') - V_2(\tau_0,Y'))$$
  
$$\leq 0.$$

Then, passing to the limit first as  $(\beta, \delta) \to (0, 0)$  and then as  $\nu_2 \to 0$  in (4.4.45) we finally get the contradiction:

$$M \leq 0,$$

and this concludes the proof of the comparison theorem.

#### 4.4.2 Lipschitz regularity

**Proposition 4.4.3** (Lipschitz continuity in  $y_{N+1}$ ). Suppose  $\eta > 0$ . Let  $U_{\eta} \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})$  be the viscosity solution of (4.4.40). Then  $U_{\eta}$  is Lipschitz continuous w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$  and for almost every  $(\tau, Y) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ 

$$-1 \le \partial_{y_{N+1}} U_{\eta}(\tau, Y) \le \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta}.$$
(4.4.47)

**Proof.** Let us define  $\widehat{U}(\tau, Y) = U(\tau, Y) + y_{N+1}$ , then  $\widehat{U}$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\tau} \widehat{U} = L + \mathcal{I}_{1}[\widehat{U}(\tau, \cdot, y_{N+1})] - W'(\widehat{U} + p \cdot y) + \sigma(\tau, y) \\ + \eta[a_{0} + \inf_{Y'}(\widehat{U}(\tau, Y') - y'_{N+1}) - (\widehat{U}(\tau, Y) - y_{N+1})]|\partial_{y_{N+1}}\widehat{U}| & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ \widehat{U}(0, Y) = y_{N+1} & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.4.48)$$

We are going to prove that  $\widehat{U}$  is Lipschitz continuous w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$  with

$$0 \le \partial_{y_{N+1}} \widehat{U}(\tau, Y) \le 1 + \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta}.$$

By comparison,  $\widehat{U}(t, y, y_{N+1}) \leq \widehat{U}(t, y, y_{N+1} + h)$  for  $h \geq 0$ , from which immediately follows that  $\partial_{y_{N+1}} \widehat{U} \geq 0$ . In particular we can replace  $|\partial_{y_{N+1}} \widehat{U}|$  by  $\partial_{y_{N+1}} \widehat{U}$  in (4.4.48).

Let us now show that  $\partial_{y_{N+1}} \hat{U} \leq 1 + \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta}$ . We argue by contradiction by assuming that for some T > 0 the supremum of the function  $\hat{U}(\tau, y, y_{N+1}) - \hat{U}(\tau, y, y_{N+1})$ 

 $\widehat{U}(\tau, y, z_{N+1}) - K|y_{N+1} - z_{N+1}|$  on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  is strictly positive as soon as  $K > 1 + \frac{\|W'\|_{\infty}}{\eta}$ . Then for  $\delta, \beta > 0$  small enough, M defined by

$$M = \max_{\substack{(\tau,y)\in[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^N\\y_{N+1},z_{N+1}\in\mathbb{R}}} \left( \widehat{U}(\tau,y,y_{N+1}) - \widehat{U}(\tau,y,z_{N+1}) - K|y_{N+1} - z_{N+1}| - \beta\psi(Y) - \frac{\delta}{T-\tau} \right),$$

where  $\psi$  is defined as the function  $\psi_2$  in the proof of Proposition 4.2.7, is positive. For j > 0 let

$$M_{j} = \max_{\substack{\tau, s \in [0, T], y, z \in \mathbb{R}^{N} \\ y_{N+1}, z_{N+1} \in \mathbb{R} \\ -\frac{\delta}{T-\tau} - j|\tau-s|^{2} - j|y-z|^{2}} \left( \widehat{U}(\tau, y, y_{N+1}) - \widehat{U}(s, z, z_{N+1}) - K|y_{N+1} - z_{N+1}| - \beta \psi(Y) \right),$$

and let  $(\tau^j, y^j, y^j_{N+1}, s^j, z^j, z^j_{N+1}) \in ([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})^2$  be a point where  $M_j$  is attained. Classical arguments show that  $M_j \to M$ ,  $(\tau^j, y^j, y^j_{N+1}, s^j, z^j, z^j_{N+1}) \to (\overline{\tau}, \overline{y}, \overline{y}_{N+1}, \overline{\tau}, \overline{y}, \overline{z}_{N+1})$  as  $j \to +\infty$ , where  $(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y}, \overline{y}_{N+1}, \overline{z}_{N+1})$  is a point where M is attained.

Remark that  $0 < \overline{\tau} < T$ , moreover, since  $\widehat{U}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y}, \overline{y}_{N+1}) > \widehat{U}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y}, \overline{z}_{N+1})$  and  $\widehat{U}$  is nondecreasing in  $y_{N+1}$ , it is

$$\overline{y}_{N+1} > \overline{z}_{N+1}. \tag{4.4.49}$$

In particular  $y_{N+1}^j \neq z_{N+1}^j$  and  $0 < s_j$ ,  $\tau_j < T$  for j large enough. Hence, for r > 0, we obtain the following viscosity inequalities

$$\frac{\delta}{(T-\tau_j)^2} + j(t_j - s_j) \\
\leq L_0 + C_N jr + \beta \mathcal{I}_1^{1,r} [\psi(\cdot, y_{N+1}^j), y^j] + \mathcal{I}_1^{2,r} [\widehat{U}(\tau^j, \cdot, y_{N+1}^j), y^j] \\
- W'(\widehat{U}(\tau^j, y^j, y_{N+1}^j) + p \cdot y^j) + \sigma(\tau^j, y^j) + \eta [a_0 + \inf_{Y'} (\widehat{U}(\tau_j, Y') - y_{N+1}')] (4.4.50) \\
- (\widehat{U}(\tau^j, y^j, y_{N+1}^j) - y_{N+1}^j)] \left( K \frac{y_{N+1}^j - z_{N+1}^j}{|y_{N+1}^j - z_{N+1}^j|} + \beta \partial_{y_{N+1}} \psi(y^j, y_{N+1}^j) \right),$$

and

$$j(t_{j} - s_{j}) \geq L_{0} - C_{N}jr + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r}[\widehat{U}(s^{j}, \cdot, z^{j}_{N+1}), z^{j}] - W'(\widehat{U}(s^{j}, z^{j}, z^{j}_{N+1}) + p \cdot z^{j}) + \sigma(s^{j}, z^{j}) + \eta[a_{0} + \inf_{Y'}(\widehat{U}(s_{j}, Y') - y'_{N+1}) - (\widehat{U}(s^{j}, z^{j}, z^{j}_{N+1}) - z^{j}_{N+1})]K \frac{y^{j}_{N+1} - z^{j}_{N+1}}{|y^{j}_{N+1} - z^{j}_{N+1}|}, (4.4.51)$$

where  $C_N$  is a constant depending on N. Since  $(\tau^j, y^j, y^j_{N+1}, s^j, z^j, z^j_{N+1})$  is a maximum point, we have

$$\begin{split} \widehat{U}(\tau^{j}, y^{j} + x, y^{j}_{N+1}) &- \widehat{U}(\tau^{j}, y^{j}, y^{j}_{N+1}) \leq \widehat{U}(s^{j}, z^{j} + x, z^{j}_{N+1}) - \widehat{U}(s^{j}, z^{j}, z^{j}_{N+1}) \\ &+ \beta [\psi(y^{j} + x, y^{j}_{N+1}) - \psi(y^{j}, y^{j}_{N+1})] \end{split}$$

for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , which implies that for any r > 0

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r}[\widehat{U}(\tau^{j},\cdot,y_{N+1}^{j}),y^{j}] \leq \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r}[\widehat{U}(s^{j},\cdot,z_{N+1}^{j}),z^{j}] + \beta \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r}[\psi(\cdot,y_{N+1}^{j}),y^{j}].$$

Hence, subtracting (4.4.50) with (4.4.51), sending  $r \to 0^+$  and then  $j \to +\infty$ , we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\delta}{(T-\overline{\tau})^2} &\leq \beta \mathcal{I}_1[\psi(\cdot,\overline{y}_{N+1}),\overline{y}] + W'(\widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},\overline{y},\overline{z}_{N+1}) + p \cdot \overline{y}) - W'(\widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},\overline{y},\overline{y}_{N+1}) + p \cdot \overline{y}) \\ &- \eta [\widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},\overline{y},\overline{y}_{N+1}) - \widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},\overline{y},\overline{z}_{N+1}) - (\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1})] K \frac{\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1}}{|\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1}|} \\ &+ \beta \partial_{y_{N+1}} \psi(\overline{y},\overline{y}_{N+1}) \eta [a_0 + \inf_{Y'}(\widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},Y') - y'_{N+1}) - (\widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},\overline{y},\overline{y}_{N+1}) - \overline{y}_{N+1})] \\ &\leq \|W''\|_{\infty} |\widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},\overline{y},\overline{y}_{N+1}) - \widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},\overline{y},\overline{z}_{N+1})| - \eta [\widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},\overline{y},\overline{y}_{N+1}) - \widehat{U}(\overline{\tau},\overline{y},\overline{z}_{N+1}) \\ &- (\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1})] K \frac{\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1}}{|\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1}|} + \beta C. \end{aligned}$$

Then, using (4.4.49) and that  $K|\overline{y}_{N+1} - \overline{z}_{N+1}| < \widehat{U}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y}, \overline{y}_{N+1}) - \widehat{U}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y}, \overline{z}_{N+1})$ , for  $\beta$  small enough, we finally obtain

$$(\|W''\|_{\infty} + \eta - \eta K)(\widehat{U}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y}, \overline{y}_{N+1}) - \widehat{U}(\overline{\tau}, \overline{y}, \overline{z}_{N+1})) \ge 0,$$

which is a contradiction for  $K > 1 + \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta}$ .

#### 

#### 4.4.3 Ergodicity

**Proposition 4.4.4** (Ergodic properties). There exists a unique  $\lambda_{\eta} = \lambda_{\eta}(p, L)$  such that the viscosity solution  $U_{\eta} \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})$  of (4.4.40) satisfies:

$$|U_{\eta}(\tau, Y) - \lambda_{\eta}\tau| \le C_3 \text{ for all } \tau > 0, Y \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1},$$

$$(4.4.52)$$

where

$$C_3 = 5\lceil C_1 \rceil + 1 + 2\|W'\|_{\infty} + 2\|\sigma\|_{\infty}, C_1 = \frac{2\|W'\|_{\infty} + 2\|\sigma\|_{\infty} + 2\|\mu_0\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_{r_0})}}{c_0}$$

and  $c_0$  is defined as in (H2). Moreover

$$L - \|W'\|_{\infty} - \|\sigma\|_{\infty} + \eta a_0 \le \lambda_{\eta} \le L + \|W'\|_{\infty} + \|\sigma\|_{\infty} + \eta a_0.$$
(4.4.53)

**Proof.** For simplicity of notations, in what follows we denote  $U = U_{\eta}$  and  $\lambda = \lambda_{\eta}$ .

To prove the proposition we follow the proof of the analogue result in [68]. We proceed in three steps.

**Step 1: existence** The functions  $W^+(\tau, Y) = C^+\tau$  and  $W^-(\tau, Y) = C^-\tau$ , where

$$C^{+}_{-} = L^{+}_{-} \|W'\|_{\infty}^{+}_{-} \|\sigma\|_{\infty} + \eta a_{0},$$

are respectively sub and supersolution of (4.4.1). Then the existence of a unique solution of (4.4.1) follows from Perron's method.

#### Step 2: control of the oscillations w.r.t. space.

We want to prove that there exists  $C_1 > 0$  such that

$$|U(\tau, Y) - U(\tau, Z)| \le C_1 \text{ for all } \tau \ge 0, \ Y, Z \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}.$$
 (4.4.54)

STEP 2.1. For a given  $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{N+1}$ , we set  $P \cdot k = l + \alpha$ , with  $l \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\alpha \in [0, 1)$ . The function  $\tilde{U}(\tau, Y) = U(\tau, Y + k) + \alpha$  is still a solution of (4.4.40), with  $\tilde{U}(0, Y) = \alpha$  Moreover

$$U(0,Y) = 0 \le U(0,Y) = \alpha \le 1 = U(0,Y) + 1.$$

Then from the comparison principle for (4.4.40) and invariance by integer translations we deduce for all  $\tau \ge 0$ :

$$|U(\tau, Y+k) - U(\tau, Y)| \le 1. \tag{4.4.55}$$

STEP 2.2. We proceed as in [68] by considering the functions

$$M(\tau) := \sup_{Y \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}} U(\tau, Y), \quad m(\tau) := \inf_{Y \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}} U(\tau, Y),$$
$$q(\tau) := M(\tau) - m(\tau) = \text{osc } U(\tau, \cdot).$$

Let us assume that the extrema defining these functions are attained:  $M(\tau) = U(\tau, Y^{\tau}), m(\tau) = U(\tau, Z^{\tau})$ . If this is not the case, consider an  $\epsilon$ -supremum and an  $\epsilon$ -infimum and use a variational principle, such as Stegal's one for instance (see [38]).

It is easy to see that  $M(\tau)$  and  $m(\tau)$  satisfy in the viscosity sense

$$\partial_{\tau} M \leq L + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r} [U(\tau, \cdot, y_{N+1}^{\tau}), y^{\tau}] - W'(M + P \cdot Y^{\tau}) + \sigma(\tau, y^{\tau}) + \eta [a_{0} + m(\tau) - M(\tau)],$$
  
$$\partial_{\tau} m \geq L + \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r} [U(\tau, \cdot, z_{N+1}^{\tau}), z^{\tau}] - W'(m + P \cdot Z^{\tau}) + \sigma(\tau, z^{\tau}) + \eta a_{0},$$

for any r > 0.

Choose  $r = r_0$ , where  $r_0$  is as in (H2). Then q satisfies in the viscosity sense

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\tau} q &\leq \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r_{0}}[U(\tau,\cdot,y_{N+1}^{\tau}),y^{\tau}] - \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r_{0}}[U(\tau,\cdot,z_{N+1}^{\tau}),z^{\tau}] - W'(M+P\cdot Y^{\tau}) \\ &+ W'(m+P\cdot Z^{\tau}) + \sigma(\tau,y^{\tau}) - \sigma(\tau,z^{\tau}) \\ &\leq \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r_{0}}[U(\tau,\cdot,y_{N+1}^{\tau}),y^{\tau}] - \mathcal{I}_{1}^{2,r_{0}}[U(\tau,\cdot,z_{N+1}^{\tau}),z^{\tau}] + 2\|W'\|_{\infty} + 2\|\sigma\|_{\infty} \end{split}$$

Let us estimate the quantity  $\mathcal{L}(\tau) := \mathcal{I}_1^{2,r_0}[U(\tau,\cdot,y_{N+1}^{\tau}),y^{\tau}] - \mathcal{I}_1^{2,r_0}[U(\tau,\cdot,z_{N+1}^{\tau}),z^{\tau}]$ from above by a function of q. Let us define  $k^{\tau} \in \mathbb{Z}^{N+1}$  such that  $Y^{\tau} - (Z^{\tau} + k^{\tau}) \in [0,1)^{N+1}$  and let  $\widetilde{Z}^{\tau} := Z^{\tau} + k^{\tau}$ . Using successively (4.4.55) and the first inequality in (4.4.47), we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}(\tau) &\leq \int_{|z|>r_0} (U(\tau, y^{\tau} + z, y^{\tau}_{N+1}) - U(\tau, Y^{\tau})) \mu(dz) \\ &- \int_{|z|>r_0} (U(\tau, \tilde{z}^{\tau} + z, \tilde{z}^{\tau}_{N+1}) - U(\tau, Z^{\tau})) \mu(dz) + \overline{\mu} \\ &\leq \int_{|z|>r_0} (U(\tau, y^{\tau} + z, y^{\tau}_{N+1}) - U(\tau, Y^{\tau})) \mu(dz) \\ &- \int_{|z|>r_0} (U(\tau, \tilde{z}^{\tau} + z, y^{\tau}_{N+1}) - U(\tau, Z^{\tau})) \mu(dz) + 2\overline{\mu}, \end{split}$$

where  $\overline{\mu} = \|\mu_0\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_{r_0}(0))}$ . Now, let us introduce  $c^{\tau} = \frac{y^{\tau} + \widetilde{z}^{\tau}}{2}$  and  $\delta^{\tau} = \frac{y^{\tau} - \widetilde{z}^{\tau}}{2} \in [0, \frac{1}{2})^N$  so that  $y^{\tau} = c^{\tau} + \delta^{\tau}$  and  $\widetilde{z}^{\tau} = c^{\tau} - \delta^{\tau}$ . Hence

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}(\tau) &\leq 2\overline{\mu} + \int_{|z|>r_0} (U(\tau, c^{\tau} + z + \delta^{\tau}, y_{N+1}^{\tau}) - U(\tau, Y^{\tau}))\mu(dz) \\ &- \int_{|z|>r_0} (U(\tau, c^{\tau} + z - \delta^{\tau}, y_{N+1}^{\tau}) - U(\tau, Z^{\tau}))\mu(dz) \\ &\leq 2\overline{\mu} + \int_{|z-\delta^{\tau}|>r_0} (U(\tau, c^{\tau} + z, y_{N+1}^{\tau}) - U(\tau, Y^{\tau}))\mu_0(z - \delta^{\tau})dz \\ &- \int_{|z+\delta^{\tau}|>r_0} (U(\tau, c^{\tau} + z, y_{N+1}^{\tau}) - U(\tau, Z^{\tau}))\mu_0(z + \delta^{\tau})dz \\ &\leq 2\overline{\mu} - \int_{\{|z-\delta^{\tau}|>r_0\} \cap \{|z+\delta^{\tau}|>r_0\}} (U(\tau, Y^{\tau}) - U(\tau, Z^{\tau}))\min\{\mu_0(z - \delta^{\tau}), \mu_0(z + \delta^{\tau})\}dz \\ &\leq 2\overline{\mu} - c_0q(\tau) \end{split}$$

where  $c_0$  is defined as in (H2). We conclude that q satisfies in the viscosity sense

$$\partial_{\tau} q(\tau) \le 2 \|W'\|_{\infty} + 2\|\sigma\|_{\infty} + 2\overline{\mu} - c_0 q(\tau),$$

with q(0) = 0, from which we obtain (4.4.54).

Step 3: control of the oscillations in time. We follow [68] by introducing the two quantities:

$$\lambda^{+}(T) := \sup_{\tau \ge 0} \frac{U(\tau + T, 0) - U(\tau, 0)}{T} \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda^{-}(T) := \inf_{\tau \ge 0} \frac{U(\tau + T, 0) - U(\tau, 0)}{T},$$

and proving that they have a common limit as  $T \to +\infty$ . First let us estimate  $\lambda^+(T)$  from above. The function  $U^+(t,Y) := U(\tau,0) + C_1 + C^+t$ , is a supersolution of (4.4.40) if  $C^+ = L + ||W'||_{\infty} + ||\sigma||_{\infty} + \eta a_0$ . Since  $U^+(0,Y) \ge U(\tau,Y)$  if  $C_1$  is as in (4.4.54), by the comparison principle for (4.4.40) in the time interval  $[\tau, \tau + \tau_0]$ , for any  $\tau_0 > 0$  and  $t \in [0, \tau_0]$  we get

$$U(\tau + t, Y) \le U(\tau, 0) + C_1 + C^+ t.$$
(4.4.56)

Similarly

$$U(\tau + t, Y) \ge U(\tau, 0) - C_1 + C^- t, \qquad (4.4.57)$$

where  $C^- = L - ||W'||_{\infty} - ||\sigma||_{\infty} + \eta a_0$ . We then obtain for  $\tau_0 = t = T$  and y = 0:

$$L - \|W'\|_{\infty} - \|\sigma\|_{\infty} + \eta a_0 - \frac{C_1}{T} \le \lambda^-(T) \le \lambda^+(T) \le L + \|W'\|_{\infty} + \|\sigma\|_{\infty} + \eta a_0 + \frac{C_1}{T}.$$
(4.4.58)

By definition of  $\lambda^+_{-}(T)$ , for any  $\delta > 0$ , there exist  $\tau^+_{-} \ge 0$  such that

$$\left|\lambda^{+}_{-}(T) - \frac{U(\tau^{+}_{-} + T, 0) - U(\tau^{+}_{-}, 0)}{T}\right| \le \delta.$$

Let us consider  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1)$  such that  $\tau^+ - \tau^- - \beta = k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and  $U(\tau^+, 0) - U(\tau^+ - k, 0) + \alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$ . From (4.4.54) we have

$$U(\tau^+, Y) \le U(\tau^+, 0) + C_1 \le U(\tau^+ - k, Y) + 2C_1 + (U(\tau^+, 0) - U(\tau^+ - k, 0))$$
  
$$\le U(\tau^+ - k, Y) + 2\lceil C_1 \rceil + (U(\tau^+, 0) - U(\tau^+ - k, 0) + \alpha).$$

Since  $\sigma(\cdot, y)$  and  $W'(\cdot)$  are  $\mathbb{Z}$ -periodic, the comparison principle for (4.4.40) on the time interval  $[\tau^+, \tau^+ + T]$  implies that:

$$U(\tau^+ + T, Y) \le U(\tau^+ - k + T, Y) + 2\lceil C_1 \rceil + U(\tau^+, 0) - U(\tau^+ - k, 0) + 1$$

Choosing Y = 0 in the previous inequality we get

$$U(\tau^{+} + T, 0) - U(\tau^{+}, 0) \le U(\tau^{+} - k + T, 0) - U(\tau^{+} - k, 0) + 2\lceil C_1 \rceil + 1$$
  
=  $U(\tau^{-} + \beta + T, 0) - U(\tau^{-} + \beta, 0) + 2\lceil C_1 \rceil + 1,$ 

and setting  $t = \beta$  and  $\tau = \tau^- + T$  in (4.4.56) and  $\tau = \tau^-$  in (4.4.57) we finally obtain:

$$T\lambda^{+}(T) \le T\lambda^{-}(T) + 4\lceil C_1 \rceil + 1 + 2||W'||_{\infty} + 2||\sigma||_{\infty} + 2\delta T.$$

Since this is true for any  $\delta > 0$ , we conclude that:

$$|\lambda^+(T) - \lambda^-(T)| \le \frac{4\lceil C_1 \rceil + 1 + 2\|W'\|_{\infty} + 2\|\sigma\|_{\infty}}{T}$$

Now arguing as in [67] and [68], we conclude that there exist  $\lim_{T\to+\infty} \lambda^+(T) =: \lambda$ and

$$|\lambda^+(T) - \lambda| \le \frac{4\lceil C_1 \rceil + 1 + 2\|W'\|_{\infty} + 2\|\sigma\|_{\infty}}{T},$$

which implies that

$$|U(T,0) - \lambda T| \le 4 \lceil C_1 \rceil + 1 + 2 ||W'||_{\infty} + 2 ||\sigma||_{\infty},$$

and then, using (4.4.54) we get (4.4.52). The uniqueness of  $\lambda$  follows from (4.4.52). Finally, (4.4.53) is obtained from (4.4.58) as  $T \to +\infty$ .

#### 4.4.4 Proof of Theorem 4.1.1

Let us consider the viscosity solution of (4.4.40) for  $\eta = 0$ . By Proposition 4.4.4 we know that there exists a unique  $\lambda$  such that  $U(\tau, Y)/\tau$  converges to  $\lambda$  as  $\tau$  goes to  $+\infty$  for any  $Y \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ . Moreover, by Proposition 4.2.6,  $U(\tau, y, 0)$  is viscosity solution of (4.1.4). Hence, the theorem follows immediately from the uniqueness of the viscosity solution of (4.1.4).

#### 4.4.5 **Proof of Proposition 4.4.1**

Let us denote by  $U_{\eta}^{+}$  the solution of (4.4.40) with  $a_{0} = C_{1}$ , where  $C_{1}$  is defined as in (4.4.54), and by  $U_{\eta}^{-}$  the solution of (4.4.40) with  $a_{0} = 0$ . Let  $\lambda_{\eta}^{+} = \lim_{\tau \to +\infty} \frac{U_{\eta}^{+}(\tau, Y)}{\tau}$  and  $\lambda_{\eta}^{-} = \lim_{\tau \to +\infty} \frac{U_{\eta}^{-}(\tau, Y)}{\tau}$ ; the existence of  $\lambda_{\eta}^{+}$  and  $\lambda_{\eta}^{-}$  is guaranteed by Proposition

4.4.4. By stability (see e.g. [22]), for  $\eta \to 0^+$  the sequence  $(U_{\eta}^+)_{\eta}$  converges to U solution of (4.4.40) with  $\eta = 0$ . Moreover by (4.4.53) the sequence  $(\lambda_{\eta}^+)_{\eta}$  is bounded. Take a subsequence  $\eta_n \to 0$  as  $n \to +\infty$  such that  $\lambda_{\eta_n}^+ \to \lambda_{\infty}$  as  $n \to +\infty$ . We want to show that  $\lambda_{\infty} = \lambda$ , where  $\lambda = \lim_{\tau \to +\infty} \frac{U(\tau, Y)}{\tau}$ . By the proof of Theorem 4.1.1, we know that  $\lambda$  is the same quantity defined in Theorem 4.1.1. Using (4.4.52), we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\lambda - \lambda_{\infty}| &\leq \left|\lambda - \frac{U(\tau, 0)}{\tau}\right| + \left|\frac{U(\tau, 0)}{\tau} - \frac{U_{\eta_n}^+(\tau, 0)}{\tau}\right| + \left|\frac{U_{\eta_n}^+(\tau, 0)}{\tau} - \lambda_{\eta_n}^+\right| + |\lambda_{\eta_n}^+ - \lambda_{\infty}| \\ &\leq \left|\lambda - \frac{U(\tau, 0)}{\tau}\right| + \left|\frac{U(\tau, 0)}{\tau} - \frac{U_{\eta_n}^+(\tau, 0)}{\tau}\right| + \frac{C_3}{\tau} + |\lambda_{\eta_n}^+ - \lambda_{\infty}| \end{aligned}$$

where  $C_3$  does not depend on n. Then, passing to the limit first as  $n \to +\infty$  and then as  $\tau \to +\infty$ , we obtain that  $\lambda = \lambda_{\infty}$ . This implies that  $\lambda_{\eta}^+ \to \lambda$  as  $\eta \to 0$ .

The same argument shows that  $\lambda_{\eta}^{-} \to \lambda$  as  $\eta \to 0$ .

Now, we set

$$W_{\eta}^+(\tau, Y) := U_{\eta}^+(\tau, Y) - \lambda_{\eta}^+ \tau$$

and

$$W_{\eta}^{-}(\tau, Y) := U_{\eta}^{-}(\tau, Y) - \lambda_{\eta}^{-}\tau.$$

Then,  $W_{\eta}^+$  and  $W_{\eta}^-$  are respectively the desired super and subsolution.

Indeed, since by (4.4.54),  $C_0 + \inf_{Y'} U_{\eta}^+(\tau, Y') - U_{\eta}^+(\tau, Y) \ge 0$ ,  $W_{\eta}^+$  is supersolution of (4.3.16) with  $\lambda = \lambda_{\eta}^+$ . Moreover, by (4.4.52),  $W_{\eta}^+$  is bounded on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  uniformly w.r.t.  $\eta$ :  $|W_{\eta}^+(\tau, Y)| \le C_3$  for all  $(\tau, Y) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ .

By (4.4.47),  $W_{\eta}^+$  is Lipschitz continuous w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$  and  $-1 \leq \partial_{y_{N+1}} W_{\eta}^+ \leq \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta}$ . This implies that  $W_{\eta}^+$  is also a viscosity subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{\eta}^{+} + \partial_{\tau} V = L + \mathcal{I}_{1}[V(\tau, \cdot, y_{N+1})] - W'(V + \lambda_{\eta}^{+}\tau + P \cdot Y) + \sigma(\tau, y) \\ + C_{1}(\|W''\|_{\infty} + \eta) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ V(0, Y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4 \ 4 \ 59)$$

By Proposition 4.2.6,  $W_{\eta}^+$  is supersolution of (4.3.16) and subsolution of (4.4.59) in  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$  for any  $y_{N+1} \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then by Proposition 4.2.7,  $W_{\eta}^+$  is of class  $C^{\alpha}$  w.r.t. y uniformly in  $y_{N+1}$  and  $\eta$ , for any  $0 < \alpha < 1$ .

Similar arguments show that  $W_{\eta}^{-}$  is subsolution of (4.3.16) with  $\lambda = \lambda_{\eta}^{-}$ , is bounded on  $\mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ , Lipschitz continuous w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$  with  $-1 \leq \partial_{y_{N+1}} W_{\eta}^{+} \leq \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta}$  and Hölder continuous w.r.t. y. This concludes the proof of Proposition 4.4.1.

#### 4.4.6 Proof of Proposition 4.3.3

The continuity of  $\overline{H}(p, L)$  follows from stability of viscosity solutions of (4.1.4) (see e.g. [22]) and from (4.4.52). Indeed, let  $(p_n, L_n)$  be a sequence converging to  $(p_0, L_0)$ as  $n \to +\infty$  and set  $\lambda_n = \lambda(p_n, L_n), n \ge 0$ . By (4.4.52), we have for any  $\tau > 0$ 

$$\left|\lambda_n - \frac{w_n(\tau, y)}{\tau}\right| \le \frac{C_3}{\tau}.$$

Stability of viscosity solutions of (4.1.4) implies that  $w_n$  converges locally uniformly in  $(\tau, y)$  to a function  $w_0$  which is a solution of (4.1.4) with  $(p, L) = (p_0, L_0)$ . This implies that  $\limsup_{n \to +\infty} |\lambda_n - \lambda_0| \leq \frac{2C_3}{\tau}$  for any  $\tau > 0$ . Hence, we conclude that  $\lim_{n \to +\infty} \lambda_n = \lambda_0$ .

Property (i) is an immediate consequence of (4.4.53).

The monotonicity in L of  $\overline{H}(p,L)$  comes from the comparison principle.

Let us show (iii). Let v be the solution of (4.1.3) and  $\lambda = \lambda(p, L)$ . Set  $\tilde{v}(\tau, y) := v(\tau, -y)$ . Remark that  $\mathcal{I}_1[\tilde{v}(\tau, \cdot), y] = \mathcal{I}_1[v(\tau, \cdot), -y]$ . If  $\sigma(\tau, \cdot)$  is even then  $\tilde{v}$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \lambda + \partial_{\tau} \widetilde{v} = \mathcal{I}_1[\widetilde{v}(\tau, \cdot), y] + L - W'(\widetilde{v} + \lambda t - p \cdot y) + \sigma(\tau, y) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N\\ \widetilde{v}(0, y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$

By the uniqueness of  $\lambda$  we deduce that  $\lambda(L, p) = \lambda(L, -p)$ , i.e. (iii).

Finally let us turn to (iv). Define  $\tilde{v}(\tau, y) := -v(\tau, -y)$ . If  $W'(\cdot)$  and  $\sigma(\tau, \cdot)$  are odd functions,  $\tilde{v}$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} -\lambda + \partial_{\tau} \widetilde{v} = \mathcal{I}_1[\widetilde{v}(\tau, \cdot), y] - L - W'(\widetilde{v} - \lambda t + p \cdot y) + \sigma(\tau, y) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N\\ \widetilde{v}(0, y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$

As before, we conclude that  $\lambda(-L, p) = -\lambda(L, p)$ , i.e. (iv).

#### 4.5 Smooth approximate correctors

In this section, we prove the existence of approximate correctors that are smooth w.r.t.  $y_{N+1}$ , namely Proposition 4.3.4. We first need the following lemma:

**Lemma 4.5.1.** Let  $u_1, u_2 \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  be viscosity subsolutions (resp. supersolutions) of (4.3.16) in  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ , then  $u_1 + u_2$  is viscosity subsolution (resp., supersolution) of

$$\begin{cases} \lambda + \partial_{\tau} v = L + \mathcal{I}_1[v] - W'(u_1 + P \cdot Y + \lambda \tau) \\ -W'(u_2 + P \cdot Y + \lambda \tau) + \sigma(\tau, y) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \\ v(0, y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$

For the proof see Lemma 5.8 in [34].

Next, let us consider a positive smooth function  $\rho : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ , with support in  $B_1(0)$  and mass 1. We define a sequence of mollifiers  $(\rho_{\delta})_{\delta}$  by  $\rho_{\delta}(s) = \frac{1}{\delta}\rho\left(\frac{s}{\delta}\right), s \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let  $W_{\eta}^+$  (resp.  $W_{\eta}^-$ ) be the Lipschitz supersolution (resp. subsolution) of (4.3.16) with  $\lambda = \lambda_{\eta}^+$  (resp.  $\lambda = \lambda_{\eta}^-$ ), whose existence is guaranteed by Proposition 4.4.1. We define

$$V_{\eta,\delta}^{+}(t,y,y_{N+1}) := W_{\eta}^{+}(t,y,\cdot) \star \rho_{\delta}(\cdot) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} W_{\eta}^{+}(t,y,z)\rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1}-z)dz. \quad (4.5.60)$$

**Lemma 4.5.2.** The functions  $V_{\eta,\delta}^+$  and  $V_{\eta,\delta}^-$  are respectively super and subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{\eta}^{+} + \partial_{\tau} V_{\eta,\delta}^{+} = L + \mathcal{I}_{1}[V_{\eta,\delta}^{+}(\tau, \cdot, y_{N+1})] + \sigma(\tau, y) \\ & -\int_{\mathbb{R}} W'(W_{\eta}^{-}(\tau, y, z) + p \cdot y + z + \lambda_{\eta}^{+} \tau) \rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1} - z) dz \quad in \ \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ V_{\eta}^{+}(0, Y) = 0 & on \ \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.5.61)$$

**Proof.** We prove the lemma for supersolutions. Let  $Q_h^e = e + [-h/2, h/2), \overline{\rho}_{\delta}(e, h) = \int_{Q_h^e} \rho_{\delta}(y) dy$  and

$$I_h(\tau, y, y_{N+1}) = \sum_{e \in h\mathbb{Z}} W_{\eta}^+(\tau, y, y_{N+1} - e)\overline{\rho}_{\delta}(e, h).$$

The function  $I_h$  is a discretization of the convolution integral and by classical results, converges uniformly to  $V_{\eta,\delta}^+$  as  $h \to 0$ . By Proposition 4.2.6,  $W_{\eta}^+$  is a viscosity supersolution of (4.3.16) also in  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ . Then, by Lemma 4.5.1, for any  $y_{N+1} \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $I_h(\tau, y, y_{N+1})$  is a supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{\eta}^{+} + \partial_{\tau} V = L + \mathcal{I}_{1}[V(\tau, \cdot, y_{N+1})] + \sigma(\tau, y) \sum_{e \in h\mathbb{Z}} \overline{\rho}_{\delta}(e, h) \\ - \sum_{e \in h\mathbb{Z}} W'(W_{\eta}^{+}(\tau, y, y_{N+1} - e) \\ + p \cdot y + (y_{N+1} - e) + \lambda_{\eta}^{+} \tau) \overline{\rho}_{\delta}(e, h) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N} \\ V(0, y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{N}. \end{cases}$$

Using the stability result for viscosity solution of non-local equations, see [22], we conclude that  $V_{\eta,\delta}^+$  is supersolution of (4.5.61) in  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$  and hence also in  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ .

#### 4.5.1 Proof of Proposition 4.3.4

We first show that the functions  $V_{\eta,\delta}^+$  and  $V_{\eta,\delta}^-$ , defined in (4.5.60), are respectively super and subsolution of

$$\begin{cases} \lambda_{\eta}^{+} + \partial_{\tau} V_{\eta,\delta}^{+} = L + \mathcal{I}_{1}[V_{\eta,\delta}^{+}(\tau,\cdot,y_{N+1})] - W'(V_{\eta,\delta}^{+} + P \cdot Y + \lambda_{\eta}^{+}\tau) \\ + \sigma(\tau,y)_{+}^{-}C_{\eta,\delta} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \\ V_{\eta}^{-}(0,Y) = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ (4.5.62) \end{cases}$$

where  $C_{\eta,\delta} = \|W''\|_{\infty}(2\delta\|W''\|_{\infty}/\eta + \delta)$ . Using (4.4.38) and the properties of the mollifiers, we get

$$\begin{split} \left| W'(V_{\eta,\delta}^{+}(\tau,y,y_{N+1}) + p \cdot y + y_{N+1} + \lambda_{\eta}^{+}\tau) - \int_{\mathbb{R}} W'(W_{\eta}^{+}(\tau,y,z) + p \cdot y + z + \lambda_{\eta}^{+}\tau) \rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1} - z) dz \right| \\ \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| W'(V_{\eta,\delta}^{+}(\tau,y,y_{N+1}) + p \cdot y + y_{N+1} + \lambda_{\eta}^{+}\tau) - W'(W_{\eta}^{+}(\tau,y,z) + p \cdot y + z + \lambda_{\eta}^{+}\tau) \right| \rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1} - z) dz \\ \leq \|W''\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[ \left| V_{\eta,\delta}^{+}(\tau,y,y_{N+1}) - W_{\eta}^{+}(\tau,y,z) \right| + |y_{N+1} - z| \right] \rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1} - z) dz \\ \leq \|W''\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[ \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left| W_{\eta}^{+}(\tau,y,r) - W_{\eta}^{+}(\tau,y,z) \right| \rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1} - r) dr + |y_{N+1} - z| \right] \rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1} - z) dz \\ \leq \|W''\|_{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left[ \int_{|y_{N+1} - r| \leq \delta} \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta} |r - z| \rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1} - r) dr + |y_{N+1} - z| \right] \rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1} - z) dz \\ \leq \|W''\|_{\infty} \int_{|y_{N+1} - z| \leq \delta} \left[ \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta} (|y_{N+1} - z| + \delta) + |y_{N+1} - z| \right] \rho_{\delta}(y_{N+1} - z) dz \\ \leq \|W''\|_{\infty} \left( 2\delta \frac{\|W''\|_{\infty}}{\eta} + \delta \right) \end{split}$$

From this estimate and Lemma 4.5.2, we deduce that  $V_{\eta,\delta}^+$  and  $V_{\eta,\delta}^-$  are respectively super and subsolution of (4.5.62). Now, we choose  $\delta = \delta(\eta)$  such that  $||W''||_{\infty}(2\delta||W''||_{\infty}/\eta + \delta) = o_{\eta}(1)$  as  $\eta \to 0$  and define

$$V_{\eta}^{-}(\tau,Y) := V_{\eta,\delta(\eta)}^{-}(\tau,Y).$$

Then the functions  $V_{\eta}^{+}$  are the desired super and subcorrectors. Indeed, we have already shown that they are super and subsolution of (4.3.17) with  $\lambda_{\eta}^{+}$  and  $\lambda_{\eta}^{-}$ satisfying (4.3.18). Properties (i) and (ii) of Proposition 4.3.3 can be shown as in the proof of the proposition. Finally, (4.3.19), (4.3.20) and (4.3.21) easily follow from (4.4.37), (4.4.38), (4.4.39) and the properties of the mollifiers.  $\Box$ 

#### 4.6 The Orowan's law

In this section we study the behavior of the effective Hamiltonian  $\overline{H}(p, L)$  close to the origin, in dimension N = 1, when  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is the half-Laplacian and  $\sigma \equiv 0$ . We want to prove that  $\overline{H}(p, L) \sim c_0 |p| L$  when p and L are very small, where  $c_0$  is a positive constant to be made precise. This property is known in physics as the Orowan's law. In order to prove it, let us introduce a new corrector h, usually called *hull function*. For the precise definition of such a function we refer to [56] and references therein. For  $p \neq 0$  and  $L \in \mathbb{R}$ , let w be the solution of (4.1.4) and let  $u(\tau, y) = w(\tau, y) + py$ . Let us define the function h(z) such that  $u(\tau, y) = h(\lambda \tau + py)$ . We see that h is formally a solution of

$$\lambda h' = |p|\mathcal{I}_1[h] - W'(h) + L \text{ in } \mathbb{R}.$$
 (4.6.63)

Moreover, by the ergodicity property of w,  $|h(z) - z| \leq C_3$  for any  $z \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let us fix  $p_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}, L_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  and let  $p = \delta p_0$  and  $L = \delta L_0$ , where  $\delta$  is a small parameter. The main idea to prove the result is to approximate h, for such p and L, by the following ansatz

$$\widetilde{h}(x) = \frac{L_0\delta}{\alpha} + \sum_{i=-\infty}^{+\infty} \left[ \phi\left(\frac{x-i}{\delta|p_0|}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \right] + \delta \sum_{i=-\infty}^{+\infty} \psi\left(\frac{x-i}{\delta|p_0|}\right), \quad (4.6.64)$$

where  $\alpha = W''(0) > 0$  (see later) and the functions  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  are respectively the solutions of the following problems

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\phi] = W'(\phi) & \text{in } \mathbb{R} \\ \lim_{x \to -\infty} \phi(x) = 0, \quad \lim_{x \to +\infty} \phi(x) = 1, \quad \phi(0) = \frac{1}{2} & (4.6.65) \\ \phi' > 0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi] = W''(\phi)\psi + \frac{L}{W''(0)}(W''(\phi) - W''(0)) + c\phi' & \text{in } \mathbb{R} \\ \lim_{x \to \frac{+}{-}\infty} \psi(x) = 0 \\ c = \frac{L}{\int_{\mathbb{R}} (\phi')^{2}}, \end{cases}$$
(4.6.66)

with  $L = L_0$ . Here and in what follows,  $\mathcal{I}_1$  denote the half-Laplacian in dimension 1, i.e.,  $\mu(dy) = dy/|y|^2$ . On the function W we assume the following hypothesis:

$$\begin{cases} W \in C^{4,\beta}(\mathbb{R}) & \text{for some } 0 < \beta < 1 \\ W(v+1) = W(v) & \text{for any } v \in \mathbb{R} \\ W = 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{Z} \\ W > 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Z} \\ \alpha = W''(0) > 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.6.67)

If (4.6.67) holds true, there exists a unique solution of (4.6.65) which is of class  $C^{4,\beta}$ , as shown by Cabré and Solà-Morales in [33]. Under (4.6.67), the existence of a solution of class  $C^{3,\beta}$  of the problem (4.6.66) is proved by Gonzáles and Monneau in [62].

We will show that the function (4.6.64) satisfies, up to small errors, the equation (4.6.63) with  $\lambda = c_0 |\delta p_0| \delta L_0$ , where  $c_0 = (\int_{\mathbb{R}} (\phi')^2)^{-1}$ . This implies, by comparison, that  $\overline{H}(\delta p_0, \delta L_0) \sim c_0 |\delta p_0| \delta L_0$  as  $\delta \to 0^+$ . Precisely we have:

**Proposition 4.6.1.** Assume (4.6.67) and let  $p_0, L_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then

$$\frac{\overline{H}(\delta p_0, \delta L_0)}{\delta^2} \to c_0 |p_0| L_0 \quad as \ \delta \to 0^+.$$
(4.6.68)

**Proof.** Suppose  $p_0 \neq 0$ . For  $L \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\delta > 0$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we define the sequence  $\{s_{\delta,n}^L(x)\}_n$  by

$$s_{\delta,n}^{L}(x) = \frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \phi\left(\frac{x-i}{\delta|p_{0}|}\right) + \delta \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \psi\left(\frac{x-i}{\delta|p_{0}|}\right) - n$$

where  $\phi$  is a solution of (4.6.65) and  $\psi$  is a solution of (4.6.66). We consider the differential operator  $NL_L^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^L}$ , defined on smooth functions as follows

$$NL_{L}^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L}}[h] = \overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L}h' - \delta|p_{0}|\mathcal{I}_{1}[h] + W'(h) - \delta L,$$

where

$$\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L} = \delta^2 c_0 |p_0| L.$$

Then we have

**Proposition 4.6.2.** Assume (4.6.67). For any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists finite the limit

$$h_{\delta}^{L}(x) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} s_{\delta,n}^{L}(x).$$

Moreover  $h_{\delta}^{L}$  has the following properties:

(i)  $h^L_{\delta} \in C^2(\mathbb{R})$  and satisfies

$$NL_L^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^L}[h_{\delta}^L](x) = o(\delta),$$

where  $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{o(\delta)}{\delta} = 0$  uniformly for  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ ;

(ii) There exists a constant C > 0 such that  $|h(x) - x| \leq C$  for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ .

The proof of Proposition 4.6.2 is postponed.

**Remark 4.6.3.** From (ii) of Proposition 4.6.2, we see that the function  $h_{\delta}^{L}(x)$  goes to infinity like the power x. Then the integral  $\mathcal{I}_{1}^{2}[h_{\delta}^{L}, x] = \int_{|y|>1} (h_{\delta}^{L}(x+y) - h_{\delta}^{L}(x)) \frac{dy}{|y|^{2}}$ , is not well defined in the sense of the Lesbegue integration. By  $\mathcal{I}_{1}^{2}[h_{\delta}^{L}, x]$ , we mean

$$\mathcal{I}_1^2[h_{\delta}^L, x] = \lim_{a \to +\infty} \int_{1 < |y| < a} (h_{\delta}^L(x+y) - h_{\delta}^L(x)) \frac{dy}{|y|^2}$$

This definition coincides with the standard Lesbegue integral for integrable functions. In what follows we will consider the function  $\overline{w}(\tau, y) = h_{\delta}^{L}(\delta p_{0}y + \overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L}\tau) - \delta p_{0}y$  which belongs to  $C_{b}(\mathbb{R}^{+} \times \mathbb{R})$  and then for which  $\mathcal{I}_{1}^{2}$  is well defined and

$$\mathcal{I}_1^2[\overline{w}(\tau,\cdot),y] = \lim_{a \to +\infty} \int_{1 < |z| < a} (\overline{w}(\tau,y+z) - \overline{w}(\tau,y)) \frac{dz}{|z|^2} = \delta p_0 \mathcal{I}_1^2[h_\delta^L, \delta p_0 y + \overline{\lambda}_\delta^L \tau].$$

Fix  $\eta > 0$  and let  $L = L_0 - \eta$ . By (i) of Proposition 4.6.2, there exists  $\delta_0 = \delta_0(\eta) > 0$  such that for any  $\delta \in (0, \delta_0)$  we have

$$NL_{L_0}^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^L}[h_{\delta}^L] = NL_L^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^L}[h_{\delta}^L] - \delta\eta < 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}.$$

$$(4.6.69)$$

Define the function  $\overline{w}(\tau, y)$  by

$$\overline{w}(\tau, y) = h_{\delta}^{L}(\delta p_{0}y + \overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L}\tau) - \delta p_{0}y.$$

Then  $w \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R})$ , since by (ii) of Proposition 4.6.2

$$|\overline{w}(\tau, y) - \overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L} \tau| \le \lceil C \rceil.$$
(4.6.70)

Moreover, by (4.6.69) and (4.6.70)  $\overline{w}$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \overline{w}_{\tau} \leq \mathcal{I}_1[\overline{w}] - W'(\overline{w} + \delta p_0 y) + \delta L_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R} \\ \overline{w}(0, y) \leq \lceil C \rceil & \text{on } \mathbb{R}. \end{cases}$$

Let  $w(\tau, y)$  be the solution of (4.1.4) with N = 1,  $p = \delta p_0$ ,  $L = \delta L_0$  and  $\sigma \equiv 0$ , whose existence is ensured by Theorem 4.1.1, then from the comparison principle and the periodicity of W, we deduce that

$$\overline{w}(\tau, y) \le w(\tau, y) + \lceil C \rceil.$$

By the previous inequality and (4.6.70), we get

$$\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L}\tau \leq w(\tau,y) + 2\lceil C\rceil$$

and dividing by  $\tau$  and letting  $\tau$  go to  $+\infty$ , we finally obtain

$$\delta^2 c_0 |p_0| (L_0 - \eta) = \overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^L \le \overline{H}(\delta p_0, \delta L_0).$$

Similarly, it is possible to show that

$$\overline{H}(\delta p_0, \delta L_0) \le \delta^2 c_0 |p_0| (L_0 + \eta).$$

We have proved that for any  $\eta > 0$  there exists  $\delta_0 = \delta_0(\eta) > 0$  such that for any  $\delta \in (0, \delta_0)$  we have

$$\left|\frac{\overline{H}(\delta p_0, \delta L_0)}{\delta^2} - c_0 |p_0| L_0\right| \le c_0 |p_0|\eta,$$

i.e. (4.6.68), as desired.

#### 4.6.1 Proof of Proposition 4.6.2.

To prove the proposition we need the following two lemmas about the behavior of the functions  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  at infinity. We denote by H(x) the heaveside function defined by

$$H(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } x \ge 0\\ 0 & \text{for } x < 0. \end{cases}$$

Then we have

**Lemma 4.6.4.** Assume (4.6.67). Let  $\phi$  be the solution of (4.6.65), then there exist constants  $K_0, K_1 > 0$  such that

$$\left|\phi(x) - H(x) + \frac{1}{\alpha \pi x}\right| \le \frac{K_1}{x^2}, \quad for \ |x| \ge 1,$$
 (4.6.71)

and for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$0 < \frac{K_0}{1+x^2} \le \phi'(x) \le \frac{K_1}{1+x^2},\tag{4.6.72}$$

$$-\frac{K_1}{1+x^2} \le \phi''(x) \le \frac{K_1}{1+x^2},\tag{4.6.73}$$

$$-\frac{K_1}{1+x^2} \le \phi'''(x) \le \frac{K_1}{1+x^2}.$$
(4.6.74)

**Lemma 4.6.5.** Assume (4.6.67). Let  $\psi$  be the solution of (4.6.66), then for any  $L \in \mathbb{R}$  there exist constants  $K_2$  and  $K_3$ , with  $K_3 > 0$ , depending on L such that

$$\left|\psi(x) - \frac{K_2}{x}\right| \le \frac{K_3}{x^2}, \quad for \ |x| \ge 1,$$
(4.6.75)

and for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$-\frac{K_3}{1+x^2} \le \psi'(x) \le \frac{K_3}{1+x^2},\tag{4.6.76}$$

$$-\frac{K_3}{1+x^2} \le \psi''(x) \le \frac{K_3}{1+x^2}.$$
(4.6.77)

We postpone the proof of the two lemmas to the end of the section. For simplicity of notation we denote

$$x_i = \frac{x-i}{\delta |p_0|}, \quad \widetilde{\phi}(z) = \phi(z) - H(z).$$

We proceed by proving several claims. **Claim 1:** Let  $x = i_0 + \gamma$ , with  $i_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\gamma \in \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$ , then

$$\sum_{i=-n}^{n} \frac{1}{x-i} \to -2\gamma \sum_{i=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{i^2 - \gamma^2} \quad as \ n \to +\infty,$$
$$\sum_{i=-n}^{i_0-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \to \sum_{i=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(i+\gamma)^2} \quad as \ n \to +\infty,$$

$$\sum_{i=i_0+1}^{n} \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \to \sum_{i=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(i-\gamma)^2} \quad as \ n \to +\infty$$

We have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{x-i} &= \sum_{i=-n}^{i_0-1} \frac{1}{i_0+\gamma-i} + \sum_{\substack{i=i_0+1\\i=i_0+1}}^n \frac{1}{i_0+\gamma-i} &= \sum_{i=1}^{n+i_0} \frac{1}{i+\gamma} - \sum_{i=1}^{n-i_0} \frac{1}{i-\gamma} \\ &= \begin{cases} \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i=1\\i=2-\gamma^2}}^n \frac{-2\gamma}{i^2-\gamma^2}, & \text{if } i_0 = 0 \\ \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i=1\\i=2-\gamma^2}}^{n-i_0} \frac{-2\gamma}{i^2-\gamma^2} + \sum_{\substack{i=n-i_0+1\\i=n-i_0+1\\i=\gamma}}^{n+i_0} \frac{1}{i_0} > 0 &\to -2\gamma \sum_{i=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{i^2-\gamma^2} & \text{as } n \to +\infty \end{cases}$$

Let us prove the second limit of the claim.

$$\sum_{i=-n}^{i_0-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n+i_0} \frac{1}{(i+\gamma)^2} \to \sum_{i=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(i+\gamma)^2} \quad \text{as } n \to +\infty.$$

Finally

$$\sum_{i=i_0+1}^{n} \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n-i_0} \frac{1}{(i-\gamma)^2} \to \sum_{i=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(i-\gamma)^2} \quad \text{as } n \to +\infty,$$

and the claim is proved.

By Claim 1  $\sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \frac{1}{x-i}$ ,  $\sum_{i=-n}^{i_0-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^2}$  and  $\sum_{i=i_0+1}^{n} \frac{1}{(x-i)^2}$  are Cauchy sequences and then for  $k > m > |i_0|$  we have

$$\sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{x-i} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{x-i} \to 0 \quad \text{as } m, k \to +\infty,$$
(4.6.78)

$$\sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \to 0 \quad \text{as } m, k \to +\infty,$$
(4.6.79)

and

$$\sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \to 0 \quad \text{as } m, k \to +\infty.$$
(4.6.80)

**Claim 2:** For any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  the sequence  $\{s_{\delta,n}^L(x)\}_n$  converges as  $n \to +\infty$ . We show that  $\{s_{\delta,n}^L(x)\}_n$  is a Cauchy sequence. Fix  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  and let  $i_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  be the closest integer to x, then  $x = i_0 + \gamma$  with  $\gamma \in \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$  and  $|x - i| \ge \frac{1}{2}$  for  $i \neq i_0$ . Let  $\delta$  be so small that  $\frac{1}{\delta|p_0|} \ge 2$ , then  $\frac{|x-i|}{\delta|p_0|} \ge 1$  for  $i \neq i_0$ . Let  $k > m > |i_0|$ , using
(4.6.71) and (4.6.75) we get

$$s_{\delta,k}^{L}(x) - s_{\delta,m}^{L}(x) = \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \left[\phi(x_{i}) + \delta\psi(x_{i})\right] + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \left[\phi(x_{i}) + \delta\psi(x_{i})\right] - (k-m)$$

$$= \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \left[(\phi(x_{i}) - 1) + \delta\psi(x_{i})\right] + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \left[\phi(x_{i}) + \delta\psi(x_{i})\right]$$

$$\leq -\left(\frac{1}{\alpha\pi} - \delta K_{2}\right) \delta|p_{0}| \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{x-i} + (K_{1} + \delta K_{3}) \delta^{2}|p_{0}|^{2} \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}}$$

$$-\left(\frac{1}{\alpha\pi} - \delta K_{2}\right) \delta|p_{0}| \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{x-i} + (K_{1} + \delta K_{3}) \delta^{2}|p_{0}|^{2} \sum_{i=-k}^{k} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}},$$

and

$$s_{\delta,k}^{L}(x) - s_{\delta,m}^{L}(x) \ge -\left(\frac{1}{\alpha\pi} - \delta K_{2}\right)\delta|p_{0}|\left(\sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1}\frac{1}{x-i} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k}\frac{1}{x-i}\right) - (K_{1} + \delta K_{3})\delta^{2}|p_{0}|^{2}\left(\sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1}\frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k}\frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}}\right).$$

Then from (4.6.78), (4.6.79), (4.6.80), we conclude that

$$|s_{\delta,k}^L(x) - s_{\delta,m}^L(x)| \to 0 \quad \text{as } m, k \to +\infty,$$

as desired.

**Claim 3:** The sequence  $\{(s_{\delta,n}^L)'\}_n$  converges on  $\mathbb{R}$  as  $n \to +\infty$ , uniformly on compact sets.

To prove the uniform convergence, it suffices to show that  $\{(s_{\delta,n}^L)'(x)\}_n$  is a Cauchy sequence uniformly on compact sets. Let us consider a bounded interval [a, b] and let  $x \in [a, b]$ . For  $\frac{1}{\delta|p_0|} \ge 2$  and  $k > m > \max\{|a|, |b|\}$ , by (4.6.72) and (4.6.76) we have

$$(s_{\delta,k}^{L})'(x) - (s_{\delta,m}^{L})'(x) = \frac{1}{\delta|p_{0}|} \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \left[ \phi'(x_{i}) + \delta\psi'(x_{i}) \right] + \frac{1}{\delta|p_{0}|} \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \left[ \phi'(x_{i}) + \delta\psi'(x_{i}) \right]$$
$$\leq (K_{1} + \delta K_{3})\delta|p_{0}| \left[ \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}} \right]$$
$$\leq (K_{1} + \delta K_{3})\delta|p_{0}| \left[ \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(a-i)^{2}} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(b-i)^{2}} \right],$$

and

$$(s_{\delta,k}^{L})'(x) - (s_{\delta,m}^{L})'(x) \ge -K_3\delta^2 |p_0| \left[\sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(b-i)^2} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(a-i)^2}\right].$$

Then by (4.6.79) and (4.6.80)

$$\sup_{x \in [a,b]} |(s_{\delta,k}^L)'(x) - (s_{\delta,m}^L)'(x)| \to 0 \quad \text{as } k, m \to +\infty,$$

and Claim 3 is proved.

**Claim 4:** The sequence  $\{(s_{\delta,n}^L)''\}_n$  converges on  $\mathbb{R}$  as  $n \to +\infty$ , uniformly on compact sets.

Claim 4 can be proved like Claim 3. Indeed

$$(s_{\delta,n}^{L})''(x) = \frac{1}{\delta^2 |p_0|^2} \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \phi''(x_i) + \delta \psi''(x_i) \right]$$

and using (4.6.73) and (4.6.77), it is easy to show that  $\{(s_{\delta,n}^L)''\}_n$  is a Cauchy sequence uniformly on compact sets.

**Claim 5:** For any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  the sequences  $\sum_{i=-n}^{n} \mathcal{I}_1[\phi, x_i]$  and  $\sum_{i=-n}^{n} \mathcal{I}_1[\psi, x_i]$  converge as  $n \to +\infty$ .

We have

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\phi] = W'(\phi) = W'(\widetilde{\phi}) = W''(0)\widetilde{\phi} + O(\widetilde{\phi})^2.$$

Let  $x = i_0 + \gamma$  with  $\gamma \in \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$ , and  $k > m > |i_0|$ . From (4.6.71), (4.6.78), (4.6.79) and (4.6.80) we get

$$\sum_{i=-k}^{k} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\phi, x_{i}] - \sum_{i=-m}^{m} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\phi, x_{i}] = \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} [\alpha \widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}) + O(\widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}))^{2}] + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} [\alpha \widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}) + O(\widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}))^{2}]$$
$$\leq -\frac{\delta |p_{0}|}{\pi} \left[ \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{x-i} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{x-i} \right] + C \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}} + C \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}} \to 0,$$

as  $m, k \to +\infty$ , for some constant C > 0, and

$$\sum_{i=-k}^{k} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\phi, x_{i}] - \sum_{i=-m}^{m} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\phi, x_{i}]$$

$$\geq -\frac{\delta|p_{0}|}{\pi} \left[ \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{x-i} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{x-i} \right] - C \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}} - C \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}} \to 0,$$

as  $m, k \to +\infty$ . Then  $\sum_{i=-n}^{n} \mathcal{I}_1[\phi, x_i]$  is a Cauchy sequence, i.e. it converges. Let us consider now  $\sum_{i=-n}^{n} \mathcal{I}_1[\psi, x_i]$ . We have

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi] = W''(\phi)\psi + \frac{L}{\alpha}(W''(\tilde{\phi}) - W''(0)) + c\phi' = W''(\phi)\psi + \frac{L}{\alpha}W'''(0)\tilde{\phi} + O(\tilde{\phi})^{2} + c\phi'.$$

Let R > 0 be such that  $0 < \frac{\alpha}{2} \le W''(\phi(z)) \le 2\alpha$  for  $|z| \ge R$  and let  $\delta$  be so small that  $\frac{|x-i|}{\delta|p_0|} > R$  for  $i \ne i_0$ , then  $0 < \frac{\alpha}{2} \le W''(\phi(x_i)) \le 2\alpha$  for  $i \ne i_0$  and by (4.6.71), (4.6.72) and (4.6.75) we get

$$\sum_{i=-k}^{k} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}] - \sum_{i=-m}^{m} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}]$$

$$\leq \tilde{C} \left[ \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{x-i} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{x-i} \right] + C \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}} + C \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}},$$

and

$$\sum_{i=-k}^{k} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}] - \sum_{i=-m}^{m} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}]$$

$$\geq \widetilde{C} \left[ \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{x-i} + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{x-i} \right] - C \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}} - C \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(x-i)^{2}}$$

for some  $\tilde{C} \in \mathbb{R}$  and C > 0, which ensures the convergence of  $\sum_{i=-n}^{n} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}]$ . **Claim 6:**  $-C\delta^{2} \leq \lim_{n \to +\infty} NL_{L}^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L}}[s_{\delta,n}^{L}](x) \leq C\delta^{2}$ , where C is independent of x. Fix  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , let  $i_{0} \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\gamma \in \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$  be such that  $x = i_{0} + \gamma$ , let  $\frac{1}{\delta|p_{0}|} \geq 2$  and  $n > |i_{0}|$ . Then we have

$$\begin{split} NL_{L}^{\overline{\lambda}_{0}^{L}}[s_{J,n}^{L}](x) &= \frac{\overline{\lambda}_{0}^{L}}{\delta|p_{0}|} \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \phi'(x_{i}) + \delta\psi'(x_{i}) \right] - \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \mathcal{I}_{1}[\phi, x_{i}] + \delta\mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}] \right] \\ &+ W' \left( \frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \phi(x_{i}) + \delta\psi(x_{i}) \right] \right) - \deltaL \\ &= \frac{\overline{\lambda}_{0}^{L}}{\delta|p_{0}|} \left\{ \phi'(x_{i_{0}}) + \delta\psi'(x_{i_{0}}) + \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \phi'(x_{i}) + \delta\psi'(x_{i}) \right] \right\} - \sum_{i=-n}^{n} W'(\widetilde{\phi}(x_{i})) - \delta\mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i_{0}}] \\ &- \delta \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}] + W' \left( \frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}) + \delta\psi(x_{i}) \right] \right) - W'(\widetilde{\phi}(x_{i_{0}})) - \deltaL \\ &= \delta c_{o}L \left\{ \phi'(x_{i_{0}}) + \delta\psi'(x_{i_{0}}) + \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \phi'(x_{i}) + \delta\psi'(x_{i}) \right] \right\} - W''(0) \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}) - \delta\mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i_{0}}] \\ &- \delta \sum_{i\neq 0}^{n} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}] + W''(\phi(x_{i_{0}})) \left( \frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \delta\psi(x_{i_{0}}) + \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}) + \delta\psi(x_{i}) \right] \right) \\ &+ \sum_{i=-n}^{n} O(\widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}))^{2} + O\left( \frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \delta\psi(x_{i_{0}}) + \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}) + \delta\psi(x_{i}) \right] \right)^{2} - \deltaL \\ &= \delta c_{o}L \left\{ \delta\psi'(x_{i_{0}}) + \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \phi'(x_{i}) + \delta\psi'(x_{i}) \right] \right\} - W''(0) \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}) - \delta \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}] \\ &+ W''(\phi(x_{i_{0}})) \left( \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}) + \delta\psi(x_{i}) \right] \right) + \delta\left( - \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i_{0}}] + W''(\phi(x_{i_{0}}))\psi(x_{i_{0}}) \\ &+ \frac{L}{\alpha} W''(\phi(x_{i_{0}})) - L + c\phi'(x_{i_{0}}) + \sum_{i=-n}^{n} O(\widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}))^{2} \end{split}$$

,

$$+ O\left(\frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \delta\psi(x_{i_0}) + \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \left[\tilde{\phi}(x_i) + \delta\psi(x_i)\right]\right)^2$$
  
=  $\delta c_0 L\left\{\delta\psi'(x_{i_0}) + \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \left[\phi'(x_i) + \delta\psi'(x_i)\right]\right\} + (W''(\phi(x_{i_0})) - W''(0)) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \tilde{\phi}(x_i)$   
-  $\delta\sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \mathcal{I}_1[\psi, x_i] + W''(\phi(x_{i_0}))\delta\sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \psi(x_i) + \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} O(\tilde{\phi}(x_i))^2$   
+  $O\left(\frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \delta\psi(x_{i_0}) + \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \left[\tilde{\phi}(x_i) + \delta\psi(x_i)\right]\right)^2$ 

Let us bound the second member of the last equality, uniformly in x. From (4.6.72) and (4.6.76) it follows that

$$-\delta^3 |p_0|^2 K_3 \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \left[\phi'(x_i) + \delta\psi'(x_i)\right] \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} + \delta \psi'(x_i) \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} + \delta \psi'(x_i) \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \le \delta^2 |p_0|^2 (K_1 + \delta K_3) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^n \frac{1}{(x-i)^2} \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}$$

and then by Claim 1 we get

$$-C\delta^3 \le \lim_{n \to +\infty} \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i \ne i_0}}^n \left[\phi'(x_i) + \delta\psi'(x_i)\right] \le C\delta^2.$$
(4.6.81)

Here and henceforth, C denotes various positive constants independent of x.

Now, let us prove that

$$-C\delta^{2} \leq \lim_{n \to +\infty} (W''(\phi(x_{i_{0}})) - W''(0)) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i \neq i_{0}}}^{n} \widetilde{\phi}(x_{i}) \leq C\delta^{2}.$$
 (4.6.82)

By (4.6.71) we have

$$\left|\sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \widetilde{\phi}(x_i) + \frac{\delta|p_0|}{\alpha\pi} \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \frac{1}{x-i}\right| \le K_1 \delta^2 |p_0|^2 \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \frac{1}{(x-i)^2}.$$
(4.6.83)

If  $|\gamma| \geq \delta |p_0|$ , then again from (4.6.71),  $|\widetilde{\phi}(x_{i_0}) + \frac{\delta |p_0|}{\alpha \pi \gamma}| \leq K_1 \frac{\delta^2 |p_0|^2}{\gamma^2}$  which implies that

$$|W''(\tilde{\phi}(x_{i_0})) - W''(0)| \le |W'''(0)\tilde{\phi}(x_{i_0})| + O(\tilde{\phi}(x_{i_0}))^2 \le C\frac{\delta}{|\gamma|} + C\frac{\delta^2}{\gamma^2}.$$

By the previous inequality, (4.6.83) and Claim 1 we deduce that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} (W''(\phi(x_{i_0})) - W''(0)) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i \neq i_0}}^n \widetilde{\phi}(x_i) \right| \le C\left(\frac{\delta}{|\gamma|} + \frac{\delta^2}{\gamma^2}\right) (\delta|\gamma| + \delta^2) \le C\delta^2,$$

where C is independent of  $\gamma$ .

Finally, if  $|\gamma| < \delta |p_0|$ , from (4.6.83) and Claim 1 we conclude that

$$\left|\lim_{n \to +\infty} (W''(\phi(x_{i_0})) - W''(0)) \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i \neq i_0}}^n \widetilde{\phi}(x_i)\right| \le C\delta|\gamma| + C\delta^2 \le C\delta^2,$$

and (4.6.82) is proved.

Now, let us consider  $\delta \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \mathcal{I}_1[\psi, x_i]$ . Let  $\delta$  be so small that  $\frac{\alpha}{2} \leq W''(\phi(x_i)) \leq \alpha$  for  $i \neq i_0$ . Then, since  $\psi$  satisfies (4.6.66), we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi, x_{i}] = W''(\phi(x_{i}))\psi(x_{i}) + \frac{L}{\alpha}W'''(0)\tilde{\phi}(x_{i}) + O(\tilde{\phi}(x_{i}))^{2} + c\phi'^{2}(x_{i}) \leq \tilde{C}\frac{\delta}{x-i} + C\frac{\delta^{2}}{(x-i)^{2}}$$

and

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\psi, x_i] \ge \tilde{c} \frac{\delta}{x-i} - C \frac{\delta^2}{(x-i)^2},$$

for some constants  $\tilde{c}, \tilde{C} \in \mathbb{R}, C > 0$ . Then, from Claim 1 we deduce that

$$\left|\lim_{n \to +\infty} \delta \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i \neq i_0}}^n \mathcal{I}_1[\psi, x_i]\right| \le C\delta^2.$$
(4.6.84)

Similar computations show that

$$\left| \lim_{n \to +\infty} W''(\phi(x_{i_0})) \delta \sum_{\substack{i=-n \\ i \neq i_0}}^n \psi(x_i) \right| \le C\delta^2.$$
(4.6.85)

Finally, still from (4.6.71), (4.6.75), and Claim 1 it follows that

$$\left|\lim_{n \to +\infty} \sum_{\substack{i=-n \\ i \neq i_0}}^n (\widetilde{\phi}(x_i))^2 + O\left(\frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \delta\psi(x_{i_0}) + \sum_{\substack{i=-n \\ i \neq i_0}}^n \left[\widetilde{\phi}(x_i) + \delta\psi(x_i)\right]\right)^2\right| \le C\delta^2.$$
(4.6.86)

Therefore, from (4.6.81), (4.6.82), (4.6.84), (4.6.85) and (4.6.86) we conclude that

$$-C\delta^2 \leq \lim_{n \to +\infty} NL_L^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^L}[s_{\delta,n}^L] \leq C\delta^2$$

with C independent of x and Claim 6 is proved.

Claim 7:  $|h_{\delta}^{L}(x) - x| \leq C$  for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let  $x = i_0 + \gamma$  with  $i_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\gamma \in \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$ . Let  $n > i_0$ , then by (4.6.71) and (4.6.75) we get

$$s_{\delta,n}^{L}(x) - x = \frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \phi(x_{i_0}) + \delta\psi(x_{i_0}) + \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} [\phi(x_i) + \delta\psi(x_i)] - n - i_0 - \gamma$$
  
$$= \frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + \phi(x_{i_0}) + \delta\psi(x_{i_0}) + \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} [\tilde{\phi}(x_i) + \delta\psi(x_i)] - \gamma$$
  
$$\leq \frac{L\delta}{\alpha} + 1 + \delta \|\psi\|_{\infty} + \sum_{\substack{i=-n\\i\neq i_0}}^{n} \left[ -\left(\frac{1}{\alpha\pi} - \delta K_2\right) \frac{\delta |p_0|}{x - i} + (K_1 + \delta K_3) \frac{\delta^2 |p_0|^2}{(x - i)^2} \right] + \frac{1}{2}$$

Then, by Claim 1

$$h_{\delta}^{L}(x) - x = \lim_{n \to +\infty} s_{\delta,n}^{L}(x) - x \le C.$$

Similarly we can prove that

$$h_{\delta}^{L}(x) - x \ge -C,$$

which concludes the claim.

Now, let us show (i).

The function  $h_{\delta}^{L}(x) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} s_{\delta,n}^{L}(x)$  is well defined for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  by Claim 2. Moreover, by Claim 3 and 4 and classical analysis results, it is of class  $C^{2}$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  with

$$(h_{\delta}^{L})'(x) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} (s_{\delta,n}^{L})'(x) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{1}{\delta |p_0|} \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \phi'\left(\frac{x-i}{\delta |p_0|}\right) + \delta \psi'\left(\frac{x-i}{\delta |p_0|}\right) \right],$$
$$(h_{\delta}^{L})''(x) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} (s_{\delta,n}^{L})''(x) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{1}{\delta^2 |p_0|^2} \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \left[ \phi''\left(\frac{x-i}{\delta |p_0|}\right) + \delta \psi''\left(\frac{x-i}{\delta |p_0|}\right) \right],$$

and the convergence of  $\{s_{\delta,n}^L\}_n$ ,  $\{(s_{\delta,n}^L)'\}_n$  and  $\{(s_{\delta,n}^L)''\}_n$  is uniform on compact sets. Let us show that for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\mathcal{I}_1[h_{\delta}^L, x] = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathcal{I}_1[s_{\delta, n}^L, x].$$
(4.6.87)

First, we prove that

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[h_{\delta}^{L}, x] = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathcal{I}_{1}^{1}[s_{\delta, n}^{L}, x].$$
(4.6.88)

Fix  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , we know that for any  $y \in [-1, 1], y \neq 0$ 

$$\frac{s_{\delta,n}^L(x+y) - s_{\delta,n}^L(x) - (s_{\delta,n}^L)'(x)y}{|y|^2} \to \frac{h_{\delta}^L(x+y) - h_{\delta}^L(x) - (h_{\delta}^L)'(x)y}{|y|^2} \quad \text{as } n \to +\infty.$$

By the uniform convergence of the sequence  $\{(s_{\delta,n}^L)''\}_n$  we have

$$\frac{|s_{\delta,n}^L(x+y) - s_{\delta,n}^L(x) - (s_{\delta,n}^L)'(x)y|}{|y|^2} \le \sup_{z \in [x-1,x+1]} (s_{\delta,n}^L)''(z) \le C_{\delta,n}$$

where C is indipendent of n, and (4.6.88) follows from the dominate convergence Theorem.

Then, to prove (4.6.87) it suffices to show that

$$\mathcal{I}_1^2[h_{\delta}^L, x] = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathcal{I}_1^2[s_{\delta, n}^L, x].$$

From Claim 5 and (4.6.88), we know that for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$  there exists  $\lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathcal{I}_1^2[s_{\delta,n}^L, x]$ . For a > 1, we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}^{2}[s_{\delta,n}^{L},x] = \int_{1 \le |y| \le a} [s_{\delta,n}^{L}(x+y) - s_{\delta,n}^{L}(x)] \frac{dy}{|y|^{2}} + \int_{|y| \ge a} [s_{\delta,n}^{L}(x+y) - s_{\delta,n}^{L}(x)] \frac{dy}{|y|^{2}}.$$

By the uniform convergence of  $\{s^L_{\delta,n}\}_n$  on compact sets

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{1 \le |y| \le a} [s_{\delta,n}^L(x+y) - s_{\delta,n}^L(x)] \frac{dy}{|y|^2} = \int_{1 \le |y| \le a} [h_{\delta}^L(x+y) - h_{\delta}^L(x)] \frac{dy}{|y|^2},$$

then there exists the limit

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{|y| \ge a} [s_{\delta,n}^L(x+y) - s_{\delta,n}^L(x)] \frac{dy}{|y|^2}.$$

Using (4.6.71) and (4.6.75) is not hard to prove that

$$\lim_{a \to +\infty} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{|y| \ge a} [s_{\delta,n}^L(x+y) - s_{\delta,n}^L(x)] \frac{dy}{|y|^2} = 0.$$

Then, we finally we get

$$\begin{split} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathcal{I}_1^2[s_{\delta,n}^L, x] &= \lim_{a \to +\infty} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \mathcal{I}_1^2[s_{\delta,n}^L, x] \\ &= \lim_{a \to +\infty} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{1 \le |y| \le a} [s_{\delta,n}^L(x+y) - s_{\delta,n}^L(x)] \frac{dy}{|y|^2} \\ &+ \lim_{a \to +\infty} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{|y| > a} [s_{\delta,n}^L(x+y) - s_{\delta,n}^L(x)] \frac{dy}{|y|^2} \\ &= \lim_{a \to +\infty} \int_{1 \le |y| \le a} [h_{\delta}^L(x+y) - h_{\delta}^L(x)] \frac{dy}{|y|^2} \\ &= \mathcal{I}_1^2[h_{\delta}^L, x], \end{split}$$

as desired.

Now we can conclude the proof of (i). Indeed, by Claim 2, Claim 3 and (4.6.87), for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$NL_{L}^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L}}[h_{\delta}^{L}, x] = \lim_{n \to +\infty} NL_{L}^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^{L}}[s_{\delta, n}^{L}, x],$$

and Claim 6 implies that

$$NL_L^{\overline{\lambda}_{\delta}^L}[h_{\delta}^L, x] = o(\delta), \quad \text{as } \delta \to 0,$$

where  $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{o(\delta)}{\delta} = 0$ , uniformly for  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ .

#### 4.6.2 Proof of Lemma 4.6.4.

Properties (4.6.71) and (4.6.72) are proved in [62].

Let us show (4.6.73).

For a > 0, we denote by  $\phi'_a(x) = \phi'\left(\frac{x}{a}\right)$ . Remark that  $\phi'_a$  is a solution of

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\phi_a'] = \frac{1}{a} W''(\phi_a) \phi_a' \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}$$

Since  $\phi''$  is bounded and of class  $C^{2,\beta}$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_1[\phi'']$  is well defined and by deriving twice the equation in (4.6.65) we see that  $\phi''$  is a solution of

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\phi''] = W''(\phi)\phi'' + W'''(\phi)(\phi')^2.$$

Let  $\overline{\phi} = \phi'' - C\phi'_a$ , with C > 0, then  $\overline{\phi}$  satisfies

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\overline{\phi}] - W''(\phi)\overline{\phi} = C\phi'_a \left(W''(\phi) - \frac{1}{a}W''(\phi_a)\right) + W'''(\phi)(\phi')^2$$
$$= C\phi'_a \left(W''(\phi) - \frac{1}{a}W''(\phi_a)\right) + o\left(\frac{1}{1+x^2}\right),$$

as  $|x| \to +\infty$ , by (4.6.72). Fix a > 0 and R > 0 such that

$$\begin{cases} W''(\phi) - \frac{1}{a}W''(\phi_a) > 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R} \setminus [-R, R]; \\ W''(\phi) > 0, & \text{on } \mathbb{R} \setminus [-R, R]. \end{cases}$$
(4.6.89)

Then from (4.6.72), for C large enough we get

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\overline{\phi}] - W''(\phi)\overline{\phi} \ge 0 \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R} \setminus [-R, R].$$

Choosing C such that moreover

$$\overline{\phi} < 0$$
 on  $[-R, R]$ ,

we can ensure that  $\overline{\phi} \leq 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Indeed, assume by contradiction that there exists  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus [-R, R]$  such that

$$\overline{\phi}(x_0) = \sup_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{\phi} > 0.$$

Then

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{I}_1[\overline{\phi}, x_0] \le 0; \\ \mathcal{I}_1[\overline{\phi}, x_0] - W''(\phi(x_0))\overline{\phi}(x_0) \ge 0; \\ W''(\phi(x_0)) > 0, \end{cases}$$

from which

$$\overline{\phi}(x_0) \le 0,$$

a contradiction. Therefore  $\overline{\phi} \leq 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  and then, by renaming the constants, from (4.6.72) we get  $\phi'' \leq \frac{K_1}{1+x^2}$ .

To prove that  $\phi'' \ge -\frac{K_1}{1+x^2}$ , we look at the infimum of the function  $\phi'' + C\phi'_a$  to get similarly that  $\phi'' + C\phi'_a \ge 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

To show (4.6.74) we proceed as in the proof of (4.6.73). Indeed, the function  $\phi'''$  which is bounded and of class  $C^{1,\beta}$ , satisfies

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\phi'''] = W''(\phi)\phi''' + 3W'''(\phi)\phi'\phi'' + W^{IV}(\phi)(\phi')^3 = W''(\phi)\phi''' + o\left(\frac{1}{1+x^2}\right),$$

as  $|x| \to +\infty$ , by (4.6.72) and (4.6.73). Then, as before, for *C* and *a* large enough  $\phi''' - C\phi'_a \leq 0$  and  $\phi''' + C\phi'_a \geq 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}$ , which implies (4.6.74).  $\Box$ 

#### 4.6.3 Proof of Lemma 4.6.5.

Let us prove (4.6.75).

For a > 0 we denote by  $\phi_a(x) = \phi\left(\frac{x}{a}\right)$ , which is solution of

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\phi_a] = \frac{1}{a} W'(\phi_a) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}.$$

Let a and b be positive numbers, then making a Taylor expansion of the derivatives of W, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi - (\phi_{a} - \phi_{b})] &= W''(\phi)\psi + \frac{L}{\alpha}(W''(\phi) - W''(0)) + c\phi' + \left(\frac{1}{b}W'(\phi_{b}) - \frac{1}{a}W'(\phi_{a})\right) \\ &= W''(\phi)(\psi - (\phi_{a} - \phi_{b})) + W''(\widetilde{\phi})(\phi_{a} - \phi_{b}) + \frac{L}{\alpha}(W''(\widetilde{\phi}) - W''(0)) \\ &+ c\phi' + \left(\frac{1}{b}W'(\widetilde{\phi}_{b}) - \frac{1}{a}W'(\widetilde{\phi}_{a})\right) \\ &= W''(\phi)(\psi - (\phi_{a} - \phi_{b})) + W''(0)(\phi_{a} - \phi_{b}) + \frac{L}{\alpha}W'''(0)\widetilde{\phi} + c\phi' \\ &+ W''(0)\left(\frac{1}{b}\widetilde{\phi}_{b} - \frac{1}{a}\widetilde{\phi}_{a}\right) + (\phi_{a} - \phi_{b})O(\widetilde{\phi}) + O(\widetilde{\phi})^{2} + O(\widetilde{\phi}_{a})^{2} + O(\widetilde{\phi}_{b})^{2} \end{aligned}$$

and then the function  $\overline{\psi} = \psi - (\phi_a - \phi_b)$  satisfies

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\overline{\psi}] - W''(\phi)\overline{\psi} = \alpha(\phi_a - \phi_b) + \frac{L}{\alpha}W'''(0)\widetilde{\phi} + c\phi' + \alpha\left(\frac{1}{b}\widetilde{\phi}_b - \frac{1}{a}\widetilde{\phi}_a\right) + (\phi_a - \phi_b)O(\widetilde{\phi}) + O(\widetilde{\phi})^2 + O(\widetilde{\phi}_a)^2 + O(\widetilde{\phi}_b)^2.$$

We want to estimate the right-hand side of the last equality. By Lemma 4.6.4, for  $|x| \ge \max\{1, |a|, |b|\}$  we have

$$\alpha(\phi_a - \phi_b) + \frac{L}{\alpha} W'''(0) \widetilde{\phi} \ge -\frac{1}{\pi x} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] - \frac{K_1 \alpha}{x^2} \left( a^2 + b^2 + \frac{|L|}{\alpha^2} |W'''(0)| \right) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] - \frac{K_1 \alpha}{x^2} \left( a^2 + b^2 + \frac{|L|}{\alpha^2} |W'''(0)| \right) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] - \frac{K_1 \alpha}{x^2} \left( a^2 + b^2 + \frac{|L|}{\alpha^2} |W'''(0)| \right) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] - \frac{K_1 \alpha}{x^2} \left( a^2 + b^2 + \frac{|L|}{\alpha^2} |W'''(0)| \right) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] - \frac{K_1 \alpha}{x^2} \left( a^2 + b^2 + \frac{|L|}{\alpha^2} |W'''(0)| \right) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W''''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W''''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W''''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W'''''(0) \right] + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} \left[ (a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''$$

Choose a, b > 0 such that  $(a - b) + \frac{L}{\alpha^2} W''(0) = 0$ , then

$$\alpha(\phi_a - \phi_b) + \frac{L}{\alpha} W''(0)\tilde{\phi} \ge -\frac{C}{x^2},$$

for  $|x| \ge \max\{1, |a|, |b|\}$ . Here and in what follows, as usual C denotes various positive constants. From Lemma 4.6.4 we also derive that

$$\alpha \left(\frac{1}{b}\widetilde{\phi}_b - \frac{1}{a}\widetilde{\phi}_a\right) \ge -\frac{C}{x^2}$$
$$c\phi' \ge -\frac{C}{1+x^2},$$

,

and

$$(\phi_a - \phi_b)O(\widetilde{\phi}) + O(\widetilde{\phi})^2 + O(\widetilde{\phi}_a)^2 + O(\widetilde{\phi}_b)^2 \ge -\frac{C}{1+x^2},$$

for  $|x| \ge \max\{1, |a|, |b|\}$ . Then we conclude that there exists R > 0 such that for  $|x| \ge R$  we have

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\overline{\psi}] - W''(\phi)\overline{\psi} \ge -\frac{C}{1+x^2}.$$

Now, let us consider the function  $\phi'_d(x) = \phi'\left(\frac{x}{d}\right), d > 0$ , which is solution of

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\phi'_d] = \frac{1}{d} W''(\phi_d) \phi'_d \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R},$$

and denote

$$\overline{\overline{\psi}} = \overline{\psi} - \widetilde{C}\phi'_d,$$

with  $\tilde{C} > 0$ . Then, for  $|x| \ge R$  we have

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\overline{\overline{\psi}}] \ge W''(\phi)\overline{\psi} - \frac{\widetilde{C}}{d}W''(\phi_d)\phi'_d - \frac{C}{1+x^2} = W''(\phi)\overline{\overline{\psi}} + \widetilde{C}\phi'_d\left(W''(\phi) - \frac{1}{d}W''(\phi_d)\right) - \frac{C}{1+x^2}$$

Let us choose d > 0 and  $R_2 > R$  such that

$$\begin{cases} W''(\phi) - \frac{1}{d}W''(\phi_d) > 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R} \setminus [-R_2, R_2]; \\ W''(\phi) > 0 & \text{on } \mathbb{R} \setminus [-R_2, R_2], \end{cases}$$

then from (4.6.72), for  $\tilde{C}$  large enough we get

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\overline{\overline{\psi}}] - W''(\phi)\overline{\overline{\psi}} \ge 0 \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R} \setminus [-R_2, R_2],$$

and

$$\overline{\psi} < 0$$
 on  $[-R_2, R_2]$ .

As in the proof of Lemma 4.6.4, we deduce that  $\overline{\overline{\psi}} \leq 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}$  and then

$$\psi \le \frac{K_2}{x} + \frac{K_3}{x^2}$$
 for  $|x| \ge 1$ ,

for some  $K_2 \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $K_3 > 0$ .

Looking at the function  $\psi - (\phi_a - \phi_b) + \tilde{C}\phi'_d$ , we conclude similarly that

$$\psi \ge \frac{K_2}{x} - \frac{K_3}{x^2}$$
 for  $|x| \ge 1$ ,

and (4.6.75) is proved.

Now let us turn to (4.6.76). By deriving the first equation in (4.6.66), we see that the function  $\psi'$  which is bounded and of class  $C^{2,\beta}$ , is a solution of

$$\mathcal{I}_1[\psi'] = W''(\phi)\psi' + W'''(\phi)\phi'\psi + \frac{L}{\alpha}W'''(\phi)\phi' + c\phi'' \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}$$

Then the function  $\overline{\psi}' = \psi' - C \phi'_a$ , satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_1[\overline{\psi}'] - W''(\phi)\overline{\psi}' &= C\phi_a' \left( W''(\phi) - \frac{1}{a}W''(\phi_a) \right) + W'''(\phi)\phi'\psi + \frac{L}{\alpha}W'''(\phi)\phi' + c\phi'' \\ &= C\phi_a' \left( W''(\phi) - \frac{1}{a}W''(\phi_a) \right) + O\left(\frac{1}{1+x^2}\right), \end{aligned}$$

by (4.6.72), (4.6.73) and (4.6.75), and as in the proof of Lemma 4.6.4, we deduce that for C and a large enough  $\overline{\psi}' \leq 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}$ , which implies that  $\psi' \leq \frac{K_3}{1+x^2}$ . The inequality  $\psi' \geq -\frac{K_3}{1+x^2}$  is obtained similarly by proving that  $\overline{\psi}' + C\phi'_a \geq 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Finally, with the same proof as before, using (4.6.72)-(4.6.76), we can prove the estimate (4.6.77) for the function  $\psi''$  which is a bounded  $C^{1,\beta}$  solution of

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{1}[\psi''] &= W''(\phi)\psi'' + 2W'''(\phi)\phi'\psi' + W^{IV}(\phi)(\phi')^{2}\psi + W'''(\phi)\phi''\psi + \frac{L}{\alpha}W'''(\phi)\phi'' \\ &+ \frac{L}{\alpha}W^{IV}(\phi)(\phi')^{2} + c\phi''' \\ &= W''(\phi)\psi'' + O\left(\frac{1}{1+x^{2}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

## Chapter 5

# Rate of convergence in homogenization of local Hamilton-Jacobi equations

We consider homogenization problems for first order Hamilton-Jacobi equations with  $u^{\epsilon}/\epsilon$  periodic dependence, namely

$$\begin{cases} u_t^{\epsilon} + H\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{u^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}, Du^{\epsilon}\right) = 0, & (t, x) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u^{\epsilon}(0, x) = u_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^N \end{cases}$$
(5.0.1)

with the following assumptions on the Hamiltonian H:

(H1) Periodicity: for any  $(t, x, u, p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$H(t+1, x+k, u+1, p) = H(t, x, u, p) \text{ for any } k \in \mathbb{Z}^N;$$

(H2) Regularity:  $H : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$  is Lipschitz continuous and there exists a constant  $C_1 > 0$  such that, for almost every  $(t, x, u, p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$|D_{(t,x)}H(t,x,u,p)| \le C_1(1+|p|), \quad |D_uH(t,x,u,p)| \le C_1, \quad |D_pH(t,x,u,p)| \le C_1;$$

- (H3)  $H(t, x, u, p) \to +\infty$  as  $|p| \to +\infty$  uniformly for  $(t, x, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}$ ;
- (H4) There exists a constant C such that for almost every  $(t,x,u,p)\in\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^N\times\mathbb{R}^N\times\mathbb{R}^N$

$$|D_pH(t, x, u, p) \cdot p - H(t, x, u, p)| \le C.$$

Let us introduce the non-coercive Hamiltonian F defined by

$$F(t, x, y, p_x, p_y) = \begin{cases} |p_y| H(t, x, y, |p_y|^{-1} p_x), & \text{if } p_y \neq 0, \\ H_{\infty}(t, x, y, p_x), & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(5.0.2)

where  $H_\infty(t,x,u,p)=\lim_{s\to 0^+}sH(t,x,u,s^{-1}p).$  The function  $U^\epsilon(t,x,y):=u^\epsilon(t,x)-y$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} U_t^{\epsilon} + F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{U^{\epsilon} + y}{\epsilon}, D_x U^{\epsilon}, D_y U^{\epsilon}\right) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ U^{\epsilon}(0, x, y) = u_0(x) - y, & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$
(5.0.3)

We recall that in [18] Barles proves that under assumptions (H1)-(H4), the sequence  $U^{\epsilon}$  converges to the solution  $U^{0}$  of the following problem

$$\begin{cases} U_t^0 + \overline{F}(D_x U^0, D_y U^0) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ U^0(0, x, y) = u_0(x) - y, & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \end{cases}$$
(5.0.4)

where for  $(p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ ,  $\overline{F}(p_x, p_y)$  is the unique number  $\lambda$  for which the cell problem

$$V_t + F(t, x, y, p_x + D_x V, p_y + D_y V) = \lambda \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}.$$
 (5.0.5)

admits bounded sub and supersolutions. This implies that the functions  $u^{\epsilon}$  converge as  $\epsilon \to 0$  to the solution  $u^0$  of

$$\begin{cases} u_t^0 + \overline{H}(Du^0) = 0, & (t, x) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u^0(0, x) = u_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(5.0.6)

where  $\overline{H}(p) = \overline{F}(p, -1)$ .

The chapter is organized as follows: Section 5.1 is devoted to finding estimates on the rate of convergence as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . Section 5.2 is devoted to the numerical approximation of the effective Hamiltonian by Eulerian schemes. Finally, we present some numerical tests in Section 5.3.

#### 5.1 An estimate on the rate of convergence when $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$

This section is devoted to the estimate of the rate of the uniform convergence of the solutions of (5.0.1) to the solution of the equation (5.0.6) in term of  $\epsilon$ .

#### 5.1.1 The main result

**Theorem 5.1.1.** Assume (H1)-(H4) and  $u_0 \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . Let  $u^{\epsilon}$  and  $u^0$  be respectively the viscosity solutions of (5.0.1) and (5.0.6). Then there exists a constant C, independent of  $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$ , such that for any T > 0

$$\sup_{[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^N} |u^{\epsilon}(t,x) - u^0(t,x)| \le C e^T \epsilon^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$
(5.1.7)

If  $u_0$  is affine then

$$\sup_{\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N} |u^{\epsilon}(t,x) - u^0(t,x)| \le C\epsilon.$$
(5.1.8)

#### 5.1.2 Preliminary results

In this section we recall some results that will be used later to obtain error estimates. The assumptions (H1)-(H4) on H guarantee that F satisfies

(F1) Periodicity: for any  $(t, x, y, p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ 

$$F(t+1, x+k, y+1, p_x, p_y) = F(t, x, y, p_x, p_y) \quad \text{for any } k \in \mathbb{Z}^N;$$

(F2) Regularity:  $F : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \to \mathbb{R}$  is Lipschitz continuous and there exists a constant  $C_1 > 0$  such that, for almost every  $(t, x, y, p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ 

$$|D_{(t,x)}F(t,x,y,p_x,p_y)| \le C_1(|p_x|+|p_y|), \ |D_yF(t,x,y,p_x,p_y)| \le C_1|p_y|,$$
$$|D_{(p_x,p_y)}F(t,x,y,p_x,p_y)| \le C_1;$$

(F3) Coercivity:  $F(t, x, y, p_x, p_y) \to +\infty$  as  $|p_x| \to +\infty$  uniformly for  $(t, x, y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ ,  $|p_y| \leq R$ , for any R > 0;

Remark that F(t, x, y, 0, 0) = 0. This and (F2) imply that for every  $(t, x, y, p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ 

$$|F(t, x, y, p_x, p_y)| \le C_1(|p_x| + |p_y|).$$
(5.1.9)

Moreover, by construction, F satisfies the "geometrical" assumption

(F4) For any  $(t, x, y, p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  and any  $\lambda > 0$ ,

$$F(t, x, y, \lambda p_x, \lambda p_y) = \lambda F(t, x, y, p_x, p_y).$$

Assumption (F4) guarantees that (5.0.3) is invariant by any nondecreasing change  $U \to \varphi(U)$ , see [37] and [52], i.e., any function  $V = \varphi(U^{\epsilon})$ , with  $\varphi$  nondecreasing is solution of

$$\begin{cases} V_t + F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{U^{\epsilon} + y}{\epsilon}, D_x V, D_y V\right) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ V(0, x, y) = \varphi(u_0(x) - y), & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

Finally, note that (F3) and (F4) imply the existence of a positive constant  $C_2$  such that

$$F(t, x, y, p_x, 0) \ge C_2 |p_x| \quad \text{for all } (t, x, y, p_x) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \times \mathbb{R}^N.$$
(5.1.10)

In [18], in order to construct sub and supersolutions of (5.0.5), Barles introduces for  $\alpha > 0$  the auxiliary equation

$$W_t^{\alpha} + F(t, x, y, p_x + D_x W^{\alpha}, p_y + D_y W^{\alpha}) + \alpha W^{\alpha} = 0, \quad (t, x, y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1},$$
 (5.1.11)

with F defined by (5.0.2), and shows that if (H1)-(H4) hold true, then (5.1.11) admits a unique continuous periodic viscosity solution. Moreover the limit of  $\alpha W^{\alpha}(t, x, y)$  as  $\alpha \to 0^+$  does not depend on (t, x, y) and the half-relaxed limits of  $W^{\alpha} - \min W^{\alpha}$  provide a bounded subsolution and a bounded supersolution of (5.0.5), with  $\lambda = -\lim_{\alpha \to 0^+} \alpha W^{\alpha}(t, x, y)$ . We use the notation  $P = (p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  and  $W^{\alpha}(x, y, P)$  for the unique solution of (5.1.11). We have the following proposition:

**Proposition 5.1.2** (Barles, [18]). For any  $(t, x, y, P) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ ,  $P = (p_x, p_y)$ , the following estimates hold

- (i)  $\min_{(t,x,y)\in\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^{N+1}} F(t,x,y,P) \le \alpha W^{\alpha}(t,x,y,P) \le \max_{(t,x,y)\in\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^{N+1}} F(t,x,y,P);$
- (ii) There exists a constant  $K_1 > 0$  depending on  $||F(t, x, y, p_x, p_y)||_{\infty}$  and  $C_2$  such that

$$\max_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^{N+1}}W^{\alpha} - \min_{\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}^{N+1}}W^{\alpha} \le K_1$$

Further properties of  $W^{\alpha}(x, y, P)$  are given in the following lemma:

**Lemma 5.1.3.** For any  $(t, x, y, P) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  the following estimates hold (i)  $\alpha |D_P W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P)| \leq C_1$ , where  $C_1$  is introduced in (F2);

- (ii)  $|\alpha W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P) + \overline{F}(P)| \leq \alpha K_1$ , where  $K_1$  is introduced in Proposition 5.1.2;
- (iii)  $W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, 0) \equiv 0;$
- (iv)  $||D\overline{F}||_{\infty} \leq C_1$ .

**Proof.** Let us fix  $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ . The Lipschitz continuity of F, i.e. (F2), implies that the function  $W(t, x, y) = W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P + Q)$  satisfies

$$W_t + F(t, x, y, P + DW) + \alpha W \le C_1 |Q|$$

and then, by comparison

$$\alpha W(t, x, y) \le \alpha W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P) + C_1 |Q|.$$

A similar argument shows that  $\alpha W(t, x, y) \ge \alpha W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P) - C_1|Q|$ . It then follows

$$\alpha |W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P + Q) - W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P)| \le C_1 |Q|,$$

which proves (i).

Let us turn out to (ii). We claim that

$$\mu := \alpha \max_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}} W^{\alpha} \geq -\overline{F}(P).$$

Indeed,  $W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P)$  is a supersolution of

$$W_t^{\alpha} + F(t, x, y, P + DW^{\alpha}) = -\mu.$$

Let V be a bounded subsolution of (5.0.5), then by comparison between  $W^{\alpha} + \mu t$ and  $V - \overline{F}(P)t$ , we have

$$V(t,x,y)-W^{\alpha}(t,x,y)\leq V(0,x,y)-W^{\alpha}(0,x,y)+t(\overline{F}(P)+\mu).$$

Since V and  $W^{\alpha}$  are bounded, dividing by t > 0 and letting t tend to  $+\infty$ , we obtain  $\mu \ge -\overline{F}(P)$ . Then from (ii) of Proposition 5.1.2, for  $(t, x, y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ ,

$$\alpha W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P) \ge \alpha \min_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}} W^{\alpha} \ge \alpha \max_{\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}} W^{\alpha} - \alpha K_1 \ge -\overline{F}(P) - \alpha K_1.$$

A similar argument shows that

$$\alpha W^{\alpha}(t, x, y, P) + \overline{F}(P) \le \alpha K_1;$$

this concludes the proof of (ii).

Property (iii) follows from F(t, x, y, 0, 0) = 0 and the uniqueness of the periodic solution of (5.1.11).

Finally, (iv) is an immediate consequence of

$$\overline{F}(P) - \overline{F}(Q) \le 2\alpha K_1 + \alpha \|D_P W^{\alpha}\|_{\infty} |P - Q|$$

and of (i).

We conclude this section by recalling some properties of the solutions  $u^0$  and  $u^{\epsilon}$ .

**Proposition 5.1.4.** There exist constants  $C_T, L > 0$  such that for any  $(t, x), (s, y) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$|u^{\epsilon}(t,x)|, |u^{0}(t,x)| \le C_{T}, \qquad (5.1.12)$$

$$|u^{0}(t,x) - u^{0}(s,y)| \le L(|t-s| + |x-y|).$$
(5.1.13)

Moreover, for any  $t \in [0, T]$ , the Lipschitz constant of  $u^0(t, \cdot)$  is the Lipschitz constant of the initial datum  $u_0$ .

#### **Proof.** By comparison

$$|u^{\epsilon}(t,x) - u_0(x)| \le C_0 t$$

where  $C_0 = \max_{x,y,|p| \le |u_0|_{1,\infty}} |H(x,y,p)|$ . This implies (5.1.12) for  $u^{\epsilon}$ . Similarly can be showed the same estimate for  $u^0$ .

The Lipschitz continuity of  $u^0$  follows from the comparison principle for (5.0.6), see [13], Theorem III.3.7 and Remark III.3.8.

#### 5.1.3 Proof of the main result

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 5.1.1. We are going to show that for any T > 0

$$\sup_{[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^{N+1}} |U^{\epsilon}(t,x,y) - U^{0}(t,x,y)| \le Ce^{T}\epsilon^{\frac{1}{3}},$$

where C does not depend on T. Since  $U^{\epsilon}(t, x, y) = u^{\epsilon}(t, x) - y$  and  $U^{0}(t, x, y) = u^{0}(t, x) - y$ , this estimate automatically gives (5.1.7).

Let us consider a function  $\phi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  with the following properties

$$\begin{cases} \phi'(s) > 0, & \text{for any } s \in \mathbb{R}, \\ \lim_{s \to +\infty} \phi(s) = 1, & \lim_{s \to -\infty} \phi(s) = 0, \\ |\phi(s) - \chi(s)|, |\phi'(s)| \le \frac{K_2}{1+s^2}, & \text{for any } s \in \mathbb{R}, \end{cases}$$
(5.1.14)

where we have denoted by  $\chi(s)$  the heaviside function defined by

$$\chi(s) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for } s \ge 0, \\ 0, & \text{for } s < 0. \end{cases}$$

For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\epsilon, \delta > 0$ , let us define the function

$$\varphi_{\epsilon}^{n,\delta}(s) := \sum_{i=-n}^{n} \epsilon \phi\left(\frac{s-i\epsilon}{\delta}\right) - \epsilon(n+1).$$

Then we have:

**Lemma 5.1.5.** Assume (5.1.14). Then for any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , the limit  $\lim_{n \to +\infty} \varphi_{\epsilon}^{n,\delta}(s)$  exists and the function  $\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta}$ :

$$\varphi^\delta_\epsilon(s):=\lim_{n\to+\infty}\varphi^{n,\delta}_\epsilon(s)$$

is of class  $C^1$  with  $(\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta})'(s) > 0$  for any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ . Moreover

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta}(s) = \begin{cases} (i-1)\epsilon + \phi(0)\epsilon, & \text{if } s = i\epsilon, \\ i\epsilon, & \text{if } i\epsilon < s < (i+1)\epsilon. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.15)

See the Appendix of this chapter for the proof of the lemma.

Let us define

$$\widetilde{U}^{\epsilon,\delta}(t,x,y) := \varphi^\delta_\epsilon(U^\epsilon(t,x,y))$$

Since F satisfies the "geometrical" assumption (F4), the function  $\widetilde{U}^{\epsilon,\delta}$  is solution of

$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{U}_{t}^{\epsilon,\delta} + F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{U^{\epsilon}+y}{\epsilon}, D_{x}\widetilde{U}^{\epsilon,\delta}, D_{y}\widetilde{U}^{\epsilon,\delta}\right) = 0, & (t,x,y) \in (0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ \widetilde{U}^{\epsilon,\delta}(0,x,y) = \varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta}(u_{0}(x)-y), & (x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

$$(5.1.16)$$

By stability of viscosity solutions, see e.g. [40], the limit  $\tilde{U}^{\epsilon}(t, x, y)$  of  $\tilde{U}^{\epsilon,\delta}(t, x, y)$  as  $\delta \to 0^+$  is a discontinuous viscosity solution of (5.1.16) with initial datum  $\varphi_{\epsilon}(u_0(x) - y)$ , where  $\varphi_{\epsilon}(s) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta}(s)$ . This means that  $(\tilde{U}^{\epsilon})^* = \limsup_{\delta \to 0^+} \tilde{U}^{\epsilon,\delta}$  (resp.  $(\tilde{U}^{\epsilon})_* = \lim \inf_{*\delta \to 0^+} \tilde{U}^{\epsilon,\delta})$  is a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of (5.1.16), and  $(\tilde{U}^{\epsilon})^*(0, x, y) \leq (\varphi_{\epsilon})^*(u_0(x) - y)$  (resp.  $(\tilde{U}^{\epsilon})_*(0, x, y) \geq (\varphi_{\epsilon})_*(u_0(x) - y))$ . Moreover, by (5.1.15)

$$\widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}(t,x,y) = \begin{cases} i\epsilon, & \text{if } i\epsilon < U^{\epsilon}(t,x,y) < (i+1)\epsilon, \\ (i-1)\epsilon + \phi(0)\epsilon, & \text{if } (t,x,y) \in \text{Int}\{U^{\epsilon} = i\epsilon\}. \end{cases}$$

At the points  $(t, x, y) \in \partial \{U^{\epsilon} = i\epsilon\}$ , the value of  $\tilde{U}^{\epsilon}$  depends on the lower semicontinuous or the upper semi-continuous envelope that we consider in the definition of discontinuous viscosity solution. In particular, since  $U^{\epsilon}$  is continuous,  $\tilde{U}^{\epsilon}$  has the following properties

$$|(\tilde{U}^{\epsilon})^*(t,x,y) - U^{\epsilon}(t,x,y)|, \ |(\tilde{U}^{\epsilon})_*(t,x,y) - U^{\epsilon}(t,x,y)| \le \epsilon \quad \text{for any } (t,x,y) \in [0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$$

$$(5.1.17)$$

and

$$DU^{\epsilon}(t, x, y) = 0 \quad \text{if } U^{\epsilon}(t, x, y) \neq i\epsilon, \ i \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (5.1.18)

Condition (5.1.18) implies that  $\widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}$  is actually a solution of

$$\begin{cases} \widetilde{U}_t^{\epsilon} + F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{y}{\epsilon}, D_x \widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}, D_y \widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}\right) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ \widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}(0, x, y) = \varphi_{\epsilon}(u_0(x) - y), & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

Indeed, when  $i\epsilon < U^{\epsilon}(t, x, y) < (i + 1)\epsilon$ , for some  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , the function  $\widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}$  is constant in a neighborhood of (t, x, y). Then the result follows from the fact that F(t, x, y, 0) = 0. On the other hand, when  $U^{\epsilon}(t, x, y) = i\epsilon$ , by periodicity,  $F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{U^{\epsilon}+y}{\epsilon}, P\right) = F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{y}{\epsilon}, P\right)$ .

In order to estimate  $|U^{\epsilon} - U^{0}|$  it is convenient to estimate  $|\tilde{U}^{\epsilon} - U^{0}|$ ; indeed,  $\frac{U^{\epsilon}}{\epsilon}$  does not any longer appear in the equation satisfied by  $\tilde{U}^{\epsilon}$ .

Let us define  $V^{\epsilon}(t, x, y) = e^{-t} \widetilde{U}^{\epsilon}(t, x, y)$  and  $V^{0}(t, x, y) = e^{-t} U^{0}(t, x, y)$ . The functions  $V^{\epsilon}$  and  $V^{0}$  are respectively solutions of

$$\begin{cases} V_t^{\epsilon} + V^{\epsilon} + F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{x}{\epsilon}, \frac{y}{\epsilon}, D_x V^{\epsilon}, D_y V^{\epsilon}\right) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ V^{\epsilon}(0, x, y) = \varphi_{\epsilon}(u_0(x) - y), & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \end{cases}$$
(5.1.19)

and

$$\begin{cases} V_t^0 + V^0 + \overline{F}(D_x V^0, D_y V^0) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ V^0(0, x, y) = u_0(x) - y, & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.20)

For alleviating the notations, let us denote a vector of  $\mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  by  $X = (x, x_{N+1})$ , where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $x_{N+1} \in \mathbb{R}$ . We first estimate from above the difference  $(V^{\epsilon})^* - V^0$ : for this, let us introduce the auxiliary function

$$\Phi(t, X, s, Y) = (V^{\epsilon})^{*}(t, X) - V^{0}(s, Y) - \epsilon W^{\alpha} \left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{X}{\epsilon}, \frac{X - Y}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) - \frac{|X - Y|^{2}}{2\epsilon^{\beta}} - \frac{|t - s|^{2}}{2\sigma} - \frac{r}{2}|X|^{2} - \frac{\eta}{T - t},$$
(5.1.21)

where  $\alpha = \epsilon^{\theta}, \, \theta, \, \beta, \, \sigma, \, r, \, \eta \in (0, 1)$  will be fix later on and  $\beta$  and  $\theta$  satisfy

$$0 < \theta < 1 - \beta. \tag{5.1.22}$$

In view of (5.1.12), (5.1.17), (i) of Proposition 5.1.2 and (5.1.9),

$$\Phi(t, X, s, Y) \le 2C_T + \epsilon + |x_{N+1} - y_{N+1}| + \frac{\epsilon}{\alpha} C_1 \frac{|X - Y|}{\epsilon^{\beta}} - \frac{|X - Y|^2}{2\epsilon^{\beta}} - \frac{r}{2} |X|^2$$

for all (t, X),  $(s, Y) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ . Hence,  $\Phi$  attains a global maximum at some point  $(\overline{t}, \overline{X}, \sigma, \overline{Y}) \in ([0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1})^2$ . Standard arguments show that  $\overline{t}, \sigma < T$  for  $\sigma$  small enough.

**Claim 1:** There exists a constant  $M_1 > 0$  independent of  $\epsilon$  such that  $\frac{|\bar{t}-\sigma|}{\sigma} \leq M_1(1+|\bar{y}_{N+1}|)$ . The inequality  $\Phi(\bar{t}, \overline{X}, \bar{t}, \overline{Y}) \leq \Phi(\bar{t}, \overline{X}, \sigma, \overline{Y})$  and Proposition (5.1.4) imply

$$\frac{|\overline{t} - \sigma|^2}{2\sigma} \le V^0(\overline{t}, \overline{Y}) - V^0(\sigma, \overline{Y}) \le |e^{-\overline{t}} - e^{-\sigma}||U^0(\overline{t}, \overline{Y})| + e^{-\sigma}|U^0(\overline{t}, \overline{Y}) - U^0(\sigma, \overline{Y})| \le |\overline{t} - \sigma|(C_T + |\overline{y}_{N+1}|) + L|\overline{t} - \sigma|$$

from which Claim 1 follows.

**Claim 2:** There exists a constant  $M_2 > 0$  independent of  $\epsilon$  and T, such that  $\frac{|\overline{X}-\overline{Y}|}{\epsilon^{\beta}} \leq M_2$ .

The inequality  $\Phi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}, \sigma, \overline{X}) \leq \Phi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}, \sigma, \overline{Y})$  implies

$$\frac{|\overline{X} - \overline{Y}|^2}{\epsilon^{\beta}} \le V^0(\sigma, \overline{X}) - V^0(\sigma, \overline{Y}) + \epsilon W^{\alpha}\left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, 0\right) - \epsilon W^{\alpha}\left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right).$$

Using (5.1.13), (i) of Lemma 5.1.3 and (5.1.22) we then infer

$$\frac{|\overline{X} - \overline{Y}|^2}{\epsilon^{\beta}} \le (L+1)|\overline{X} - \overline{Y}| + \frac{\epsilon}{\alpha} C_1 \frac{|\overline{X} - \overline{Y}|}{\epsilon^{\beta}} = (L+1)|\overline{X} - \overline{Y}| + \epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta} C_1 |\overline{X} - \overline{Y}| \\ \le M_2 |\overline{X} - \overline{Y}|.$$

This concludes the proof of Claim 2.

**Claim 3:** There exists a constant  $M_3 > 0$  independent of  $\epsilon$  such that  $r|\overline{X}|^2 \leq M_3$ . The inequality  $\Phi(\overline{t}, 0, \sigma, 0) \leq \Phi(\overline{t}, \overline{X}, \sigma, \overline{Y})$  implies

$$\frac{r}{2}|\overline{X}|^2 \leq (V^{\epsilon})^*(\overline{t},\overline{X}) - V^0(\sigma,\overline{Y}) + V^0(\sigma,0) - (V^{\epsilon})^*(\overline{t},0) + \epsilon W^{\alpha}\left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon},0,0\right) - \epsilon W^{\alpha}\left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon},\frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon},\frac{\overline{X}-\overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right).$$

Then, using (5.1.12), (5.1.17), Claims 1 and 2, (iii) of Lemma 5.1.3, (i) of Proposition 5.1.2 and (5.1.9), we deduce

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{r}{2} |\overline{X}|^2 &\leq e^{-\overline{t}} [U^{\epsilon}(\overline{t}, \overline{X}) - U^0(\sigma, \overline{Y})] + |e^{-\overline{t}} - e^{-\sigma}||U^0(\sigma, \overline{Y})| + \epsilon \\ &+ V^0(\sigma, 0) - (V^{\epsilon})^*(\overline{t}, 0) - \epsilon W^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) \\ &\leq 4C_T + M_2 \epsilon^{\beta} + |\overline{t} - \sigma|(C_T + |\overline{y}_{N+1}|) + 2\epsilon + \frac{\epsilon}{\alpha} C_1 \frac{|\overline{X} - \overline{Y}|}{\epsilon^{\beta}} \\ &\leq C + 2\sigma M_1 |\overline{y}_{N+1}|^2 \leq C + 2\sigma M_1 |\overline{X}|^2, \end{aligned}$$

and Claim 3 follows by choosing  $\sigma < \frac{r}{8M_1}$ .

Now, suppose first that  $\overline{t} = 0$ , then

$$(V^{\epsilon})^{*}(t,X) - V^{0}(t,X) - \epsilon W^{\alpha} \left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{X}{\epsilon}, 0\right) - \frac{\eta}{T-t} - \frac{r}{2}|X|^{2}$$
  
$$\leq (\varphi_{\epsilon})^{*}(u_{0}(\overline{x}) - \overline{x}_{N+1}) - V^{0}(\sigma, \overline{Y}) - \epsilon W^{\alpha} \left(0, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right)$$

for any  $(t, X) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ , from which, using (i) of Proposition 5.1.2, (iii) of Lemma 5.1.3, (5.1.9) and Claim 2, we deduce

$$(V^{\epsilon})^{*}(t,X) - V^{0}(t,X) \le (\varphi_{\epsilon})^{*}(u_{0}(\overline{x}) - \overline{x}_{N+1}) - V^{0}(\sigma,\overline{Y}) + \frac{\eta}{T-t} + \frac{r}{2}|X|^{2} + \epsilon^{1-\theta}C_{1}M_{2}$$

Letting  $\sigma$ ,  $\eta$  and r go to  $0^+$  and using (5.1.17) and Claim 2 we obtain

$$(V^{\epsilon})^{*}(t,X) - V^{0}(t,X) \leq (\varphi_{\epsilon})^{*}(u_{0}(\overline{x}) - \overline{x}_{N+1}) - (u_{0}(\overline{y}) - \overline{y}_{N+1}) + C\epsilon^{1-\theta}$$
  
$$\leq (\varphi_{\epsilon})^{*}(u_{0}(\overline{x}) - \overline{x}_{N+1}) - (u_{0}(\overline{x}) - \overline{x}_{N+1}) + (L+1)|\overline{X} - \overline{Y}| + C\epsilon^{1-\theta}$$
  
$$\leq C(\epsilon^{\beta} + \epsilon^{1-\theta}) + \epsilon,$$

which implies

$$U^{\epsilon}(t,X) - U^{0}(t,X) \le Ce^{t}(\epsilon^{\beta} + \epsilon^{1-\theta}).$$
(5.1.23)

The same estimate can be showed if  $\sigma = 0$ .

Next, let us consider the case  $\bar{t}, \sigma > 0$ .

**Claim 4:** There exists a constant C > 0 independent of  $\epsilon$  and T such that

$$\frac{\overline{t} - \sigma}{\sigma} + \frac{\eta}{(T - \overline{t})^2} + (V^{\epsilon})^* (\overline{t}, \overline{X}) + \overline{F} \left(\frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) \le C(\epsilon^{1 - \theta - \beta} + \epsilon^{\theta}).$$

The function

$$(t,X) \to (V^{\epsilon})^{*}(t,X) - \epsilon W^{\alpha}\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon},\frac{X}{\epsilon},\frac{X-\overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) - \frac{|X-\overline{Y}|^{2}}{2\epsilon^{\beta}} - \frac{r}{2}|X|^{2} - \frac{|t-\sigma|^{2}}{2\sigma} - \frac{\eta}{T-t}$$

$$(5.1.24)$$

has a maximum at  $(\bar{t}, \bar{X})$ . By adding to  $\Phi$  a smooth function vanishing with its first derivative at  $(\bar{t}, \bar{X})$ , we may assume the maximum is strict.

Next, for j > 0, let us introduce the function

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{j}(t,s,X,Y,Z) &:= (V^{\epsilon})^{*}(t,X) - \epsilon W^{\alpha} \left(s,Y,\frac{Z-\overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) - \frac{|X-\overline{Y}|^{2}}{2\epsilon^{\beta}} - \frac{r}{2}|X|^{2} - \frac{|t-\sigma|^{2}}{2\sigma} \\ &- \frac{\eta}{T-t} - \frac{j}{2}(|t-\epsilon s|^{2} + |X-Z|^{2} + |X-\epsilon Y|^{2}). \end{split}$$

Let  $P_j = (t_j, s_j, X_j, Y_j, Z_j)$  be a maximum point of  $\Psi_j$  on the set

$$A := \overline{B}(\overline{t}, 1) \times \overline{B}\left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, 1\right) \times \overline{B}(\overline{X}, 1) \times \overline{B}\left(\frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, 1\right) \times \overline{B}(\overline{X}, 1).$$

Since  $(\overline{t}, \overline{X})$  is a strict maximum point of (5.1.24),  $t_j \to \overline{t}, s_j \to \frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, X_j, Z_j \to \overline{X}$ and  $Y_j \to \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}$  as  $j \to +\infty$ . Then, for j large enough,  $P_j$  lies in the interior of A. Moreover, standard arguments show that

$$j|t_j - \epsilon s_j|^2$$
,  $j|X_j - Z_j|^2$ ,  $j|X_j - \epsilon Y_j|^2 \to 0$  as  $j \to +\infty$ . (5.1.25)

Remark that this implies in addition that

$$2j|t_j - \epsilon s_j||X_j - \epsilon Y_j| \le j|t_j - \epsilon s_j|^2 + j|X_j - \epsilon Y_j|^2 \to 0 \quad \text{as } j \to +\infty.$$
 (5.1.26)

Since  $(V^{\epsilon})^*$  and  $W^{\alpha}$  are respectively viscosity subsolutions of (5.1.19) and supersolution of (5.1.11), we obtain

$$\frac{t_j - \sigma}{\sigma} + \frac{\eta}{(T - t_j)^2} + j(t_j - \epsilon s_j) + (V^{\epsilon})^*(t_j, X_j) + F\left(\frac{t_j}{\epsilon}, \frac{X_j}{\epsilon}, \frac{X_j - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}} + rX_j + j(X_j - Z_j) + j(X_j - \epsilon Y_j)\right) \le 0$$
(5.1.27)

and

$$j(t_j - \epsilon s_j) + \alpha W^{\alpha} \left( s_j, Y_j, \frac{Z^j - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}} \right) + F \left( s_j, Y_j, \frac{Z^j - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}} + j(X_j - \epsilon Y_j) \right) \ge 0.$$
(5.1.28)

Subtracting (5.1.27) and (5.1.28) and using the Lipschitz continuity of F, assumption (F2), we get

$$\frac{t_j - \sigma}{\sigma} + \frac{\eta}{(T - t_j)^2} + (V^{\epsilon})^* (t_j, X_j) - \alpha W^{\alpha} \left( s_j, Y_j, \frac{Z^j - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}} \right) \\
\leq \frac{C_1}{\epsilon} \left( |t_j - \epsilon s_j| + |X_j - \epsilon Y_j| \right) \left( \frac{|Z^j - \overline{Y}|}{\epsilon^{\beta}} + j |X_j - \epsilon Y_j| \right) \\
+ C_1 \left( \frac{|X_j - Z_j|}{\epsilon^{\beta}} + r |X_j| + j |X_j - Z_j| \right).$$
(5.1.29)

Let us estimate  $j|X_j-Z_j|$ . From the inequality  $\Psi_j(t_j, s_j, X_j, Y_j, X_j) \le \Psi_j(t_j, s_j, X_j, Y_j, Z_j)$ we deduce that

$$\frac{j}{2}|X_j - Z_j|^2 \le \epsilon W^\alpha \left(s_j, Y_j, \frac{X^j - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^\beta}\right) - \epsilon W^\alpha \left(s_j, Y_j, \frac{Z^j - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^\beta}\right),$$

and using (i) of Lemma 5.1.3 we get

$$\frac{j}{2}|X_j - Z_j|^2 \le C_1 \frac{\epsilon}{\alpha} \frac{|X_j - Z_j|}{\epsilon^{\beta}} = C_1 \epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta} |X_j - Z_j|.$$

Then

$$j|X_j - Z_j| \le 2C_1 \epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta}.$$
 (5.1.30)

Then, passing to the limsup as  $j \to +\infty$  in (5.1.29) and taking into account Claim 2, (5.1.25) and (5.1.26), we obtain

$$\frac{\overline{t} - \sigma}{\sigma} + \frac{\eta}{(T - \overline{t})^2} + (V^{\epsilon})^* (\overline{t}, \overline{X}) - \alpha W^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon}\right) \le C(\epsilon^{1 - \theta - \beta} + r|\overline{X}|). \quad (5.1.31)$$

By Claim 3,  $r|\overline{X}| \leq r^{\frac{1}{2}} M_3^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , hence choosing r > 0 such that  $r^{\frac{1}{2}} M_3^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq \epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta}$ , we have  $r|\overline{X}| \leq \epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta}$ .

Finally, Claim 4 easily follows from (5.1.31), Claim 2 and the following inequality

$$-\alpha W^{\alpha}\left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) \ge \overline{F}\left(\frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) - \alpha K_1 \ge \overline{F}\left(\frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) - K_1 \epsilon^{\theta}$$

which comes from (ii) of Lemma 5.1.3.

**Claim 5:** There exists a constant C > 0 independent of  $\epsilon$  and T such that

$$\frac{\overline{t} - \sigma}{\sigma} + V^0(\sigma, \overline{Y}) + \overline{F}\left(\frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^\beta}\right) \ge -C\epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta}.$$

The function

$$(s,Y) \to \phi(s,Y) := V^0(s,Y) + \epsilon W^\alpha \left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X} - Y}{\epsilon^\beta}\right) + \frac{|\overline{X} - Y|^2}{2\epsilon^\beta} + \frac{|\overline{t} - s|^2}{2\sigma}$$

has a minimum at  $(\sigma, \overline{Y})$ , consequently  $(0,0) \in D^-\phi(\sigma, \overline{Y})$ . If we set

$$\widetilde{V}(s,Y) := V^0(s,Y) + \frac{|\overline{X} - Y|^2}{2\epsilon^\beta} + \frac{|\overline{t} - s|^2}{2\sigma}, \quad \widetilde{W}(Y) := \epsilon W^\alpha \left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X} - Y}{\epsilon^\beta}\right),$$

by properties of semijets of Lipschitz functions, see e.g. Lemma 2.4 in [36], there exists  $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  such that

$$(0,Q) \in D^{-}\widetilde{V}(\sigma,\overline{Y}) = D^{-}V^{0}(\sigma,\overline{Y}) - \left(\frac{\overline{t}-\sigma}{\sigma},\frac{\overline{X}-\overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) \quad -Q \in D^{-}\widetilde{W}(\overline{Y}).$$

Since  $V^0$  is a supersolution of (5.1.20), we have

$$\frac{\overline{t} - \sigma}{\sigma} + V^0(\sigma, \overline{Y}) + \overline{F}\left(\frac{\overline{X} - \overline{Y}}{\epsilon^\beta} + Q\right) \ge 0.$$
(5.1.32)

By (i) of Lemma 5.1.3,

$$\left|\epsilon W^{\alpha}\left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X} - Y}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) - \epsilon W^{\alpha}\left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon}, \frac{\overline{X} - Z}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right)\right| \leq \frac{\epsilon}{\alpha} C_{1} \frac{|Y - Z|}{\epsilon^{\beta}} = C_{1} \epsilon^{1 - \theta - \beta} |Y - Z|,$$

from which we get the following estimate of Q:

$$|Q| \le C_1 \epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta}.\tag{5.1.33}$$

Then, Claim 5 follows from (5.1.32) using estimate (5.1.33) and the Lipschitz continuity of  $\overline{F}$  assured by (iv) of Lemma 5.1.3.

Claims 4 and 5 imply

$$(V^{\epsilon})^*(\overline{t},\overline{X}) - V^0(\sigma,\overline{Y}) \le C(\epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta} + \epsilon^{\theta}),$$

for some constant C independent of  $\epsilon$  and T. Since  $(\overline{t}, \overline{X}, \sigma, \overline{Y})$  is a maximum point of  $\Phi$ , we have

$$(V^{\epsilon})^{*}(t,X) - V^{0}(t,X) \leq \Phi(\overline{t},\overline{X},\sigma,\overline{Y}) + \epsilon W^{\alpha}\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon},\frac{X}{\epsilon},0\right) + \frac{r}{2}|X|^{2} + \frac{\eta}{T-t},$$

for all  $(t,X)\in[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^{N+1}.$  Then, by (iii) of Lemma 5.1.3

$$\begin{split} (V^{\epsilon})^*(t,X) - V^0(t,X) &\leq (V^{\epsilon})^*(\overline{t},\overline{X}) - V^0(\sigma,\overline{Y}) - \epsilon W^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\overline{t}}{\epsilon},\frac{\overline{X}}{\epsilon},\frac{\overline{X}-\overline{Y}}{\epsilon^{\beta}}\right) + \frac{r}{2}|X|^2 + \frac{\eta}{T-t} \\ &\leq C(\epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta} + \epsilon^{\theta}) + \frac{\epsilon}{\alpha}C_1\frac{|\overline{X}-\overline{Y}|}{\epsilon^{\beta}} + \frac{r}{2}|X|^2 + \frac{\eta}{T-t} \\ &\leq C(\epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta} + \epsilon^{\theta}) + \frac{r}{2}|X|^2 + \frac{\eta}{T-t}, \end{split}$$

for some positive constant C. Hence, sending  $r, \eta, \to 0^+$  and taking into account (5.1.17), we get

$$U^{\epsilon}(t,X) - U^{0}(t,X) \le Ce^{t}(\epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta} + \epsilon^{\theta}).$$

Then, from the previous estimate and (5.1.23), we can conclude that for all  $\beta$ ,  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  satisfying (5.1.22) we have

$$U^{\epsilon}(t,X) - U^0(t,X) \leq C e^t (\epsilon^{1-\theta-\beta} + \epsilon^{\theta} + \epsilon^{\beta}),$$

for all  $(t, X) \in [0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ . The optimal choice of the parameters is  $\theta = \beta = \frac{1}{3}$ , which gives

$$\sup_{[0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^{N+1}} (U^{\epsilon}(t,X) - U^0(t,X)) \le C\epsilon^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$

The opposite inequality follows by similar arguments, replacing  $(V^{\epsilon})^*$  with  $V^0$  and  $V^0$  with  $(V^{\epsilon})_*$  in (5.1.21), and the proof of Theorem 5.1.1 in the general case is complete.

Now, let us consider the case when  $u_0$  is affine. Let us suppose that  $u_0(x) = p \cdot x + c_0$  for some  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $c_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . In this case, the solution of (5.0.6) is  $u^0(t,x) = p \cdot x + c_0 - \overline{H}(p)t$ . Let  $\overline{V}$  be a bounded viscosity supersolution of (5.0.5) with  $p_x = p$  and  $p_y = -1$ . Let us define

$$V^{\epsilon}(t,X) = U^{0}(t,X) + \epsilon \overline{V}\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon},\frac{X}{\epsilon}\right).$$

Since  $u_0(x) - y \ge \varphi_{\epsilon}(u_0(x) - y) - \epsilon$  then  $V^{\epsilon}(0, X) \ge \varphi_{\epsilon}(u_0(x) - y) - (M+1)\epsilon$  where  $M = \|\overline{V}\|_{\infty}$ . Hence, it is easy to check that  $V^{\epsilon}$  is a supersolution of

$$\begin{cases} V_t^{\epsilon} + F\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{X}{\epsilon}, D_X V^{\epsilon}\right) = 0, & (t, X) \in (0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ V^{\epsilon}(0, X) = \varphi_{\epsilon}(u_0(x) - y) - (M+1)\epsilon, & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}. \end{cases}$$

By comparison we get  $V^{\epsilon}(t,X) \geq (\tilde{U}^{\epsilon})^*(t,X) - (M+1)\epsilon$  and this implies that  $U^0(t,X) - U^{\epsilon}(t,X) \geq -C\epsilon$ . A similar argument shows that  $U^0(t,X) - U^{\epsilon}(t,X) \leq C\epsilon$  and this concludes the proof of the theorem.  $\Box$ 

### 5.2 Approximation of the effective Hamiltonian by Eulerian schemes

In this section we give an approximation of the effective Hamiltonian  $\overline{F}(P)$ . To this end, we introduce an approximation scheme for the equation (5.1.11) and for simplicity we only discuss the case N = 2. Given  $N_X$  and  $N_t$  positive integers, we introduce  $\Delta t = 1/N_t$ ,  $h = 1/N_X$  and

$$\mathbb{R}_{h}^{2} := \{ X_{i,j} = (x_{i}, y_{j}) \mid x_{i} = ih, y_{j} = jh, i, j \in \mathbb{Z} \},$$
$$\mathbb{R}_{\Delta t} := \{ t_{n} = n\Delta t \mid n \in \mathbb{Z} \}.$$

An anisotropic mesh with steps  $h_1$  and  $h_2$  is possible too; we take  $h_1 = h_2$  only for simplicity. We denote by  $W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}$  our numerical approximation of  $W^{P,\alpha}$  at  $(t_n, x_i, y_j) \in \mathbb{R}_{\Delta t} \times \mathbb{R}^2_h$ . For (5.1.11) we consider the implicit Eulerian scheme of the form

$$\frac{W_{i,j}^{n+1,P,\alpha} - W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}}{\Delta t} + \alpha W_{i,j}^{n+1,P,\alpha} + S(t_n, x_i, y_j, h, [W^{n+1,P,\alpha}]_{i,j}) = 0, \quad (5.2.34)$$

where

$$S(t_n, x_i, y_j, h, [W]_{i,j}) = g(t_n, x_i, y_j, (\Delta_1^+ W)_{i,j} + p_x, (\Delta_1^+ W)_{i-1,j} + p_x, (\Delta_2^+ W)_{i,j} + p_y, (\Delta_2^+ W)_{i,j-1} + p_y)$$
(5.2.35)

and

$$(\Delta_1^+ W)_{i,j} = \frac{W_{i+1,j} - W_{i,j}}{h}, \quad (\Delta_2^+ W)_{i,j} = \frac{W_{i,j+1} - W_{i,j}}{h}.$$

We make the following assumptions on g:

- (g1) Monotonicity: g is nonincreasing with respect to its fourth and sixth arguments, and nondecreasing with respect to its fifth and seventh arguments;
- (g2) Consistency: for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $(q_x, q_y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$

 $g(t, x, y, q_x, q_x, q_y, q_y) = F(t, x, y, q_x, q_y).$ 

(g3) Periodicity: for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $Q \in \mathbb{R}^4$ 

$$g(t+1, x+1, y+1, Q) = g(t, x, y, Q);$$

(g4) Regularity: g is locally Lipschitz continuous and there exists  $\tilde{C}_1 > 0$  such that for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $Q \in \mathbb{R}^4$ 

$$|D_Q g(t, x, y, Q)| \le \widetilde{C}_1;$$

(g5) Coercivity: there exist  $\tilde{C}_2, \tilde{C}_3 > 0$  such that for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}, (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $(q_1, q_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ 

$$g(t, x, y, q_1, q_2, 0, 0) \ge \widetilde{C}_2(|q_1^-|^2 + |q_2^+|^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \widetilde{C}_3;$$

(g6) For any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(x, y_1), (x, y_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2, q_1, q_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$g(t, x, y_1, q_1, q_2, 0, 0) = g(t, x, y_2, q_1, q_2, 0, 0).$$

The points (g1)-(g4) are standard assumptions in the study of numerical schemes for Hamilton-Jacobi equations. The coercivity hypothesis (g5) can be substituted by the weaker condition

$$\lim_{q_1^+ + q_2^- \to +\infty} g(x, y, q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) = +\infty$$

if g (and hence F) does not depend on time. If g is homogeneous of degree 1 w.r.t. Q, then the two coercivity conditions are equivalent.

As an example, we suppose that the Hamiltonian F is of the form  $F(t, x, y, p_x, p_y) = a(t, x)|p_x| + b(t, x, y)|p_y|$ , with a and b Lipschitz continuous functions and  $a(t, x) \ge \widetilde{C}_2 > 0$ ; we consider a generalization of the Godunov scheme proposed in [94]:

$$g(t, x, y, q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) = a(t, x)[(q_1^-)^2 + (q_2^+)^2]^{\frac{1}{2}} + b^+(t, x, y)[(q_3^-)^2 + (q_4^+)^2]^{\frac{1}{2}} - b^-(t, x, y)[(q_3^+)^2 + (q_4^-)^2]^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

where  $q^+ = \max(q, 0)$  and  $q^- = (-q)^+$ . Then hypothesis (g1)-(g6) are satisfied.

The following theorem is the discrete version of the analogous result in [18] for the exact solution  $W^{P,\alpha}$  of (5.1.11).

**Theorem 5.2.1.** Assume (g1)-(g6). Then we have

(i) For any  $P = (p_x, p_y) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $\alpha$ , h,  $\Delta t > 0$  there exists a unique  $(W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha})$  periodic solution of (5.2.34);

(ii) There exists a constant  $\widetilde{K}_1$  depending on  $||F(\cdot, \cdot, \cdot, P)||_{\infty}$ ,  $\widetilde{C}_1$  in (g4),  $\widetilde{C}_2$ ,  $\widetilde{C}_3$ in (g5),  $p_x$  and  $p_y$ , but independent of  $\alpha$ , h and  $\Delta t$  such that

$$\max_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} - \min_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} \le \widetilde{K}_1;$$

(iii) There exists a constant  $\overline{F}_{h}^{\Delta t}(P)$  such that

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 0^+} \alpha W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} = -\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P) \quad \forall i, j, n;$$
(5.2.36)

(iv)  $\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P)$  is the unique number  $\overline{\lambda}_h^{\Delta t} \in \mathbb{R}$  such that the equation

$$\frac{W_{i,j}^{n+1,P} - W_{i,j}^{n,P}}{\Delta t} + S(t_n, x_i, y_j, h, [W^{n+1,P}]_{i,j}) = \overline{\lambda}_h^{\Delta t}$$
(5.2.37)

admits a bounded solution.

**Proof.** A proof of the existence of a solution of (5.2.34) in the uniform grid on the torus with step h is given in [39].

Let us prove (ii). First, remark that by comparison with constants we have

$$\max_{i,j,n} |\alpha W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}| \le C_0, \tag{5.2.38}$$

where  $C_0 := \|F(\cdot, \cdot, \cdot, P)\|_{\infty}$ . Next, let us define

$$\overline{W}_i^n := \max_j W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}.$$

We claim that  $\overline{W}_i^n$  satisfies

$$\frac{\overline{W}_i^{n+1} - \overline{W}_i^n}{\Delta t} + \alpha \overline{W}_i^{n+1} + \overline{S}(t_n, x_i, h, [\overline{W}^{n+1}]_i) \le 0,$$

where

$$\overline{S}(t_n, x_i, h, [W]_i) := \min_j g(t_n, x_i, y_j, (\Delta_1^+ W)_i + p_x, (\Delta_1^+ W)_{i-1} + p_x, p_y, p_y).$$

Indeed, for any *i* and *n*, denote by  $\overline{j}_{(i,n)}$  the index *j* such that  $\overline{W}_i^n = \max_j W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} = W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n)}}^{n,P,\alpha}$ , then

$$\frac{W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}^{n+1,P,\alpha}-W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}^{n,P,\alpha}}{\Delta t}\geq \frac{W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}^{n+1,P,\alpha}-W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n)}}^{n,P,\alpha}}{\Delta t}=\frac{\overline{W}_{i}^{n+1}-\overline{W}_{i}^{n}}{\Delta t},$$

$$\begin{split} (\Delta_1^+ W^{n+1,P,\alpha})_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}} &= \frac{W^{n+1,P,\alpha}_{i+1,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}} - W^{n+1,P,\alpha}_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}}{h} \le \frac{W^{n+1,P,\alpha}_{i+1,\overline{j}_{i+1,n+1}} - W^{n+1,P,\alpha}_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}}{h} \\ &= (\Delta_1^+ \overline{W}^{n+1})_i, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} (\Delta_1^+ W^{n+1,P,\alpha})_{i-1,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}} &= \frac{W^{n+1,P,\alpha}_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}} - W^{n+1,P,\alpha}_{i-1,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}}{h} \ge \frac{W^{n+1,P,\alpha}_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}} - W^{n+1,P,\alpha}_{i-1,\overline{j}_{(i-1,n+1)}}}{h} \\ &= (\Delta_1^+ \overline{W}^{n+1})_{i-1}, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$(\Delta_{2}^{+}W^{n+1,P,\alpha})_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}} = \frac{W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}+1}^{n+1,P,\alpha} - W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}^{n+1,P,\alpha}}{h} \le 0,$$
$$(\Delta_{2}^{+}W^{n+1,P,\alpha})_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}-1} = \frac{W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}^{n+1,P,\alpha} - W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}-1}^{n+1,P,\alpha}}{h} \ge 0.$$

Since  $(W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha})$  satisfies (5.2.34), using the monotonicity assumption (g1), we get

$$\begin{split} & \overline{W}_{i}^{n+1} - \overline{W}_{i}^{n} + \alpha \overline{W}_{i}^{n+1} + \overline{S}(t_{n}, x_{i}, h, [\overline{W}^{n+1}]_{i}) \\ & \leq \frac{\overline{W}_{i}^{n+1} - \overline{W}_{i}^{n}}{\Delta t} + \alpha W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}^{n+1,P,\alpha} \\ & + g(t_{n}, x_{i}, y_{\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}, (\Delta_{1}^{+} \overline{W}^{n+1})_{i} + p_{x}, (\Delta_{1}^{+} \overline{W}^{n+1})_{i-1} + p_{x}, p_{y}, p_{y}) \\ & \leq \frac{W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}^{n+1,P,\alpha} - W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}^{n,P,\alpha}}{\Delta t} + \alpha W_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}^{n+1,P,\alpha} \\ & + g(t_{n}, x_{i}, y_{\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}}, (\Delta_{1}^{+} W^{n+1,P,\alpha})_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}} + p_{x}, (\Delta_{1}^{+} W^{n+1,P,\alpha})_{i-1,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}} + p_{x}, \\ & (\Delta_{2}^{+} W^{n+1,P,\alpha})_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}} + p_{y}, (\Delta_{2}^{+} W^{n+1,P,\alpha})_{i,\overline{j}_{(i,n+1)}-1} + p_{y}) \\ & \leq 0, \end{split}$$

as desired. Then, by (g4), (g5) and (5.2.38), we see that  $\overline{W}_i^n$  satisfies

$$\frac{\overline{W}_{i}^{n+1} - \overline{W}_{i}^{n}}{\Delta t} + \widetilde{C}_{2} \left( |[(\Delta_{1}^{+} \overline{W}^{n+1})_{i} + p_{x}]^{-}|^{2} + |[(\Delta_{1}^{+} \overline{W}^{n+1})_{i-1} + p_{x}]^{+}|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \leq 0,$$

where  $K_1 = C_0 + \tilde{C}_3 + 2\tilde{C}_1 |p_y|$ . In particular we infer that

$$\overline{W}_i^{n+1} - \overline{W}_i^n \le K_1 \Delta t,$$

which implies that if  $n \ge m$  then

$$\overline{W}_i^n - \overline{W}_i^m \le K_1(n-m)\Delta t = K_1(t_n - t_m).$$
(5.2.39)

Next, let us consider

$$\overline{\overline{W}}_i = \max_n \overline{W}_i^n.$$

Similar arguments as before show that  $\overline{\overline{W}}_i$  satisfies

$$\widetilde{C}_{2}\left(|[(\Delta_{1}^{+}\overline{\overline{W}})_{i}+p_{x}]^{-}|^{2}+|[(\Delta_{1}^{+}\overline{\overline{W}})_{i-1}+p_{x}]^{+}|^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq K_{1},$$

which implies the existence of a constant  $K_2 > 0$  depending on  $C_0, \tilde{C}_1, \tilde{C}_2, \tilde{C}_3, p_x$ and  $p_y$  such that

$$\max_{i} |(\Delta_1^+ \overline{W})_i| \le K_2. \tag{5.2.40}$$

Now, let  $(i_1, n_1)$  and  $(i_2, n_2)$  be such that  $\max_{i,n} \overline{W}_i^n = \overline{W}_{i_1}^{n_1}$  and  $\min_{i,n} \overline{W}_i^n = \overline{W}_{i_2}^{n_2}$ , and let  $n_{i_2}$  be such that  $\overline{\overline{W}}_{i_2} = \max_n \overline{W}_{i_2}^n = \overline{W}_{i_2}^{n_{i_2}}$ . By periodicity, we may take  $|x_{i_1} - x_{i_2}| \leq 1$  and  $0 \leq t_{n_{i_2}} - t_{n_2} \leq 1$ . Then using (5.2.40) and (5.2.39), we get

 $\overline{W}_{i_1}^{n_1} = \overline{\overline{W}}_{i_1}$   $\leq \overline{\overline{W}}_{i_2} + K_2 |x_{i_1} - x_{i_2}|$   $\leq \overline{W}_{i_2}^{n_{i_2}} + K_2$   $\leq \overline{W}_{i_2}^{n_2} + K_1 (t_{n_{i_2}} - t_{n_2}) + K_2$   $\leq \overline{W}_{i_2}^{n_2} + K_0.$ 

Then we have proved that

$$\max_{i,n} \overline{W}_i^n - \min_{i,n} \overline{W}_i^n \le K_0, \tag{5.2.41}$$

where  $K_0$  depends only on  $C_0, \tilde{C}_1, \tilde{C}_2, \tilde{C}_3, p_x$  and  $p_y$ .

Next, we consider the behavior of  $W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}$  in j. We claim that

$$W_{i,j_{1}}^{n,P,\alpha} + p_{y}y_{j_{1}} \leq W_{i,j_{2}}^{n,P,\alpha} + p_{y}y_{j_{2}} \quad \text{if } j_{1} \geq j_{2} \text{ and } p_{y} < 0,$$

$$W_{i,j_{1}}^{n,P,\alpha} = W_{i,j_{2}}^{n,P,\alpha} \quad \text{for any } j_{1}, j_{2} \text{ if } p_{y} = 0,$$

$$W_{i,j_{1}}^{n,P,\alpha} + p_{y}y_{j_{1}} \geq W_{i,j_{2}}^{n,P,\alpha} + p_{y}y_{j_{2}} \quad \text{if } j_{1} \geq j_{2} \text{ and } p_{y} > 0.$$
(5.2.42)

Let us consider the case  $p_y < 0$ . Suppose by contradiction that

$$M := \max_{i,n,j_1 \ge j_2} (W_{i,j_1}^{n,P,\alpha} - W_{i,j_2}^{n,P,\alpha} + p_y(y_{j_1} - y_{j_2})) = W_{\bar{i},\bar{j}_1}^{\overline{n},P,\alpha} - W_{\bar{i},\bar{j}_2}^{\overline{n},P,\alpha} + p_y(y_{\bar{j}_1} - y_{\bar{j}_2}) > 0.$$

Then  $\overline{j}_1 \geq \overline{j}_2 + 1$ . We have the following estimate

$$\begin{split} (\Delta_1^+ W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_1} - (\Delta_1^+ W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_2} &= \frac{W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i}+1,\overline{j}_1} - W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_1}}{h} - \frac{W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i}+1,\overline{j}_2} - W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_2}}{h} \\ &= \frac{W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i}+1,\overline{j}_1} - W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i}+1,\overline{j}_2}}{h} - \frac{W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_1} - W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_2}}{h} \le 0. \end{split}$$

Similarly

$$(\Delta_1^+ W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i}-1,\overline{j}_1} \ge (\Delta_1^+ W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i}-1,\overline{j}_2},$$

and

$$\frac{W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_1}-W^{\overline{n}-1,P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_1}}{\Delta t}\geq \frac{W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_2}-W^{\overline{n}-1,P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_2}}{\Delta t}$$

Moreover, we have

$$\begin{split} (\Delta_{2}^{+}W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{1}} + p_{y} &= \frac{W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{1}+1} - W^{\overline{n}P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{1}}}{h} + p_{y} \\ &= \frac{W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{1}+1} - W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{2}}}{h} + p_{y}\frac{y_{\overline{j}_{1}+1} - y_{\overline{j}_{2}}}{h} - \frac{W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{1}} - W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{2}}}{h} - p_{y}\frac{y_{\overline{j}_{1}} - y_{\overline{j}_{2}}}{h} \le 0, \end{split}$$

similarly

$$(\Delta_{2}^{+}W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{1}-1} + p_{y} \ge 0, \quad (\Delta_{2}^{+}W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{2}} + p_{y} \ge 0, \quad (\Delta_{2}^{+}W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{2}-1} + p_{y} \le 0.$$

Then, since  $W_{i,j}^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}$  satisfies (5.2.34), using assumptions (g1) and (g6), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(W_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{1}}^{\overline{n},P,\alpha} - W_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{2}}^{\overline{n},P,\alpha}) &\leq -g(t_{\overline{n}}, x_{\overline{i}}, y_{\overline{j}_{1}}, (\Delta_{1}^{+}W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{1}} + p_{x}, (\Delta_{1}^{+}W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i}-1,\overline{j}_{1}} + p_{x}, 0, 0) \\ &+ g(t_{\overline{n}}, x_{\overline{i}}, y_{\overline{j}_{2}}, (\Delta_{1}^{+}W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_{1}} + p_{x}, (\Delta_{1}^{+}W^{\overline{n},P,\alpha})_{\overline{i}-1,\overline{j}_{1}} + p_{x}, 0, 0) = 0. \end{aligned}$$

This implies that

$$0 < \alpha M = \alpha (W_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_1}^{\overline{n},P,\alpha} - W_{\overline{i},\overline{j}_2}^{\overline{n},P,\alpha} + p_y(y_{\overline{j}_1} - y_{\overline{j}_2})) \le \alpha p_y(y_{\overline{j}_1} - y_{\overline{j}_2}) < 0,$$

which is a contradiction and this concludes the proof of (5.2.42) for  $p_y < 0$ . The case  $p_y \ge 0$  can be treated in an analogous way.

Now, to prove (ii), we use the properties (5.2.41) and (5.2.42) of  $W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}$  and again we only consider the case  $p_y < 0$ . Let  $(i_1, j_1, n_1)$  and  $(i_2, j_2, n_2)$  be such that  $W_{i_1,j_1}^{n_1,P,\alpha} = \max_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}$  and  $W_{i_2,j_2}^{n_2,P,\alpha} = \min_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}$ . Let  $\overline{j}$  be such that  $\overline{W}_{i_2}^{n_2} = W_{i_2,\overline{j}}^{n_2,P,\alpha}$ . By periodicity, we can take  $0 \le y_{\overline{j}} - y_{j_2} \le 1$  and  $|x_{i_1} - x_{i_2}| \le 1$ . Then

$$W_{i_{1},j_{1}}^{n_{1},P,\alpha} = \overline{W}_{i_{1}}^{n_{1}}$$

$$\leq \overline{W}_{i_{2}}^{n_{2}} + K_{0}$$

$$= W_{i_{2},\overline{j}}^{n_{2},P,\alpha} + K_{0}$$

$$\leq W_{i_{2},j_{2}}^{n_{2},P,\alpha} + p_{y}(y_{j_{2}} - y_{\overline{j}}) + K_{0}$$

$$\leq W_{i_{2},j_{2}}^{n_{2},P,\alpha} - p_{y} + K_{0},$$

and this concludes the proof of (ii).

The property (iii) easily follows from (ii) and (5.2.38). Indeed, from (5.2.38), up to subsequence,  $\alpha \min_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}$  converges to a constant  $-\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P)$  as  $\alpha \to 0^+$ . Then from (ii), for any i, j, n, we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\alpha W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} + \overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P)| &\leq |\alpha \min_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} + \overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P)| + \alpha |W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} - \min_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}| \\ &\leq |\alpha \min_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} + \overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}| + \alpha \widetilde{K}_1 \to 0 \quad \text{as } \alpha \to 0^+, \end{aligned}$$

and (iii) is proved.

#### 148 Rate of convergence in homogenization of local Hamilton-Jacobi equations

Let us turn to (iv). Let us define  $Z_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} = W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} - \min_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}$ . By (ii), up to subsequence,  $(Z_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha})$  converges to a grid function  $(Z_{i,j}^{n,P})$  as  $\alpha \to 0^+$ . The grid function  $(Z_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha})$  satisfies

$$\frac{Z_{i,j}^{n+1,P,\alpha} - Z_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}}{\Delta t} + \alpha Z_{i,j}^{n+1,P,\alpha} + S(t_n, x_i, y_j, h, [Z^{n+1,P,\alpha}]_{i,j}) = -\alpha \min_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha}.$$

Letting  $\alpha \to 0^+$ , since by (ii)  $(Z_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha})$  is bounded and  $\alpha \min_{i,j,n} W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} \to -\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}$ , we see that  $(Z_{i,j}^{n,P})$  is a solution of (5.2.37) with  $\overline{\lambda}_h^{\Delta t} = \overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}$ .

To prove the uniqueness of a solution  $(\overline{\lambda}_{h}^{\Delta t}, (W_{i,j}^{n,P}))$  of (5.2.37), we show that if there exists a subsolution  $(U_{i,j}^{n,P})$  of (5.2.37) with  $\overline{\lambda}_{h}^{\Delta t} = \lambda_{1}$  and a supersolution  $(V_{i,j}^{n,P})$  of (5.2.37) with  $\overline{\lambda}_h^{\Delta t} = \lambda_2$ , then  $\lambda_2 \leq \lambda_1$ . Let  $M = \max_{i,j,n} (U_{i,j}^{n,P} - V_{i,j}^{n,P}) = U_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,P} - V_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,P}$ . Then

$$\frac{U_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,P} - U_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0-1,P}}{\Delta t} \ge \frac{V_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,P} - V_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0-1,P}}{\Delta t},$$
$$(\Delta_1^+ U^{n_0,P})_{i_0,j_0} \le (\Delta_1^+ V^{n_0,P})_{i_0,j_0}, \quad (\Delta_1^+ U^{n_0,P})_{i_0-1,j_0} \ge (\Delta_1^+ V^{n_0,P})_{i_0-1,j_0},$$
$$(\Delta_2^+ U^{n_0,P})_{i_0,j_0} \le (\Delta_2^+ V^{n_0,P})_{i_0,j_0}, \quad (\Delta_2^+ U^{n_0,P})_{i_0,j_0-1} \ge (\Delta_2^+ V^{n_0,P})_{i_0,j_0-1}.$$

From the monotonicity of g,

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{1} &\geq \frac{U_{i_{0},j_{0}}^{n_{0},P} - U_{i_{0},j_{0}}^{n_{0}-1,P}}{\Delta t} + g\left(t_{n_{0}}, x_{i_{0}}, y_{j_{0}}, (\Delta_{1}^{+}U^{n_{0},P})_{i_{0},j_{0}} + p_{x}, (\Delta_{1}^{+}U^{n_{0},P})_{i_{0}-1,j_{0}} + p_{x}, (\Delta_{2}^{+}U^{n_{0},P})_{i_{0},j_{0}} + p_{y}, (\Delta_{2}^{+}U^{n_{0},P})_{i_{0},j_{0}-1} + p_{y}\right) \\ &\geq \frac{V_{i_{0},j_{0}}^{n_{0},P} - V_{i_{0},j_{0}}^{n_{0}-1,P}}{\Delta t} + g\left(t_{n_{0}}, x_{i_{0}}, y_{j_{0}}, (\Delta_{1}^{+}V^{n_{0},P})_{i_{0},j_{0}} + p_{x}, (\Delta_{1}^{+}V^{n_{0},P})_{i_{0}-1,j_{0}} + p_{x}, (\Delta_{2}^{+}V^{n_{0},P})_{i_{0},j_{0}} + p_{y}, (\Delta_{2}^{+}V^{n_{0},P})_{i_{0},j_{0}-1} + p_{y}\right) \\ &\geq \lambda_{2}. \end{split}$$

This concludes the proof of (iv).

We need a more precise estimate on the rate of convergence of  $\alpha W_{i,j}^{n,\alpha,P}$  to  $\overline{F}_{h}^{\Delta t}(P)$ :

**Proposition 5.2.2.** Assume  $(g_1)$ - $(g_6)$ . Then for any i, j, n

$$|\alpha W_{i,j}^{n,\alpha,P} + \overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P)| \le \widetilde{K}_1 \alpha,$$

where  $\widetilde{K}_1 = \widetilde{K}_1(P)$  is the constant in (ii) of Theorem 5.2.1.

**Proof.** As in the proof of (ii) of Lemma 5.1.3, the result follows from the comparison principle for (5.2.34) and (ii) of Theorem 5.2.1.

Now, we are ready to show that the function  $\overline{F}_{h}^{\Delta t}$  is actually an approximation of the effective Hamiltonian  $\overline{F}$ .

**Proposition 5.2.3.** Assume (g1)-(g6). Let  $\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}$  be defined by (5.2.36) and let  $\overline{F}$  be the effective Hamiltonian. Then, for any  $P \in \mathbb{R}^2$ 

$$\lim_{(\Delta t,h)\to(0,0)} \overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P) = \overline{F}(P)$$

uniformly on compact sets of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ .

**Proof.** To show the result we estimate  $W^{P,\alpha}(t_n, x_i, y_j) - W^{n,P,\alpha}_{i,j}$ . To this end, following the same proof as in [42] and [1], we assume that

$$\sup_{i,j,n} |\alpha W^{P,\alpha}(t_n, x_i, y_j) - \alpha W^{n,P,\alpha}_{i,j}| = \sup_{i,j,n} (\alpha W^{P,\alpha}(t_n, x_i, y_j) - \alpha W^{n,P,\alpha}_{i,j}) = m \ge 0.$$

The case when  $\sup_{i,j,n} |\alpha W^{P,\alpha}(t_n, x_i, y_j) - \alpha W^{n,P,\alpha}_{i,j}| = \sup_{i,j,n} (\alpha W^{n,P,\alpha}_{i,j} - \alpha W^{P,\alpha}(t_n, x_i, y_j))$  is handled in a similar manner.

For simplicity of notations we omit the index P. Let us denote  $W_{h,\Delta t}^{\alpha}(t_n, X_{i,j}) := W_{i,j}^{n,\alpha}$ ,  $(t_n, X_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}_{\Delta t} \times \mathbb{R}_h^2$ . For  $(X, Y) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}_h^2$  and  $(t, s) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}_{\Delta t}$ , consider the function

$$\Psi(t, X, s, Y) = \alpha W^{\alpha}(t, X) - \alpha W^{\alpha}_{h, \Delta t}(s, Y) + \left(5C_0 + \frac{m}{2}\right)\beta_{\epsilon}(t - s, X - Y),$$

where, as before,  $C_0 = \|F(\cdot, \cdot, \cdot, P)\|_{\infty}$  and  $\beta_{\epsilon} = \beta\left(\frac{t}{\epsilon}, \frac{X}{\epsilon}\right)$  with  $\beta$  a non-negative smooth function such that

$$\begin{cases} \beta(t,X) = 1 - |X|^2 - |t|^2, & \text{if } |X|^2 + |t|^2 \le \frac{1}{2}, \\ \beta \le \frac{1}{2}, & \text{if } \frac{1}{2} \le |X|^2 + |t|^2 \le 1, \\ \beta = 0, & \text{if } |X|^2 + |t|^2 > 1. \end{cases}$$

We have the following lemma:

**Lemma 5.2.4.** The function  $\Psi$  attains its maximum at a point  $(t_0, X_0, s_0, Y_0)$  such that

- (i)  $\Psi(t_0, X_0, s_0, Y_0) \ge 5C_0 + \frac{3}{2}m;$
- (*ii*)  $\beta_{\epsilon}(t_0 s_0, X_0 Y_0) \ge \frac{3}{5}$ .

For the proof, see Lemma 4.1 in [42]. Lemma 5.2.4 (ii) implies that

$$\beta_{\epsilon}(t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0) = 1 - \left|\frac{X_0 - Y_0}{\epsilon}\right|^2 - \left|\frac{t_0 - s_0}{\epsilon}\right|^2$$

Then, from the inequality  $\Psi(s_0, Y_0, s_0, Y_0) \leq \Psi(t_0, X_0, s_0, Y_0)$  we deduce that

$$\left(5C_0 + \frac{m}{2}\right)\left(\left|\frac{X_0 - Y_0}{\epsilon}\right|^2 + \left|\frac{t_0 - s_0}{\epsilon}\right|^2\right) \le \alpha W^{\alpha}(t_0, X_0) - \alpha W^{\alpha}(s_0, Y_0) \le 2C_0.$$
(5.2.43)

This implies that  $|t_0 - s_0| \to 0$  and  $|X_0 - Y_0| \to 0$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . Moreover, since  $W^{\alpha}$  and  $W^{\alpha}_{h,\Delta t}$  are periodic, we can assume that  $(t_0, X_0, s_0, Y_0)$  lies in a compact set of  $(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^2)^2$ . Hence, from (5.2.43) and the continuity of  $W^{\alpha}$  we get that

$$\left|\frac{X_0 - Y_0}{\epsilon}\right|^2 + \left|\frac{t_0 - s_0}{\epsilon}\right|^2 \to 0 \quad \text{as } \epsilon \to 0.$$
(5.2.44)

Since  $(t_0, X_0)$  is a maximum point of  $(t, X) \to \alpha W^{\alpha}(t, X) + (5C_0 + \frac{m}{2}) \beta_{\epsilon}(t - s_0, X - Y_0)$ , we have

$$-\frac{5C_0 + \frac{m}{2}}{\alpha} \partial_t \beta_\epsilon (t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0) + \alpha W^\alpha(t_0, X_0) + F\left(t_0, X_0, -\frac{5C_0 + m/2}{\alpha} D_X \beta_\epsilon (t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0) + P\right) \le 0.$$
(5.2.45)

Let  $i_0, j_0$  and  $n_0$  be such that  $X_{i_0,j_0} = Y_0$  and  $s_0 = t_{n_0}$ . Since  $(s_0, Y_0)$  is a minimum point of  $(s, Y) \to \alpha W^{\alpha}_{h,\Delta t}(s, Y) - (5C_0 + m/2) \beta_{\epsilon}(t_0 - s, X_0 - Y)$ , we obtain

$$W_{i_0+1,j_0}^{n_0,\alpha} - W_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,\alpha} \ge \frac{5C_0 + m/2}{\alpha} [\beta_{\epsilon}(t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0 - he_1) - \beta_{\epsilon}(t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0)],$$

where  $e_1 = (1, 0)^T$ . From the monotonicity of g,

$$\frac{W_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,\alpha} - W_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0-1,\alpha}}{\Delta t} + \alpha W_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,\alpha} + g\left(s_0, Y_0, \frac{5C_0 + m/2}{\alpha} (\Delta_1^+ \beta_\epsilon (t_0 - s_0, X_0 - \cdot))_{i_0,j_0} + p_x (\Delta_1^+ W^{n_0,\alpha})_{i_0-1,j_0} + p_x, (\Delta_2^+ W^{n_0,\alpha})_{i_0,j_0} + p_y, (\Delta_2^+ W^{n_0,\alpha})_{i_0,j_0-1} + p_y\right) \ge 0.$$
(5.2.46)

But

$$|(\Delta_1^+\beta_\epsilon(t_0-s_0,X_0-\cdot))_{i_0,j_0}-e_1\cdot D_Y\beta_\epsilon(t_0-s_0,X_0-Y_0)| = \frac{h}{2}|e_1^TD_{YY}^2\beta_\epsilon(t_0-s_0,X_0-\overline{Y})e_1|,$$

for some  $\overline{Y}$  belonging to the segment  $(Y_0, Y_0 + he_1)$ . Assuming h small enough, so that Lemma 5.2.4 (ii) implies that  $|t_0 - s_0|^2 + |X_0 - Y_0|^2 + h^2 \leq \frac{\epsilon^2}{2}$ , we obtain that  $D_{YY}^2 \beta_{\epsilon}(t_0 - s_0, X_0 - \overline{Y}) = \frac{2}{\epsilon^2} I$ , then

$$\left| (\Delta_1^+ \beta_\epsilon (t_0 - s_0, X_0 - \cdot))_{i_0, j_0} - e_1 \cdot D_Y \beta_\epsilon (t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0) \right| = \frac{h}{\epsilon^2}.$$
 (5.2.47)

Now, (5.2.46), (5.2.47) and the monotonicity of g yield

$$\frac{W_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,\alpha} - W_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0-1,\alpha}}{\Delta t} + \alpha W_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,\alpha} + g\left(s_0, Y_0, \frac{5C_0 + m/2}{\alpha}e_1 \cdot D_Y \beta_\epsilon(t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0) + p_x, (\Delta_1^+ W^{n_0,\alpha})_{i_0-1,j_0} + p_x, (\Delta_2^+ W^{n_0,\alpha})_{i_0,j_0} + p_y, (\Delta_2^+ W^{n_0,\alpha})_{i_0,j_0-1} + p_y\right) + \widetilde{C}_1 h \frac{5C_0 + m/2}{\epsilon^2 \alpha} \ge 0$$

Repeating similar estimates for the other arguments in g and for the derivative with respect to time, we finally find that

$$\frac{5C_0 + m/2}{\alpha} \partial_s \beta_\epsilon(t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0) + \alpha W_{i_0, j_0}^{n_0, \alpha} + F\left(s_0, Y_0, \frac{5C_0 + m/2}{\alpha} D_Y \beta_\epsilon(t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0) + P\right) + C \frac{h + \Delta t}{\epsilon^2 \alpha} \ge 0,$$
(5.2.48)

where C is independent of  $h, \Delta t, \epsilon$  and  $\alpha$ .

Subtracting (5.2.45) and (5.2.48) and using (F2) we get

$$\alpha W^{\alpha}(t_0, X_0) - \alpha W^{\alpha}_{h,\Delta t}(s_0, Y_0) \le C \frac{h + \Delta t}{\epsilon^2 \alpha} + \frac{C}{\alpha} \left| \frac{X_0 - Y_0}{\epsilon} \right|^2 + \frac{C}{\alpha} \left| \frac{t_0 - s_0}{\epsilon} \right|^2, \quad (5.2.49)$$

where C is independent of  $h, \Delta t, \epsilon$  and  $\alpha$ .

Choose  $\epsilon = \epsilon(\Delta t, h)$  such that  $\epsilon \to 0$  as  $(\Delta t, h) \to (0, 0)$  and  $\frac{h + \Delta t}{\epsilon^2} \to 0$  as  $(\Delta t, h) \to (0, 0)$ . From (i) of Lemma 5.2.4

$$\sup_{i,j,n} |\alpha W^{P,\alpha}(t_n, x_i, y_j) - \alpha W^{n,P,\alpha}_{i,j}| = m \le \sup \Psi - \left(5C_0 + \frac{m}{2}\right) \beta_{\epsilon}(t_0 - s_0, X_0 - Y_0)$$
$$= \alpha W^{\alpha}(t_0, X_0) - \alpha W^{\alpha}_{h,\Delta t}(s_0, Y_0).$$

Then from (5.2.49) and (5.2.44), we obtain

$$\sup_{i,j,n} |\alpha W^{P,\alpha}(t_n, x_i, y_j) - \alpha W^{n,P,\alpha}_{i,j}| \le \frac{C}{\alpha} o(1) \quad \text{as } (\Delta t, h) \to (0,0).$$

From the previous estimate, (ii) of Lemma 5.1.3 and Proposition 5.2.2 we finally obtain

$$|\overline{F}(P) - \overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P)| \le \widetilde{K}_1 \alpha + K_1 \alpha + \frac{C}{\alpha} o(1),$$

and letting  $(h, \Delta t) \to (0, 0)$ , we find that

$$\limsup_{(\Delta t,h)\to(0,0)} |\overline{F}(P) - \overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P)| \le \widetilde{K}_1 \alpha + K_1 \alpha,$$

for any fixed  $\alpha > 0$ . This implies that  $\lim_{(\Delta t,h)\to(0,0)} \overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P) = \overline{F}(P)$ . Since  $K_1 = K_1(P)$  and  $\widetilde{K}_1 = \widetilde{K}_1(P)$  are bounded for P lying on compact subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , the convergence is uniform on compact sets.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 5.2.5.** If F is coercive, then we can get an estimate of the rate of convergence of  $\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}$  to  $\overline{F}$ . Indeed, we have:

$$|\overline{F}_{h}^{\Delta t} - \overline{F}| \le (h + \Delta t)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

see Proposition A.3 in [1].

We conclude this subsection by recalling the principal properties of  $\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}$ .

**Proposition 5.2.6.** Assume (g1)-(g6), (H1)-(H4). Then the approximate effective Hamiltonian  $\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}$  is Lipschitz continuous with a Lipschitz constant independent of h and  $\Delta t$  and for any  $p_x \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(p_x, 0) \ge C_2 |p_x|.$$

**Proof.** For the proof of the Lipschitz continuity of  $\overline{F}$ , see the proof of Proposition A.2 in [1].

Let us show the coercivity property. Let  $(W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha})$  be a solution of (5.2.37) for  $P = (p_x, 0)$ . Let  $(i_0, j_0, n_0)$  be a maximum point of  $(W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha})$ , then

$$\frac{W_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0,P,\alpha} - W_{i_0,j_0}^{n_0-1,P,\alpha}}{\Delta t} \ge 0, \ (\Delta_1^+ W^{n_0,P,\alpha})_{i_0,j_0} \le 0, \ (\Delta_1^+ W^{n_0,P,\alpha})_{i_0-1,j_0} \ge 0, (\Delta_2^+ W^{n_0,P,\alpha})_{i_0,j_0} \le 0, \ (\Delta_2^+ W^{n_0,P,\alpha})_{i_0,j_0-1} \ge 0.$$

By the monotonicity assumption (g1) and (5.1.10), we have

$$\overline{F}_{h}^{\Delta t}(p_{x},0) \ge g(t_{n_{0}},x_{i_{0}},y_{i_{0}},p_{x},p_{x},0,0) = F(t_{n_{0}},x_{i_{0}},y_{i_{0}},p_{x},0) \ge C_{2}|p_{x}|.$$

#### 5.2.1 Long time approximation

A different way to approximate the effective Hamiltonian is given by the evolutive Hamilton-Jacobi equation

$$\begin{cases} V_t + F(t, x, y, p_x + D_x V, p_y + D_y V) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \\ V(0, x, y) = V_0(x, y), & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}, \end{cases}$$
(5.2.50)

where  $V_0$  is bounded and uniformly continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ . Indeed, it is proved in [18] that (5.2.50) admits a unique solution V which is bounded and uniformly continuous on  $[0, T] \times \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$  for any T > 0, and satisfies

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \frac{V(t, x, y)}{t} = -\overline{F}(P).$$

We approximate (5.2.50) by the implicit Eulerian scheme

$$\frac{V_{i,j}^{n+1,P} - V_{i,j}^{n,P}}{V_{i,j}^{0,P} - V_0(x_i, y_j)} + S(t_n, x_i, y_j, h, [V^{n+1,P}]_{i,j}) = 0$$
(5.2.51)

where S is defined as in (5.2.35). A proof of the existence of a solution  $V = (V_{i,j}^{n,P})$  of (5.2.51) is given in [39] under assumptions (g1)-(g5).

Let  $W = (W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha})$  be a solution of (5.2.37), then by comparison, there exist constants  $\underline{c}$  and  $\overline{c}$  such that

$$\underline{c} + W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} - n\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P)\Delta t \le V_{i,j}^{n,P} \le \overline{c} + W_{i,j}^{n,P,\alpha} - n\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P)\Delta t.$$

Since W is bounded, this proves that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \frac{V_{i,j}^{n,P}}{n\Delta t} = -\overline{F}_h^{\Delta t}(P).$$

#### 5.2.2 Approximation of the homogenized problem

We now come back to the N-dimensional homogenized problem (5.0.6). From Theorem I.4.3 we know that if  $\overline{H}$  is the effective Hamiltonian in (5.0.6), then  $\overline{H}(p) = \overline{F}(p, -1)$  for any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . Hence, from Proposition 5.2.3, the discrete Hamiltonian

$$\overline{H}_{h}^{\Delta t}(p) := \overline{F}_{h}^{\Delta t}(p, -1)$$

is an approximation of  $\overline{H}(p)$  for any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ .

As in [1], we approximate (5.0.6) by the problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u_{\Delta t,h} + \overline{H}_h^{\Delta t}(Du_{\Delta t,h}) = 0, & (t,x) \in (0,+\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u_{\Delta t,h}(0,x) = u_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(5.2.52)

where h and  $\Delta t$  are fixed, and  $u_0$  is the same initial datum as in (5.0.6).

By Proposition 5.2.6  $\overline{H}_{h}^{\Delta t}$  is Lipschitz continuous and coercive, so (5.2.52) has a unique viscosity solution  $u_{\Delta t,h}$  which is an approximation of the solution  $u^{0}$  of (5.0.6):

**Proposition 5.2.7.** Let  $u^0$  and  $u_{\Delta t,h}$  be respectively the viscosity solutions of (5.0.6) and (5.2.52). Then for any T > 0

$$\sup_{[0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^N} |u_{\Delta t,h} - u^0| \to 0 \quad as \ (\Delta t, h) \to (0,0).$$
(5.2.53)

**Proof.** If L is the Lipschitz constant of the initial datum  $u_0$ , then, by Proposition 5.1.4, the functions  $u^0(t, x)$  and  $u_{\Delta t,h}(t, x)$  are Lipschitz continuous with respect to x with same Lipschitz constant L, By Proposition 5.2.3 the approximate Hamiltonian  $\overline{H}_h^{\Delta t}$  converges to  $\overline{H}$  uniformly for  $|p| \leq L$ . Hence (5.2.53) follows by the following proposition, which is a standard estimate in the regular perturbation theory of Hamilton-Jacobi equations (see Theorem VI.22.1 in [13])

**Proposition 5.2.8.** If there exists  $\eta > 0$  such that if  $H_i$ , i = 1, 2, satisfy (H1)-(H3) with

$$||H_1 - H_2||_{\infty} \le \eta,$$

and if  $u_i$ , i = 1, 2, are viscosity solutions of

$$\begin{cases} u_t + H_i(Du) = 0, & (t, x) \in (0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^N \\ u(0, x) = u_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$

where  $u_0$  is bounded and uniformly continuous on  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , then, for some constant C,

$$\|u_1 - u_2\|_{\infty} \le C\eta.$$

**Remark 5.2.9.** In order to compute numerically the approximation of  $u^0$ , we need further discretizations. Indeed, we have approximated  $\overline{H}(p)$  by  $\overline{H}_h^{\Delta t}(p)$  for any fixed  $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . Since it is not possible to compute  $\overline{H}_h^{\Delta t}(p)$  for any p, one possibility is to introduce a triangulation of a bounded region of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and compute  $\overline{H}_h^{\Delta t}(p_i)$ , where  $p_i$  are the vertices of the simplices and to approximate all the other values  $\overline{H}_h^{\Delta t}(p)$  by  $\overline{H}_{h,k}^{\Delta t}(p)$ , where  $\overline{H}_{h,k}^{\Delta t}$  is the linear interpolation of  $\overline{H}_h^{\Delta t}$  and we denote by k the maximal diameter of the simplices. The solution  $u_{\Delta t,h}^k$  of

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u^k_{\Delta t,h} + \overline{H}^{\Delta t}_{h,k}(Du^k_{\Delta t,h}) = 0, & (t,x) \in (0,+\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N, \\ u^k_{\Delta t,h}(0,x) = u_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(5.2.54)

is an approximation of  $u_{\Delta t,h}$  as  $k \to 0$  and hence, by Proposition 5.2.7, of  $u^0$  as  $(\Delta t, h, k) \to (0, 0, 0)$ . Finally, discretizing (5.2.54) by means a monotone, consistent and stable approximation scheme, we can compute numerically an approximation of the solution  $u^0$  of 5.0.6. See [1] for details.

#### 5.3 Numerical Tests

The present paragraph is devoted to the description of numerical approximations of the effective Hamiltonian.

#### 5.3.1 Results

#### First case

We discuss a one dimensional case where the Hamiltonian is

$$H(x, u, p) = 2\cos(2\pi x) + \sin(8\pi u) + (1 - \cos(6\pi x)/2)|p|.$$

We have used two approaches for computing the effective Hamiltonian.

(g1) Barles cell problem: the first approach consists of increasing the dimension and considering the long time behavior of the continuous viscosity solution w of

$$\begin{cases} w_t + F(x, y, p + D_x w, -1 + D_y w) = 0, & (t, x, y) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \\ w(0, x, y) = 0, & (x, y) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \end{cases}$$

$$(5.3.55)$$

where F is given by (5.0.2). In the present case, from the periodicity of H with respect to x and u, w is 1-periodic with respect to x and 1/4-periodic with respect to y. We know that when  $t \to \infty$ ,  $w(t, \cdot, \cdot)/t$  tends to a real number  $\lambda$ and that  $\overline{H}(p) = -\lambda$ .

For approximating (5.3.55) on a uniform grid, we have used an explicit Euler time marching method with a Godunov monotone scheme (see [48, 106]). A semi-implicit time marching scheme which allows for large time steps may be used as well, see [1], but very large time steps cannot be taken because of the periodic in time asymptotic behaviour of w.

Alternatively, we have also used the higher order method described in [78], see also [79]. It is a third order TVD explicit Runge-Kutta time marching method with a weighted ENO scheme in the spatial variables. This weighted ENO scheme is constructed upon and has the same stencil nodes as the third order ENO scheme but can be as as high as fifth order accurate in the smooth part of the solution.
(g2) Imbert-Monneau cell problem: when p is a rational number  $(p = \frac{n}{q})$ , instead of considering a problem posed in two space dimensions, one possible way of approximating the effective Hamiltonian  $\overline{H}(p)$  is to consider the cell problem

$$\begin{cases} v_t + H(x, v + p \cdot x, p + Dv) = 0, & (t, x) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}, \\ v(0, x) = 0, & x \in \mathbb{R}. \end{cases}$$
(5.3.56)

This problem has a unique continuous solution which is periodic of period q with respect to x (in fact, the smallest period of v may be a divisor of q). From [67] (Theorem 1), we know that there exists a unique real number  $\lambda$  such that  $\frac{v(\tau,x)}{\tau}$  converges to  $\lambda$  as  $\tau \to \infty$  uniformly in x, and that  $\overline{H}(p) = -\lambda$ . Moreover, when t is large, the function  $v(t,x) - \lambda t$  becomes close to a periodic function of time. In what follows, (5.3.56) will be referred to as Imbert-Monneau cell problem. Note that the size of the period varies with p and may be arbitrary large. This is clearly a drawback of this approach which is yet the fastest one for one dimensional problems and moderate values of q.

For approximating (5.3.56) on a uniform grid, we have used either the abovementioned explicit Euler time marching method with a Godunov monotone scheme or the third order TVD explicit Runge-Kutta time marching method with a weighted ENO scheme in the spatial variable.

In Figure 5.3.56, we plot the graph of the effective Hamiltonian computed with the high order methods and both Imbert-Monneau and Barles cell problems. For Barles cell problems, the grid of the square  $[0, 1] \times [0, 1/4]$  has  $400 \times 100$  nodes and the time step is 1/1000. For Imbert-Monneau cell problems, the grids in the x variable are uniform with a step of 1/400 and the time step is 1/1000. The two graphs are undistinguishable. It can be seen that the effective Hamiltonian is symmetric with respect to p and constant for small values of p, i.e.  $|p| \leq 1.3$ . The points where we have computed the effective Hamiltonian are concentrated near 1.3 where the slope of the graph changes. Our computations clearly indicate that the effective Hamiltonian is piecewise linear.

In order to show the convergence of  $\frac{v(\tau,x)}{\tau}$  and  $\frac{w(\tau,x)}{\tau}$ , we take p = 1.3 so the space period of the Imbert-Monneau cell problem is 5. In Figure 5.3.56, we plot  $\frac{\langle w(\tau) \rangle}{\tau}$ (left) and  $\frac{\langle v(\tau) \rangle}{\tau}$  (right) as a function of  $\tau$ , where  $\langle v(\tau) \rangle$  is the median value of  $v(\tau, \cdot)$ on a spatial period. Both functions converge to constants when  $\tau \to \infty$  and the limit are close to each other (the error between the two scaled median values is smaller than  $10^{-3}$  at  $\tau \sim 60$  and we did not consider much longer times). In Figure 5.3.56, we plot the graphs of the functions  $w(\tau, 0, 0) - \langle w(\tau) \rangle$  (left) and  $v(\tau, 0) - \langle v(\tau) \rangle$ (right). We see that these functions become close to time-periodic. In Figure 5.3.56 (top), we plot the contour lines of the function  $w(\tau, x, y)/\tau$  as a function of (x, y) for  $\tau = 60$ . In the bottom part of the figure we plot the graph of  $y \to w(\tau, 0.13, y)/\tau$ for the same value of  $\tau$ . We see that w has internal layers. In Figure 5.3.56, we plot the graph  $x \to v(\tau, x)/\tau$  for  $\tau = 60$ . We first see that the function takes all its values in a small interval and has very rapid variations with respect to x (is nearly discontinuous). This does not contradict the theory, because there are no uniform estimates on the modulus of continuity of  $v(\tau, \cdot)/\tau$ .



Figure 5.3.56. First case: the effective Hamiltonian as a function of p obtained with both Barles and Imbert-Monneau cell problems.



**Figure 5.3.56.** First case, p = 1.3. Left: the median value of  $w(\tau, \cdot)/\tau$  on a period as a function of  $\tau$ . Right: the median value of  $v(\tau, \cdot)/\tau$  on a period as a function of  $\tau$ 



**Figure 5.3.56.** First case, p = 1.3:  $w(\tau, 0, 0) - \langle w(\tau) \rangle$  (left) and  $v(\tau, 0) - \langle v(\tau) \rangle$  (right) as a function of  $\tau$ 



**Figure 5.3.56.** First case, Barles cell problem, p = 1.3. Top: contour lines of  $w(\tau, \cdot)/\tau$  on a period as a function of (x, y). Bottom: the cross-section x = 0.13.



**Figure 5.3.56.** First case, Imbert-Monneau cell problem, p = 1.3: Top: Third order Runge Kutta/WENO scheme:  $v(\tau, x)/\tau$  as a function of x for  $\tau = 60$ ; the right part is a zoom. Bottom: same computation with Euler/Godunov scheme with the same grid parameters: some oscillations are smeared out, but the average value of the solution is well computed.

#### Second case

We consider a two dimensional problem, where the Hamiltonian is

$$H(x, u, p) = \cos(2\pi x_1) + \cos(2\pi x_2) + \cos(2\pi (x_1 - x_2)) + \sin(2\pi u) + \left(1 - \frac{\cos(2\pi x_1)}{2} - \frac{\sin(2\pi x_2)}{4}\right) |p|.$$

For this case, only the Imbert-Monneau cell problems have been approximated on uniform grids with step 1/200. The time step is 0.005. In Figure 5.3.56, we plot the contours and the graph of the effective Hamiltonian computed with the high order method. We can see that the effective Hamiltonian is symmetric with respect to p = (0,0), constant for small vectors p. In Figure 5.3.56, we plot  $\frac{\langle v(\tau) \rangle}{\tau}$  as a function of  $\tau$ . We see that this function converges when  $\tau \to \infty$ . In Figure 5.3.56, we plot the contours of  $v(\tau, \cdot)/\tau$  for  $\tau = 59.935$  and p = (1, 1). We see that for large values of  $\tau$ , v is close to discontinuous.

### 5.4 Appendix

**Proof of Lemma 5.1.5.** To show that the sequence is convergent it suffices to show that for any  $s \in \mathbb{R}$   $\varphi_{\epsilon}^{n,\delta}(s)$  is a Cauchy sequence. Fix  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and let  $i_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  be the closest integer to s, i.e.,  $s = i_0 \epsilon + \gamma \epsilon$ , with  $\gamma \in \left(-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$ . Let  $k > m > |i_0|$ , then,



Figure 5.3.56. Second case, the effective Hamiltonian computed by solving Imbert-Monneau cell problems.



**Figure 5.3.56.** Second case, p = (1, 1). The median value of  $v(\tau, \cdot)/\tau$  on a period as a function of  $\tau$ .



"v(t,x,y)/t for t=59.935" -----

Figure 5.3.56. Second case, the contours of the solution of Imbert-Monneau cell problem for p = (1, 1) at time  $\tau = 59.935$ .

by assumptions (5.1.14) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi_{\epsilon}^{k,\delta}(s) - \varphi_{\epsilon}^{m,\delta}(s) &= \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \epsilon \phi \left( \frac{s-\epsilon i}{\delta} \right) + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \epsilon \phi \left( \frac{s-\epsilon i}{\delta} \right) - \epsilon(k-m) \\ &= \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \epsilon \left[ \phi \left( \frac{s-\epsilon i}{\delta} \right) - 1 \right] + \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \epsilon \phi \left( \frac{s-\epsilon i}{\delta} \right) \\ &\leq \epsilon K_2 \delta^2 \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(s-\epsilon i)^2} + \epsilon K_2 \delta^2 \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(s-\epsilon i)^2} \\ &= K_2 \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(i_0-i+\gamma)^2} + K_2 \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} \sum_{i=m+1}^{k} \frac{1}{(i_0-i+\gamma)^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, it can be showed that

$$\varphi_{\epsilon}^{k,\delta}(s) - \varphi_{\epsilon}^{m,\delta}(s) \ge -K_2 \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} \sum_{i=-k}^{-m-1} \frac{1}{(i_0 - i + \gamma)^2} - K_2 \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} \sum_{i=m+1}^k \frac{1}{(i_0 - i + \gamma)^2}.$$

Hence  $|\varphi_{\epsilon}^{k,\delta}(s) - \varphi_{\epsilon}^{m,\delta}(s)| \to 0$  as  $m, k \to +\infty$ . Similar arguments show that the sequence  $(\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta,n})'$  converge uniformly on compact sets of  $\mathbb{R}$ . This implies that  $\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta}$  is of class  $C^1$  with  $(\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta})'(s) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} (\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta,n})'(s)$ .

Now, let us show (5.1.15). Let  $s = i_0 \epsilon + \gamma \epsilon$  for some  $i_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\gamma \in [0, 1)$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{\epsilon}^{n,\delta}(s) - i_0 \epsilon &= \epsilon \left[ \phi \left( \frac{\gamma \epsilon}{\delta} \right) - 1 \right] + \sum_{i=-n}^{i_0-1} \epsilon \left[ \phi \left( \frac{i_0 \epsilon + \gamma \epsilon - \epsilon i}{\delta} \right) - 1 \right] + \sum_{i=i_0+1}^n \epsilon \phi \left( \frac{i_0 \epsilon + \gamma \epsilon - \epsilon i}{\delta} \right) \\ &\leq \epsilon \left[ \phi \left( \frac{\gamma \epsilon}{\delta} \right) - 1 \right] \epsilon + \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} K_2 \sum_{i=-n}^{i_0-1} \frac{1}{(i_0 - i + \gamma)^2} + \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} K_2 \sum_{i=i_0+1}^n \frac{1}{(i - i_0 - \gamma)^2} \\ &= \epsilon \left[ \phi \left( \frac{\gamma \epsilon}{\delta} \right) - 1 \right] + \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} K_2 \sum_{i=1}^{n+i_0} \frac{1}{(i + \gamma)^2} + \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} K_2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-i_0} \frac{1}{(i - \gamma)^2}. \end{split}$$

Similarly

$$\varphi_{\epsilon}^{n,\delta}(s) - i_0 \epsilon \ge \epsilon \left[ \phi\left(\frac{\gamma\epsilon}{\delta}\right) - 1 \right] - \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} K_2 \sum_{i=1}^{n+i_0} \frac{1}{(i+\gamma)^2} - \frac{\delta^2}{\epsilon} K_2 \sum_{i=1}^{n-i_0} \frac{1}{(i-\gamma)^2} \right]$$

Letting  $n \to +\infty$ , we get

$$\left|\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta}(s) - i_{0}\epsilon - \epsilon \left[\phi\left(\frac{\gamma\epsilon}{\delta}\right) - 1\right]\right| \leq \frac{\delta^{2}}{\epsilon} K_{2} \sum_{i=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(i+\gamma)^{2}} + \frac{\delta^{2}}{\epsilon} K_{2} \sum_{i=1}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{(i-\gamma)^{2}}.$$

If  $\gamma > 0$  then  $\phi\left(\frac{\gamma\epsilon}{\delta}\right) - 1 \to 0$  as  $\delta \to 0^+$  and  $\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta}(s) \to i_0\epsilon$  if  $\delta \to 0^+$ . If  $\gamma = 0$ , then  $\varphi_{\epsilon}^{\delta}(s) \to (i_0 - 1)\epsilon + \phi(0)\epsilon$  if  $\delta \to 0^+$  and (5.1.15) is proved.  $\Box$ 

## Appendix A

# Notation list

- $B_r(x)$  ball of radius r centered at x
- $C(\overline{\Omega})$  set of continuous functions on  $\overline{\Omega}$
- $C_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  set of continuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$  which are bounded on  $(0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N$  for any T > 0
- $C_x^{\alpha}((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  space of continuous functions defined on  $(0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N$  that are bounded and with bounded seminorm  $\langle u \rangle_x^{\alpha}$

d(x) distance function

- $LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  set of lower semicontinuous functions on  $\overline{\Omega}$
- $LSC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  set of lower semicontinuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$  which are bounded on  $(0, T) \times \mathbb{R}^N$  for any T > 0
- For  $u: A \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $x \in A$ ,  $J^{2,+}u(x), J^{2,-}u(x)$  are the second-order semi-jets defined by

$$J^{2,+}u(x) = \{(p,X) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N) \mid u(y) \le u(x) + \langle p, y - x \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle X(y-x), y - x \rangle + o(|y-x|^2) \text{ as } y \to x, y \in A \}$$

$$J^{2,-}u(x) = \{(p,X) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N) \mid u(y) \ge u(x) + \langle p, y - x \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle X(y-x), y - x \rangle + o(|y-x|^2) \text{ as } y \to x, y \in A \}$$

For  $u: A \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $x \in A$ 

$$\overline{J}^{2,+}u(x) = \{(p,X) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N) \mid \exists (x_n, p_n, X_n) \in A \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N) \\ (p_n, X_n) \in J^{2,+}u(x_n) \text{ and } (x_n, u(x_n), p_n, X_n) \to (x, u(x), p, X) \}$$

$$\overline{J}^{2,-}u(x) = \{(p,X) \in \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N) \mid \exists (x_n, p_n, X_n) \in A \times \mathbb{R}^N \times S(N) \\ (p_n, X_n) \in J^{2,-}u(x_n) \text{ and } (x_n, u(x_n), p_n, X_n) \to (x, u(x), p, X) \}$$

 $\mathcal{M}_{a,A}^{+}(D^{2}u)$  Pucci's operators

- $Q_{\tau,r}(t,x) = (t \tau, t + \tau) \times B_r(x)$
- S(N) space of real symmetric matrices  $N \times N$
- $S^{N-1}$  unit sphere of  $\mathbb{R}^N$
- $USC(\overline{\Omega})$  set of upper semicontinuous functions on  $\overline{\Omega}$
- $USC_b(\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N)$  set of upper semicontinuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$  which are bounded on  $(0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N$  for any T > 0

For  $u: (0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}, 0 < T \leq +\infty$ , for  $0 < \alpha < 1$ 

$$< u>^{\alpha}_x := \sup_{(t,x), \ (t,x') \in (0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N \atop x \neq x'} \frac{|u(t,x) - u(t,x')|}{|x - x'|^{\alpha}}$$

For  $X \in S(N)$ ,  $||X|| = \sup\{|X\xi| | \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N, |\xi| \le 1\} = \sup\{|\lambda| : \lambda \text{ is an eigenvalue of } X\}$ For  $X \in S(N) \operatorname{tr}(X)$  denotes the trace of X

For  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\xi \otimes \eta$  denotes the matrix  $(\xi_i \eta_j)_{ij}$ 

- |x| floor integer part of x
- $\begin{bmatrix} x \end{bmatrix}$  ceil integer part of x

 $a \lor b = \max(a, b), a \land b = \min(a, b)$ 

# Bibliography

- Y. ACHDOU, F. CAMILLI AND I. CAPUZZO DOLCETTA, Homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations: Numerical Methods. *Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.*, 18 (2008), 1115-1143.
- [2] Y. ACHDOU AND S. PATRIZI, Homogenization of first order equations with  $u/\epsilon$ -periodic Hamiltonian: Rate of convergence as  $\epsilon \to 0$  and numerical approximation of the effective Hamiltonian, submitted.
- [3] O. ALVAREZ, Homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations in perforated sets, J. Differential Equations, 159 (1999), no. 2, 543-577.
- [4] O. ALVAREZ AND M. BARDI, Singular perturbations of nonlinear degenerate parabolic PDEs: a general convergence result, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 170 (2003), no. 1, 17-61.
- [5] O. ALVAREZ AND M. BARDI, Viscosity solutions methods for singular perturbations in deterministic and stochatic control, SIAM J. Control Optim., 40 (2001/02), no. 4, 1159-1188 (electronic).
- [6] O. ALVAREZ AND E. N. BARRON, Homogenization in  $L^{\infty}$ , J. Differential Equations, 183 (2001), no. 1, 132-164.
- [7] O. ALVAREZ, P. HOCH, Y. LE BOUAR AND R. MONNEAU, Dislocation dynamics described by non-local Hamilton-Jacobi equations, *Materials Science* and Engineering: A, 400-401 (2005), 162-165.
- [8] O. ALVAREZ AND H. ISHII, Hamilton-Jacobi equations with partial gradient and application to homogenization, *Comm. Part. Differential Equations*, 26 (2001), no. 5-6, 983-1002.
- [9] H. AMANN, Fixed point equations and nonlinear eigenvalue problems in ordered Banach spaces, SIAM Rev., 18 (1976), 620-709.
- [10] A. ANANE, Simplicité et isolation de la première valeur propre du p-Laplacien avec poids. (French) [Simplicity and isolation of the first eigenvalue of the p-Laplacian with weight] C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sr I Math., 305 (1987), no. 16, 752-728.
- [11] G. ARONSSON, M. G. CRANDALL AND P. JUUTINEN, A tour of the theory of absolutely minimizing functions, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N. S.), 41 (2004), no. 4, 439-505.

- [12] S. AWATIF, Équations d'Hamilton-Jacobi du premier ordre avec termes intégrodifférentiels. I. Unicité des solutions de viscosité. II. Existence de solutions de viscosité, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 16 (1991), no. 6-7, 1057-1093.
- [13] M. BARDI AND I. CAPUZZO DOLCETTA, Optimal control and viscosity solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellmann equations, Birkhauser, 1997.
- [14] M. BARDI, M. G. CRANDALL, L. C. EVANS, H. M. SONER AND P. E. SOUGANIDIS, Viscosity solutions and applications, I. Capuzzo Dolcetta and P. L. Lions eds, Lectures Notes in Mathematics 1660, Springer, Berlin, 1997.
- [15] G. BARLES, Fully nonlinear Neumann type boundary conditions for secondorder elliptic and parabolic equations, J. Differential Equations, 106 (1993), no. 1, 90-106.
- [16] G. BARLES, Nonlinear Neumann boundary conditions for quasilinear degenerate elliptic equations and applications, J. Differential Equations, 154 (1999), 191-224.
- [17] G. BARLES, Solution de Viscosité des équations de Hamilton-Jacobi, Spronger-Verlag, Paris, 1994.
- [18] G. BARLES, Some homogenization results for non-coercive Hamilton-Jacobi equations. *Calculus of Variations and Partial Differential Equations*, **30** (2007), no. 4, 449-466.
- [19] G. BARLES, E. CHASSEIGNE AND C. IMBERT, Hölder continuity of solutions of second-order non-linear elliptic integro-differential equations, to appear in Jornal of the European Mathematical Society.
- [20] G. BARLES AND F. DA LIO, Local  $C^{0,\alpha}$  estimates for viscosity solutions of Neumann-type boundary value problems, J. Differential Equations, **225** (2006), no. 1, 202-241.
- [21] G. BARLES AND F. DA LIO, On the boundary ergodic problem for fully nonlinear equations in bounded domains with general nonlinear Neumann boundary conditions, Ann. I. H. Poincaré, 22 (2005), 501-541.
- [22] G. BARLES AND C. IMBERT Second-order elliptic integro-differential equations: viscosity solution's theory revisited, Annales de l'IHP, 25 (2008), no. 3, 567-585.
- [23] G. BARLES AND M. RAMASWAMY, Sufficient structure conditions for uniqueness of viscosity solutions of semilinear and quasilinear equations, *NoDEA*, **12** (2006), no. 4, 503-523.
- [24] G. BARLES AND P. E. SOUGANIDIS, On the large time behavior of solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi equations, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 31 (2000), no. 4, 925-939 (electronic).
- [25] D. M. BARNETT AND S. D. GAVAZZA, The self-force on a planar dislocation loop in an anisotropic linear-elastic medium, *Phy. Stat. Sol. (a)*, **38** (1976), p. 637.

- [26] H. BERESTYCKI, L. NIRENBERG AND S.R.S. VARADHAN, The principal eigenvalue and maximum principle for second order elliptic operators in general domain, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 47 (1994), no. 1, 47-92.
- [27] I. BIRINDELLI AND F. DEMENGEL, Comparison principle and Liouville type results for singular fully nonlinear operators, Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. 13 (2004), no. 2, 261-287.
- [28] I. BIRINDELLI AND F. DEMENGEL, Eigenvalue, maximum principle and regularity for fully nonlinear homogeneous operators, *Comm. Pure Appl. Anal.*, 6 (2007), no. 2, 335-366.
- [29] I. BIRINDELLI AND F. DEMENGEL, Regularity and uniqueness of the first eigenfunction for singular fully nonlinear operators, *preprint*.
- [30] L. BROWN, The self-stress of dislocations and the shape of extended nodes, *Phil. Mag.*, **10** (1964), p. 441.
- [31] J. BUSCA, M. J. ESTEBAN, A. QUAAS, Nonlinear eigenvalues and bifurcation problems for Pucci's operators, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire, 22 (2005), no. 2, 187-206.
- [32] X. CABRÉ AND L. CAFFARELLI Fully nonlinear equations Colloquium Publications 43, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1995.
- [33] X. CABRÉ AND J. SOLÀ-MORALES, Layer solutions in a half-space for boundary reactions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 58 (2005) no. 12, 1678-1732.
- [34] L. CAFFARELLI AND L. SILVESTRE Regularity theory for fully nonlinear integrodifferential equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 62 (2009), no. 5, 597-638.
- [35] L. CAFFARELLI, P. E. SOUGANIDIS AND L. WANG, Homogenization of fully nonlinear, uniformly elliptic and parabolic partial differential equations in stationary ergodic media, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 58 (2005), no. 3, 319-361.
- [36] I. CAPUZZO DOLCETTA AND H. ISHII, On the rate of convergence in homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations. *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, **50** (2001), 1113-1129.
- [37] Y. G. CHEN, Y. GIGA AND S. GOTO, Uniqueness and existence of viscosity solutions of generalized mean curvature flow equations. J. Differential Geom., 33 (1991), 749-786.
- [38] F. H. CLARKE, YU. S. LEDYAEV, R. J. STERN AND P. R. WOLENSKI, Nonsmooth Analysis and Control Theory, vol. 178 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer, 1997.
- [39] B. COCKBURN AND J. QIAN, Continuous dependence results for Hamilton-Jacobi equations, Collected lectures on the preservation of stability under discretization (Fort Collins, CO, 2001) SIAM, 67-90.

- [40] M. C. CRANDALL, H. ISHII AND P. L. LIONS, User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations, *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* (N.S.), 27 (1992), no. 1, 1-67.
- [41] M. C. CRANDALL AND P. L. LIONS, Viscosity solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi Equations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 277 (1983), 1-67.
- [42] M. C. CRANDALL AND P. L. LIONS, Two approximations of solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi equations, *Mathematics of Computations*, 43 (1984), 1-19.
- [43] A. M. CUITINO, M. KOSLOWSKI AND M. ORTIZ, A phase-field theory of dislocation dinamics, strain hardening and hysteresis in ductile single crystal, J. Mech. Phys. Solids, 50 (2002), 2597-2635.
- [44] F. DA LIO, N. FORCADEL AND R. MONNEAU, Convergence of a non-local eikonal equation to anisotropic mean curvature motion. Application to dislocations dynamics, *Journal of the European Mathematical Society* 10 (2008), no. 4, 1061-1104.
- [45] M. D. DONSKER AND S. R. S. VARADHAN, On a variational formula for the principal eigenvalue for operators with maximum principle, *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA*, **72** (1975), 780-783.
- [46] M. D. DONSKER AND S. R. S. VARADHAN, On the principal eigenvalue of second-order elliptic differential operators, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, **29** (1976), 595-621.
- [47] A. EL HAJJ, H. IBRAHIM AND R. MONNEAU, Dislocation dynamics: from microscopic models to macroscopic crystal plasticity, *Continuum Mechanics* and *Thermodynamics*, **21** (2009), no. 2, 109-123.
- [48] B. ENGQUIST AND S. OSHER, One-sided difference approximations for nonlinear conservation laws, *Math. Comp.*, 36-154 (1981), 321–351.
- [49] L. C. EVANS, Periodic homogenisation of certain fully nonlinear partial differential equations, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 120 (1992), no. 3-4, 245-265.
- [50] L. C. EVANS, The perturbed test function method for viscosity solutions of nonlinear PDE, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 111 (1989), no. 3-4, 359-375.
- [51] L. C. EVANS AND W. GANGBO, Differential equations methods for the Monge-Kantorovich mass tranfer problem, *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **137** (1999), no. 653.
- [52] L. C. EVANS AND J. SPRUCK, Motion of level sets by mean curvature. J. Differential Geom., 33 (1991), 635-681.
- [53] A. FATHI, Sur la convergence du semi-group de Lax-Oleinik, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 327 (1998) no. 3, 267-270.

- [54] W. H. FLEMING AND H. M. SONER, Controlled Markov processes and viscosity solutions. Applications of Mathematics (New York), 25. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993.
- [55] N. FORCADEL, C. IMBERT AND R. MONNEAU, Homogenization of dislocation dynamics and some particle systems with two-body interactions, *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems - A*, 23 (2009), no.3, 785 - 826.
- [56] N. FORCADEL, C. IMBERT AND R. MONNEAU, Homogenization of fully overdamped Frenkel-Kontorova models, *Journal of Differential Equations*, 246 (2009), no. 1, 1057-1097.
- [57] A. GARRONI AND S. MÜLLER, Γ-limit of a phase-field model of dislocations SIAM J. Math. Anal., 36 (2005), no. 6, 1943-1964.
- [58] A. GARRONI AND S. MÜLLER, A variational model for dislocations in the line tension limit, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 181 (2006), 535-578.
- [59] J. GARCIA-AZORERO, J. J. MANFREDI, I. PERAL AND J. D. ROSSI, Steklov eigenvalues for the ∞-Laplacian, *Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl.*, **17** (2006), no. 3, 199-210.
- [60] Y. GIGA AND M. OHNUMA On strong comparison principle for semicontinuous viscosity solutions of some nonlinear elliptic equations, *preprint*.
- [61] D. GILBARG AND N.S. TRUDINGER, Elliptic partial differential equations of second order. Reprint of the 1998 edition. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001.
- [62] M. GONZÁLEZ AND R. MONNEAU, work in progres.
- [63] J. R. HIRTH AND L. LOTHE, Theory of dislocations, Second Edition. Malabar, Florida: Krieger, 1992.
- [64] K. HORIE AND H. ISHII, Homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations on domains with small scale periodic structure, *Indiana Univ. Math. J.*, 47 (1998), no. 3, 1011-1058.
- [65] C. IMBERT, A non-local regularization of first order Hamilton-Jacobi equations. Journal of Differential Equations, 211 (2005), no. 1, 214-246.
- [66] C. IMBERT AND J. DRONIOU, Fractal first order partial differential equations, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 182 (2006), no. 2, 299-331.
- [67] C. IMBERT AND R. MONNEAU, Homogenization of first order equations with u/εperiodic Hamiltonians. Part I: local equations, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 187 (2008), no. 1, 49-89.
- [68] C. IMBERT, R. MONNEAU AND E. ROUY, Homogenization of first order equations with  $u/\epsilon$ -periodic Hamiltonians. Part II: application to dislocations dynamics, *Communications in Partial Differential Equations*, **33** (2008), no. 1-3, 479-516.

- [69] C. IMBERT AND P. E. SOUGANIDIS, Phasefield theory for fractional diffusionreaction equations and applications, preprint.
- [70] H. ISHII, Almost periodic homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations, International Conference in Differential Equations, Vol. 1, 2, Berlin (1999), 600-605, World Sci. Publishing, River Edge, NJ, 2000.
- [71] H. ISHII, Fully nonlinear oblique derivative problems for Nonlinear Second-Order Elliptic PDE's, Duke Math. J., 62 (1991), no. 3, 633-661.
- [72] H. ISHII, Homogenization of the Cauchy problem for Hamilton-Jacobi equations, Stochastic analysis, control, optimization and applications, System Control Found. Appl., 305-324, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1999.
- [73] H. ISHII, Perron's method for Hamilton-Jacobi Equations, Duke Math. J., 55 (1987), 369-384.
- [74] H. ISHII, Personal Communication.
- [75] H. ISHII AND P.L. LIONS, Viscosity Solutions of Fully Nonlinear Second-Order Elliptic Partial Differential Equations, J. Differential Equations, 83 (1990), no. 1, 26-78.
- [76] H. ISHII AND Y. YOSHIMURA, Demi-eigenvalues for uniformly elliptic Isaacs operators, preprint.
- [77] R. JENSEN, Uniqueness of Lipschitz extensions: minimizing the sup norm of the gradient, Arch. Rational. Mech. Anal., 123, (1993) no.1, 51-74.
- [78] G.-S. JIANG AND D. PENG, Weighted ENO schemes for Hamilton-Jacobi equations. SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 21(6) (2000), 2126–2143.
- [79] G.-S. JIANG AND C.-W. SHU, Efficient implementation of weighted ENO schemes. J. Comput. Phys., 126(1) (1996),202–228.
- [80] P. JUUTINEN, Principal eigenvalue of a very badly degenerate operator and applications, *J. Differential Equations*, **236** (2007), no. 2, 532-550.
- [81] P. JUUTINEN AND B. KAWOHL, On the evolution governed by the infinity Laplacian, Math. Ann., 335 (2006), 819-851.
- [82] P. JUUTINEN, P. LINDQVIST AND J. J. MANFREDI, The ∞-eigenvalue problem, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 148 (1999), no. 2, 89-105.
- [83] P. JUUTINEN, P. LINDQVIST AND J. J. MANFREDI, The infinity Laplacian: examples and observations, Papers on analysis, 207-217, Rep. Univ. Jyväskylä Dep. Math. Stat., 83, Univ. Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, 2001.
- [84] E. R. JAKOBSEN AND K. H. KARLSEN, Continuous dependence estimates for viscosity solutions of integro-PDEs. J. Differential Equations, 212 (2005), 278-318.

- [85] O. A. LADYZHENSKAYA, V. A. SOLONNIKOV AND N. N. URAL'TSEVA, Linear and Quasi-linear Equations of Parabolic Type, "Nauka" Moscov, 1967; English transl, Am. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1968.
- [86] N.S. LANDKOF, Foundations of Modern Potential Theory, Springer-Verlag, 1972.
- [87] P. L. LIONS, Bifurcation and optimal stochastic control, Nonlinear Anal., 7 (1983), no. 2, 177-207.
- [88] P. L. LIONS, G. C. PAPANICOLAOU AND S. R. S. VARADHAN, Homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations, unpublished, 1986.
- [89] P. LINDQVIST, Notes on the p-Laplace equation, Report. University of Jyväskylä Department of Mathematics and Statistics, 102. University of Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, (2006). ii+80 pp.
- [90] P. LINDQVIST, On a nonlinear eigenvalue problem, Fall. School in Analysis (Jyväskylä, 1994), 33-54. Report, 68, Univ. Jyväskylä, Jyväskylä, 1995.
- [91] E. MILAKIS AND L. E. SILVESTRE, Regularity for fully nonlinear elliptic equations with Neumann boundary data, *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, **31** (2006), no. 7-9, 1227-1252.
- [92] R. MONNEAU AND S. PATRIZI, work in progress.
- [93] F. R. N. NABARRO, Dislocations in a simple cubic lattice, Proc. Phys. Soc., 59 (1947), 256-272.
- [94] S. OSHER AND J. A. SETHIAN, Fronts propagation with curvature-dependent speed: Algorithms based on Hamilton-Jacobi formulations. J. Comput. Phys., 79 (1988), no. 1, 12-49.
- [95] M. OTANI AND T. TESHIMA, On the first eigenvalue of some quasi linear elliptic equations, Proc. Japan. Acad. Ser. A. Math. Sci., 64 (1988), no. 1, 8-10.
- [96] S. PATRIZI, Principal eigenvalues for Isaacs operators with Neumann boundary conditions, NoDEA, 16 (2009), no. 1, 79-107.
- [97] S. PATRIZI, The Neumann problem for singular fully nonlinear operators, Journal de Mathématiques Pure et Appliquées, 90 (2008), no. 3, 286-311.
- [98] S. PATRIZI The principal eigenvalue of the infinity-Laplacian with the Neumann boundary condition, to appear in *ESAIM: Control, Optimisation and Calculus of Variations.*
- [99] R. PEIERLS, The size of a dislocation, *Proc. Phys. Soc.*, **52**(1940), 34-37.
- [100] Y. PERES, O. SCHRAMM, S. SHEFFIELD AND D. WILSON, Tug-of-war and the infinity Laplacian, J. Amer. Math. Soc., 22 (2009), 167-210.
- [101] M.H. PROTTER AND H.F. WEINBERGER, Maximum principles in differential equations. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J. 1967.

- [102] M.H. PROTTER AND H.F. WEINBERGER, On the spectrum of general second order operators, Bull. AMS, 72 (1966), 251-255.
- [103] A. QUAAS, Existence of positive solutions to a "semilinear" equation involving the Pucci's operators in a convex domain, *Differential Integral Equations*, 17 (2004), no. 5-6, 481-494.
- [104] A. QUAAS AND B. SIRAKOV, On the principal eigenvalues and the Dirichlet problem for fully nonlinear operators, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 342 (2006), no. 2, 115-118.
- [105] D. RODNEY, Y. LE BOUAR AND A. FINEL, Phase field methods and dislocations, Acta Mater., 51 (2003), 17-30.
- [106] J. A. SETHIAN, Level set methods and fast marching methods, volume 3 of Cambridge Monographs on Applied and Computational Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 1999. Evolving interfaces in computational geometry, fluid mechanics, computer vision, and materials science.
- [107] H. M. SONER, Optimal control with state-space constraint, II, SIAM J. Control Optim., 24 (1986), no. 6, 1110-1122.
- [108], P. E. SOUGANIDIS, Stochastic homogenization of Hamilton-Jacobi equations and some applications, *Asymptot. Anal.*, **20** (1999), no. 1, 1-11.